
Neuadd y Sir
Y Rhadyr
Brynbuga
NP15 1GA

County Hall
Rhadyr

Usk
NP15 1GA

Tuesday, 19 March 2019

Dear Councillor
INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISIONS

Notice is hereby given that the following decisions made by a member of the cabinet will be 
made on Wednesday, 27 March 2019. 

1.  DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION ORDER, PRICES BRIDGE, 
WHITELYE, TRELLECH

Division/Wards Affected:  Trellech United
CABINET MEMBER: County Councillor S B Jones

AUTHOR: Ruth Rourke Principal Countryside Access Officer

CONTACT DETAILS:
Ruth Rourke Principal Countryside Access Officer
Tel: 01633 644860
E-mail: ruthrourke@monmouthshire.gov.uk

1 - 12

2.  MONMOUTHSHIRE ADOPTED LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
DRAFT INFILL DEVELOPMENT SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING 
GUIDANCE

Division/Wards Affected:  All Wards
CABINET MEMBER: County Councillor RJW Greenland

AUTHOR: 
Mark Hand 
Head of Planning, Housing and Place-shaping 

Rachel Lewis 
Planning Policy Manager 

CONTACT DETAILS: 
Tel: 01633 644803 
markhand@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

Tel: 01633 644827 
rachellewis@monmouthshire.gov.uk

13 - 50

Public Document Pack

mailto:markhand@monmouthshire.gov.uk


3.  YOUTH SUPPORT GRANT

Division/Wards Affected:  All Wards
CABINET MEMBER: County Councillor R John

AUTHOR: 
Hannah Jones, MCC Youth Enterprise Manager 
Josh Klein, MCC Youth Service Manager 

CONTACT DETAILS: 
Tel: 07738 340418 
E-mail: hannahjones@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
Tel: 07766 094894 
E-mail: joshklein@monmouthshire.gov.uk

51 - 106

4.  BLAENAVON INDUSTRIAL LANDSCAPE WORLD HERITAGE SITE 
MANAGEMENT PLAN (2018 - 2023)

Division/Wards Affected:  Llanelly Hill; Llanfoist Fawr; Llanwenarth Ultra
CABINET MEMBER: County Councillor S B Jones

AUTHOR: Matthew Lewis, Green Infrastructure and Countryside Officer

Tel: 01633 644855 E-mail: matthewlewis@monmouthshire.gov.uk

107 - 290

Yours sincerely,

Paul Matthews
Chief Executive



CABINET PORTFOLIOS
County 
Councillor Area of Responsibility Partnership and 

External Working Ward

P.A. Fox
(Leader)

Whole Authority Strategy & Direction
CCR Joint Cabinet & Regional Development; 
Organisation overview; Regional working; 
Government relations; Public Service Board; 
WLGA.

WLGA Council
WLGA 
Coordinating Board
Public Service 
Board 

Portskewett

R.J.W. Greenland
(Deputy Leader)

Enterprise 
Land use planning; Economy and Tourism; 
Town Centre regeneration; Leisure; Cultural 
services; ADM development.

WLGA Council
Capital Region 
Tourism 

Devauden

R.P. Jordan Governance
Regulatory Committee Standards; Elections, 
Democracy promotion and engagement; 
Member Support; Council & Executive decision 
support; Scrutiny;  Law; Ethics & standards; 
Audit; Whole authority performance; Whole 
authority service planning & evaluation; 
Regulatory body liaison; Development Control; 
Building Control; Community Governanace; 
Community Hubs inc Adult Education;

Cantref

R. John Children & Young People
School standards; School improvement; School 
governance; EAS overview; Early Years; 
Additional Learning Needs; Inclusion;  Youth 
Service; Extended curriculum;  Outdoor 
Education; Admissions; Catchment areas; Post 
16 offer; Coleg Gwent liaison 

Joint Education 
Group (EAS)
WJEC

Mitchel 
Troy

P. Jones Social Care, Safeguarding & Health
Children; Adult; Fostering & Adoption; Youth 
offending service; Supporting people; Whole 
authority safeguarding; Disabilities; Mental 
health;  Public Health; Health liaison

Raglan

P. Murphy Resources
Finance; Information technology (SRS); Human 
Resources; Training; Health & Safety; 
Emergency planning; Procurement; Land & 
buildings (inc. Estate, Cemeteries, Allotments, 
Farms); Property maintenance; Digital office; 
Commercial office.

Prosiect Gwrydd 
Wales Purchasing 
Consortium 

Caerwent

S.B. Jones County Operations
Highways maintenance, Transport, Traffic & 
Network Management; Fleet management; 
Waste including recycling; Public 
conveniences; Car parks; Parks & open 

SEWTA
Prosiect Gwyrdd

Goytre 
Fawr



spaces; Cleansing; Countryside; Landscapes & 
biodiversity; Flood Risk.

S. L. Jones Social Justice & Community Development 
Community engagement; Deprivation & 
Isolation; Housing and homeless; Social 
cohesion; Poverty; Equalities; Diversity; Welsh 
language; Public relations; Trading standards; 
Environmental Health; Licensing; 
Communications

Llanover



Aims and Values of Monmouthshire County Council

Our purpose

Building Sustainable and Resilient Communities

Objectives we are working towards

 Giving people the best possible start in life
 A thriving and connected county
 Maximise the Potential of the natural and built environment
 Lifelong well-being
 A future focused council

Our Values

Openness. We are open and honest. People have the chance to get involved in decisions 
that affect them, tell us what matters and do things for themselves/their communities. If we 
cannot do something to help, we’ll say so; if it will take a while to get the answer we’ll explain 
why; if we can’t answer immediately we’ll try to connect you to the people who can help – 
building trust and engagement is a key foundation.

Fairness. We provide fair chances, to help people and communities thrive. If something 
does not seem fair, we will listen and help explain why. We will always try to treat everyone 
fairly and consistently. We cannot always make everyone happy, but will commit to listening 
and explaining why we did what we did. 

Flexibility. We will continue to change and be flexible to enable delivery of the most 
effective and efficient services. This means a genuine commitment to working with everyone 
to embrace new ways of working.

Teamwork. We will work with you and our partners to support and inspire everyone to get 
involved so we can achieve great things together. We don’t see ourselves as the ‘fixers’ or 
problem-solvers, but we will make the best of the ideas, assets and resources available to 
make sure we do the things that most positively impact our people and places.





1. PURPOSE:
1.1 To authorise the making of the Definitive Map Modification Orders under Section 

53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (WCA 1981) as they are not recorded on 
the Definitive Map & Statement (DM&S) and should in fact be registered.  

2. RECOMMENDATIONS:
2.1 Having received an evidential report, witnessed all the evidence presented to the Rights of 

Way Advisory Panel on the 29th January 2019 and receiving from them their decision to 
make the Definitive Map Modification Orders (DMMO), under the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981, to register all the Routes as bridleways, it is recommended that authorisation be 
given that the DMMOs are made and to confirm or seek confirmation of the Orders.

3. KEY ISSUES:
3.1 Mrs Greatorex-Davies of Tintern Community Council submitted a claim to register the 

Routes, A-B-C-C1 as restricted byways.

3.2 Mr J. Griffin progressed the claim with the Secretary of State.  The Planning Inspector 
directed the Authority to determine the Order by the 13th November 2018.

3.3 A pre-order consultation was carried out on the 18th April 2018 to the 25th May 2018 and 
evidence investigated. There are 36 user evidence forms, a number of historical 
documents and legislation, that when taken together argues that, the routes are 
reasonably alleged to exist. There is very little evidence to support restricted byway use 
and based on the totality of the evidence, Officers believe the routes to be bridleways and 
not restricted byways as submitted by the applicant.

 
3.4 There is one known objector, Mr & Mrs Talbot of Moor Farm, to the registration of the 

Routes on the DM&S on the grounds that the land is in private ownership and that the 
Routes are for private use. 

 
3.5 Privacy, suitability or current maintenance of the route, are not matters which can be 

considered under WCA 1981. 

SUBJECT: DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION ORDER, PRICES BRIDGE, WHITELYE, 
TRELLECH

MEETING: Individual Cabinet Member Decision – 
Councillor Bryan Jones Cabinet Member for Operations Management

DATE: 27th March 2019
DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED: TRELLECH/TINTERN

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



3.6 Mr Talbot also says that he put obstructions on the land from 1990 with trees and 
boulders.  It is not considered that these were of a nature that would prevent use or 
indicate to the public that the land was private and they should not be there.  Users state 
that they encountered no obstructions until 2013. 

4. OPTIONS APPRAISAL
Option Positives Negatives Recommendation
To make the 
Definitive Map 
Modification 
Orders

 The Authority is carrying out 
their duty to continuously 
review the Definitive Map and 
Statement as stipulated by 
legislation. 

 Any objections made to the 
order if not withdrawn will be 
sent to the Planning 
Inspectorate for confirmation 

 Probable objections 
to the Orders made 
by the landowner.

To make and to seek 
confirmation of the 
Definitive Map 
Modification Orders as 
recommended and set out 
in the report presented to 
Committee on the 29th 
January 2019

Not to make the 
Definitive Map 
Modification 
Orders

 None  The Authority is failing 
to carry out its duty as 
stipulated by 
legislation.

 If the orders are not 
made the applicant 
will appeal to the 
Planning Inspectorate 
to direct the Authority 
to make the Definitive 
Map Modification 
Orders 

To make and to seek 
confirmation of the 
Definitive Map 
Modification Orders as 
recommended and set out 
in the report presented to 
Committee on the 29th 
January 2019

5. EVALUATION CRITERIA
5.1 An evaluation assessment has been included at Appendix A for future evaluation of 

whether the decision has been successfully implemented. The decision will NOT come 
back to this committee in 12 months for review.

6. REASONS:
6.1 Section 53(2) of the WCA 1981, requires the Council to consider and determine cases 

such as this with a view to making an order under section 53 of the WCA 1981 to change 
the DM&S. Officers therefore consulted, reviewed evidence and produced a report that 
was considered by the Rights of Way Advisory Panel on 29th January 2019. With a 
recommendation from them that orders be made.  

7. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS:
7.1 The County Council is under a duty to investigate applications. The consideration of the 

application by officers falls within existing budgets.

7.2 The decision is one that must be taken on strict legal tests: 
7.2.1 If the application is not determined in accordance with the tests this could lead to a 

successful legal challenge by way of Judicial Review. 
Page 2



7.2.2 In the event that an order is made and there are objections the Planning 
Inspectorate for Wales would consider the matter by way of written representations, 
hearing or public inquiry. The decision taken by the investigating officer and the 
Rights of Way Advisory Panel is a decision based on legal tests and the above 
costs cannot be a consideration in the determination of the application.

8. WELLBEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS IMPLICATIONS (INCORPORATING 
EQUALITIES, SUSTAINABILITY, SAFEGUARDING AND CORPORATE PARENTING):

8.1 The Order if made will neither positively nor negatively impact on the well-being goals or 
the sustainable development principals. Licencing & Regulatory Agenda item 3, 29th 
January 2019 (Appendix 4).

9. CONSULTEES:
9.1 Corporate Management Team: Paul Matthews, Frances Williams, Julie Boothroyd, 

Will McLean and Peter Davies;
Head of Operations: Roger Hoggins; Group Engineer: Paul Keeble;
Rights of Way Advisory Panel Members (Licensing and Regulatory Committee): 
Councillors B. Strong, J. Higginson, A. Eason, J. Pratt, D Evans and A. Webb also 
councillor S. B. Jones - Cabinet Member for Operations Management. 
Leader of the Council:  Councillor P. Fox;
Head of Law & Monitoring Officer: Matt Phillips; 
Local members Councillors D. Blakebrough and Councillor A. Webb (who is already 
included above). 
Select Committee Chairmen, Cabinet Members – Democratic Services to circulate.

No comments received.

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS:
10.1 Appendix A
10.2 Appendix 1 & 2 are draft copies of the Definitive Map Modification Orders
10.3 Report to Rights of Way Advisory Panel (Licencing & Regulatory) Agenda item 3, 29th 

January 2019. Appendix 3, DMMO reports and appendixes.  Viewed at this web link: 
https://democracy.monmouthshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=138&MId=4102

10.4 Appendix 4: Future Generations Evaluation.

11. AUTHOR:
Ruth Rourke Principal Countryside Access Officer 

12. CONTACT DETAILS:
Ruth Rourke Principal Countryside Access Officer 
Tel: 01633 644860 
E-mail: ruthrourke@monmouthshire.gov.uk

Page 3

https://democracy.monmouthshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=138&MId=4102


Appendix A
Evaluation Criteria – Cabinet, Individual Cabinet Member Decisions & Council

Title of Report: DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION ORDER, PRICES BRIDGE, 
WHITELYE, TRELLECH

Date decision was 
made: 29th January 2019

Report Author: Ruth Rourke Principal Countryside Access Officer 

What will happen as a result of this decision being approved by Cabinet or Council? 

The Definitive Map Modification Orders to register bridleways on the Definitive Map and Statement will be 
made, advertised and posted on site for a six week period.  During this period if anyone submits 
objections and these are not withdrawn then the Orders will be sent to the Planning Inspectorate who will 
decided to confirm the order, or not, at a public inquiry, public hearing or by written representation.  If no 
objections are received the order can be confirmed and the route opened up on the ground for use. 

12 month appraisal

Was the desired outcome achieved? What has changed as a result of the decision? Have things improved 
overall as a result of the decision being taken? 

What benchmarks and/or criteria will you use to determine whether the decision has been 
successfully implemented? 

Two Definitive Map Orders will be made in accordance with the authority’s duty to review and maintain the 
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way and will either be confirmed by this Authority or by 
the Planning Inspectorate.  Clarity on the status of the paths will therefore be established for the Authority, 
communities and landowners.  

12 month appraisal

Paint a picture of what has happened since the decision was implemented. Give an overview of how you 
faired against the criteria. What worked well, what didn’t work well. The reasons why you might not have 
achieved the desired level of outcome. Detail the positive outcomes as a direct result of the decision. If 
something didn’t work, why didn’t it work and how has that effected implementation. 

What is the estimate cost of implementing this decision or, if the decision is designed to 
save money, what is the proposed saving that the decision will achieve? 

Not applicable

12 month appraisal

Give an overview of whether the decision was implemented within the budget set out in the report or 
whether the desired amount of savings was realised. If not, give a brief overview of the reasons why and 
what the actual costs/savings were. 

Any other comments

Page 4



Appendix 1

Appendix 2

Page 5



Name of the Officer
Mandy Mussell – Definitive Map Officer Countryside Access
Phone no:  01633-644183
E-mail:  mandymussell@monmouthshire.gov.uk

Please give a brief description of the aims of the proposal
To determine whether or not to register the Routes as a public 
rights of way on the Definitive Map and Statement in the 
community of Trellech, near Whitelye.

Name of Service  Countryside Access Date Future Generations Evaluation 29th January 2019

NB. Key strategies and documents that may help you identify your contribution to the wellbeing goals and sustainable 
development principles include: Single Integrated Plan, Continuance Agreement, Improvement Plan, Local Development Plan, 
People Strategy, Asset Management Plan, Green Infrastructure SPG, Welsh Language Standards, etc

1. Does your proposal deliver any of the well-being goals below?  Please explain the impact (positive and negative) you expect, 
together with suggestions of how to mitigate negative impacts or better contribute to the goal.  

Well Being Goal 

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? 
Describe the positive and negative impacts.

What actions have been/will be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts?

A prosperous Wales
Efficient use of resources, skilled, 
educated people, generates wealth, 
provides jobs

The Order if made will mean that the Routes will 
have to be re-instated and made available to be 
a resource for locals and tourists for the use 
and enjoyment of the area.  

N/A

Appendix 4:  Future Generation Evaluation - Page 1

Future Generations Evaluation 
(includes Equalities and Sustainability Impact Assessments)

P
age 6



Well Being Goal 

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? 
Describe the positive and negative impacts.

What actions have been/will be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts?

A resilient Wales
Maintain and enhance biodiversity and 
ecosystems that support resilience 
and can adapt to change (e.g. climate 
change)

The Order if made will not change the 
environment in which this route extends.

N/A

A healthier Wales
People’s physical and mental 
wellbeing is maximized and health 
impacts are understood

The Order if made will not reduce people’s 
ability to walk in the area but will improve upon 
this to provide a wide and more easily 
accessible walk than elsewhere in the 
community

N/A

A Wales of cohesive communities
Communities are attractive, viable, 
safe and well connected

The Order if made does not impact on the 
community.

N/A

A globally responsible Wales
Taking account of impact on global 
well-being when considering local 
social, economic and environmental 
wellbeing

N/A N/A

A Wales of vibrant culture and 
thriving Welsh language
Culture, heritage and Welsh language 
are promoted and protected.  People 
are encouraged to do sport, art and 
recreation

The Order if made will allow the Routes to be 
used and continue to be a resource for locals 
and tourists to enjoy of the area.  

N/A

A more equal Wales
People can fulfil their potential no 
matter what their background or 
circumstances

N/A N/A

Appendix 4:  Future Generation Evaluation - Page 2

P
age 7



2. How has your proposal embedded and prioritised the sustainable governance principles in its development?

Sustainable 
Development Principle 

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met 
this principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain 

why.

Are there any additional actions to be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts?

Balancing 
short term 
need with 
long term 
and planning 
for the future

The long term result if this Order is made will be that 
the Routes will recorded correctly on the Definitive 
Map and Statement and link with other existing 
highway networks. The Routes will be available for 
access  in the future.

N/A

Working 
together 
with other 
partners to 
deliver 
objectives 

N/A N/A

Involving 
those with 
an interest 
and 
seeking 
their views

The associated landowners have been consulted and 
all their concerns have been included within the body 
of the reports.

N/A

Appendix 4:  Future Generation Evaluation - Page 3

P
age 8



Sustainable 
Development Principle 

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met 
this principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain 

why.

Are there any additional actions to be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts?

Putting 
resources 
into 
preventing 
problems 
occurring 
or getting 

worse

The Order if made will clarify the status of the Routes 
and prevent confusion of responsibilities in the future.

N/A

Considering impact on all 
wellbeing goals together 
and on other bodies

N/A N/A

3. Are your proposals going to affect any people or groups of people with protected characteristics?  Please explain the impact, 
the evidence you have used and any action you are taking below. For more detailed information on the protected characteristics, the 
Equality Act 2010 and the Welsh Language Standards that apply to Monmouthshire Council please follow this 
link:http://hub/corporatedocs/Equalities/Forms/AllItems.aspx  or contact Alan Burkitt on 01633 644010 or 
alanburkitt@monmouthshire.gov.uk

Appendix 4:  Future Generation Evaluation - Page 4

P
age 9

http://hub/corporatedocs/Equalities/Forms/AllItems.aspx
mailto:alanburkitt@monmouthshire.gov.uk


Protected 
Characteristics 

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic

Describe any negative 
impacts your proposal has on 

the protected characteristic

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts?

Age N/A N/A N/A

Disability Routes would be accessible to wider 
range of public than other local walks 

N/A N/A

Gender 
reassignment

N/A N/A N/A

Marriage or civil 
partnership

N/A N/A N/A

Pregnancy or 
maternity

N/A N/A N/A

Race N/A N/A N/A

Religion or Belief N/A N/A N/A

Sex N/A N/A N/A

Sexual Orientation N/A N/A N/A

Welsh Language N/A N/A N/A

P
age 10



4. Council has agreed the need to consider the impact its decisions has on important responsibilities of Corporate Parenting and 
safeguarding.  Are your proposals going to affect either of these responsibilities?  For more information please see the guidance 
http://hub/corporatedocs/Democratic%20Services/Safeguarding%20G
uidance.docx  and for more on Monmouthshire’s Corporate Parenting 
Strategy see 
http://hub/corporatedocs/SitePages/Corporate%20Parenting%20Strat
egy.aspx

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on safeguarding and 
corporate parenting

Describe any negative 
impacts your proposal has on 
safeguarding and corporate 
parenting

What will you do/ have you done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 
better contribute to positive 
impacts?

Safeguarding N/A N/A

Corporate Parenting N/A

5. What evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal?
The Definitive Map Modification Order, Prices Bridge, Whitelye, Trellech (01_13Mod) Report along with all relevant appendixes consists 
of all the evidence and data that has informed the development of this proposal.

The evidence consists of the applicant’s submissions of 36 user evidence forms and historical documents.  The Authority has 
investigated these and along with this evidence has included within the reports all the available historical maps; a pre-order consultation 
with landowners, various public rights of way user Associations and Societies and Utility providers.  Along with all this evidence other 
case law and legislation such as the 1981 Wildlife and Countryside Act and the 2006 Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 
has been applied and discussed in these reports.

6. SUMMARY:  As a result of completing this form, what are the main positive and negative impacts of your proposal, how have 
they informed/changed the development of the proposal so far and what will you be doing in future?

The Order if made will neither positively nor negatively impact on the well-being goals or the sustainable development principals.

Appendix 4:  Future Generation Evaluation - Page 5

Appendix 4:  Future Generation Evaluation - Page 6

P
age 11

http://hub/corporatedocs/Democratic%20Services/Safeguarding%20Guidance.docx
http://hub/corporatedocs/Democratic%20Services/Safeguarding%20Guidance.docx
http://hub/corporatedocs/SitePages/Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy.aspx
http://hub/corporatedocs/SitePages/Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy.aspx


7. ACTIONS: As a result of completing this form are there any further actions you will be undertaking? Please detail them below, 
if applicable.

What are you going to do When are you going to do it? Who is responsible Progress 
N/A
N/A
N/A

8. MONITORING: The impacts of this proposal will need to be monitored and reviewed. Please specify the date at which you will 
evaluate the impact, and where you will report the results of the review.

The impacts of this proposal will be evaluated on: Three years after the Order has been confirmed.

9. VERSION CONTROL: The Future Generations Evaluation should be used at the earliest stages of decision making, and then 
honed and refined throughout the decision making process.  It is important to keep a record of this process so that we can 
demonstrate how we have considered and built in sustainable development wherever possible.

Version 
No.

Decision making stage Date considered Brief description of any amendments made 
following consideration

1 The Rights of Way Advisory Panel (RWAP) 
in assessing the evidence and assisting 
the Community Services Cabinet Portfolio 
Member to determine whether or not to 
make a Definitive Map Modification Order.

29th January 2019 N/A

Appendix 4:  Future Generation Evaluation - Page 7

P
age 12



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

1. PURPOSE:  
  
1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet Member’s endorsement of the Draft Infill 

Development Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG), with a view to issuing for 
consultation.   

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
2.1 To endorse the Draft Infill Development SPG and issue for consultation. 

 
3. KEY ISSUES:   
 

Background 
 
3.1 The Monmouthshire Local Development Plan (2011-2021) was adopted in February 

2014 to become the adopted development plan for the County (excluding that part 
within the Brecon Beacons National Park). This statutory development plan contains a 
number of policies relating to new housing development in the County’s settlements 

which are set out in Appendix A of the Draft SPG (attached as Appendix 1). The Draft 
SPG provides guidance on proposals for small scale infill development (i.e. fewer than 
10 dwellings) within the County’s designated settlements as defined under Policies S1, 
H1, H2 and H3 of the Monmouthshire LDP, namely Main Towns, Severnside 
Settlements, Rural Secondary Settlements, Main Villages and Minor Villages.     

 
3.2 The requirement for this Draft SPG has arisen from the suggestion by Planning 

Committee that it would be useful to have additional guidance in place to help shape 
proposals for small scale infill development in the County’s settlements.  

 
3.3 Selective use of SPG is a means of setting out more detailed thematic or site specific 

guidance in the way in which the policies of an LDP will be applied in particular 
circumstances or areas. The Draft Development Plans Manual Edition 3 (Welsh 
Government, November 2018) notes that: 
 
‘SPG does not form part of the development plan and is not subject to independent 
examination, but it must be consistent with the plan and with national planning policy. 
SPG cannot be linked to national policy alone; there must be an LDP policy or policy 
criterion that provides the development plan ‘hook’ whilst the reasoned justification 
provides clarification of the related national policy’. 

 
3.4 The Manual further states that SPG can be a material consideration in the 

determination of planning applications, provided that it is consistent with the 
development plan and appropriate consultation has been undertaken: 
 

SUBJECT: MONMOUTHSHIRE ADOPTED LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
DRAFT INFILL DEVELOPMENT SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING 
GUIDANCE  

MEETING:     INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER  
DATE: 27 MARCH 2019 

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED:   ALL 

Page 13

Agenda Item 2



‘Only the policies in the development plan have special status under section 38(6) of 
the PCPA 2004 in deciding planning applications, but SPG can be taken into account 
as a material consideration. SPG that is derived from and is consistent with the 
development plan and has been the subject of consultation will carry more weight’.   

 
 Draft Infill Development SPG  
 
3.5 The Draft Infill Development SPG is attached to this report as Appendix 1. The SPG 

is intended to provide certainty and clarity for applicants, officers, Members and 
communities in the interpretation and implementation of the LDP policy framework in 
relation to small scale infill development proposals within the settlements identified in 
Policies S1, H1, H2 and H3 of the Monmouthshire LDP.   

 
3.6 The Draft SPG sets out the detailed matters that need to be taken into account when 

considering proposals for small scale infill development in the County’s settlements. 
Such matters include site context, design, privacy/amenity, access/parking, 
planting/trees and drainage. Once adopted, the SPG will have a key role in shaping 
proposals for small scale infill development.  

 
 Next steps  
 
3.7 As referred to in paragraph 3.4 above, for SPG to be given weight in the consideration 

of planning applications, appropriate consultation needs to be undertaken and any 
comments received should be taken into account in the Council’s decision making 
process. Following a resolution to consult, targeted notifications will be sent to those 
considered to have an interest in the SPG topic such as local agents. All town and 
community councils will also be consulted. The consultation will be publicised via our 
Twitter account @MCCPlanning and the corporate Monmouthshire Twitter account. All 
consultation replies will be analysed and responses/amendments reported for 
Members’ consideration when seeking a resolution for the adoption of any SPG 
document.      

 
 
4. SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS: 
 
4.1 Under the Planning Act (2004), the LDP was required to be subject to a Sustainability 

Appraisal (SA). The role of the SA was to address the extent to which the emerging 
planning policies would help to achieve the wider environmental, economic and social 
objectives of the LDP. The LPA also produced a Strategic Environmental Assessment 
(SEA) in accordance with the European Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive 
2001/42/EC; requiring the ‘environmental assessment’ of certain plans and 
programmes prepared by local authorities, including LDP’s. All stages of the LDP were 
subject to a SA/SEA, therefore and the findings of the SA/SEA were used to inform the 
development of the LDP policies and site allocations in order to ensure that the LDP 
would be promoting sustainable development. SPG is expanding and providing 
guidance on these existing LDP policies, which were prepared within a framework 
promoting sustainable development.  

 
 Equality  
 
4.2 The LDP was also subjected to an Equality Challenge process and due consideration 

was given to the issues raised. As with the sustainable development implications 
considered above, SPG is expanding and providing guidance on these existing LDP 
policies, which were prepared within this framework.  

 
4.3 In addition, a Future Generations Evaluation is attached. This includes Equalities and 

Sustainability Impact Assessments (attached as Appendix 2) 
Page 14



 
5. OPTIONS APPRAISAL 
 
5.1 The options in relation to the Draft SPG are to: 
 
 1) Endorse the Draft SPG as attached for consultation. 
 2) Endorse the Draft SPG for consultation with amendments.  

3) Do nothing in relation to the Draft SPG.  
 
6. EVALUATION CRITERIA  
 
6.1 Option 1: endorse the Draft SPG as attached for consultation. This is the preferred 

option. The Draft SPG sets out the key issues that need to be taken into account 
when considering proposals for small scale infill development in the County’s 
settlements, including site context, design, amenity/privacy, access/parking, 
planting/trees and drainage.  It is considered that the SPG will provide guidance and 
clarity to help shape proposals for small scale infill development in the County, 
reflecting Planning Committee’s requirement for such guidance. 

 
6.2 Option 2: endorse the Draft SPG for consultation with amendments. As noted above, 

the Draft SPG sets out the key issues that need to be taken into account when 
considering proposals for small scale infill development in the County’s settlements. It 
is not considered necessary to amend the Draft SPG prior to consultation. Any 
comments received in response to the consultation on the Draft SPG will be analysed 
and the document will be amended, as appropriate, prior to reporting back for 
Members’ consideration to seek a resolution to adopt the SPG. This option should 
therefore be discounted. 

 
6.3 Option 3: do nothing in relation to the Draft SPG. The SPG will provide further 

guidance and clarity to help shape proposals for small scale infill development in the 
County in accordance with Planning Committee’s request for such guidance. The 
option of doing nothing would not address Planning Committee’s request for this 
guidance and should, therefore, be discounted.  

 
Recommendation: 

6.4 Based on the reasons above, Option 1 (to endorse the Draft SPG as attached for 
consultation) is the preferred option.  

 
 
7. REASONS 
 
7.1 Under the Planning Act (2004) and associated Regulations, all local planning 

authorities are required to produce a LDP.  The Monmouthshire LDP was adopted on 
27 February 2014 and decisions on planning applications are being taken in 
accordance with policies and proposals in the LDP. This Draft SPG provides guidance 
on proposals for small scale infill development within the designated settlements as 
defined under Policies S1, H1, H2 and H3 of the Monmouthshire LDP i.e.  Main 
Towns, Severnside Settlements, Rural Secondary Settlements, Main Villages and 
Minor Villages.  

 
8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS   
 
8.1 Officer time and costs associated with the preparation of SPG documents and carrying 

out the required consultation exercises. Any costs will be met from the Planning Policy 
budget and carried out by existing staff. 

 
 

Page 15



9. CONSULTEES 
 

 Development Management Officer Working Group  

 Planning Committee 5th March 2019. Members’ raised a number of issues in 
relation to the Draft SPG including: 

 Potential to include more specific reference to the relevant 
considerations for backland development. 

 Potential to provide further clarity on how ‘neighbours’ are defined in 
relation to infill and backland development (i.e. immediate or wider 
context);  

 Potential to include more specific reference to affordable housing/ SuDS 
in relation to infill development.  

The comments raised at Planning Committee will be considered and taken into 
account when finalising the SPG post consultation.  

 SLT 
  
10. BACKGROUND PAPERS  
 

 Monmouthshire Adopted LDP (February 2014) 
 
11. AUTHORS:  
 Mark Hand  

Head of Planning, Housing and Place-shaping 
 
Rachel Lewis 
Planning Policy Manager 
 

12. CONTACT DETAILS: 
 
Tel: 01633 644803 
markhand@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 

  
 Tel: 01633 644827 
 rachellewis@monmouthshire.gov.uk  

Page 16

mailto:markhand@monmouthshire.gov.uk
mailto:rachellewis@monmouthshire.gov.uk


 
 

 
 

 

  

  
 

 

 

 

Monmouthshire County Council 

Local Development Plan 

 

 

Draft Supplementary Planning Guidance 

 

Infill Development 

 

(Policies H1, H2 and H3)  
 

March 2019 

 

 

 

Planning Policy Service 

Monmouthshire County Council  

County Hall  

The Rhadyr 

Usk  

NP15 1GA 

Tel. 01633 644429 

Email: planningpolicy@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

 

Page 17

mailto:planningpolicy@monmouthshire.gov.uk
Lewis.R3
Typewritten Text

Lewis.R3_1
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX 1

Lewis.R3_2
Typewritten Text

Lewis.R3_3
Typewritten Text

Lewis.R3_4
Typewritten Text

Lewis.R3_5
Typewritten Text

Lewis.R3_6
Typewritten Text

Lewis.R3_7
Typewritten Text

Lewis.R3_8
Typewritten Text



 
 

 
 

                                    CONTENTS 

 

 

 

 Page  
  

1. Introduction: Purpose of the Supplementary Planning Guidance  
 

1  

2. The Starting Point  
 

2 

3. The Initial Stage – Site Appraisal  
 

4 

4. Infill Development Proposals – Detailed Considerations  
A – Site Context  
B – Design  
C – Privacy/Amenity  
D – Sustainable Transport/Access/Parking  
E – Planting/Trees  
F – Drainage  
G – Planning Contributions  
 

5 
6 
7 
9 
12 
14 
15 
16 
 

5. Pre-Application Advice and Further Information  
 
 

17 

      Appendix A: LDP Policy Framework – Policies S1, H1, H2 and H3  18  
  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 18



1 
 

1       Introduction: Purpose of this Supplementary Planning Guidance 

Introduction 

 

1.1 This is one of a series of Supplementary 

Planning Guidance (SPG) documents that 

have been prepared to provide supporting 

information and advice on policies 

contained in the adopted Monmouthshire 

Local Development Plan (LDP). The SPGs 

are intended to offer further guidance on 

the main considerations that will be taken 

into account by the Council when reaching 

decisions on planning applications and in 

this case how planning policy on infill 

development will be implemented in 

practice.  

  

1.2 This SPG provides guidance on small scale 

(fewer than 10 dwellings) infill development 

within the designated settlements as 

defined under Policies S1, H1, H2 and H3 

of the Monmouthshire LDP i.e. the Main 

Towns, Severnside Settlements, Rural 

Secondary Settlements, Main Villages and 

Minor Villages (refer to Appendix 1 for 

details of the relevant policy framework). 

 

1.3 The overarching objectives for infill 

development as set out in this SPG are to:  

 

a. Make efficient use of brownfield 

land. 

b. Protect residential amenity, both of 

new and existing occupiers. 

c. Make a positive contribution to the 

creation of distinctive communities, 

places and spaces. 

d. Respond to the context and 

character of the area. 

e. Be of a good design, which is 

sustainable. 

  

 

 

 

Box 1: Definition of Small Scale Infill 

Development 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

There are generally two main types of infill 

development: 

 

  Infill sites - are normally regarded as small 

gaps between existing residential 

properties, usually with a street frontage 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

  

 Backland sites - can be a landlocked site, 

which may have a considerable number of 

'inactive’ frontages surrounding the site 

boundary (i.e. fences or walls). They may 

also be located behind existing buildings 

such as rear gardens and private open 

space, usually within predominantly 

residential areas. 

  

Page 19



 
 

2 
 

2       The Starting Point  

The first step is to check if your 

proposal is acceptable in principle 

  

2.1 In determining whether your infill site 

proposal is acceptable in principle, the first 

point to consider is whether your site is 

within a settlement boundary as defined in 

Strategic Policy S1 of the LDP. 

Development boundaries have been drawn 

around the Main Towns, Severnside 

Settlements, Rural Secondary Settlements 

and Main Villages. Minor Villages do not 

have development boundaries. You are 

able to check our interactive LDP maps to 

see if your land is within one of the 

settlements as designated in Policies S1, 

H1, H2 and H3 of the LDP: 

https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/planni

ng 

 

2.2 The Monmouthshire LDP aims to achieve 

an appropriate level of housing growth and 

choice to assist in building sustainable 

communities in Monmouthshire’s most 

sustainable settlements while strictly 

controlling new development in the open 

countryside. These settlements are 

identified in Table 1. In accordance with 

Policy H3, please note that in Minor 

Villages planning permission will only be 

granted for minor infill development of no 

more than 1 or 2 dwellings resulting from 

the filling in of a small gap between existing 

dwellings. Only in exceptional 

circumstances may an infill development of 

up to 4 dwellings be considered acceptable 

in Minor Villages.  

 

2.2 For Minor Villages, we would normally 

define the settlement by looking at the 

existing physical features such as field 

boundaries, roads, trees, rivers, and 

railway lines; generally the edge closest to 

village.  

  

2.3 Some Minor Villages comprise of two or 

more separate populated clusters. Infill 

development will not normally be 

appropriate in such areas. If in doubt, 

discuss your proposal with one of the 

planning officers via our Pre-application 

Enquiry Services (see section 5 of this 

SPG). 

    

Box 2: C2 Floodplain 

  
Please note, if your land is within Zone C2 

Floodplain Welsh Government advice is 

that no highly vulnerable development 

should be considered. Housing falls into 

this category. For more information on 

this please refer to Technical Advice Note 

15 (TAN15) which provides Welsh 

Government’s guidance on development 

and flood risk: 

https://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/t

ans/tan15/?lang=en 

Page 20

https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/planning
https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/planning
https://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/tans/tan15/?lang=en
https://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/tans/tan15/?lang=en


 
 

3 
 

Table 1: Settlements Defined in Strategic Policy S1 

 

Main 

Towns 

Abergavenny  Chepstow  Monmouth 

Severnside 

Settlements 

Caerwent Caldicot Magor/Undy 

  Portskewett Rogiet Sudbrook 

Rural 

Secondary 

Settlements 

Penperlleni  Llanfoist Raglan 

  Usk     

Main 

Villages 

Cross Ash  Devauden  Dingestow  

  Grosmont  Little Mill  Llanddewi 

Rhydderch  

  Llandogo  Llanellen  Llangybi  

  Llanishen  Llanvair Kilgeddin  Mathern  

  Penallt  Pwllmeyric  Shirenewton 

/Mynyddbach  

  St Arvans  Trellech  Werngifford 

/Pandy  

Minor 

Villages 

Bettws 

Newydd  

Broadstone/Catbrook  Brynygwenin  

  Coed-y-Paen  Crick  Cuckoo’s 

Row  

  Great Oak  Gwehelog  Llanarth  

  Llandegveth  Llandenny  Llangwm  

  Llanover  Llansoy  Llantilio 

Crossenny  

  Llantrisant  Llanvair Discoed  Llanvapley  

  Mitchel Troy  Penpergwm  The Narth  

  The Bryn  Tintern  Tredunnock  

Page 21



 
 

4 
 

 

 

3.1 There are other matters that must be 

considered in determining whether a 

proposal for infill development would be 

acceptable. A Site Appraisal will allow you 

to understand how the proposal relates to 

its immediate context and wider area, as 

well as helping you to develop a scheme 

which uses your site’s positive features and 

to identify features worthy of retention. 

Welsh Government Technical Advice Note 

(TAN) 12: Design (2016) provides detailed 

design advice and should be referred to 

accordingly.  

  

3.2 A Site Appraisal should be undertaken 

before the details of a scheme is drawn up. 

The level of detail that will be necessary for 

a Site Appraisal will vary depending on the 

scale of the proposal and the 

characteristics of the site. Table 2 sets out 

some of the key considerations that you will 

need to consider in undertaking a Site 

Appraisal. 

  

3.3 It is strongly recommended that specialist 

professional planning advice is sought 

where proposals depend on accurate 

information relating to issues such as 

flooding, site levels, ground conditions, 

ecology, transportation etc. Getting the 

right advice at an early stages of your 

scheme is very important and will help 

steer you in the right direction from the 

start of the process. This is where the 

Council’s Pre-Application Advice service 

can help. We welcome and encourage 

discussions with homeowners or 

developers before they submit a planning 

application. This service gives you the 

opportunity to explore your scheme with us 

and find out what information you need to 

support your planning application. Please  

 

 

refer to Section 10 of this Guidance for 

more information about this service. 

  

3.4 The use of additional annotated diagrams 

and scaled plans (e.g. 1:100, 1:200) as part 

of the Site Appraisal can often help to 

demonstrate how the proposal will impact 

on the appearance and character of the 

area. 

  

Table 2: Key Matters to be Considered When 

Undertaking a Site Appraisal.  

  

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 3.5 Please note that consideration of the 

matters in Table 2 will depend on the scale 

of the proposal. For example, flood risk 

assessments, species surveys and traffic 

surveys are unlikely to be necessary for all 

proposals. If in doubt, it is important to seek 

further advice from the Planning Team via 

the Pre-Application Advice Service. 

3       The Initial Stage – Site Appraisal 



  Flood risk assessment 

 Habitat and or protected species surveys 

  Tree surveys 

  Drainage 

 Archaeological surveys 

 Adjoining land uses 

 Settlement form and street patterns 

 Existing landscape features 

 Views into, from and across the site  

 Spaciousness and extent of open space 

 Topography, gradient and orientation 

 Plot and building sizes 

 Landmarks, historic buildings, historic parks 

and gardens, local vernacular architecture 

and/or landscape 

 Identify any public right of ways, parks and 

green spaces 

 Accessibility 

 Traffic surveys 

 Potential accesses and linkages 

 Noise assessment/proximity to nuisance 

causing operations 

 

Page 22



 
 

5 
 

  

 

4.1 This section sets out the key 

considerations that the Council will 

consider when assessing proposals for 

small scale infill development. 

 

Is your land large enough to 

accommodate additional development? 

 

4.2 Once you have carried out a Site Appraisal, 

you then need to work out if your land is 

large enough to accommodate an 

additional house(s) whilst also providing 

sufficient on-site parking/turning provision 

and garden space that is similar to existing 

houses in the area.  

  

Detailed Considerations 

 

4.3 You then need to consider whether or not 

your scheme would meet the Detailed 

Considerations A – G as set out in this 

section of the SPG. Please note that every 

site is different. Therefore, it is not possible 

to cover every scenario in this SPG. 

However, as a starting point, this section of 

the SPG sets out the detailed 

considerations that you need to take into 

account when considering proposals for 

small scale infill development..  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 3: Detailed Considerations for Small 

Scale Infill Development   

 

  Detailed Considerations 

A Site Context 

B Design 

C Privacy/Amenity 

D Access/Parking 

E Planting/Trees  

F Drainage 

G Planning Contributions  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4       Infill Development Proposals – Detailed Considerations  

Page 23



 
 

6 
 

 

Plot Size 

 

5.1 Plot size ratios should reflect those 

prevailing in adjacent properties i.e. where 

there is a regular plot size and width, you 

should reflect these into your proposal, so 

that the proposal fits well with the street 

scene and provides similar visual 

separation where appropriate.  

  

Garden 

 

5.2 The garden has as much of an impact on 

the character of an area as the form and 

design of the buildings. For example, a 

house with a large garden could appear 

incongruous within a high density 

residential area, and vice versa. All new 

dwellings should benefit from private 

garden space, for drying clothes, 

accommodating pets, children's play, quiet 

enjoyment and so on. Therefore, all 

residential development should ensure that 

the garden space reflects the size and 

function of the proposed dwelling(s) and 

the prevailing character of the area; these 

standards also apply to the host dwelling. It 

should be noted that front gardens do not 

normally constitute private garden space 

but often make an important contribution to 

the character of the area.  

  

Orientation 

 

5.3 All proposed houses and gardens should 

be laid out so as to maximize the 

penetration of sunlight i.e. by having the 

orientation of the garden and the windows 

of the main rooms facing the south. 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Sketch 1 below shows an example where the plot 

size of the infill proposal does not reflect the 

prevailing character of the adjacent properties in 

terms of scale, mass and rhythm of the street 

scene. Such a proposal would not be acceptable.  

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Sketch 2 below shows a good example of how the 

land should be divided reflecting the prevailing 

character of the adjacent properties.  

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

   

Detailed Consideration A – Site Context 

Page 24



 
 

7 
 

 

 

Scale and Massing  

 

6.1 The proposal must respect the scale, form 

and massing of existing development in the 

area. In most cases, there is an expectation 

that the massing of the proposal should be 

in proportion to the main property and the 

existing neighbouring buildings, as 

appropriate. However, in designated areas 

i.e. in the Wye Valley Area of Outstanding 

Natural Beauty, a Conservation Area or 

within the curtilage of a Listed Building, all 

proposals must be subservient and respect 

the setting of the site area.  

  

Building Height  

 

6.2 Development for infill sites should take 

account of and respond to existing building 

heights in the area (number of storeys and 

floor to ceiling heights), maintaining the 

visual character of the street scene. For 

backland sites, a less conspicuous building 

of a lower scale in building height is often 

more appropriate to avoid the development 

having an overbearing impact on 

neighbours and to reduce impact on 

residential amenity.  

 

Topography of the Site 

 

6.3 Account should also be taken of the 

topography of the site to maintain the 

building height hierarchy along the street 

scene.  

 

Building Line  

 

6.4 For infill sites, the development should 

seek to respond to the prevailing building 

line that is created by the main frontages of  

 

neighbouring houses i.e. any development 

proposals need to take into account how 

the buildings are set back from the street 

and any rhythms or patterns of existing 

development, or projections. For Backland 

sites and sites where there is no prevailing 

building line, all proposals must 

demonstrate that there will be no adverse 

privacy and amenity impact upon the 

existing properties.  

  

Sketch 3 below shows an unacceptable 

form of infill development (Building height, 

Scale and Massing and Building line).  

  

 

  

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Box 3: Heritage Assets  

 

Detailed Consideration B – Design  

The Council will consider proposals for small 

scale infill development with special care, 

particularly those in or adjoining Conservation 

Areas and near Listed Buildings, Scheduled 

Ancient Monuments, in or adjoining the Wye 

Valley Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

and adjoining the Brecon Beacons National 

Park. All development proposals are required 

to either preserve or enhance the special 

character of these areas. Within these 

protected areas, you are normally required to 

submit a Full Planning Application to enable 

us to fully assess the implications of your 

proposals. 

Page 25



 
 

8 
 

Architectural Detailing  

 

6.5 All proposed new window and door 

openings should complement the size, 

proportions, design and rhythm of the 

detailing of the host dwelling and the 

neighbouring properties appropriately. The 

roofline should include appropriate design 

and pitch of roofs, ridge height and eaves 

level, and notice should be taken of any 

other relevant details in the street scene.  

  

Building Materials  

 

6.6 The predominant facing materials of the 

proposal should reflect the materials of the 

host dwelling and, where appropriate, the 

neighbouring dwellings. Additional 

materials for finer detailing should be 

carefully chosen. Materials used for roofing 

and walls should match or positively 

respond to the host dwelling and to the 

adjacent dwellings, as should materials 

and colours for doors and window frames. 

When the materials are chosen well, they 

will complement the building and the street 

scene.  

  

Boundary Treatment  

 

6.7 Where existing plot boundaries form a 

distinctive part of the street scene, these 

boundaries must be retained and replicated 

through appropriate building design and 

landscape treatment. In most cases it will 

be necessary to consider screening the 

boundaries of a new development for 

privacy reasons and to reduce noise and 

disturbance. Brick walls have better noise 

attenuation qualities than fences or hedges 

and will be most appropriate where 

possible sources of noise would be close to  

 

 

 

 

 

an existing house, or the garden area 

immediately outside it. 

   

  

Sketch 4 below shows an unacceptable 

boundary treatment for an infill 

development.  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Corner Sites  

 

6.8 Sometimes, it may be appropriate to design 

slightly taller buildings where they make a 

positive contribution to the street scene, on 

primary routes, and in higher density areas 

with variations in height and massing. 

Where a taller building is proposed, the end 

treatment should relate sensitively to the 

heights of the adjacent buildings so that the 

rhythm of the street is not interrupted; this 

will often result in an appropriate reduction 

of height, maintaining a visual hierarchy on 

the street scene. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 26



 
 

9 
 

 

Privacy/Amenity  

 

7.1 The key considerations relating to privacy 

and amenity for small scale infill residential 

development are:  

 

a. whether the plot would have adequate 

privacy to habitable rooms and private 

garden space 

b. whether a new house(s) on the plot 

would affect the privacy of neighbours  

c. whether a new house(s) on the plot 

would affect the host dwelling 

  

7.2 Hedges and fences usually protect privacy 

at ground floor level, so the issues tend to 

arise from upstairs windows either looking 

into neighbours’ windows or into their 

neighbours’ private garden space. 

Windows must be carefully positioned to 

avoid overlooking. Often this means putting 

obscured glazing in landing or bathroom 

windows on the side elevation of the house, 

with the main bedroom windows on the 

front and rear elevation. However, the 

positioning of the windows will also depend 

on the positioning of the neighbouring 

properties.  

  

Site Topography  

 

7.3 As well as maintaining the hierarchy of 

building heights along the streetscene, all 

proposals need to provide sufficient gaps to 

minimise any overbearing and 

overshadowing impact on the residential 

amenity of neighbouring properties. 

  

  Distances between Dwellings 

 

7.4 As far as the effect of the new dwelling is 

concerned, the Council's normal privacy 

standard for new development is that ther 

should be minimum of 21m between 

directly facing elevations containing main 

habitable windows (i.e. bedrooms and 

living rooms). This distance may be relaxed 

where windows are facing a public 

highway.  

 

7.5 Back to back distances should have regard 

to the character of an area. In some cases, 

the requirement for minimum back to back 

distances may be relaxed where the impact 

on privacy can be reduced. This may be 

achieved, for example, through the use of 

obscure glazing and restricted openings, 

the siting of habitable rooms within an 

internal floor layout, directional windows, 

the positioning of ancillary outbuildings. 

However, it is not acceptable for a 

habitable room to only have windows which 

are obscure glazed. Provided that it could 

be demonstrated that there would be no 

material harm to amenity, then shorter 

distances than those stated above could be 

considered in those inner urban areas 

typified by higher densities. 

 

7.6 Similarly, greater distances may be 

required in some suburban and rural areas 

where the predominant character of the 

area exhibits greater separation distances. 

Distances may vary where this is 

necessary to protect the historic interest 

and setting of designated heritage assets 

such as listed buildings and conservation 

areas. 

 

Sketch 5 below illustrates that the back to 

back separation distance should be at least 

21m.  

  

 

 

 

Detailed Consideration C – Privacy/Amenity  

Page 27



 
 

10 
 

7.7 New buildings near to plot boundaries can 

be intrusive when viewed from existing 

gardens or from within dwellings. To avoid 

over-dominant development and 

overshadowing of neighbouring properties, 

there must be at least 15m between 

principal elevations with main habitable 

windows and side gable walls without 

windows (unless these are minor windows 

such as the landing, WC or utility room 

windows, or the gable wall in question is 

single storey). This is applicable to the new 

dwelling as well as the existing dwelling. 

This will ensure adequate amenity is 

provided for future occupiers as well as the 

existing residents. A reduced distance may 

be acceptable where the landform between 

the dwellings and boundary treatments 

provide acceptable screening. 

 

  

Sketch 6 below illustrates that the back to 

side separation distance should be at least 

15m.  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Distance from the rear and side 

boundary of the neighbours 

 

7.8 Consideration should also be given to the 

impact a proposal will have on a 

neighbour’s private garden. Unacceptable 

direct overlooking into these spaces can be 

avoided by ensuring a separation distance 

of at least 10m exists between a proposed 

first floor habitable room window and the 

opposite garden boundary of neighbouring 

properties.  

  

Sketch 7 below illustrates the 10m 

(minimum) distance from the first floor rear 

windows of the proposal to the side 

boundary of the neighbour. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Carriageway Screening 

 

7.9 Care will need to be taken to ensure that 

screening would prevent light intrusion 

from the movement vehicles as a result of 

the infill development.  

 

 

 

 

Page 28



 
 

11 
 

Natural Light and Outlook 

 

7.10 Direct sunlight makes a home more 

pleasant to live in. Dwellings should have 

access to sufficient daylight to allow the 

comfortable use of habitable rooms (living 

rooms, dining rooms and bedrooms), as 

well as kitchens and outside space such as 

patio areas in gardens.  

  

7.11 Quantitative standards cannot be applied 

to every case to assess the amount of 

daylight and sunlight of individual 

properties and the impact on outlook. 

Nevertheless, there are several ‘rules of 

thumb’ which will inform the judgement to 

be made. One is the ’25° rule’ for windows 

facing other structures. A reference line is 

taken at 2m above ground level on the 

existing building. This is the assumed 

position of the top of ground floor windows 

in the existing building. A 25° line is then 

drawn towards the proposed building. If the 

proposed development falls beneath the 

line drawn at 25°, there is unlikely to be a 

detrimental effect to daylight on the existing 

property. 

   

 

Sketch 8 below shows the proposed 

dwelling crosses the 25° rule for natural 

light and would not be acceptable.  

  

  

 

 

 

  

  

    

7.12 Another assessment to protect daylight and 

outlook from main living area windows is by 

operating a 45° splayline (assessed in a 

plan) from the centre of the relevant 

window of the existinsg dwelling of the 

adjacent infill development (as shown in 

Sketch 9). This assessment relates to 

any proposed two storey development 

from an existing building line, and 

windows affected by this proposed two 

storey development. Any part of the new 

two storey development which extends 

beyond the splayline may be considered to 

adversely affect the amenity of the 

neighbouring occupiers. The Council will 

not support any new development that 

would result in the significant loss of 

sunlight for existing properties, where it 

leads to overshadowing for the majority of 

the day.  

  

Sketch 9 below shows that a proposed infill 

development along with its two storey 

extension crosses the 45° splayline rule 

and would not be acceptable.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7.13 Developments which do not meet these 

standards (the 25° rule and 45° splayline) 

will be resisted unless other reasonable 

measures being proposed to provide 

adequate light. It is also recognised that the 

changes to permitted development rights 

have allowed certain types of development 

which might exceed these standards.  

Where proposed development requires 

planning permission, we will apply this 

SPG’s standards in a reasonable manner. 

 

Page 29



 
 

12 
 

 

Sustainable Transport 

 

8.1 One of the overarching objectives for infill 

development is to use land more efficiently 

and to enable development in areas that 

have easy access to existing amenities by 

sustainable transport options (i.e. walking, 

cycling and public transport), thus reducing 

the need to use private cars.  

 

8.2 Reflecting sustainable transport 

considerations, the Council is keen to see 

secured cycle parking provision provided 

within infill plots to encourage/facilitate 

travel by non-car modes.  

 

Access widths 

 

8.3 An access drive serving one dwelling 

should be a minimum of 2.75m wide. If the 

access drive is longer than 45m, it should 

be a minimum of 3.7m wide over its whole 

length to allow for access for service 

vehicles such as fire engines. For sites of 2 

to 5 dwellings minimum width of 4.25m is 

required, for at least the first 5m – then 

reducing to 3.7m. A minimum width of 4.8m 

is required for drives serving more than 5 

dwellings.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 4: Minimum Access Widths 

 
 

Proposal Access width in 

Metres(Minimum) 

1 house 2.75m 

1 house if the access is 

greater than 45metres 

in length 

3.7m 

2—5 houses 4.25m 

Greater than 5 houses  4.8m 

 

8.4 In some circumstances, such as to allow 

trees or other important features to be 

retained, it may be acceptable to allow a 

narrowing of a 4.25m access to 3.7m, 

although such accesses need to be at their 

full width for the first 10m from the highway 

to allow vehicles to pull off the road and to 

pass. All drives should normally allow 

vehicles to turn and leave the site in a 

forward direction and drives in excess of 

25m will need to make provision for the 

turning of service vehicles, in terms of both 

layout and construction. In most cases, and 

certainly where an access is bounded by 

solid walls fences, hedges or a line of trees, 

a 0.5m overhang strip either side of the 

drive surface should be provided to ease 

the flow of vehicles.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Detailed Consideration D – Sustainable 

Transport/Access and Parking   

Page 30



 
 

13 
 

Footway 

 

8.5 All accesses across a footway need to 

accommodate 2m x 2m pedestrian visibility 

splays for the safety of pedestrians. 

Vehicular visibility splays will depend on 

the speed of traffic on the highway. Please 

refer to Manual for Streets 2 for further 

information (Table 6 refers). 

  

Parking Spaces and Turning Provision 

 

8.6 On-site parking is normally required to be 

provided in the plot, in a similar manner to 

the host property or the adjacent houses. 

On-site parking should be positioned close 

to the dwelling and must not be located so 

as to interfere with any joint access road. 

Any proposed garage or parking provision 

must not be overly dominating in the street 

and matching materials should be used to 

respect the existing character of the area. 

Please note that the Council seeks the use 

of permeable materials for all hardstanding 

for parking and turning purposes. Please 

contact the Council’s Highways 

Department for their parking requirements 

for your proposal.  

  

Visibility Splays 

 

8.7 Visibility Splays are an essential feature of 

an access or junction as they enable traffic 

a minor road to view cyclists, vehicles and 

pedestrians on the main road. Any visibility 

splay below the required standard would 

need to be justified via appropriate traffic 

survey. Development proposals should 

demonstrate the best achievable visibility 

splay. The splay should be entirely within 

the applicant’s ownership and control and 

remain so in perpetuity.   

 

 

  

Hard Surfaces 

 

8.8 It will normally be necessary to provide a 

hard surface for the first 5m of a new 

access to prevent loose material being 

deposited on the highway, although other 

amenity considerations might require more 

of the access to be surfaced in a hard 

material to reduce noise, or in a softer 

material to respect the character of the site. 

New accesses will need to be constructed 

so as to prevent drainage onto the public 

highway. Where a new carriageway passes 

close to an existing dwelling it should be 

hard surfaced to reduce the noise of 

vehicles.  

  

Distances between Access Drives 

 

8.9 In most instances it is important to ensure 

that any new property or group of 

properties share a single access point to 

avoid multiple points of conflict for vehicular 

movements.  

  

Distance to the Carriageway  

 

8.10 The carriageway of a new access serving a 

Backland Site should be a minimum of 2m 

from any elevation of an existing property 

(including a garage to that property). 

Where any elevation of an existing dwelling 

with a window would face onto a new 

carriageway, a new screening should 

generally take the form of walls for the 

whole length of the elevation being 

protected and should include an additional 

length at the rear to protect any garden 

immediately outside any main living room, 

subject to the prevailing character of the 

site. 

 

 

  

 

Page 31



 
 

14 
 

 

 

Planting/Trees 

 

9.1 Planting is integral to achieving quality 

residential environments, and should be 

considered at the outset of the design 

process. Applicants will be encouraged to 

plant new native trees in their proposals, 

even where there is to be no loss of existing 

trees. The Council will resist any 

application for development which will 

result in the loss of trees protected by a 

Tree Preservation Order, mature trees, 

hedges and boundary walls which make a 

positive contribution to a site or the 

surrounding area. Trees in conservation 

areas are protected in a similar way to 

those covered by a Tree Preservation 

Order and special permission is needed to 

lop, prune or fell them and to carry out 

building or ground works within an area 

covered by the spread of the branches. 

 

9.2 New development will not normally be 

allowed where a building would be situated 

within the spread of a tree that is worthy of 

retention. If in doubt, a qualified 

arboriculturalist will be able to carry out a 

tree survey to determine which trees are 

worthy of retention, and which trees could 

be removed due to poor health. 

Impermeable surfaces should be avoided 

below the canopy/crown spread of any 

tree. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ecology 

 

9.3 Certain species such as bats are legally 

protected by Law. Many species of bat 

make use of existing buildings, trees, 

hedgerows and overgrown sites. This is 

why it is advised that a Preliminary 

Ecological Assessment (PEA) is 

undertaken prior to the submission of a 

planning application so that any mitigation 

can be integrated into your scheme. The 

LPA is unable to register a planning 

application in the absence of adequate 

protected species information, where 

relevant. In addition, the LPA will refuse 

consent in situations where either it cannot 

be shown that an appropriate licence would 

be forthcoming from Natural Resources 

Wales, or where the adverse impacts to a 

protected species cannot be acceptably 

mitigated.  

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Detailed Consideration E – Planting Trees  

Page 32



 
 

15 
 

 

Foul Drainage 

 

10.1 All development should make satisfactory 

arrangements for foul drainage. A 

sequential approach should be taken to the 

consideration of foul drainage options. This 

should be based on the demonstrable 

feasibility or otherwise of alternative 

arrangements, taking into account their 

cost and/or practicability:  

a.  as a first priority connection should 

be made to public sewerage 

infrastructure;  

b. where this is not feasible, as a 

second priority the use of a 

package sewage treatment plant 

offering full treatment to recognised 

standards may be proposed. 

Proposals should include full details 

of means of operation and 

maintenance;  

c. only where the above options are 

not feasible should the use of septic 

tank systems be proposed.  

  

10.2 Any such proposals should include a full 

assessment of the scheme having regard 

to the effects on public health, amenity and 

the environment, and addressing any 

evidence in respect of Table 5. Where 

significant adverse environmental, amenity 

or public health effects are likely to arise 

through either permanent or temporary use 

of septic tank drainage, the development 

concerned will not be permitted.  The latest 

Welsh Government advice is available 

here:https://gov.wales/topics/planning/poli

cy/circulars/welshgovcirculars/wgc-008-

2018/?lang=en 

 

10.3 Development dependent upon cesspool 

drainage arrangements will rarely be 

permitted and the use of a sustainable foul 

drainage system will be considered as an 

alternative to the provisions of this SPG, 

only where the particular treatment 

proposal has the approval of the Natural 

Resources Wales.  

 

  Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDs) 

 

10.4 Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water 

Management Act 2010 makes SuDS a 

mandatory requirement for all new 

developments. The legislation will ensure 

resilient drainage systems for new 

developments in both urban and rural 

areas. From the 7th January 2019, all new 

developments of more than 1 dwelling will 

require sustainable drainage systems 

(SuDS) for managing surface water. All 

drainage systems for all new developments 

must be designed and built in accordance 

with statutory SuDS standards. Please 

note that SuDS schemes must be 

approved by Monmouthshire County 

Council acting in its SuDs Approving Body 

(SAB) role before construction work 

begins. As such, this element should be an 

integral part of your scheme right from the 

start. For more information, please email 

sab@monmouthshire.gov.uk.  

  

Table 5: Factors Forming a Full Assessment of 

the Use of a Septic Tank.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Detailed Consideration F – Drainage   

 contravention of recognised practices  

 adverse effect on water sources or resources  

 health hazard or nuisance likely to arise  

 damage to controlled waters  

 damage to the environment and amenity  

 overloading of the existing capacity of the area  

 absence of suitable outlets  

 unsuitable soakage characteristics  

 high water table  

 rising ground water levels  

 flooding  

Page 33

https://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/circulars/welshgovcirculars/wgc-008-2018/?lang=en
https://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/circulars/welshgovcirculars/wgc-008-2018/?lang=en
https://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/circulars/welshgovcirculars/wgc-008-2018/?lang=en
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/29/schedule/3
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/29/schedule/3
mailto:sab@monmouthshire.gov.uk


 
 

16 
 

 

 

Planning Contributions  

 

11.1 Depending of the size and nature of the 

proposal, planning permission is 

sometimes granted subject to the signing of 

a planning contributions agreement under 

Section 106 of the Planning Act. Where 

applicable, the Section 106 agreement 

must be signed before the planning 

permission will be issued.  

 

11.2 The Section 106 is a legal charge on the 

land, so it will transfer automatically with 

any subsequent change in ownership. 

Some of the most frequently requested 

planning obligations include: 

o Affordable housing contributions 

o Recreation contributions  

o Transport/highways contributions  

o Education contributions  

 

11.3 You can find out via our Pre-Application 

Advice service if planning obligations are 

likely to be required in relation to your 

proposal.  Seeking such advice will help 

you to determine whether your scheme is 

financially viable.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Affordable Housing  

 

11.4 Policy S4 (Affordable Housing) of the 

adopted Monmouthshire Local 

Development Plan and the Council's 

Affordable Housing Supplementary 

Planning Guidance sets out the criteria for 

the provision of affordable housing as part 

of new residential development schemes.  

More information can be found using the 

following link:  

https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/up

loads/2016/10/Adopted-Affordable-

Housing-SPG-March-2016.pdf.   

 

11.5 The plot purchase/sale price should reflect 

this policy requirement.  Viability debates 

will only be considered in exceptional 

circumstances, and the applicant will need 

to robustly demonstrate their case via 

independent consideration by the District 

Valuation Service at their own expense. 

 

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Detailed Consideration G – Planning 

Contributions    

Page 34

https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2016/10/Adopted-Affordable-Housing-SPG-March-2016.pdf
https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2016/10/Adopted-Affordable-Housing-SPG-March-2016.pdf
https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2016/10/Adopted-Affordable-Housing-SPG-March-2016.pdf


 
 

17 
 

 

Can I get advice from a Planning Officer 

before drawing up the plans or applying 

for a planning permission for small 

scale infill development? 

 

12.1 We welcome discussions with prospective 

applicants prior to planning applications 

being made. Obtaining the right advice in 

the early stages of your scheme is very 

important and will help steer your scheme 

in the right direction from the start. This 

service gives you the opportunity to explore 

your scheme with us and find out what kind 

of information you need to accompany your 

planning application. In addition, we can 

discuss possible planning issues that may 

affect you gaining planning permission. For 

further information, please refer to our pre-

application advice guidance documents: 

http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/plannin

g/pre-application-advice-service 

   

Contact: 

Development Management Service 

Tel: 01633 644880 

Email: planning@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

Post: Development Management Service, 

County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 1GA  

  

  

  

  

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

  

  

  

 

Table 6: Useful References  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5      Pre-Application Advice and Further Information  

 Monmouthshire Local Development Plan 

(LDP): 

https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploa

ds/2017/05/Adopted-Local-Development-Plan-

with-PDF-tags.pdf  

 Affordable Housing SPG: 

https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploa

ds/2016/10/Adopted-Affordable-Housing-SPG-

March-2016.pdf  

 Green Infrastructure SPG: 

https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploa

ds/2015/07/GI-April-2015.pdf  

 Monmouthshire Parking Standards SPG: 

https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploa

ds/2015/07/Mon-CC-Parking-Standards-SPG-

Jan-2013.pdf  

 Domestic Garage SPG:  

https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploa

ds/2015/07/Domestic-Garage-SPG-Jan-

2013.pdf  

 Conservation Areas Appraisals: 

https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/planning-

policy/conservation-area-appraisals  

 Planning Policy Wales 10 (PPW10): 

https://beta.gov.wales/planning-policy-wales  

 Technical Advice Notes (TAN): 

https://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/tans/?l

ang=en  

 Manual for Streets 2: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/m

anual-for-streets-2  

 Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 

Areas) Act 1990:  

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/9/c

ontents  

 Welsh Government Circular 008/2018 (Private 

Sewerage): 

https://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/circula

rs/welshgovcirculars/wgc-008-2018/?lang=en  

 Sustainable drainage systems (SuDs): 

https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/sustainabl

e-drainage-approving-body-sab  

  

  Page 35

http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/planning/pre-application-advice-service
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/planning/pre-application-advice-service
mailto:planning@monmouthshire.gov.uk
https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2017/05/Adopted-Local-Development-Plan-with-PDF-tags.pdf
https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2017/05/Adopted-Local-Development-Plan-with-PDF-tags.pdf
https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2017/05/Adopted-Local-Development-Plan-with-PDF-tags.pdf
https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2016/10/Adopted-Affordable-Housing-SPG-March-2016.pdf
https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2016/10/Adopted-Affordable-Housing-SPG-March-2016.pdf
https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2016/10/Adopted-Affordable-Housing-SPG-March-2016.pdf
https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2015/07/GI-April-2015.pdf
https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2015/07/GI-April-2015.pdf
https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2015/07/Mon-CC-Parking-Standards-SPG-Jan-2013.pdf
https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2015/07/Mon-CC-Parking-Standards-SPG-Jan-2013.pdf
https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2015/07/Mon-CC-Parking-Standards-SPG-Jan-2013.pdf
https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2015/07/Domestic-Garage-SPG-Jan-2013.pdf
https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2015/07/Domestic-Garage-SPG-Jan-2013.pdf
https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2015/07/Domestic-Garage-SPG-Jan-2013.pdf
https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/planning-policy/conservation-area-appraisals
https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/planning-policy/conservation-area-appraisals
https://beta.gov.wales/planning-policy-wales
https://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/tans/?lang=en
https://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/tans/?lang=en
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/manual-for-streets-2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/manual-for-streets-2
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/9/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/9/contents
https://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/circulars/welshgovcirculars/wgc-008-2018/?lang=en
https://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/circulars/welshgovcirculars/wgc-008-2018/?lang=en
https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/sustainable-drainage-approving-body-sab
https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/sustainable-drainage-approving-body-sab


 
 

18 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Appendix A  
 
 
 

Monmouthshire LDP  
Policy Framework Policies S1, H1, H2 and H3 

 
 

 

 

Page 36



 
 

19 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Policy S1 – The Spatial Distribution of New Housing Provision  
 
The main focus for new housing development is within or adjoining the Main 

Towns of: 

 Abergavenny, Chepstow and Monmouth. 

 
The Severnside sub-region consists of the settlements of Caerwent, Caldicot, 

Magor, Portskewett, Rogiet, Sudbrook and Undy.  A smaller amount of new 

housing development is provided in the Severnside sub-region, particularly at 

Magor/Undy, Caldicot/Portskewett and Sudbrook. 

The Rural Secondary Settlements are Usk, Raglan, Penperlleni and Llanfoist. A 

small amount of new housing development is directed to the Rural  Secondary 

Settlements of Usk, Raglan and Penperlleni 

Some sites are allocated for small scale residential development (up to a 

maximum of 15 dwellings) in identified Main Villages with the primary aim of 

providing affordable housing to meet local needs. The identified Main Villages 

are: 

Cross Ash    Llanishen 

Devauden    Llanvair Kilgeddin 

Dingestow   Mathern  

Grosmont    Penallt 

Little Mill    Pwllmeyric 

Llanddewi Rhydderch  Shirenewton /Mynyddbach 

Llandogo    St Arvans  

Llanellen    Trellech  

Llangybi    Werngifford /Pandy  

 

Development Boundaries are drawn around the Main Towns, Severnside 

settlements, Rural Secondary Settlements and Main Villages listed above. 

Outside these development boundaries planning permission for new residential 

development will not be allowed in any other settlements except in or adjoining 

identified Minor Villages where small scale residential development will be 

allowed in the circumstances set out in Policy H3. The identified Minor Villages 

are: 

Bettws Newydd  Llanover 

Broadstone/Catbrook Llansoy 

Brynygwenin              Llantilio Crossenny   

Coed-y-Paen              Llantrisant  

Crick    Llanvair Discoed  

Cuckoo’s Row  Llanvapley 

Great Oak    Mitchel Troy  

Gwehelog   Penpergwm 

Llanarth    The Narth 

Page 37



 
 

20 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(S1 continued…)  

Great Oak    Mitchel Troy  

Gwehelog   Penpergwm 

Llanarth    The Narth 

Llandegveth   The Bryn 

Llandenny   Tintern  

Llangwm   Tredunnock   

Outside the settlements listed above open countryside policies will apply where 

planning permission will only be allowed for the following types of new residential 

development: 

 Acceptable conversions of rural buildings, in the circumstances set 

out in Policy H4. 

 Sub-divisions of existing dwellings, subject to detailed planning 

criteria. 

 Dwellings necessary for agricultural, forestry or other appropriate 

rural enterprises, in accordance with TAN6. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Policy H1 – Residential Development in Main Towns, Severnside Settlements and 

Rural Secondary Settlements. 

 

Development boundaries have been drawn for the Main Towns, Severnside 

Settlements and Rural Secondary Settlements identified in Policy S1, within which 

new  build residential development / redevelopment or conversion to residential, 

or subdivision of large dwellings or reuse of accommodation such as upper vacant 

floors in town centres will be permitted subject to detailed planning considerations 

and other policies of the LDP that seek to protect existing retail, employment and 

community uses.   

Page 38



 
 

21 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Policy H3 – Residential Development in Minor Villages 

In Minor Villages planning permission will be granted for minor infill of no more 

than 1 or 2 dwellings resulting from the filling in of a small gap between existing 

dwellings, or residential redevelopment, or conversion to residential or sub-

division of large dwellings, subject to detailed planning considerations, including 

no unacceptable adverse impact on village form and character and surrounding 

landscape, and other policies of the LDP that seek to protect existing retail, 

employment and community uses.  

Exceptionally planning permission may be granted for up to 4 dwellings on an infill 

site that demonstrably fits in with village form (including not resulting in the loss 

of an open space that forms an important gap or open area) and is not prominent 

in the landscape. 

Policy H2 – Residential Development in Main Villages 

Development boundaries have been drawn for the Main Villages identified in Policy 

S1. These development boundaries include sites identified for new rural housing 

that are listed in Allocations Policy SAH11.  

Elsewhere within the Village Development Boundaries planning permission will be 

granted for new residential development/redevelopment, or conversion to 

residential, or sub-division of large dwellings, subject to detailed planning 

considerations, including no unacceptable adverse impact on village form and 

character and surrounding landscape, and other policies of the LDP that seek to 

protect existing retail, employment and community uses.  

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
      
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Name of the Officer completing the evaluation 
Mark Hand  
 
Phone no: 01633 644803 
E-mail: markhand@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 
 

Please give a brief description of the aims of the proposal 

The Local Development Plan (LDP), adopted on 27 February 2014, sets 
out the Council’s vision and objectives for the development and use of land 
in Monmouthshire, together with the policies and proposals to implement 
them over the ten year period to 2021.  Supplementary Planning Guidance 
(SPG) sets out detailed guidance on the way in which the policies of the 
LDP will be interpreted and implemented.  The Draft Infill Development 
SPG is intended to provide certainty and clarity for applicants, officers, 
Members and communities in the interpretation and implementation of the 
LDP policy framework in relation to small scale infill development proposals 
(i.e. fewer than 10 dwellings) within the settlements identified in Policies S1, 
H1, H2 and H3 of the Monmouthshire LDP.  The Draft SPG sets out the 
detailed considerations that need to be taken into account when 
considering proposals for small scale infill development in the County’s 
settlements. Such considerations include site context, design, 
privacy/amenity, access/parking, planting/trees and drainage. Once 
adopted, the SPG will have a key role in shaping proposals for small scale 
infill development. 

 

Name of Service 

Planning (Planning Policy) 

Date Future Generations Evaluation form completed 

28/02/2019 

Future Generations Evaluation  
(includes Equalities and Sustainability Impact Assessments)  

Appendix 2 

P
age 41



 

1. Does your proposal deliver any of the well-being goals below?  Please explain the impact (positive and negative) you expect, together with 

suggestions of how to mitigate negative impacts or better contribute to the goal. 

Well Being Goal  

How does the proposal contribute to this 
goal? (positive and negative) 

What actions have been/will be taken to mitigate 
any negative impacts or better contribute to 

positive impacts? 

A prosperous Wales 
Efficient use of resources, skilled, 
educated people, generates wealth, 
provides jobs 

Positive: The Draft SPG seeks to support 
proposals for appropriate small scale infill 
development for new housing where they accord 
with the LDP policy framework, specifically policies 
H1, H2 and H3. This will enable housing provision 
in settlements in Monmouthshire where it is often 
otherwise restricted such as main and minor 
villages, small scale infill developments will 
increase the local housing stock for communities 
and residents.   

Negative: None.  

Better contribute to positive impacts: 
Ensure that guidance, as set out in the SPG, is 
accurately interpreted and implemented. 
 

 

A resilient Wales 
Maintain and enhance biodiversity and 
ecosystems that support resilience and 
can adapt to change (e.g. climate change) 

Positive: Potential for proposals to conserve and 
enhance existing ecological networks within 
Monmouthshire.  Potential for proposals to protect 
/enhance landscape etc. in accordance with LDP 
policy framework.  

Negative: Infill development may be located in 
main and minor villages where there is limited 
public transport and likely reliance on the use of the 
private car. The car usage likely to result from small 
scale infill development is considered to be justified 
because it is likely to be minimal and the addition 
of new housing makes a contribution to meeting 
housing needs. 

Mitigate Negative Impacts: 
Ensure that biodiversity, landscape interests etc. are 
appropriately considered in assessing any planning 
application and that good standards of design, 
landscaping etc. are achieved.  

A healthier Wales 
People’s physical and mental wellbeing is 
maximized and health impacts are 
understood 

Positive: The provision of appropriate small scale 
infill development can assist in promoting good 
health, independence and well-being by opening 

Better contribute to positive impacts: Ensure that 
the relevant guidance, as set out in the SPG, is 
accurately interpreted and implemented.  

P
age 42



Well Being Goal  

How does the proposal contribute to this 
goal? (positive and negative) 

What actions have been/will be taken to mitigate 
any negative impacts or better contribute to 

positive impacts? 

up opportunities for housing where there are often 
limited sites for new residential development. 

Negative: None. 

 

A Wales of cohesive communities 
Communities are attractive, viable, safe 
and well connected 

Positive: The provision of appropriate small scale 
infill development contributes to the sustainability 
and cohesiveness of settlements in 
Monmouthshire by opening up opportunities for 
housing in areas where it is otherwise restricted, 
particularly in main and minor villages, providing 
opportunities to support the local economy and 
build sustainable resilient communities. 

Negative: None. 

Better contribute to positive impacts: Ensure 
that the relevant guidance, as set out in the SPG, 
is accurately interpreted and implemented. 
 

 

A globally responsible Wales 
Taking account of impact on global well-
being when considering local social, 
economic and environmental wellbeing 

Positive: The Draft SPG supports the 
implementation of housing related policies of the 
LDP, which has been subject to a Sustainability 
Appraisal and Strategic Environmental 
Assessment (SA/SEA) to ensure that social, 
economic and environmental objectives are met, 
thereby contributing to sustainable development 
and global well-being.  

Negative: None. 

Better contribute to positive impacts: 
Ensure that the relevant guidance, as set out in the 
SPG, is accurately interpreted and implemented 
which will include consideration of social, economic 
and environmental wellbeing.  

A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving 
Welsh language 
Culture, heritage and Welsh language are 
promoted and protected.  People are 
encouraged to do sport, art and recreation 

Positive: The Draft SPG has a positive general 
impact on culture, heritage and language, there is 
potential for proposals for small scale infill 
development to conserve the character and quality 
of Monmouthshire’s countryside and natural 
heritage value. 

Negative: None. 

Better contribute to positive impacts:  Ensure that 
the relevant guidance, as set out in the SPG, is 
accurately interpreted and implemented. 

P
age 43



Well Being Goal  

How does the proposal contribute to this 
goal? (positive and negative) 

What actions have been/will be taken to mitigate 
any negative impacts or better contribute to 

positive impacts? 

A more equal Wales 
People can fulfil their potential no matter 
what their background or circumstances 

Positive: The Draft SPG should bring positive 
benefits to Monmouthshire’s residents by opening 
up opportunities for appropriate small scale infill 
developments where they comply with the LDP 
policy framework, enabling housing provision in 
settlements in Monmouthshire where it is often 
otherwise restricted such as main and minor 
villages. Housing policies, as with all LDP policies, 
have been subject to a Sustainability Appraisal that 
measures their performance against sustainability 
objectives, including equality measures. 

Negative: None. 

 

Better contribute to positive impacts: Ensure that 
the relevant guidance, as set out in the SPG, is 
accurately interpreted and implemented. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 44



 

 

 

2. How has your proposal embedded and prioritised the sustainable governance principles in its development? 

Sustainable Development 
Principle  

How does your proposal demonstrate you have met 
this principle? 

What has been done to better to meet this principle? 

Balancing 
short term 
need with 
long term and 
planning for 

the future 

We are required to look beyond the usual short term 
timescales for financial planning and political cycles and 
instead plan with the longer term in mind (i.e. 20+ years) 

The LDP covers the period 2011-21.  The Draft SPG 
supports the implementation of the LDP.  By its nature, 
therefore, it cannot look beyond this period but the SA/SEA 
of the LDP would have ensured consideration of the impact 
on future generations.  
 
The LDP housing policy framework seeks to balance the 
short term need for housing development and viability issues 
with the longer term need to create balanced and sustainable 
communities. The provision of appropriate small scale infill 
development, in areas where new residential development is 
generally strictly controlled such as main and minor villages, 
increases opportunities within the local housing stock for 
local communities and residents.  
 

 
 
 
 
Ensure that the relevant guidance, as set out in the SPG, is 
accurately interpreted and implemented. 
 
The LDP and its policies have been subject to SA/SEA. The 
replacement LDP will be subject to SA/SEA.  
 
LDP AMRs will provide both an annual evaluation of plan 
performance including housing policies, and year by year 
comparison from which emerging long term trends may be 
identified and reported on.  This will help inform the 
evidence base for the replacement LDP. 
 

P
age 45



Sustainable Development 
Principle  

How does your proposal demonstrate you have met 
this principle? 

What has been done to better to meet this principle? 

Working 
together with 
other 
partners to 
deliver 

objectives  

The Draft SPG has been produced in liaison with the 
Council’s Development Management Officers following 
discussions regarding planning applications for small scale 
infill development. It will be subject to further internal 
consultation and external consultation. Public consultation 
will be targeted to those who are considered to have a 
specific interest in the topic but also including all town and 
community councils. The consultation will also be publicised 
via our Twitter account @MCCPlanning, as well as the 
corporate Monmouthshire Twitter account. 

 

The Draft SPG supports LDP housing and other detailed 
policies. The LDP was subject to extensive community and 
stakeholder engagement and consultation throughout the 
plan preparation process. This provided those interested 
parties with the opportunity to make representations on the 
policy framework to the Council and to an independent 
inspector who examined the LDP.  
 
LDP AMRs will provide both an annual evaluation of plan 
performance, including housing and design policies, and 
year by year comparison from which emerging long term 
trends may be identified and reported on.  This will inform 
the evidence base for the replacement LDP.  The 
replacement LDP will be taken forward through extensive 
community and stakeholder engagement, expanding on the 
methods used previously. 

Involving 
those with an 
interest and 
seeking their 
views 

Who are the stakeholders who will be affected by your 
proposal? Have they been involved? 

The Draft SPG has been produced in liaison with the 
Council’s Development Management Officers following 
discussions regarding planning applications for small scale 
infill development. It will be subject to further internal 
consultation and external consultation. Public consultation 
will be targeted to those who are considered to have a 
specific interest in the topic but also including all town and 
community councils. The consultation will also be publicised 
via our Twitter account @MCCPlanning, as well as the 
corporate Monmouthshire Twitter account. 

. 

. 

 

The Draft SPG supports LDP housing and other detailed 
policies. The LDP was subject to extensive community and 
stakeholder engagement and consultation throughout the 
plan preparation process. This provided those interested 
parties with the opportunity to make representations on the 
policy framework to the Council and to an independent 
inspector who examined the LDP.  
 
LDP AMRs will provide both an annual evaluation of plan 
performance, including housing and design policies, and 
year by year comparison from which emerging long term 
trends may be identified and reported on.  This will inform 
the evidence base for the replacement LDP.  The 
replacement LDP will be taken forward through extensive 
community and stakeholder engagement, expanding on the 
methods used previously. 

P
age 46



Sustainable Development 
Principle  

How does your proposal demonstrate you have met 
this principle? 

What has been done to better to meet this principle? 

Putting 
resources 
into 
preventing 
problems 

occurring or getting worse 

The requirement for this Draft SPG has arisen from some 
Members of Planning Committee who requested guidance 
on small scale infill development to help shape such 
proposals. The Council seeks to support and adopt a positive 
approach to appropriate small scale infill development where 
it accords with the LDP policy framework, specifically H1, H2 
and H3, and is accordance with the guidance set out in in the 
Draft SPG.   

The Draft SPG therefore provides certainty and clarity for 
applicants, officers and Members in the interpretation and 
implementation of the existing LDP policy framework, 
specifically Policies H1, H2 and H3, in relation to infill 
development.  

The future adoption and implementation of this Draft SPG 
will support appropriate small scale infill development 
where it accords with the LDP policy framework, specifically 
Policies H1, H2 and H3. New residential development is 
usually strictly controlled in main and minor villages, infill 
development assists in increasing the local housing stock 
for communities and residents in these settlements.  

 

Positively 
impacting on 
people, 
economy and 
environment 

and trying to benefit all three 

The Draft SPG supports the implementation of the LDP 
which has been subject to a SA/SEA that balances the 
impacts on social, economic and environmental factors. 
 

The AMRs will examine the impacts of the LDP over the 
longer term and evidence the emergence of any trends at 
different spatial scales.  Delivering sustainable 
development (social, economic and environmental) is 
central to the LDP. Continue to monitor indicators, including 
housing policy indicators and targets, to inform future 
AMRs. 

The replacement LDP will be subject to a SA/SEA that 
balances the impacts on social, economic and environment 
factors.  

 

3. Are your proposals going to affect any people or groups of people with protected characteristics?  Please explain the impact, the evidence you 

have used and any action you are taking below.  

Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Age None None N/A 

P
age 47



Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Disability None None N/A 

Gender reassignment None None N/A 

Marriage or civil 

partnership 

None None N/A 

Race None None N/A 

Religion or Belief None None N/A 

Sex None None N/A 

Sexual Orientation None None N/A 

Welsh Language None None N/A 

 
4. Council has agreed the need to consider the impact its decisions has on important responsibilities of Corporate Parenting and safeguarding.  

Are your proposals going to affect either of these responsibilities?  For more information please see the guidance note 
http://hub/corporatedocs/Democratic%20Services/Equality%20impact%20assessment%20and%20safeguarding.docx  and for more on 
Monmouthshire’s Corporate Parenting Strategy see http://hub/corporatedocs/SitePages/Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy.aspx 

 

 Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on safeguarding and 
corporate parenting 

Describe any negative impacts your 
proposal has on safeguarding and 
corporate parenting 

What will you do/ have you done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 
better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Safeguarding  None None N/A 

Corporate Parenting  None None N/A 

 
 
 

P
age 48

http://hub/corporatedocs/Democratic%20Services/Equality%20impact%20assessment%20and%20safeguarding.docx
http://hub/corporatedocs/SitePages/Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy.aspx


5. What evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal? 
 

 

 Monmouthshire Local Development Plan (2011-2021).  

 

 
 
6. SUMMARY:  As a result of completing this form, what are the main positive and negative impacts of your proposal, how have they 

informed/changed the development of the proposal so far and what will you be doing in future? 
 

This section should give the key issues arising from the evaluation which will be included in the Committee report template. 

Positive: The Draft SPG seeks to support small scale infill development in Main Towns, Severnside Settlements, Rural Secondary Settlements, Main and 

Minor Villages, subject to compliance with the LDP policy framework, specifically policies H1, H2 and H3, providing this is not at the expense of the County’s 

natural and built environment. This will assist in supporting the local housing stock in Monmouthshire providing positive impacts on the local economy. The 

positive impacts on the local economy is essential to the well-being of local communities and residents throughout Monmouthshire.  

Future: Ensure that LDP housing and other relevant policies are accurately interpreted and implemented fully through use of this Draft SPG, measuring 

the effectiveness of the relevant policies on an annual basis in the LDP AMR. 

Negative: Potential for some negative sustainability impacts where infill development is located in main and minor villages where there is limited public 
transport and subsequent reliance on the private car, resulting in increased car use in these areas, albeit that this is likely to be minimal given the nature 
of small scale infill development. Therefore, the scope for such negative impacts is limited and will be carefully considered against the LDP policy framework.  
 
Future: LDP AMRs will provide both an annual evaluation of plan performance, including housing and design policy, and year by year comparison from 
which emerging long term trends may be identified and reported on.  This will inform the evidence base for the replacement LDP. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 49



7. Actions. As a result of completing this form are there any further actions you will be undertaking? Please detail them below, if applicable.  
 

What are you going to do  When are you going to do it?  Who is responsible  Progress  

Public consultation on the draft 

SPG. Amendments will be made to 

the SPG, as appropriate, in 

response to the consultation, prior 

to reporting back to ICM to seek 

endorsement to adopt.  

For approximately 6 weeks 

following approval of the draft SPG 

(March/April 2019). 

Head of Planning, Housing & 

Place-shaping 

 

 

8. Monitoring: The impacts of this proposal will need to be monitored and reviewed. Please specify the date at which you will evaluate the 

impact, and where you will report the results of the review.  

 

The impacts of this proposal will be evaluated on:  Impacts will be evaluated where relevant on a regular basis in the required 
LDP Annual Monitoring Report.  This AMR will be reported for political 
decision prior to submitting to the Welsh Government by 31 October 2019 
and will be available on the MCC website. 
 

 

P
age 50



 

 

 

 

 

 

1. PURPOSE:  

1.1 To inform members of significant additional funding being distributed through the Welsh Government 

Youth Support Grant (YSG) from April 2019 onwards, aimed at early intervention and prevention in 

the areas of mental/emotional health & wellbeing and youth homelessness.  To  request approval to 

implement the 2019-20 Youth Support Grant Activity Plan.  

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 
2.1 To approve the implementation of the 2019-20 Youth Support Grant activity plan and subsequent 

extended delivery programme. 

2.2 To approve the creation of three new posts within the Youth Service Team: ; Welsh Language Youth 
Support Worker, and two Youth Work Apprentices.  

2.3 To approve the creation of three new posts within the Youth Enterprise team: Youth Homelessness 
Coordinator,Youth Homelessness Worker; and ICT & Administration apprentice. The coordinator and 
worker posts will be secondment of existing Youth Enterprise staff members. 

2.4 Members to note there are no additional revenue costs for the Authority from the creation the 
additional posts. All activity will be funded through the Welsh Government Youth Support Grant. 
Contract and secondment periods will fall in line with the confirmed duration of the funding.  

 
3. KEY ISSUES:  

3.1 Welsh Government have approved additional funding through the Youth Support grant across Wales 
which has resulted in an increased allocation in Monmouthshire from £112,097 in 2018-19 to 
£311,188 in 2019-20. The additional investment is in recognition of the vital role of youth work, youth 
services and youth engagement and progression activities in the context of early intervention and 
prevention, and is designed to provide additionality beyond that which is currently provided by the 
local authority or partners in Monmouthshire.  

3.2 The Mental/ Emotional Health & Wellbeing allocation of £64,715 will be used to implement the Shift 
programme in Monmouthshire, offering support to young people with emerging mental health, 
emotional or wellbeing issues in schools and the community. The programme will introduce improved 
early identification procedures, one to one and group mentoring support, use of non-clinical youth 
work approaches to develop resilience and emotional regulation skills in young people, and stronger 
systems for the monitoring and tracking of those identified as in need of support. 

3.3 The Youth Homelessness allocation of £125,131 will be used to implement the Compass programme 
aimed at homelessness prevention in the four secondary schools in Monmouthshire, as well as the 
Pupil Referral Service and Mounton House.  The programme will tackle homelessness in young 
people’s hostels by providing mentoring support and guidance to those already living in supported 
accommodation, and developing a lead worker function to work collaboratively  across housing, 
health, education, social care and the voluntary sector. This funding will also support homelessness 
understanding and awareness training, improved early identification tools accounting for indicators of 
youth homelessness, and development of appropriate referral mechanisms and pathways for 
identified young people.  

3.4 The Core Grant allocation of £121,342 will be used to support and enhance existing youth provision 
in Monmouthshire, supporting both open access and targeted youth work, and youth engagement and 
progression framework activity. This will include strengthening outreach work outside of town centres, 
establishing sufficient levels of Welsh Language provision, and enhancing targeted provision, as well 

SUBJECT: YOUTH SUPPORT GRANT 

MEETING: INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION – Cllr RICHARD JOHN 

DATE:  27th March 2019   

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED: ALL  

 

   

DATE:  21ST May 2015 

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED: Pan Monmouthshire  

 

Page 51

Agenda Item 3



as strengthening the Engagement & Progression Coordinator and Lead Worker functions, and 
contributing to the delivery of regional ESF programmes. Training and professional development 
opportunities, including professional youth work qualifications, will also be provided through this 
funding.  

3.5 The Youth Support Grant activity plan is a collaborative plan developed jointly between Youth 
Enterprise and the Youth Service in Monmouthshire and is led by the Youth Service Manager/ 
Principal Youth Officer and Youth Enterprise Manger/Engagement Progression Coordinator. Youth 
Enterprise and the Youth Service will continue to deliver the core elements of the Youth Support 
Grant, whilst extending provision into mental health and wellbeing and youth homelessness 
prevention.  
 

 
4. OPTIONS APPRAISAL 

 

Option Benefits Risks 

Do nothing None identified - Lack of provision aimed at early 
intervention and prevention in the 
areas of youth homelessness and 
mental/emotional health and 
wellbeing. 

- Loss of Youth Support Grant 
funding. 

Commission other 
services to deliver 
priorities 

- Expertise from specialist services  - Not delivered in a youth work 
context 

- Does not build on existing youth 
work provision and partnerships 

Youth Enterprise 
and Youth Service 
implement the 
2019-20 YSG 
Activity Plan 

- New programmes introduced to 
Monmouthshire to fill identified 
gaps in the current provision. 

- Improved Mental/Emotional 
health and wellbeing amongst 
young people supported by Shift. 

- Reduced risk of homelessness 
amongst young people supported 
by Compass. 

- New programmes to contribute to 
the reduced risk of young people 
becoming NEET ( not in 
education, employment or 
training) 

- Short term funding, subject to 
change on an annual basis  

 

 

5. EVALUATION CRITERIA 

5.1 An evaluation assessment has been included in Appendix 1 for future evaluation of whether the 

decision has been successfully implemented. (To be inserted). 

 

6. REASONS: 

6.1 The Youth Support Grant Activity Plan is designed in the context of Youth Work and Youth 
Engagement and Progression activity. It will complement and bring additionality to the existing offer 
from housing and mental health support services in Monmouthshire, and provide a high quality 
programme of support where provision does not currently exist.  

6.2 Through partnership working with the Local Authority housing service and children’s services (early 
intervention service) it is clear that there is a need locally for earlier intervention and support for 
young people with mental health and wellbeing concerns, and those at risk of becoming homeless, 
through a youth work approach.  

6.3 The mental/emotional health and wellbeing activity will contribute toward the outcomes identified in 
the Mind Over Matter report and the developing whole school approach to mental health and 
wellbeing.  Page 52



6.4 The youth homelessness activity is part of a national approach to prevent youth homelessness and 
tackles its root cause, and aligns with the Welsh Governments mission to end Youth Homelessness 
by 2027.  
 

 

7 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS:  

7.1 Delivery of the Core Grant Activity and Shift programme will require three additional members of 

staff. The post of Welsh Language Youth Support Worker will be Band F SCP 25 -29, in line with 

existing Youth Support Worker posts. The Youth Work Apprentice posts will be paid National 

Minimum Wage based on age in line with existing apprenticeships within the authority.  

7.2 Delivery of the Compass programme will require the secondment of two existing staff members to 

the new posts of Youth Homelessness Coordinator and Youth Homelessness Worker. Job 

evaluation for these posts has resulted in a grading of Band H SCP 33-37 and Band G SCP 29-33 

respectively. The ICT & Administration Apprentice post will be paid National Minimum Wage based 

on age in line with existing apprenticeships within the authority.   

7.3 All activity will be funded through the Welsh Government Youth Support Grant. Contract and 

secondment periods will fall in line with the confirmed duration of the funding. There will be no 

additional cost to the authority.  

 

8 WELLBEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS IMPLICATIONS(INCORPORATING 

EQUALITIES, SUSTAINABILITY, SAFEGUARDING AND CORPORATE PARENTING): 

The Youth Support Grant will improve open access youth provision, targeted youth provision, 
develop Welsh Language youth provision and enhance Youth Engagement and Progression 
Activity. It will also deliver new provision aimed at early intervention and prevention in mental health 
and wellbeing, and youth homelessness.  
 
It is anticipated that the grant will have a positive impact on young peoples’ social, emotional, health 
and wellbeing, education and skills and potential to experience homelessness. This proposal does 
acknowledge that due to personal, social and educational barriers, provision will not be able to 
impact on every young person.  
 

9 CONSULTEES: 

Chief Officer for Children and Young People 

Chief Officer for Enterprise 

Chief Officer for Social Care, Safeguarding and Health 

Children and Young People Departmental Management Team 

Enterprise Senior Leadership Team 

Social Care, Safeguarding and Health Departmental Management Team 

Head of Enterprise and Community Development 

Head of Tourism, Leisure, Culture and Youth 

  

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS:  

            Evaluation Criteria         (Appendix 1) 

Future Generations Evaluation       (Appendix 2) 

Youth Support Grant Planning Template 2019/20     (Appendix 3) 

Welsh Language Youth Support Worker job description    (Appendix 4) 

Youth Work Apprentice job description      (Appendix 5) 

Youth Homelessness Coordinator job description     (Appendix 6) 

Youth Homelessness Worker job description     (Appendix 7) 

 IT & Administration Apprentice       (Appendix 8) 

 

 

  Page 53



11. AUTHOR: 

 Hannah Jones, MCC Youth Enterprise Manager 

 Josh Klein, MCC Youth Service Manager 

 

12.  CONTACT DETAILS: 

Tel: 07738 340418 

 E-mail: hannahjones@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

 

 Tel: 07766 094894 

 E-mail: joshklein@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 54

mailto:hannahjones@monmouthshire.gov.uk
mailto:joshklein@monmouthshire.gov.uk


Appendix 1 - Evaluation Criteria – Cabinet, Individual Cabinet Member Decisions & Council 

Title of Report:  Youth Support Grant 

Date decision was 

made:  

27th March 2019 

Report Author:  Hannah Jones / Josh Klein 

 

What will happen as a result of this decision being approved by Cabinet or Council?  

The implementation of the Youth Support Grant Activity Plan – Core Youth Support activity, Youth Engagement and Progression Framework 

activity, and the additional funding aimed at early intervention and prevention in the areas of mental/emotional health and wellbeing and youth 

homelessness. 

12 month appraisal 

 

What benchmarks and/or criteria will you use to determine whether the decision has been successfully implemented?  

The following criteria will determine whether the decision has been successfully implemented: 

 Sustaining a continued reduction in the number and percentage of NEET Y11, Y12 and Y13 school leavers 

 Continued reduction in the number of NEET young people 16 -24 years  

 Improved future pathway opportunities in particular local employment 

 Improved co-ordination of support and interventions for young people most at risk or who are NEET 

 Sustaining open access youth work provision 

 Targeted/specific youth work provision 

 Welsh language youth provision 

 Upskilling Youth Enterprise and Youth Service staff providing a high quality provision 

 Developing additional online resources to improve on the level of information accessible to service users 

 Early Identification Tool – mental/emotional health and wellbeing and youth homelessness indicators 

 Implementing the mental/emotional health and wellbeing programme - Shift 

 Implementing the youth homelessness programme - Compass 

12 month appraisal 

P
age 55



 

What is the estimate cost of implementing this decision or, if the decision is designed to save money, what is the proposed saving 

that the decision will achieve?  

There are no additional resource implications for the Council, for the Youth Support Grant, all costs will be managed within the grant allocation 

12 month appraisal 

 

 

Any comments 

 

 

 

P
age 56



Appendix 2 - Future Generations Evaluation  
 

 
     
 
Name of the Officer  Hannah Jones, Josh Klein 
 
 
 
Phone no: 07738 340 418 / 07766 094894 
E-mail:hannahjones@monmouthshire.gov.uk / 
joshklein@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 

Please give a brief description of the aims of the proposal 

 To implement the Youth Support Grant Activity Plan – Core Youth Work 

activity, Youth Engagement and Progression activity  and the additional 

funding aimed at early intervention and prevention in the areas of 

mental/emotional health and well – being and youth homelessness 

Name of Service: Youth Enterprise and Youth Service Date Future Generations Evaluation  15th February 2019 

NB. Key strategies and documents that may help you identify your contribution to the wellbeing goals and sustainable development principles 

include: Single Integrated Plan, Continuance Agreement, Improvement Plan, Local Development Plan, People Strategy, Asset Management 

Plan, Green Infrastructure SPG, Welsh Language Standards, etc. 

 

1. Does your proposal deliver any of the well-being goals below?  Please explain the impact (positive and negative) you expect, together with 

suggestions of how to mitigate negative impacts or better contribute to the goal.   

Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? Describe 

the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to mitigate 

any negative impacts or better contribute to 

positive impacts? 

A prosperous Wales Efficient use of 
resources, skilled, educated people, 
generates wealth, provides jobs 

This proposal will support and enhance youth provision 

in Monmouthshire; open access and targeted youth 

work, youth engagement and progression framework 

activity, strengthen outreach work and establish 

sufficient levels of welsh language youth provision. The 

additional funding will contribute to improve young 

people’s mental/emotional well-being and youth 

homelessness in Monmouthshire. 

The Youth Support Grant will be monitored via the 

Economy and Development Select and the Children 

and Young People Select as part of the Youth 

Enterprise and Youth Service offer. 

Future Generations Evaluation  
(includes Equalities and Sustainability Impact Assessments) 

P
age 57



Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? Describe 

the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to mitigate 

any negative impacts or better contribute to 

positive impacts? 

The aim of the proposal is to equip young people with 

the skills and behaviours on manage their lives and 

make informed decisions for their future pathways in 

sustaining education, employment and training.  

A resilient Wales 
Maintain and enhance biodiversity and 
ecosystems that support resilience and 
can adapt to change (e.g. climate 
change) 

The Youth Support grant will address issues such as 

waste, recycling, minimize energy usage and efficient 

use of such resources, whilst also raising awareness of 

environmental issues and healthy lifestyles.  

A partnership approach youth enterprise and youth 

service sharing expertise, networks and resources 

will ensure a good quality provision for our young 

people. 

A healthier Wales 
People’s physical and mental wellbeing 
is maximized and health impacts are 
understood 

The aim of the proposal is to create the conditions for 

all young people to thrive, particularly those most at risk  

It will enable young people to feel confident and 

capable in school and the community with peers and 

others.  The activities will equip young people with the 

appropriate skills to manage and improve their 

mental/emotional health and wellbeing and reduce the 

risk of becoming NEET ( not in education, employment 

and training) 

  

The one to one support from responsible partners 

will enable us to identify and address individual 

need. Setting agreed goals and reinforcing 

recognition and achievements. A reduction in the 

barriers to participation is a key element to enable 

young people to be engaged, supported and valued. 

The level of support offered will be high and 

consistent. 

A Wales of cohesive communities 
Communities are attractive, viable, safe 
and well connected 

The programmes will encourage safe and appropriate 

use of IT and the internet, developing young peoples’ 

ICT literacy skills, preparing them for further learning, 

education, training and the world of work. 

The programmes will link to the wider community, 

helping young people be active citizens in their 

community and have a greater awareness of 

community safety. 

Encourage safer use of the internet and raise 

awareness of the harmful effects and consequences 

of inappropriate use of social media 

Develop additional online resources to improve on 

the level of information that is accessible to service 

users through use of existing webpages and social 

media. 

 

P
age 58



Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? Describe 

the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to mitigate 

any negative impacts or better contribute to 

positive impacts? 

A globally responsible Wales 
Taking account of impact on global well-
being when considering local social, 
economic and environmental wellbeing 

The programmes will work to ensure high standards are 

met and maintained that do not conflict with the global 

drivers 

Youth Enterprise and Youth Service will share 

resources and good practices to ensure young 

people have the best opportunities to engage in 

global wellbeing and how this impact’s on their 

community. 

A Wales of vibrant culture and 
thriving Welsh language 
Culture, heritage and Welsh language 
are promoted and protected.  People are 
encouraged to do sport, art and 
recreation 

The programmes will have marketing, publications and 

printed literature available bilingually where appropriate. 

The projects/activities will conform to the Welsh 

Language Legislation Welsh Language Wales Measure 

2011 and accompanying welsh language standards. 

The Youth Service will employ a Welsh Youth Worker 

as part of the Core Youth Support Grant to develop and 

sustain sufficient levels of Welsh language youth 

provision. 

Welsh speaking young people participating in welsh 

language youth provision embracing the vibrant 

welsh culture and language. 

A more equal Wales 
People can fulfil their potential no matter 
what their background or circumstances 

The programmes will develop effective ways to engage 

and provide support for those individuals regardless of 

ethnic origin, gender, disability sexual orientation or 

religion to ensure all young people actively participate 

in and benefit from the offer.  

With the ability to better understand research and 

data giving us the opportunity for targeted work with 

our schools and communities in developing the new 

programmes – mental/emotional health and 

wellbeing and youth homelessness. 

P
age 59



 

2. How has your proposal embedded and prioritised the sustainable governance principles in its development? 

Sustainable Development 

Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met this 

principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better contribute to 

positive impacts? 

Balancing 

short term 

need with long 

term and 

planning for 

the future 

The proposal aligns with the wellbeing objective of the 

council; to provide children and young people with the best 

possible start in life. The programmes will contribute to 

reducing inequality and help build sustainable and resilient 

communities. 

This will reduce the likelihood of future or continuing poverty 

amongst young people. It will also deliver improved health 

and well-being for young people, whilst also instilling a work 

ethic for young people and seeing aspiration levels rise.  

The aim is to develop resilience in those young people 
‘most at risk’ or who are NEET, to improve their 
confidence and skills.. Thus enabling them to progress into 
education, employment or training. 
 
 

Working 

together with 

other partners 

to deliver 

objectives  

Youth Enterprise and Youth Service will work with key 

partners within the local authority, third and voluntary sector  

including schools in delivering the key priorities set out in the 

Youth Support Grant Activity Plan 

Youth Enterprise  and Youth Service offer services within 
the community working with partners to the benefit of 
young people 

Involving 

those with 

an interest 

and seeking 

their views 

The programmes will involve young people in the design 
delivery, evaluation and redesign of the learning experiences. 
As part of the learning journey, the team understands the 
necessity for bespoke interventions involving the young 
person and fostering shared responsibility and autonomy of 
the young person as well as constant progress. 
 
 
 

The programmes will discuss at point of referral the young 
person’s needs, where they are at and explore future 
pathways. It will provide formative reviews of the learning 
experience, have informal discussions and evaluations 
during and at end of programmes.  

P
age 60



Sustainable Development 

Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met this 

principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better contribute to 

positive impacts? 

Putting 

resources 

into 

preventing 

problems 

occurring or 

getting worse 

The proposal is aimed at early intervention and prevention in 

the areas of mental/emotional health and wellbeing, youth 

homelessness and risk of young people becoming NEET. 

The core youth work activity will support and enhance 

existing youth provision and strengthen outreach work 

encouraging community cohesion. 

It is anticipated that the long term impact of the programmes 

will challenge behaviors, actions and attitudes, subsequently 

establishing firm foundations on which to provide support 

and generic skills in the future. 

The programmes will be monitored and reviewed as part 
of the action plan to ensure activities are on track and then 
young people feel the programmes are meeting their 
needs and expectations. 

Considering 

impact on all 

wellbeing 

goals 

together and 

on other 

bodies 

Implement the Shift programme in Monmouthshire offering 

support to young people with emerging mental health, 

emotional or wellbeing issues with an aim to develop 

resilience in young people through non-clinical support using 

youth work approaches in school and the community 

The programme will be monitored and reviewed through 
the number of young people that engage, the number of 
young people that improve their mental/emotional health 
or wellbeing needs. 

 

3. Are your proposals going to affect any people or groups of people with protected characteristics?  Please explain the impact, the evidence you 

have used and any action you are taking below. For more detailed information on the protected characteristics, the Equality Act 2010 and the Welsh 

Language Standards that apply to Monmouthshire Council please follow this link:http://hub/corporatedocs/Equalities/Forms/AllItems.aspx  or contact Alan 

Burkitt on 01633 644010 or alanburkitt@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

 

P
age 61

http://hub/corporatedocs/Equalities/Forms/AllItems.aspx
mailto:alanburkitt@monmouthshire.gov.uk


Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Age We aim to engage with young people 11- 25 

years, particularly most at risk of becoming 

NEET (not in education, employment or 

training) or who are NEET, young people 

with mental/emotional health and well-being 

concerns and young people at risk of 

homelessness. 

None identified  The offer will focus on the future 
aspiration of the county’s young people 

Disability We aim to engage and support young 

people to meet individual needs without 

discrimination. 

 

None identified  All young people regardless of disability 
will be encouraged to participate 

Gender reassignment We aim to provide a provision which is 

inclusive for transgender people and groups 

We will address any issues in regards to 

work placements, employment and training 

opportunities.   

None identified  All young people regardless of gender 
assignment will be encourage to 
participate 

Marriage or civil 

partnership 

Not applicable None identified  N/A 

Pregnancy or 

maternity 

Risk assessment will be in place for 
pregnant young people ensures all health 
and safety measures have been addressed 
and the well-being of the young person is 
paramount. 

None identified  N/A 

Race Young people referred onto our projects will 

be given the same opportunities regardless 

of race. The relevant support will be 

provided to meet individual needs 

None identified  All young people regardless of race will 
be encouraged to participate 

P
age 62



Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Religion or Belief We aim to offer bespoke packages of 

support that will take into account young 

peoples’ religion and religious beliefs. 

None identified  All young people regardless of religion 
or belief will be encouraged to 
participate. 

Sex We aim to offer opportunities that will take 

into account individual needs regardless of 

sex. 

None identified  N/A 

Sexual Orientation We aim to offer opportunities that will take 

into account individual needs regardless of 

sexual orientation. 

None identified  All young people regardless of sexual 
orientation will be encouraged to 
participate 

 

Welsh Language 

We will adhere to the Welsh Government 

Welsh Language Policy. We will aim to 

provide bilingual learning opportunities if 

there is a need. 

None identified  All marketing and promotional materials 
will be produced bilingually 

 
4. Council has agreed the need to consider the impact its decisions has on important responsibilities of Corporate Parenting and safeguarding.  

Are your proposals going to affect either of these responsibilities?  For more information please see the guidance 
http://hub/corporatedocs/Democratic%20Services/Safeguarding%20Guidance.docx  and for more on Monmouthshire’s Corporate Parenting Strategy see 
http://hub/corporatedocs/SitePages/Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy.aspx 

 

 Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on safeguarding and 
corporate parenting 

Describe any negative impacts your 
proposal has on safeguarding and 
corporate parenting 

What will you do/ have you done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 
better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

P
age 63

http://hub/corporatedocs/Democratic%20Services/Safeguarding%20Guidance.docx
http://hub/corporatedocs/SitePages/Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy.aspx


Safeguarding  Safeguarding is a priority, young people on 
our programmes will have a multiple barriers 
and are vulnerable individuals. The 
programmes will link with Building Stronger 
Families, Multi-Agency Early Support and 
Prevention Referral and Intervention 
Pathway Panel, monthly multi-agency 
meetings in schools and monthly Keeping in 
Touch meetings. 

None identified  All youth enterprise and youth service 
staff and volunteers have completed the 
Safeguarding level 1 

Corporate Parenting  The programmes target young people who 
are looked after children (LAC) and care 
leavers. We aim to provide a tailor package 
which is flexible to their needs and 
circumstances. 

None identified  N/A 

 
5. What evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal? 
 

 The Local Authority Early Identification process identifying young people most at risk in key stage 3 and 4. 

 The Careers Wales 5 Tier model data, identifying young people 16 -18 years in tier 1 and 2 who are not in education, employment or training Young 
people 19 -24 years who are vulnerable and are still in education. 

 The Youth Service Welsh Government Audit 17/18 stated 3159 number of reach registered number of young accessing Open Access provision  

 3.4% of young people aged 11-16 received Welsh medium education (most recent data available September 2017).  

 Finding from the National Assembly for Wales Mind Over Matter Report  

 The 2017/18 Student Health and Wellbeing research carried out in all secondary school in 

 In 17/18 there were 36 secondary school pupils in Monmouthshire who were persistently absent from school due to mental health reasons. 

 Make your Mark assemblies and consultations which took place in Monmouthshire’s' secondary schools in October 2018 

 Data relating to the number of young people declaring themselves as homeless 
 
 

 
6. SUMMARY:  As a result of completing this form, what are the main positive and negative impacts of your proposal, how have they 

informed/changed the development of the proposal so far and what will you be doing in future? 
 

It is anticipated that the Youth Support Grant activities will have a positive impact on the young peoples’ social, emotional, health and wellbeing, education 

and skills. This will develop their resilience and improve their life chances. This proposal does acknowledge that due to personal, social and educational 

barriers, provision will not be able to impact on every young person. 

 

 

 

P
age 64



 
 
7. ACTIONS: As a result of completing this form are there any further actions you will be undertaking? Please detail them below, if applicable. 
 

What are you going to do  When are you going to do it?  Who is responsible  Progress  

To implement the Youth Support 

Grant Activity – Core Youth Work 

activity, Youth Engagement and 

Progression activity  and the 

additional funding aimed at early 

intervention and prevention in the 

areas of mental/emotional health 

and well – being and youth 

homelessness 

 

April 2019 Hannah Jones 

Josh Klein 

To be reported on an annual basis 

 

8. MONITORING: The impacts of this proposal will need to be monitored and reviewed. Please specify the date at which you will evaluate the 

impact, and where you will report the results of the review. 

 

The impacts of this proposal will be evaluated on:  October 2019 

 

9. VERSION CONTROL: The Future Generations Evaluation should be used at the earliest stages of decision making, and then honed and 

refined throughout the decision making process.  It is important to keep a record of this process so that we can demonstrate how we have 

considered and built in sustainable development wherever possible. 

Version 

No. 

Decision making stage  Date considered Brief description of any amendments made following 

consideration 

1 Individual Cabinet Members Decision  27th March 2019  

 

P
age 65



1 
 

Appendix 3 - Youth Support Grant Planning Template 2019/20 

Local 
Authority 

A) Core Youth 
Support Grant (YSG) 

Minimum spend of Core 
YSG for YEPF activity 

B) Mental/ Emotional 
Health & Wellbeing  

C) Youth 
Homelessness 
 

Total Indicative 
Allocation 

Monmouthshire £121,342 £39,237 £64,715 £125,131 £311,188 

 

Guidance: While we expect you to be working towards all of the identified criteria, we acknowledge that there are already systems in place locally, and that 
not all of the criteria-related activity will necessarily be funded through the Youth Support Grant. However, in completing this plan you will be asked to identify 
your priority areas to be funded through the Youth Support Grant and, in doing so, reference them against the identified, relevant criteria. Where other 
sources of funding are being utilised to work towards other grant criteria, and no Youth Support Grant funding is being requested to support their delivery, you 
are asked to identify them and summarise how they are being addressed through local arrangements in the final section. Finally, while we want an integrated 
approach, during this first year of additional funding we are asking you to populate separate priority areas for your allocations against B) Mental/Emotional 
Health and Wellbeing, and C) Youth Homelessness. This is to help ensure clarity and create transparency as to how new funding is being utilised.  

A) Core Youth Support Grant Criteria 2019/20 
The 2019/20 Core Youth Support Grant allocation is to support you to: 
1. Strengthen your ability to deliver both open access and targeted/specific youth work provision, according to locally identified needs, and in line with the 

National Occupational Standards and ‘Youth Work in Wales: Principles and Purposes’ 

2. Strengthen relationships with Voluntary Sector partners in Wales, ensuring opportunities for collaborative/partnership working in the planning and 
delivery of services to young people 

3. Work towards achieving the Bronze, Silver, or Gold Quality Mark for Youth Work in Wales, or equivalent successor arrangements 
4. Support the professional learning and locally identified training needs for staff (both yours and partners where deemed appropriate), including 

professional youth work qualifications. This does not include generic training such as safeguarding, health and safety and food hygiene 
5. Strengthen and embed the Engagement and Progression Coordinator (EPC) function as identified in the current Framework and any future iteration. 
6. Strengthen and embed brokerage functions and lead worker support as identified in the current Framework and any future iteration 
7. Work collaboratively at regional and national levels to enable more effective delivery of Youth Work and Youth Engagement and Progression 

Framework activity 
8. Draw in additional resources (financial /human); including via support for regional ESF delivery of the NEET youth employment and attainment 

objectives 

9. New – make progress towards establishing sufficient levels of Welsh Language provision, reflecting on the percentage of young people which have 
received Welsh medium education, and working towards the delivery of increased opportunities for young people to use Welsh 

10. New – assess the quality, and accessibility*, of local information aimed at supporting young people to access services and make positive choices, 
strengthening these arrangements where deemed necessary. 

* including through the use of modern technologies. 

P
age 66



2 
 

As in previous years, qualified Youth Work Staff funded by the Youth Support Grant are required to be registered with the Education Workforce Council. 
This must be confirmed in your plan. It is also expected that your plan clearly states how the provision/s is meeting some of the Welsh Government’s 
wellbeing indicators. 

 

B) Mental/ Emotional Health & Wellbeing through youth work approaches 
The Mental/ Emotional Health & Wellbeing allocation of the Youth Support Grant is to support you to: 
11. New - Strengthen your youth work offer so it is better equipped to deliver, and increase access to*, provision aimed at the early identification and 

support of young people with emerging mental health, emotional or wellbeing issues. This should include a focus on developing resilience through non-
clinical/community support 

12. New - Strengthen collaborative, partnership working arrangements between the youth service and health, education, social care and voluntary sectors, 
ensuring a coordinated approach at a local level  

13. New - Ensure appropriate referral pathways and mechanisms for the effective tracking of young people identified as in need of support are in place and 
enhanced where appropriate 

14. New - Your plan should articulate how these criteria are being met, commit to engaging with/aligning to the developing whole school approach to mental 
health and wellbeing (as more details are made available), and be agreed by Local Mental Health Strategy Boards. 

* digital technology should be considered as a means of increasing availability and access.  
 

To note: this is the first year of this new funding. In planning against this criteria it is recommended that you:  

 develop a non-clinical model of intervention focusing on youth work approaches; 

 reflect on the Mind Over Matter report findings and ensure that new approaches link with the developing whole school approach to mental 
health and wellbeing (when more detail is made available), including through shared early identification systems, referral pathways and 
brokerage systems;  

 explore the role of the Youth Engagement and Progression Framework, which already has these systems in place to reduce NEET figures, 
expanding its scope to identify mental health and wellbeing risk factors and help broker support;  

 recognise the need to work closely with local Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services, and local primary mental health care support 
services, to reduce demand for services through early identification and signposting to interventions;  

 take a flexible approach according to local need, but reflect the important role that youth work plays in providing safe places for young people to 
meet their peers and trusted adults, combating against issues associated with loneliness and isolation; 

 recognise the role of youth work in supporting young people to develop their personal resilience and emotional regulation skills; and  

 ensure, therefore, that young people can access youth work, no matter where they live, alongside more targeted support depending on local need.  
 

C) Youth Homelessness 

P
age 67



3 
 

The Youth Homelessness allocation of the Youth Support Grant is to support you to: 
15. New – Deliver Youth Engagement and Progression Framework and youth work early intervention activity aimed at tackling youth homelessness. This 

must include: 

 strengthening early identification systems to account for indicators associated with youth homelessness 

 developing appropriate referral mechanisms, signposting, and pathways of support 

 developing and delivering youth service-led training to practitioners across a range of local services so that they develop awareness of youth 
homelessness and understand how to support young people effectively 

16. New – Employ a specific role aimed at establishing collaborative, partnership working arrangements across housing, health, education, social care, 
voluntary sectors, and a wide range of services/partners to ensure a coordinated approach and shared working practices. (Note: up to £68k has been 
allocated per authority for this purpose) 

Strategic Context 
Tell us about the context within your local authority. Things to consider might include: 

 Social, economic, geographic, and language considerations 

 Local structures for the planning and delivery of Youth Work, the Youth Service, Youth Support Services, and Youth Engagement and Progression 
Activity 

 How the proposals that follow represent additionality beyond that which you and your partners currently offer. Please provide assurances that the 
proposed additional investment via the Youth Support Grant won’t result in a withdrawal or displacement of existing local authority funding or 
provision.  

Monmouthshire is often perceived to be leafy and affluent and in many aspects it is. However some of the differences within and between communities are 
stark especially when they exist side by side. There are wide variations in exam results between people from different social backgrounds who attend the 
same schools. There are many high earners living in our County but wages available locally are lower than other parts of Wales. Many people experience 
in-work poverty. The costs of living in our rural county and accessing very basic services such as transport and health provision are greater than the costs 
for people living in urban conurbations. (People Place Prosperity – A strategy for Social Justice 2017/22). 
 
The Youth Support Grant will work to the purpose of Monmouthshire County Council: ‘We want to help build sustainable and resilient communities 
that support the well-being of current and future generations. This is at the heart of everything we do to improve the economic, social, environment 
and cultural well-being of Monmouthshire. The additional investment to improve Mental/Emotional Health and Well Being through youth work approach and 
the prevention and significantly reduction in Youth Homelessness is a much needed resource, this is evident from our existing provision in schools, 
community hubs and youth work settings. We will work to the corporate values of Openness, Fairness, Flexibility and Teamwork creating better 
outcomes for our children and young people by providing targeted preventative support complimenting established and existing services and provision for 
young people 11-25 years in Monmouthshire. The funding will address the Well –being Objective to ‘provide children and young people with the best 
possible start in life’. We want our children and young people to industry ready, able to contribute locally and globally and meet the demands of a rapidly 
changing world environment. ( Corporate Business Plan 2017/2022) 
 
The Youth Service activity that forms part of Monmouthshire’s Youth Support Services will report to Tourism, Leisure, Culture & Youth Management Team, 
Enterprise Senior Leadership Team, Monmouthshire’s Youth Offer group and Children and Youth Peoples Strategic Partnership to ensure and challenge 
performance monitoring and management.  The Children and Young Peoples’ Strategic Partnership is a performance group which reports directly to the 
Programme Board, which reports to the Public Service Board.  Regular updates will be reported to and scrutinised by the Children and Young Peoples’ 
Select Committee, Cabinet and the CYP Wellbeing group. 
 
The Youth Engagement and Progression Activity will report to Enterprise and Community Developmental Management Team, Enterprise Senior 
Leadership Team, Post 16 Steering group (Voluntary, Statutory, Private and Third Sector Partners) and the Children and Young Peoples’ Strategic 

P
age 68



4 
 

Partnership to ensure and challenge performance monitoring and management. The Children and Young Peoples’ Strategic Partnership is a performance 
group which reports directly to the Programme Board, which reports to the Public Service Board. Regular updates will be reported to and scrutinised by the 
Economy and Development Select Committee, Children and Young Peoples’ Select Committee and Cabinet. The Monmouthshire NEET Reduction 
Strategy 2018 -2021 – A Great Start for All sets out the vision or creating a NEET free county working with our schools, Careers Wales and key partners 
and the 6 key areas are in line with the priorities of the Youth Engagement and Progression Framework.  
 
This offer has been informed by the Local Authority Services - Education, Children Services, Housing and Community Development, secondary schools, 
Careers Wales, Colleges and third sector partners such as Llamau and Young Carers.  We have carried out research into the current gaps in provision for 
mental health and homelessness support for our young people and working closely with partners in developing the plan and long term vision to have a 
positive impact on the lives of our young people and their future aspirations.  
 
Youth Homelessness activity will be integral to the Monmouthshire Homeless Strategy and be reflected in the action plan. It will ensure improved homeless 
performance and reduce young people presenting as homeless. This activity will report to the Supporting People & Homeless planning group, 
 
The proposed additional investment via the Youth Support Grant will not result in a withdrawal or displacement of existing local authority funding or 
provision. The offer has been scrutinised by Enterprise Senior Leadership Team, Children and Young People Senior Leadership Team and an Individual 
Cabinet Members Decision to gain approval for the additional investment to be used as outlined in this report. Regular updates will be reported to and 
scrutinised by the Economy and Development Select Committee, Children and Young Peoples’ Select Committee, Cabinet and the CYP Wellbeing group. 

  

 

A) Core Youth Support Grant 

Needs Analysis: 
In relation to the core youth support grant criteria, please identify the priority areas for your locality and set out how these were identified. In 
doing so please reference: 

 data, including your approach to the analysis of the data available to you and any relevant findings; 

 the voice of young people, including your approach to engaging with them across your local area, and the outcomes of these discussions;  

 self-evaluation, including your approach to assessing the level and quality of local provision/services, and the identification of areas to be 
strengthened via the Youth Support Grant, to ensure a sufficient level of provision across your local area; and 

 collaboration, including your partnership working arrangements and the outcomes of consultation with third sector partners and other organisations. 
 

Youth Engagement and Progression Activity 
 
The priority areas for Monmouthshire under the Youth Engagement and Progression Activity are as follows: 

 Sustain the EPC function 

 Continue to support the Lead Worker function in line with the current framework and future iteration 

 Draw in additional resources for the regional ESF delivery of the NEET youth employment and attainment objectives 
 
The data findings to support this work is the Local Authority Early Identification Tool identifying young people most at risk of becoming disengagement in 
Key Stage 3 and 4. Tool developed in 2018 for key stage 2 further discussions with schools on the tool and subsequent support. Tier data from Careers 
Wales monitoring the number of young people that are NEET in tiers 1, 2 and 3. 
 

P
age 69



5 
 

The voice of young people is through our youth work relationship providing young people with the opportunity to provide feedback and explore how to 
develop their programme through a person centred approach. Our qualifications, each unit in every qualification offers young people the opportunity to 
reflect on the unit and ways to improve qualifications and teaching. Young People also offered choice of qualification and units within it. The events that the 
Youth Enterprise Team deliver for example, Global Entrepreneurship Week and International Women’s Day with our schools, young people provide 
feedback that shapes our future events 
 
Our self-evaluation is assessed in terms of the level and quality of local provision/services through our Service Improvement Plan which is reported to on a 
quarterly basis to ensure that we are on target and have sufficient levels of provision in Monmouthshire. This is also monitored as part of the 
Monmouthshire NEET Reduction Strategy 2018-2021 – A Great Start for All Action Plan, which is scrutinised on an annual basis.   
 
We work collaboratively with our secondary schools, Pupil Referral Service, Mounton House Special Schools, Careers Wales, Coleg Gwent Young Carers 
and other key partners working towards the Monmouthshire NEET Reduction Action Plan in reducing the risk of disengagement and young people 
becoming NEET. 
 
The priorities areas in Monmouthshire under the Youth Service Activity are; 

 Open Access Youth Work Provision 

 Targeted / Specific Youth Work Provision 

 Welsh Language Youth Provision 
 
Data - Youth Service Welsh Government Audit 17/18 stated 3159 number of reach registered number of young accessing Open Access provision, 
demonstrating a clear demand for this provision. .   
 
There is currently a need to develop Welsh Language youth provision in Monmouthshire, with 3.4% of young people aged 11-16 received Welsh medium 
education (most recent data available September 2017).  
 
The voice of young people is through our youth work relationship providing young people with the opportunity to provide ideas and suggestions through a 
person centred approach.  For example through face to face conversations with young people on the GIRL project work in schools, our LGBT/Equality 
groups which work discuss and agree on what issues around the 9 protected characteristics of the Equality Act 2010 specifically they’d like to work towards 
as well as responding to requests from the school to meet their needs. 
 
Our self-evaluation is assessed in terms of the level and quality of local provision/services through our Service Business Plan and Delivery Plan which is 
reported to on a quarterly basis to ensure that we are on target and have sufficient levels of provision in Monmouthshire. 
 
We work collaboratively with organisations such as the following to deliver projects and support young people: Pride Cymru, Police, Primary/Secondary 
schools, Sports Development, NHS, Police for ASB figures, PRS, Umbrella Cymru, and Pride Cymru for LGBT. Road Safety for Cycling Monmouthshire, 
Social Services, F2F, GP surgeries, Region Youth Forum, Fixers, Local Politicians, Local Councillors. 
 

Youth Support Grant funded activity Cost Outcomes 

Relevant 
Grant 

Criteria 
(1,2,3, etc) 

Priority A – Strengthen and embed the EPC function as identified in 
the current framework and future iteration :  

 
£34,237 

 

  
5, 7 

 

P
age 70



6 
 

To ensure commitment from schools, Careers Wales, Coleg Gwent and 
other partners as identified in the Monmouthshire NEET Reduction Strategy 
– A Great Start for All Action plan working towards the common aspiration 
of a NEET free county. 

 
To support the engagement and progression of young people in key stage 
3, 4 and 5 risk of disengagement and becoming NEET. Brokering 
interventions for those most at risk, working with schools and partners in 
developing bespoke provision. 

 
To guarantee that young people that are NEET, identified in the Career 
Wales 5 tier model have access to the right opportunities and provision to 
sustain engagement and progression. Priority of the local Keeping in Touch 
Group 

 
To promote and monitor employability and training programmes that 
enhance young people’s skills and opportunities for future employment as 
identified in the local employability partnership. 
 
To lead, develop and coordinate a new apprenticeship ,Graduate and 
Internship programme for the Authority in conjunction with People Services 
 
Work collaboratively with regional partners to enable effective delivery of 
YEPF activity 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Review and approve Service Level 
Agreements with all secondary schools 
and Careers Wales. 
Develop Service Level Agreement with 2 
other partners 
Y11 1.1% (9) NEET school leavers 
Y12 1.1% (5) NEET school leavers 
Y13 1.8% (8) NEET school leavers 
 
 
Hold allocation meetings with schools in 
January and July to determine 
appropriate support and interventions for 
pupils in Key Stage 3 and 4 
 
Movement of young people from tier 1,2 3 
to tier 4 and 5 within a designated time 
period. 
 
Number of young people supported into 
employment and training, including 
Apprenticeships. 
 
Approval of Local Authority 
Apprenticeship, Graduate and Internship 
Strategy 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Priority B - Strengthen and embed brokerage functions and lead 
worker support as identified in the current Framework and any future 
iteration: 
 
To embed the ‘Next Steps’ process within our secondary schools, Mounton 
House Special School and Pupil Referral Service to monitor young peoples 
expected destinations over an extended period to ensure that appropriate 
interventions can be put in place. 
 
To support those most vulnerable young people including LAC, working 
closely with the LACE Coordinator to break down any barriers to 
progression. 
 

 
£5000 

More comprehensive transition process 
for Year 11 leavers and reduced risk of 
young people becoming NEET. 
 
Improved access to future pathways and 
appropriate alternative provision 
 
 
Bespoke learning and support 
opportunities post 16 for those with more 
complex needs and barriers. 
 
 

 
6 

P
age 71



7 
 

To engage young people in the review and improvement of services to 
ensure young people are resilient, well-equipped and have transferable 
skills for an ever changing and diverse future employment market.  
 

Number of young people engaged in 
service review 
 

Priority C - Draw in additional resources (financial /human); including 
via support for regional ESF delivery of the NEET youth employment 
and attainment objectives 
 
To support the Inspire2Achieve ( I2A) programme offering young people 
identified as red in Key Stage 3 and 4 a series of interventions to reduce 
the risk of disengagement 
 
To support the Inspire2Work (I2W) programme offering young people 
NEET in tier 1 and 2 of the Careers Wales 5 tier model, 18 -24 years that 
are unemployed and those 16 -24 years unemployed who are most 
vulnerable qualifications and employability skills. 
 

£15,000 
 

Number of young people gaining a 
qualification upon leaving I2A 
Number of young people enter education 
or training upon leaving I2A 
Number of young people reduced risk of 
NEET upon leaving I2A 
Number of young people gain 
qualifications upon leaving I2W 
Number of young people enter education 
or training upon I2W 
Number of young people enter 
employment upon leaving I2W 
 

8 

Priority D - Strengthen our ability to deliver open access and 
targeted/specific youth work provision, according to local identified 
needs, by working with voluntary sector partners where appropriate, 
ensuring opportunities for collaborative / partnership working in the 
planning and delivery of services to young people. 
 
This work will include employing one Welsh-speaking Youth Support 
Worker and two Youth Work apprentices to: 
Supporting the operation of two full-time centres and nine youth club/after 
school session/lunch time clubs in secondary schools.  This will include 
Welsh-language provision.  
 
Facilitating school holiday provision across the county, which includes 
educational trips and visits. 
 
Strengthening outreach work outside of town centres (including parks, 
skate parks and playing fields) to offer activities, events and offer 
information and Youth Work support as a preventative measure.  This 
outreach work can be based on local knowledge or anti-social behaviour 
intelligence. This work develops area-specific Youth Provisions based 
around needs, working with voluntary sector partners on a collaborative 
approach. 
 

£61,701 

Number of young people accessing after 
school/lunch time provision  
 
Improve number of welsh speaking 
provision across the county, for those 
welsh speaking young people 
 
Number of young people engaged in 
school holiday provision 
 
Number of young people who access 
youth worker support in the community 
 
Number of young people engaged in 
targeted Youth Work 
  
Number of target projects increased  
 
Number of voluntary partnerships 
increased 

1, 2, 4, 
9, 

P
age 72



8 
 

Make progress towards establishing sufficient levels of Welsh Language 
provision, and working towards the delivery of increased opportunities for 
young people to use Welsh 
 
Support targeted Youth Work provision such as LGBT / Equality & Diversity 
work, the GIRL Project and Year 6 Transition programme. 
 

Priority E – To support the professional learning and identified 
training needs of staff and partners 
 
Equip 2 members of staff with a minibus license including: 
- PCV D1 Starter Pack 

(PCV Medical, PCV Theory Tests & Online Revision Materials) 
- PCV D1 Driver Training (2 days) & Test 
 
Provide relevant training and development opportunities to upskill staff and 
ensure they are equipped to deliver provision aimed at early identification 
and support of young people with emerging mental/emotional health and 
wellbeing concerns, including: 

- Mental Health First Aid Kit (Wales) to 10 staff 

- ACES training to 10 staff 
 
2 apprentices engaged in the Level 2 Award in Youth Work Practice or/and 
Level 2 / 3 Certificate in Youth Work Practice. 
 

£3,314 

 
 
Staff are trained and upskilled staff have 
developed  knowledge, competence and 
confidence in their roles 
 
Increase access and mobility for young 
people across the county involved with 
the service. 
 
Number of staff trained 
 
Number of training opportunities 
 
Number of staff completing accredited 
qualifications in mental health/wellbeing 

4 

Priority F - Develop additional online resources to improve on the 
level of information that is accessible to service users through use of 
existing webpages and social media 

£2,000 
Recorded visits to information pages on 
website 10 

 

A) Core YSG: 6 month update – to be completed by 31 October 2019 

Update on Youth Support Grant funded activity Spend Progress toward Outcomes 

Relevant 
Grant 

Criteria 
(1,2,3, etc) 

    

 

A) Core YSG: 12 month update – to be completed by 31 March 2020 

P
age 73



9 
 

Update on Youth Support Grant funded activity 
Final 

Spend 
Progress toward Outcomes 

Relevant 
Grant 

Criteria 
(1,2,3, etc) 

    

Note: Please add additional priority areas as required by copy/pasting sections of the template   

P
age 74



10 
 

B) Mental/Emotional Health & Wellbeing 

Needs Analysis: 
In relation to the Mental/Emotional Health and Wellbeing grant criteria, please identify the priority areas for your locality and set out how these 
were identified. In doing so please reference: 

 data, including your approach to the analysis of the data available to you and any relevant findings; 

 the voice of young people, including your approach to engaging with them across your local area, and the outcomes of these discussions;  

 self-evaluation, including your approach to assessing the level and quality of local provision/services, and the identification of areas to be 
strengthened via the Youth Support Grant, to ensure a sufficient level of provision across your local area; and 

 collaboration, including your partnership working arrangements and the outcomes of consultation with third sector partners and other organisations. 

The priorities areas in Monmouthshire are: 
 
- Providing relevant training in mental health and wellbeing 
- Develop early identification process in collaboration with the EPC 
- Implement the Shift programme 
 
Data - In April 2018 it was estimated that three children in every average size classroom in Wales will have a mental health issue and at the age of 14 half of 
the mental health problems will have begun; as stated in the National Assembly for Wales Mind Over Matter Report.  Although the report recognises the 
improvements made in specialist children and adolescent mental health service (CAMHS) in the last two years, the report makes clear recommendations to 
equip our children with skills, confidence and tools to be emotionally resilient.  To intervene much earlier, addressing the needs of distress before they take 
root. 
 
The 2017/18 Student Health and Wellbeing research carried out in all secondary school in Wales showed that: 27% of students in Monmouthshire feel a lot of 
pressure from school work they have, this is above the national average in Wales.  In Monmouthshire 32% of students feel that there isn't enough support in 
school for students who feel unhappy, worried or unable to cope.  Monmouthshire's Well-being Plan (Nov 2017) aims to give children and young people the 
best possible start in life by 'supporting the mental health and emotional well-being of children' as well as 'working with schools and services for children to 
focus on well-being rather than just exam results'. 
 
In 17/18 there were 36 secondary school pupils in Monmouthshire who were persistently absent from school due to mental health reasons. 
 
National findings regarding ACES tells us that young people’s resilience is supported by positive relationships with a trusted adult, somewhere to go and a 
sense of belonging.  Young people who aren’t resilient are less likely to have positive outcomes later in life, and are at higher risk of developing mental illness. 
 
Make your Mark assemblies and consultations took place in Monmouthshire’s' secondary schools in October 2018, where 2788 young people took park in the 
opportunity to say what matters most to then in Monmouthshire.  Mental Health was the top priority for young people.  These results have been used to 
influence change in Monmouthshire and direct the work of Monmouthshire’s' Youth Council (Engage to Change). 
 
Youth Workers have gathered information from face to face conversations with young people and LGBT peer support groups, building case studies which 
map their journeys travelled; showing evidence of the benefits of youth work interventions/approaches to support those young people with emerging mental 
health issues.  Monmouthshire Youth Service has already worked closely with Children Services, CAMHS and Monmouthshire’s Early Help Panel, sharing 
information, good practice and exploring the added value of the Mental/Emotional Health and Wellbeing grant.  The Youth Service will work with School 
Inclusion, the YEPF early identification tool, School Wellbeing leads, Early Help Panel and parents to identify young people with emerging mental health, 
emotional or wellbeing issues. 
 

P
age 75



11 
 

Youth Support Grant funded activity Cost Outcomes 

Relevant 
Grant 

Criteria 
(1,2,3, etc) 

Priority A - Working with the local authority Engagement and Progression Coordinator, 
further developing the early identification process to account for risk factors associated 
with mental health and wellbeing.   

£3,000 
Number of young people 
identified as at risk and 
supported 

13 

Priority B - Implement the Shift programme in Monmouthshire offering support to young 
people with emerging mental health, emotional or wellbeing issues with an aim to 
develop resilience in young people through non-clinical support using youth work 
approaches in school and the community. 
 
The programme will be delivered throughout Monmouthshire through a place-based 
approach, working in schools and communities to: 
- Coordinate and respond to referrals and young people identified through the early 

identification process 
- Develop a system for effectively tracking young people identified as in need of 

support 
- Use youth work interventions and youth work methodology to offer person-centred 

direct support (including one to one mentoring and small group work) to young 
people, enabling them to establish and maintain positive and safe relationships with 
a trusted adult, access support in their communities and develop cultural 
connections 

- Support young people to access information, advice and guidance, referring and 
signposting where necessary  

 
This project will be delivered in line with the whole school approach to mental health 
and wellbeing, linking in with the Monmouthshire Public Service Board’s CYP Wellbeing 
group.  Staff will be trained under Priority B of the core YSG criteria. 

£53,715 

Number of young people 
engaged in the programme 
 
Number of young people who 
perceive an improvement in 
their mental health and 
emotional well-being 
 
Develop effective tracking 
systems to monitor 
engagement and progression 
 
Contribution to reduction in 
numbers of young people on 
the waiting list for clinical 
interventions reduced 
 
Contribution to reduction in 
persistent absent records in 
primary and secondary 
schools 
 
Contribution to reduction in 
numbers of EOTAS referrals 

11, 12, 
13, 14 

Priority C – Implement the Shift Primary programme in Monmouthshire offering support 
to Year 6 pupils with emerging mental health, emotional or wellbeing issues with an aim 
to develop resilience in young people through non-clinical support using youth work 
approaches in school and the community. 
 
The programme will be delivered throughout Monmouthshire through a place-based 
approach, working in schools and communities to: 
- Coordinate and respond to referrals and young people identified through the early 

identification process 
- Develop a system for effectively tracking young people identified as in need of 

support 

£8,000 

P
age 76



12 
 

- Use youth work interventions and youth work methodology to offer person-centred 
direct support (including one to one mentoring and small group work) to young 
people, enabling them to establish and maintain positive and safe relationships with 
a trusted adult 

- Empower and support young people to access community provision to further 
develop positive relationships and emotional wellbeing. 

.   

 

B) Mental/Emotional Health & Wellbeing 6 month update – to be completed by 31 October 2019 

Update on Youth Support Grant funded activity Spend 
Progress toward 

Outcomes 

Relevant 
Grant 

Criteria 
(1,2,3, etc) 

    

 

B) Mental/Emotional Health & Wellbeing 12 month update – to be completed by 31 March 2020 

Update on Youth Support Grant funded activity 
Final 

Spend 
Progress toward 

Outcomes 

Relevant 
Grant 

Criteria 
(1,2,3, etc) 

    

  

P
age 77



13 
 

C) Youth Homelessness 

Needs Analysis: 
In relation to the Youth Homelessness grant criteria, please identify the priority areas for your locality and set out how these were identified. In 
doing so please reference: 

 data, including your approach to the analysis of the data available to you and any relevant findings; 

 the voice of young people, including your approach to engaging with them across your local area, and the outcomes of these discussions;  

 self-evaluation, including your approach to assessing the level and quality of local provision/services, and the identification of areas to be 
strengthened via the Youth Support Grant, to ensure a sufficient level of provision across your local area; and 

 collaboration, including your partnership working arrangements and the outcomes of consultation with third sector partners and other organisations. 

The priority areas for Monmouthshire for Youth Homelessness are as follows; 

 Provide training in Youth Homelessness 

 Develop Early Identification Tool for at risk Youth Homelessness, building on the work of the Early Identification Tool for at risk of NEET 

 Implement Youth Homelessness Prevention Project 

 Employ Lead Workers and Co-ordinator to deliver and co-ordinate early intervention activity aimed at tackling youth homelessness and support young 
people at risk of homelessness in school and community settings and through outreach work with the most hardest to reach. 

 
 
Data- 2016/17 15 young people aged 16/17 years declared themselves homeless and 167 young people aged 18 -24 years declared themselves 
homeless. In 2017/18 7 young people 16/17 years declared themselves homeless and 122 young people aged 18 -24 years declared themselves. Although 
there has been a reduction in youth homelessness in Monmouthshire over the last 2 years with the introduction of Positive Pathways, there is still clearly a 
need for further intervention and prevention and this provision will be integral and contribute to the Positive Pathways model and improved planning. 
 
The Youth Enterprise Team engage with young people through our work, supporting our most vulnerable young people with a multiple barriers such as  
break down in family relationships mental health concerns etc, preventing them to effectively participate in education, employment or training. The team 
listen and act upon their concerns and advocate on behalf of the young people with specialist agencies. This approach will continue with our youth 
homelessness offer. 
 
We have assessed the level and quality of local housing provision and services, and this has informed our activities in tackling youth homelessness and 
outcomes set. 
 
The Youth Enterprise Team already work closely with Supporting People and the Local Authority Housing Options Team in supporting young people at risk 
of becoming homeless with employability support. The team recently attended a planning event exploring services funded by Supporting People for young 
people 16 -24years, sharing information and good practice and exploring the added value of the Youth Homelessness Grant. 
 

Youth Support Grant funded activity Cost Outcomes 

Relevant 
Grant 

Criteria 
(1,2,3, etc) 

Priority A  

 Provide relevant training and development opportunities to upskill 
staff and develop their awareness of youth homelessness and 
understand how to support young people effectively 

£2000 Number of staff trained 
Number of training opportunities 
Number of staff completely accredited 
qualification in homelessness 

15 

P
age 78



14 
 

Priority B 

 To review and develop the local authority’s existing Early 
Identification Tool to include indicators associated with Youth 
Homelessness to identify young people most at risk of becoming 
homeless 

- Assess the correlation between identification of RED 
(most at risk of NEET) young people and most at risk of 
becoming homeless 

- Develop an appropriate referral pathway for identified 
young people to access the appropriate support and 
intervention 
 

 

£20,556.01 Develop and approve Early Identification 
Tool for most risk of homelessness 
 
Number of young people identified as at 
risk of homelessness and receiving 
subsequent support 
 
Number of young people of young people 
identified as red for most risk of NEET and 
red for most risk of homelessness and 
receiving subsequent support  
 
Number of young people identified for 
appropriate support and intervention 
 

15 

Priority C 

 Implement Youth Homelessness project - Compass in the 4 
secondary schools in Monmouthshire, Pupil Referral Service, and 
Mounton House special school at Key Stage 3 and Key Stage 4, 
working closely with Inspire2Achieve programme 

 

 
£34,404.64 

Number of young people engaged in the 
project 
Number of young people gain a 
qualification 
Number of young people at risk of 
becoming homeless remained in the 
family home 

16 

Priority D 

 Implement Youth Homelessness project Compass to tackle youth 
homelessness in young people’s hostels in Monmouthshire, 
providing mentoring support to those already in supported 
accommodation 

 

£18,946.10  Number of young people engaged in the 
project  
Number of young people supported into 
accommodation 
Number of young people gain a 
qualification 

16 

Priority E 

 Implement Youth Homelessness project Compass to tackle 
youth homelessness with the most hard to reach young people 
through community and outreach work providing mentoring 
support and signposting young people to the appropriate 
agencies for specialist support 

£23,864 Number of young people engaged in the 
project  
Number of young people at risk of 
becoming homeless remained in the 
family home 
Number of young people supported into 
accommodation 
 
 
 

16 

Priority F £8,546.38 Number of looked after children engaged 
in the project 

15/16 

P
age 79



15 
 

 Implement Youth Homelessness project Compass working with 
young people 11-25 years, in particular young people at risk of 
becoming NEET, those that are NEET and Looked After 
Children/ Care Leavers delivering interventions aimed at 
identifying individual barriers and supportive actions to reduce 
the risk of homelessness.  
 

 
Number of Care Leavers engaged in the 
project 
 
Number of young people reduced risk of 
becoming homeless 

Priority G 

 Develop a co-ordinated function to work collaboratively across 
housing, health, education, social care, voluntary sector and a 
wide range of services/partners to coordinate support for young 
people at risk of homelessness 

- This will be monitored through the local authority 
homelessness partnership and Keeping In Touch 
Group 

 
 

£16,813.86 
 
 

Number of NEET young people supported 
by the project into accessing education, 
employment and training 
 
Number of new partners created by the 
project 

16 

 

C) Youth Homelessness 6 month update – to be completed by 31 October 2019 

Update on Youth Support Grant funded activity Spend Progress toward Outcomes 
Relevant Grant 
Criteria (1,2,3, 

etc) 

    

 

C) Youth Homelessness 12 month update – to be completed by 31 March 2020 

Update on Youth Support Grant funded activity 
Final 

Spend 
Progress toward Outcomes 

Relevant Grant 
Criteria (1,2,3, 

etc) 

    

  

P
age 80



16 
 

 

Youth Support Grant Criteria being funded through other sources 
Your submitted plan may not cover all of the 16 criteria associated with the grant. This may be because you are allocating other funding sources to deliver 
them. In this section please identify any of the grant criteria that have not been addressed through your funding application to this point, and summarise 
how they are being worked towards using alternative funding streams or through local arrangements.  

 

Criteria 3 – work towards achieving bronze, silver, gold quality mark for youth work. 

In Monmouthshire, the local authority youth provision is split into two teams: Monmouthshire Youth Service and Monmouthshire Youth 
Enterprise.  Although working collaboratively, each agency has their own systems and processes which would make it difficult to assess 
them as one entity.  In addition to this, it is envisaged that Monmouthshire Youth Service will be moving into an external entity during the 
financial year 19/20 which would mean that Monmouthshire Youth Service and Monmouthshire Youth Enterprise would sit in two different 
organisations (MonLife and Monmouthshire County Council) – this too would cause complications to be assessed for the Quality Mark. 

 

 

  

P
age 81



17 
 

Checklist  

This plan has been:  Please confirm 
(y/n) 

 developed in partnership between the Principal Youth Officer and Engagement and Progression Coordinator Y 

 agreed by the Lead Director/s with responsibility for young people Y 

 been discussed and co-developed with the Housing officials within the local authority and agreed by the relevant Director Y 

 discussed and agreed by your Local Mental Health Strategy Board N 

 developed in a collaborative manner with relevant stakeholders and partners, including young people and the Third Sector Y 

 developed in the context of the Well-being and Future Generations Act, the well-being goals, and the five ways of working Y 

 

Signatories 

Engagement and Progression Coordinator:   Principal Youth Officer:  
Signed 

 

 Signed 

 

Name Hannah Jones  Name Josh Klein 

Position Youth Enterprise Manager/EPC  Position Youth Service Manager/PYO 
Date 08/03/2019  Date 08/03/2019 

 

Lead Director (Young People):   Lead Director (Housing): 

Signed 

 

 Signed 

 

Name Will McLean  Name Frances Williams 
Position Chief Officer, Children & Young People  Position Chief Officer, Enterprise 

Date 08/03/2019  Date 08/03/2019 

 

P
age 82



Appendix 4 

 
 

 

MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

DIRECTORATE OF ENTERPRISE 
   
ROLE TITLE:    Welsh Language Youth Support Worker  
 
POST ID: YS006 
 
HOURS:  37  

  
LOCATION: Designated by project need  
 
RESPONSIBLE TO: Youth and Community Officer  
 
WELSH LANGUAGE SKILLS ASSESSMENT:  
This post has been designated as Welsh Essential. 

 
Monmouthshire Youth Service’s mission statement: 
 
“To create a framework meeting the needs of young people, to ensure 
equality of opportunity to participate in learning experiences, which will enable 
the young people to fulfil their potential as “empowered” individuals and 
members of groups and communities.” 
 

JOB SPECIFICATION 
 
Main Purpose of the Post 
 
As part of a team, to prepare, plan and deliver youth work to young people in 
Monmouthshire to enable them to develop holistically, working with them to 
facilitate their personal, social and educational development, to enable them 
to develop their voice, influence and place in society and to reach their full 
potential. 
 
Duties 
 

1. To plan, deliver and facilitate youth work activities /projects and 
provision in a nominated area through the medium of Welsh. 

 
2. To induct, support and supervise volunteers, specifically those who will 

support the Welsh-language Youth Work. 
 

3. To actively seek, engage in and create new opportunities for working 
with young people, through the medium of Welsh.  

 
4. Work to improve the ability and confidence of the young people to 

communicate and socialise in Welsh, to make friends across different 

Page 83



age groups and promote the value of the Welsh language in future 
employment and social circles. 

 
5. To remain approachable at all times to young people, supporting them 

where necessary and appropriate. 
 

6. To act as a role model for young people and other staff members, 
encouraging positive behaviour and challenging unfairness and 
prejudice. 

 
7. To act as an advocate for young people, representing their views and 

rights where appropriate and necessary under staff guidance.  
 

8. To ensure that the young people have access to appropriately placed 
and relevant information and support on matters that concern them 
and to actively encourage the use and development of their Welsh 
language skills to give them an advantage in the jobs market in the 
future. 

 
9. To actively promote and market Welsh language services to young 

people, communities, and agencies, having a presence at community 
events, and managing the use of social media through the medium of 
Welsh. 

 
10. To contribute to the Youth Service’s Service Improvement Plan by 

recording and gathering information and providing quarterly reports on 
progress. 

 
11. To perform necessary administrative duties (including handling money, 

keeping records, carrying out risk assessments, and health and 
safety). 

 
12. To maintain records, record outcomes and monitor progress. 

 
13. To ensure that work environments and equipment are safe, treated 

with respect and are not abused in any way. 
 

14. To work in partnership with young people, communities and other 
agencies as appropriate and relevant, to initiate and develop 
opportunities, projects and activities in line with the Youth Work in 
Wales: Principles & Purposes document. 

 
15. To proactively seek and undertake training to develop your youth work 

knowledge, skills, practice and behaviours. 
 

16. To attend and where necessary chair meetings as and when required. 
 

17. To be flexible in approach, delivery and in the working of unsociable 
hours. 

 

Page 84



18. Ensure that the Council’s responsibilities in relation to Equality and 
Diversity are met and to ensure that the Youth Service outcomes 
relating to the Welsh language are achieved. 

 
19. Ensure that health and safety duties and practices are carried out by 

all provisions or as detailed in the Council’s Health and Safety Policy, 
and to ensure that provisions and services to young people comply 
with current legislation. 

 
20. Uphold and comply with the statutory provisions of the Health and 

Safety at Work Regulations 1999, The Monmouthshire Safeguarding 
and Child Protection Policy 2012 and any other relevant Council 
policies relating to Safeguarding and Health and Safety. 

 
21. Work in collaboration with the Designated Officer for 

Safeguarding/Child Protection in the following way: to be aware of the 
LA policy on Safeguarding and Child Protection and that all policies 
and practices are in line with the All Wales Child Protection 
Procedures.   To make referrals to Children’s Services in the event of 
a disclosure and/or concern that a child/young person is ‘in need’ or at 
risk of significant harm.  To maintain accurate, confidential and up to 
date documentation on all cases of safeguarding and child protection.  

 
 

PERSONAL SPECIFICATION 
 
Qualifications and Experience 
 

1. Be a qualified Youth Support Worker (at least a Level 2 Award in Youth 
Work Practice.) 
 

2. Be able to communicate effectively and fluently through the medium of 
Welsh 
 

3. Be registered with the Education Workforce Council for Wales (EWC). 
 

4. Have experience of working with young people, especially those in the 
11+ age group. 

 
5. Have experience in using Microsoft Office packages such as Word, 

Excel, Outlook, Access and Publisher. 
 

6. Have experience of planning, delivering and evaluating planned 
projects. 
 

7. Have experience of working individually and as part of a team, 
including working with other agencies and community members. 

 
8. Have experience of risk assessments and knowledge of health and 

safety when working in a young person’s environment. 

Page 85



 
9. Have a clean driving licence and use of a car. 

 
Knowledge, Skills and Ability 
 

1. Be able to work on own initiative and as part of a staff team. 
 

2. Be committed to delivering an efficient and effective service where the 
involvement of the young people should be paramount. 

 
3. Have a commitment to delivering an efficient and effective service 

where the involvement of the young people should be paramount. 
 

4. To be trustworthy and act with integrity at all times.  
 

5. To have a knowledge of the aims and objectives of the Welsh 
Language (Wales) Measure 2011 and the accompanying Welsh 
Language Standards. 
 

Here’s what we can provide you with: 
 

 Full support of manager and team members  

 Full range of training and CPD opportunities  

 Uniform and equipment where appropriate  

 Nominated supervisor for regular support  
 
What else you need to know…..Monmouthshire’s Values are: 
 

Openness:  We aspire to be open and honest to develop trusting 
relationships.  

Fairness:  We aspire to provide fair choice, opportunities and 
experiences and become an organisation built on mutual 
respect.  

Flexibility:  We aspire to be flexible in our thinking and action to become 
an effective and efficient organisation.  

Teamwork:  We aspire to work together to share our successes and 
failures by building on our strengths and supporting one 
another to achieve our goals. 

And this role, will work with Monmouthshire to achieve these. 

 
In addition: 
 
All employees are responsible for ensuring that they act at all times in a way 
that is consistent with Monmouthshire’s Equal Opportunities Policy in their 
own area of responsibility and in their general conduct. 

Page 86



Appendix 5 

MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
DIRECTORATE OF ENTERPRISE 

   
ROLE TITLE:    Youth Work Apprentice x2 vacancies  
 
POST ID:  
 
HOURS:  37 per week 

  
LOCATION: One post South Monmouthshire,  
                                  One post North Monmouthshire 
 
This may change in the future if the service location needs to relocate. 
Relocation or disturbance expenses will not be paid if this happens. 
 
RESPONSIBLE TO: Youth and Community Officer  

 
Monmouthshire Youth Service’s mission statement: 
 
“To create a framework meeting the needs of young people, to ensure 
equality of opportunity to participate in learning experiences, which will enable 
the young people to fulfil their potential as “empowered” individuals and 
members of groups and communities.” 
 

JOB SPECIFICATION 
 
Main Purpose of the Post 
 
As part of a team, to prepare, plan and deliver youth work to young people in 
Monmouthshire to enable them to develop holistically, working with them to 
facilitate their personal, social and educational development, to enable them 
to develop their voice, influence and place in society and to reach their full 
potential. 
 
Your responsibilities are to; 
 

1. To plan, deliver and facilitate youth work activities and provision in 
nominated area / project/s. 

 
2. To actively seek, engage in and create new opportunities for working 

with young people. 
 

3. To remain approachable at all times to young people, supporting them 
where necessary and appropriate. 

 
4. To act as a role model for young people and other staff members, 

encouraging positive behaviour and challenging unfairness and 
prejudice. 

 

Page 87



5. To act as an advocate for young people, representing their views and 
rights where appropriate and necessary under staff guidance. 
 

6. To ensure that the young people have access to appropriately placed 
and relevant information and support on matters that concern them. 
 

7. To actively promote and market services to young people, 
communities, and agencies, having a presence at community events, 
and managing the use of social media. 
 

8. To contribute to the Youth Service’s Service Improvement Plan by 
recording and gathering information and providing quarterly reports on 
progress. 
 

9. To perform necessary administrative duties  
 

10. To maintain records, record outcomes and monitor progress. 
 

11. To ensure that work environments and equipment are safe, treated 
with respect and are not abused in any way. 

 
12. To work in partnership with young people, communities and other 

agencies as appropriate and relevant, to initiate and develop 
opportunities, projects and activities in line with the Youth Work in 
Wales: Principles & Purposes document. 

 
13. To proactively seek and undertake training to develop your youth work 

knowledge, skills, practice and behaviours.  To include undertaking 
Mandatory Training when required. 

 
14. To attend meetings as and when required. 

 
15. To be flexible in approach, delivery and in the working of unsociable 

hours. 
 

16. Ensure that the Council’s responsibilities in relation to Equality and 
Diversity are met and to ensure that the Youth Service outcomes 
relating to the Welsh language are achieved. 

 
17. Ensure that health and safety duties and practices are carried out by all 

provisions or as detailed in the Council’s Health and Safety Policy, and 
to ensure that provisions and services to young people comply with 
current legislation. 

 
18. Uphold and comply with the statutory provisions of the Health and 

Safety at Work Regulations 1999, The Monmouthshire Safeguarding 
and Child Protection Policy 2012 and any other relevant Council 
policies relating to Safeguarding and Health and Safety. 

 

Page 88



19. Work in collaboration with the Designated Officer for 
Safeguarding/Child Protection in the following way: to be aware of the 
LA policy on Safeguarding and Child Protection and that all policies 
and practices are in line with the All Wales Child Protection 
Procedures.   To make referrals to Children’s Services in the event of a 
disclosure and/or concern that a child/young person is ‘in need’ or at 
risk of significant harm.  To maintain accurate, confidential and up to 
date documentation on all cases of safeguarding and child protection.  
 

 
Here’s what we can provide you with; 
 

 You will be provided with structured support and training to help you to 
develop your skills in Youth Work whilst working towards Level 2 Youth 
& Community Work course or/and Certificate in Youth Work Practice 
Level 3. 

 Full support of manager and team members  

 Full range of training and CPD opportunities  

 Uniform and equipment where appropriate  

 Nominated supervisor for regular support 
 
 
 
What else you need to know…..Monmouthshire’s Values are: 
 

Openness:  We aspire to be open and honest to develop trusting 
relationships.  

Fairness:  We aspire to provide fair choice, opportunities and 
experiences and become an organisation built on mutual 
respect.  

Flexibility:  We aspire to be flexible in our thinking and action to become 
an effective and efficient organisation.  

Teamwork:  We aspire to work together to share our successes and 
failures by building on our strengths and supporting one 
another to achieve our goals. 

And this role, will work with Monmouthshire to achieve these. 

 
In addition: 
 
All employees are responsible for ensuring that they act at all times in a way 
that is consistent with Monmouthshire’s Equal Opportunities Policy in their 
own area of responsibility and in their general conduct. 

Page 89



 
PERSONAL SPECIFICATION 

 
 

How will we know if you are the right person for the role? As the 
successful candidate you will have demonstrated:- 
 

REQUIREMENTS WEIGHTING 
High, Medium, 
Low 

Education / Qualifications / Knowledge 
 

 

4 GCSE grades A-C or equivalent – including English 
Language and Mathematics 

High 

Experience 
 

 

Experience of working as part of a team/individually 
 

Medium 

Experience of completing tasks within deadlines 
 

Medium 

Experience of working with young people 
 

Medium 

Communication / Interpersonal Skills 
 

 

Good written and oral communication skills 
 

Medium 

Good interpersonal skills and the ability to work well in 
a team 

Medium 

Aptitude and Skills 
 

 

Computer literate with basic word processing skills 
(Microsoft Packages) 

Medium 

Good organisational skills 
 

Medium 

Good telephone manner 
 

Medium 

Ability to learn: positive, enthusiastic and flexible 
 

High 

Experience of planning, delivering and evaluating 
planned projects. 
 

Medium 

Experience of risk assessments and knowledge of 
health and safety when working in a young person’s 
environment. 

Medium 

Equal Opportunities 
 

 

Willing to abide by the Council’s Equal Opportunities 
Policy, including undertaking appropriate equality 
awareness training. 

High 

Page 90



 

Page 91



 

 
 

Appendix 6 
 

ROLE PROFILE 
 
ROLE TITLE: Youth Homelessness Coordinator (Fixed term secondment from 

1st April 2019 til 31st March 2020) 
 
POST ID: 
 
GRADE:   Band H  
 
HOURS:   37 Hours per week.  
      
 
LOCATION:   Usk Monmouthshire 
 The authority operates an agile working policy and staff will be 

required to work in agile manner across the county of Monmouthshire 
as per the needs of the service. Unfortunately no disturbance mileage 
will be payable for any re-location of the office base.   

 
RESPONSIBLE TO: Youth Enterprise Manager 
 
WELSH LANGUAGE ASSESSMENT:   Welsh language skills are desirable 
 
 
Our Purpose:- 
 
Youth Enterprise is an integral part of Monmouthshire County Council’s Enterprise and 
Innovation Directorate. We work with young people aged 11-25 and adults at risk of or in poverty 
across the county supporting them with education, employment and training. We engage with the 
business sector supporting the development of local employment and training and 
entrepreneurial opportunities.   
 
The purpose of this Role:- 
 
With support from the Youth Enterprise Manager coordinate and support the delivery of the Youth 
Homelessness priority of the Youth Support Grant. 
 
The Youth Homelessness Coordinator will lead on the Compass Project in order to provide 
support to young people identified as most at risk of becoming homeless as highlighted through 
the Early Identification Tool and referral partners. The Youth Homelessness Coordinator will 
ensure that young people aged 11 -25 years, in particular young people most at risk of becoming 
NEET (not in employment, education or training), those that are NEET and Looked After 
Children/Care Leavers that are referred onto the project receive interventions aimed at identifying 
individual barriers and supportive actions to reduce the risk of homelessness.  You will be 
required to provide opportunities and develop appropriate pathways for young people, proactively 
engaging with young people in a variety of settings by forging effective links with providers.  You 
will working collaboratively with other providers in developing and delivering provision of a needs 
led basis.  
 
 
Expectation and Outcomes of this role: 

Page 92



 

 
To contribute to the following; 

 Young People identified as at risk of becoming homeless engaged on programme.   

 Young people at risk of becoming homeless gain a qualification by end of KS4. 

 Young people at risk of becoming homeless remain in family home. 

 Number of staff receiving training and achieving a qualification through training.  
 
Your responsibilities are to:- 

1. To lead on Compass the youth homelessness project in Monmouthshire with responsibility 
for the project outcomes.  The YH Coordinator will also contribute to the reporting 
requirements of the Youth Support Grant in partnership with the Youth Enterprise 
Manager.  

 
2. Support the implementation of the Youth Homelessness element of the Youth Support 

Grant (YSG) in Monmouthshire, and to develop the project in order to provide additionality 
to existing provision.   
 

3. In partnership with housing, health, education, social care, voluntary sector and other 
relevant partners you will support the Local Authority homelessness partnership. 
 

4. In partnership with the Local Authority (LA) homelessness partnership develop appropriate 
referral pathways for identified young people to access appropriate support and 
interventions.  
 

5. Develop a lead worker function to work collaboratively in order to coordinate support for 
young people at risk of homelessness.  Monitor and report on the caseload of the lead 
workers through the LA homelessness partnership and Keeping in Touch groups.  
 

6. Implement the youth homelessness project (Compass) in four secondary schools in 
Monmouthshire, Pupil Referral Service and Mounton House School at Key stage 3 and 4, 
working closely with the Inspire2Achieve programme.   
 

7. To act as an advocate for the young people, representing their views and rights where 
appropriate and necessary whilst developing a delivery model that is built on youth work 
methodology and a young person centred approach. 
 

8. Work with young people 11-25 years, in particular young people at risk of becoming 
NEET, those that are NEET and Looked After Children/ Care Leavers delivering 
interventions aimed at identifying individual barriers and supportive actions to reduce the 
risk of homelessness.  
 

9. Engage and support young people identified as at risk of homelessness developing and 
delivering a support package appropriate for their needs.    

 
10. Engage with and support members of the Youth Enterprise team working to achieve the 

work of the Youth Homelessness element of the Youth Support Grant.  As lead for this 
element of the work you will guide and support work under this remit.  
 

11. Deliver training to relevant partners so that they are able to develop an awareness of 
youth homelessness and understand how they can support young people effectively.    
 

12. Work with the Youth Enterprise Apprentice to assess indicators of homelessness and 
develop an Early Identification Tool (EIT) able to identify young people at risk of becoming 
homeless.   

Page 93



 

 
13. Alongside the Inspire Coordinator and Inspire2Achieve team, use the existing EIT to form 

the basis of the strengthened EIT.     
 

14. Monitor and assess the correlation between the identification of ‘Red’ most at risk of 
becoming NEET (Not Engaged in Education, Employment or Training) young people and 
most at risk of becoming homeless.   

 
15. To work collaboratively with all relevant internal and external partners to enhance 

opportunities in education, employment and training for young people who are identified as 
homeless or at risk of homelessness.  To use this network to support work under the wider 
Youth Enterprise remit.  

 
16. Attend local and regional forums and relevant meetings and provide reports and 

presentations as and when required.  
 

17. Carry out any duties and responsibilities required under the Data Protection Act(s) 1984 
and 1998, in particular, to take reasonable care that no loss or disclosure of personal data 
occurs. 

 
18. Exercise proper integrity in respect of confidential matters and personal information 

obtained during the execution of the duties of this post. 
 

19. Be flexible in approach, delivery and working hours.  Effectively work with and support the 
Youth Enterprise remit and team across all areas of work.   
 

20. Working as part of the Monmouthshire Business and Enterprise Team, promoting and 
proactively developing best practice in economic growth and enterprise whilst achieving 
business targets. 

 

21. To be the designated Educational Visits Coordinator for the Youth Enterprise Team. 
 

22. To be the designated Health & Safety contact for the Youth Enterprise Team.   Ensure that 
health and safety duties and practices are carried out by all provisions or as detailed in the 
Council’s Health and Safety Policy, and to ensure that provisions and services to young 
people comply with current legislation. 

 
23. Ensure that the Council’s responsibilities in relation to Equality and Diversity are met and 

to ensure that the Youth Enterprise outcomes relating to the Welsh language are 
achieved. 

 
24. Uphold and comply with the statutory provisions of the Health and Safety at Work 

Regulations 1999, The Monmouthshire Safeguarding and Child Protection Policy 2012 
and any other relevant Council policies relating to Safeguarding and Health and Safety. 

 
25. Work in collaboration with the Designated Officer for Safeguarding/Child Protection in the 

following way: to be aware of the LA policy on Safeguarding and Child Protection and that 
all policies and practices are in line with the All Wales Child Protection Procedures.   To 
make referrals to Children’s Services in the event of a disclosure and/or concern that a 
child/young person is ‘in need’ or at risk of significant harm.  To maintain accurate, 
confidential and up to date documentation on all cases of safeguarding and child 
protection.  

 
 

Here’s what we can provide you with:- 
Page 94



 

 

 Full support of manager and team members 

 Full range of training and CPD opportunities 

 Uniform 

 Nominated supervisor for regular support 
 
 
What else you need to know…..Monmouthshire Values are: 
 

Openness:  We aspire to be open and honest to develop trusting relationships.  

Fairness:  We aspire to provide fair choice, opportunities and experiences and become an 
organisation built on mutual respect.  

Flexibility:  We aspire to be flexible in our thinking and action to become an effective and 
efficient organisation.  

Teamwork:  We aspire to work together to share our successes and failures by building on 
our strengths and supporting one another to achieve our goals. 

And this role, will work with Monmouthshire to achieve these. 

 
In addition: 
 
All employees are responsible for ensuring that they act at all times in a way that is consistent 
with Monmouthshire’s Equal Opportunities Policy in their own area of responsibility and in their 
general conduct. 
 

 
PERSONAL SPECIFICATION 

 
Qualifications and Experience 
 

1. Hold nationally recognised Youth and Community Work qualification, Teaching 
qualification or equivalent.  

 
2. Have experience of developing relationships and working with young people, particularly 

those most vulnerable and challenging to engage.  Previous experience of working with 
young people at risk of or homeless would be desirable.  
 

3. Experience of identifying and reporting safeguarding concerns.  
 

4. Knowledge of the issues facing vulnerable young people in relation to homelessness.  
 

5. Experience and knowledge of the Homelessness agenda and current Welfare reforms 
particularly those that effect youth homelessness. 
 

6. Demonstrable experience of working in partnership with other agencies.  
 

7. Experience and skills to deliver effective and valuable training to partners.    
 

8. Have demonstrable experience in project coordination. 

 
9. Ability to prepare and present reports and briefings for a range of audiences.  Able to work 

towards strict outcomes and able to lead wider team in achieving such project outcomes. 

 

Page 95



 

10. Ability and experience of chairing meetings. 
 

11. Current and valid driving licence and have access to a car for which the agreed MCC 
mileage allowance will be paid.  
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 96



 

 

Appendix 7 
 

ROLE PROFILE 
 
ROLE TITLE:  Youth Homelessness Worker (Fixed term secondment 1st April  
    2019 til 31st March 2020)    
 
POST ID: 
 
GRADE:   Band G 
 
HOURS:   15 hours per week    
  
LOCATION:   Usk Monmouthshire  
 The authority operates an agile working policy and staff will be 

required to work in agile manner across the county of Monmouthshire 
as per the needs of the service. Unfortunately no disturbance mileage 
will be payable for any re-location of the office base.   

 
RESPONSIBLE TO: Youth Enterprise Manager 
 
WELSH LANGUAGE ASSESSMENT:   Welsh language skills are desirable 
 
Our Purpose:- 
 
Youth Enterprise is an integral part of Monmouthshire County Council’s Enterprise and 
Innovation Directorate. We work with young people aged 11-25 and adults at risk of or in poverty 
across the county supporting them with education, employment and training. We engage with the 
business sector supporting the development of local employment and training and 
entrepreneurial opportunities.   
 
The purpose of this Role:- 
 
With support from the Youth Enterprise Manager and the Youth Homelessness Coordinator 
support the delivery of the Youth Homelessness priority of the Youth Support Grant. 
 
The Youth Homelessness element of the Youth Support Grant will provide a coordinated 
approach to the early identification of young people at risk of homelessness and implement the 
Compass project across all secondary schools in Monmouthshire, Pupil Referral Service and 
Mounton House Special School. The Youth Homelessness Worker will support this 
implementation and ensure that young people aged 11- 25 years, in particular young people most 
at risk of becoming NEET (not in education, employment or training), those that are NEET and  
Looked After Children/Care Leavers that are referred onto the project receive interventions aimed 
at identifying individual barriers and supportive actions to reduce the risk of homelessness.   
 
Expectation and Outcomes of this role: 
 
To contribute to the following; 

 Young People identified as at risk of becoming homeless engaged on programme.   

 Young people at risk of becoming homeless gain a qualification by end of KS4. 

 Young people at risk of becoming homeless remain in family home. 

 Number of staff receiving training and achieving a qualification through training.  
 

Page 97



 

Your responsibilities are to:- 
1. To support the Youth Homelessness Coordinator in the implementation of Compass, the 

youth homelessness project in Monmouthshire.    
 

2. To contribute to the reporting requirements of the Youth Support Grant in partnership with 
the Youth Enterprise Manager and Youth Homelessness Coordinator.  

 
3. To understand and work towards the project outcomes identified for the Youth 

Homelessness Project element of the Youth Support Grant.   
 

4. Work In partnership with housing, health, education, social care, voluntary sector and 
other relevant partners and attend the Local Authority homelessness partnership as and 
when required. 
 

5. Understand and develop appropriate referral pathways for identified young people to 
access appropriate support and interventions.  
 

6. When required undertake the lead worker function to support young people at risk of 
homelessness.  Monitor and report on your caseload and feedback through the LA 
homelessness partnership and Keeping in Touch groups.    
 

7. Engage and support young people identified as at risk of homelessness developing and 
delivering a support package appropriate for their needs.    
 

8. Support the Youth Homelessness Coordinator in implementing the youth homelessness 
project (Compass) in four secondary schools in Monmouthshire, Pupil Referral Service 
and Mounton House School at Key stage 3 and 4, working closely with the 
Inspire2Achieve programme. 
 

9. Work with young people 11-25 years, in particular young people at risk of becoming 
NEET, those that are NEET and Looked After Children/ Care Leavers delivering 
interventions aimed at identifying individual barriers and supportive actions to reduce the 
risk of homelessness.  
 

10. To act as an advocate for the young people, representing their views and rights where 
appropriate and necessary whilst developing a delivery model that is built on youth work 
methodology and a young person centred approach.   
 

11. Engage with and support members of the Youth Enterprise team working to achieve the 
work of the Youth Homelessness element of the Youth Support Grant.  
 

12. Understand the Early Identification Tool and indicators contributing to a young person 
being identified as at risk of becoming homeless.   

 
13. Attend local and regional forums and relevant meetings and provide reports and 

presentations as and when required.  
 

14. Carry out any duties and responsibilities required under the Data Protection Act(s) 1984 
and 1998, in particular, to take reasonable care that no loss or disclosure of personal data 
occurs. 

 
15. Exercise proper integrity in respect of confidential matters and personal information 

obtained during the execution of the duties of this post. 
 

Page 98



 

16. Be flexible in approach, delivery and working hours.  Effectively work with and support the 
Youth Enterprise remit and team across all areas of work.   
 

17. Working as part of the Monmouthshire Business and Enterprise Team, promoting and 
proactively developing best practice in economic growth and enterprise whilst achieving 
business targets. 

 

18. To be the designated Educational Visits Coordinator for the Youth Enterprise Team. 
 

19. To be the designated Health & Safety contact for the Youth Enterprise Team.   Ensure that 
health and safety duties and practices are carried out by all provisions or as detailed in the 
Council’s Health and Safety Policy, and to ensure that provisions and services to young 
people comply with current legislation. 

 
20. Ensure that the Council’s responsibilities in relation to Equality and Diversity are met and 

to ensure that the Youth Enterprise outcomes relating to the Welsh language are 
achieved. 

 
21. Uphold and comply with the statutory provisions of the Health and Safety at Work 

Regulations 1999, The Monmouthshire Safeguarding and Child Protection Policy 2012 
and any other relevant Council policies relating to Safeguarding and Health and Safety. 

 
22. Work in collaboration with the Designated Officer for Safeguarding/Child Protection in the 

following way: to be aware of the LA policy on Safeguarding and Child Protection and that 
all policies and practices are in line with the All Wales Child Protection Procedures.   To 
make referrals to Children’s Services in the event of a disclosure and/or concern that a 
child/young person is ‘in need’ or at risk of significant harm.  To maintain accurate, 
confidential and up to date documentation on all cases of safeguarding and child 
protection.  

 
 

Here’s what we can provide you with:- 
 

 Full support of manager and team members 

 Full range of training and CPD opportunities 

 Uniform 

 Nominated supervisor for regular support 
 
 
What else you need to know…..Monmouthshire Values are: 
 

Openness:  We aspire to be open and honest to develop trusting relationships.  

Fairness:  We aspire to provide fair choice, opportunities and experiences and become an 
organisation built on mutual respect.  

Flexibility:  We aspire to be flexible in our thinking and action to become an effective and 
efficient organisation.  

Teamwork:  We aspire to work together to share our successes and failures by building on 
our strengths and supporting one another to achieve our goals. 

And this role, will work with Monmouthshire to achieve these. 

 
In addition: 
 

Page 99



 

All employees are responsible for ensuring that they act at all times in a way that is consistent 
with Monmouthshire’s Equal Opportunities Policy in their own area of responsibility and in their 
general conduct. 
 

 
PERSONAL SPECIFICATION 

 
Qualifications and Experience 
 

1. Hold nationally recognised Youth and Community Work qualification, Teaching 
qualification or equivalent.  

 
2. Have experience of developing relationships and working with young people, particularly 

those most vulnerable and challenging to engage.  Previous experience of working with 
young people at risk of or homeless would be desirable.  
 

3. Experience of identifying and reporting safeguarding concerns.  
 

4. Knowledge of the issues facing vulnerable young people in relation to homelessness.  
 

5. Experience and knowledge of the Homelessness agenda and current Welfare reforms 
particularly those that effect youth homelessness. 
 

6. Demonstrable experience of working in partnership with other agencies.  

 
7. Able to work towards outcomes. 

 
8. Current and valid driving licence and have access to a car for which the agreed MCC 

mileage allowance will be paid.  
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 100



 

Appendix 8  
 

ROLE ADVERT 
  
ROLE TITLE:    ICT Apprentice 
 

Fixed Term Contract until  
 

POST ID:  
 
GRADE: National Minimum Wage (Depending on age).  Please see 

https://www.gov.uk/national-minimum-wage-rates for details.  
 
HOURS:  37 Per Week 
  
LOCATION: County Hall, Usk, which may change in the future if the service 

location needs to relocate.  Relocation or disturbance expenses 
will not be paid if this happens. 

 
WELSH LANGUAGE ASSESSMENT: Welsh language skills are desirable. 
 
PURPOSE OF POST:  
As part of the Youth Enterprise team, you will contribute towards the delivery of 
business and IT support for the Youth Enterprise team.  In addition to gaining 
valuable experience of working in a busy office environment you will also be 
supported in studying for the NVQ Level 3 Information Technology.  
 
Applicants should be able to demonstrate that they are conversant with basic 
computer packages (i.e. Microsoft Packages) and that they are able to communicate 
effectively with others. 
 
Should you require any further information regarding this post, please contact:  
 
Tel:  
 
Email:  
 
Closing Date:  
 
Please Note that we are not able to accept CVs 
 
Application forms can be completed online or down loaded via: 
www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/how-to-apply-for-council-jobs 
 
Applications may be submitted in Welsh, and that an application submitted in Welsh 
will not be treated less favourably than an application submitted in English. 
 
Completed paper application forms should be returned to the following address:-  

People Services, Monmouthshire County Council, PO BOX 
106, CALDICOT, NP26 9AN 

 

Page 101

https://www.gov.uk/national-minimum-wage-rates
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/how-to-apply-for-council-jobs
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/how-to-apply-for-council-jobs


 

Appointment to this post is exempt from Rehabilitation of Offenders Act and is 
subject to an Enhanced Disclosure Check.  
 
Monmouthshire County Council is an equal opportunities employer and welcomes 
applications from all sections of the community.  
 
All posts are open to job-share unless stated otherwise. 
 
Monmouthshire County Council operates a Smoke Free Workplace policy.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 102



 

 

ROLE PROFILE 
 
ROLE TITLE:    ICT Apprentice  
 

Temporary until January 2020   
 
POST ID:  
 
GRADE: National Minimum Wage (Depending on age). Please see 

https://www.gov.uk/national-minimum-wage-rates for details. 
 
HOURS:  37 Per Week 
  
LOCATION: County Hall, Usk, which may change in the future if the 

service location needs to relocate.  Relocation or disturbance 
expenses will not be paid if this happens. 

 
RESPONSIBLE TO: Hannah Jones, Youth Enterprise Manager. 
 
WELSH LANGUAGE ASSESSMENT:  Welsh language skills are desirable 
 
Our Purpose:- 
 
Youth Enterprise is an integral part of Monmouthshire County Council’s Enterprise 
and Innovation Directorate. We work with young people aged 11-25 and adults at 
risk of or in poverty across the county supporting them with education, employment 
and training. We engage with the business sector supporting the development of 
local employment and training and entrepreneurial opportunities.   

 
The Purpose of this Role:-  
 
As part of the Youth Enterprise team, you will contribute towards the delivery of 
business and IT support for the Youth Enterprise team and work within the Youth 
Support Grant.  In addition to gaining valuable experience of working in a busy office 
environment you will also be supported in studying for the NVQ Level 3 in 
Information Technology. 
 
Applicants should be able to demonstrate that they are conversant with basic 
computer packages (i.e. Microsoft Packages) and that they are able to communicate 
effectively with others. 
 
Your responsibilities are to:- 
 
Work alongside the Youth Enterprise manager to provide administrative and IT 
support to the team as required, including: 
 
 

1. Supporting the preparation of reports, presentations and training programmes 
as part of the Youth Homelessness element of the Youth Support Grant.  
 

Page 103

https://www.gov.uk/national-minimum-wage-rates


 

 
 

2. To work with the Inspire Coordinator and Youth Homelessness Coordinator to 
develop an Early Identification Tool for youth homelessness.   Become 
conversant with the exisiting pre-16 tool and strengthening it for the purpose 
of the Youth Homelessness project, Compass.  
 

3. To support the Youth Homelessness coordinator in the ongoing monitoring of 
the Early Indentification tool and data collected from it.  
 

4. Understand the outcomes required of Compass, the youth homelessness 
project, and support the Youth Eneterprise Manager and Youth 
Homelessness Coordinator in evidencing these outcomes for mornitoring and 
reporting.    

 
5. To develop a monitoring, tracking and reporting system for the youth 

homelessness project, Compass.  
 

6. To become digital champion for the Youth Enterprise team, supporting and 
guiding colleagues with digitial literacy.  
 

7. Supporting the organisation of meetings as necessary including booking 
rooms, arranging attendance and circulating paperwork in good time.  

 
8. Assisting in taking and distributing minutes of meetings ensuring actions, 

recommendations and discussions are recorded.  
 

9. Undertaking word processing and photocopying. 
 

10. Taking Messages and passing onto the relevant officers. 
 

11. Opening and distributing incoming mail. 
 

12. Demonstrate a commitment to team working.  
 

13. Be flexible in approach, delivery and working hours.  
 

14. Maintain safe working practices for self and others, in accordance with the      
authority’s policy statement on Health and Safety at Work.  

 
15. To abide by the principles and practice of equality of opportunity as laid down 

in the Council’s Equal Opportunities Policy.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 104



 

 

Here’s what we can provide you with:- 
You will provided with structured support and training to help you to develop your 
skills in Business Administration whilst working towards NVQ level 3. 
 
What else you need to know…..Monmouthshire Values are: 
 

Openness:  We aspire to be open and honest to develop trusting relationships.  

Fairness:  We aspire to provide fair choice, opportunities and experiences and 
become an organisation built on mutual respect.  

Flexibility:  We aspire to be flexible in our thinking and action to become an 
effective and efficient organisation.  

Teamwork:  We aspire to work together to share our successes and failures by 
building on our strengths and supporting one another to achieve our 
goals. 

And this role, will work with Monmouthshire to achieve these. 

 
In addition: 
 
All employees are responsible for ensuring that they act at all times in a way that is 
consistent with Monmouthshire’s Equal Opportunities Policy in their own area of 
responsibility and in their general conduct. 
 
The authority operates a Smoke Free Workplace Policy which all employees are 
required to abide to. 
 
 

Page 105



 

Person Specification 
 

How will we know if you are the right person for the role? As the successful 
candidate you will have demonstrated:- 
 

REQUIREMENTS WEIGHTING 
High, Medium, Low 

Education / Qualifications / Knowledge 
 

 

4 GCSE grades A-C or equivalent – including English 
Language and Mathematics 

High 

Experience 
 

 

Experience of working as part of a team/individually 
 

Medium 

Experience of completing tasks within deadlines 
 

Medium 

Communication / Interpersonal Skills 
 

 

Good written and oral communication skills 
 

Medium 

Good interpersonal skills and the ability to work well in 
a team 

Medium 

Aptitude and Skills 
  

 

Conversant with basic computer packages (i.e. Microsoft 
Packages). 

High 

Good organisational skills 
 

Medium 

Good telephone manner 
 

Medium 

Ability to learn: positive, enthusiastic and flexible 
 

High 

Equal Opportunities 
 

 

Willing to abide by the Council’s Equal Opportunities Policy, 
including undertaking appropriate equality awareness 
training. 

High 

Additional Requirements  

Flexibility and willingness to work from other locations within 
Monmouthshire (i.e. to take minutes at meetings outside of 
base) 

High 

 
Should you require any further information regarding this post, please contact:  
 
Tel:     Email:  

Closing Date:    

Page 106



1. PURPOSE:

1.1 To seek approval of the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape World Heritage Site Management 
Plan (2018-2023).

2. RECOMMENDATIONS:

2.1 To approve the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape World Heritage Site Management Plan 
(2018-2023).

3. KEY ISSUES:

3.1 The Blaenavon Industrial Landscape World Heritage Site is managed by the Blaenavon 
World Heritage Site Partnership within which Torfaen County Borough Council is the lead 
partner responsible for day to day management of the Site. Every World Heritage Site 
(WHS) is required to adhere to UNESCO’s Operational Guidelines for the Implementation 
of the World Heritage Convention (12th July 2017) which requires each WHS to have an 
appropriate management plan or other documented management system which must 
specify how the Outstanding Universal Value (OUV) of a property should be preserved, 
preferably through participatory means.

3.2 WHS Management Plans must be reviewed and renewed every five years and set out 
actions for the effective protection, conservation and presentation of the Sites OUV for 
present generations as well as its transmission to future generations. The current 
Management Plan for the Site was approved in 2011 and therefore required renewal. This 
Plan superseded the first Management Plan approved upon inscription of the Site in 2000. 

3.3 The current Plan has played a central role in managing the WHS and has been 
instrumental in informing and guiding landscape management, planning decisions, 
education and interpretation projects, marketing initiatives and project development as well 
as supporting individual funding applications and work programmes. Welsh Government in 
its policy document “Managing Change in World Heritage Sites Wales” (May 2017) 
recognises the Plan as an exemplar of best practise within the sector. 

3.4 During the Plan period, the effective management of the WHS by the Blaenavon World 
Heritage Site Partnership has continued with positive cooperation between members and 
effective working with key community and stakeholder groups. There has been notable 

SUBJECT: BLAENAVON INDUSTRIAL LANDSCAPE WORLD HERITAGE SITE 
MANAGEMENT PLAN (2018 - 2023)

MEETING: Individual Cabinet Member Decision
DATE: 27 March 2019
DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED: Llanelly Hill, Llanwenarth Ultra, Llanfoist Fawr

Page 107

Agenda Item 4



success in implementing the Plan with the majority of projects and initiatives included 
within the Plan having been delivered. 

Issues and findings 

3.5 A revised WHS Management Plan for the period 2018-2023 has been prepared (attached 
at Appendix 2).  The Plan seeks to build upon the success of both Management Plans 
implemented to date and ensure that the OUV of the WHS continues to be managed for 
the benefit of present and future generations.

3.6 The Plan identifies an overall vision and key principles for the management of the WHS, 
together with short, medium and long-term objectives.  These are supported by a suite of 
policies that seek to deliver the continued and effective protection, conservation, 
presentation and transmission of the Site’s OUV over the Plan period (2018-2023) 
identified under the following four themes:

1. Governance and Management of the World Heritage Site
2. Caring for the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape
3. Exploring and Enjoying the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape
4. Learning and Community Engagement in World Heritage

3.7 Specific actions for projects and activities to be explored and delivered by all partners over 
the Plan period are identified for each theme, together with likely phasing and possible 
sources of funding. The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 is embedded 
into the Plan providing the opportunity to set in place policies and actions that recognise 
the present and future needs of the Site to ensure its future as a thriving, balanced and 
sustainable communities. The Plan’s contribution to the Well-being Goals for both the 
Torfaen and Monmouthshire Public Service Boards is clearly identified. 

3.8 Overall, the Plan aims to ensure that the policies and actions for management of the Site’s 
heritage contribute to economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being and 
sustainable development goals.  It demonstrates that heritage protection and heritage-led 
regeneration are complementary in helping to create a thriving, balanced and sustainable 
future for Blaenavon and the wider WHS.

3.9 The Plan covers the full extent of the World Heritage Site including those areas falling 
within the administrative boundaries of Torfaen County Borough Council, Monmouthshire 
County Council and the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority. Torfaen CBC has taken 
the lead role but all organisations have been fully involved in the preparation of the Plan 
and are pursuing its formal approval within their own organisations. 

3.10 It is intended that the Plan will be formally endorsed and launched at a Board Meeting of 
the Blaenavon WHS Partnership in the Spring of 2019.

Consultation

3.11  The revised Management Plan (2018- 2023) has been the subject of extensive 
consultation. Ahead of preparing a Consultation Draft, a series of scene setting 

Page 108



meetings were convened including with the Blaenavon WHS Partnership Board, 
Steering Group and thematic Working Groups. Two public consultation events were also 
convened at Blaenavon Workmens Hall and Llanfoist Village Hall. Information and 
comments received as part of this process was utilised to inform and prepare sections of 
the revised draft Plan ahead of wider public consultation. 

3.12  A six week public consultation exercise on the draft Plan subsequently took place from 
12th April – 24th May 2018. Relevant organisations were also be consulted over the 
same time period. A public exhibition took place at Blaenavon World Heritage Centre on 
Tuesday 24th April and at Llanfoist Village Hall on 26th April 2018 to allow everyone with 
an interest in the proposals the opportunity to give their views and discuss with relevant 
officers. 10 comments were received as a result of the public consultation exercise. 
Cadw, Historic England (the UK Governments lead for World Heritage matters) and 
ICOMOS UK have also provided comments. The Plan was amended accordingly where 
required. A copy of these comments and responses is available on request. 

4. EQUALITY AND FUTURE GENERATIONS EVALUATION (INCLUDES SOCIAL 
JUSTICE, SAFEGUARDING AND CORPORATE PARENTING):

4.1 The Plan will maintain long-term planning and management arrangements to ensure that 
outcomes are sustainable in the future. It will support continued efforts to create a cultural 
tourism destination; using this as a catalyst to deliver economic, social and environmental 
regeneration outcomes to the World Heritage Site and to provide improved physical and 
intellectual access, volunteering opportunities and activity.

5. OPTIONS APPRAISAL

Option Benefits Risks Comments

Not have a 
current 
management 
plan

 None identified  Not meeting 
UNESCO 
requirements

 No access to 
future grant

 Undermine the  
existing 
BILWHS 
partnerships

UNESCO’s Operational 
Guidelines for the 
Implementation of the World 
Heritage Convention require 
each Site to have an 
appropriate management plan, 
failure to have a current 
management plan would 
ultimately put the designation at 
risk

Maintain a 
current 
management 
plan

 Supports 
appropriate 
management

 Supports 
existing 
relationships 
and partnership 
work

 None identified Meets UNESCO’s Operational 
Guidelines for the 
Implementation of the World 
Heritage Convention

Page 109



 Maintains 
potential access 
to future funding 

6. EVALUATION CRITERIA

6.1 An updated Management Plan for the WHS will ensure that the Council and the wider WHS 
Partnership has measures in place to effectively protect, conserve and present the Sites 
OUV to present generations and ensure its transmission to future generations. The plan 
contains identified outcomes, which will form the basis for future monitoring.

7. REASONS:

7.1 Every WHS is required to adhere to UNESCO’s Operational Guidelines for the 
Implementation of the World Heritage Convention (12th July 2017) which requires each 
Site to have an appropriate management plan or other documented management system 
which must specify how the OUV of a property should be preserved, preferably through 
participatory means.

8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS:

8.1 There are no direct financial implications to the Council from this proposal. The Plan sets 
out a matrix of projects to be delivered by all partners within the Plan period. Some 
projects are already underway with all funding secured. Other projects are aspirational and 
funding will be sought by individual partners from relevant external funding bodies during 
the Plan period as opportunities and resources arise. 

9. CONSULTEES:

Enterprise DMT and see sections 3.11 and 3.12 for summary of consultation on the plan.

No further comments received.

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS:

Appendix 1: Future Generations Evaluation
Appendix 2: Final Plan: 
http://moderngov.torfaen.gov.uk/documents/s35685/Blaenavon%20WHS%20Management
%20Plan%20FINAL%20SEPTEMBER%202018.pdf

11. AUTHOR & CONTACT DETAILS

Matthew Lewis, Green Infrastructure and Countryside Officer

Tel: 01633 644855 E-mail: matthewlewis@monmouthshire.gov.uk

Page 110

http://moderngov.torfaen.gov.uk/documents/s35685/Blaenavon%20WHS%20Management%20Plan%20FINAL%20SEPTEMBER%202018.pdf
http://moderngov.torfaen.gov.uk/documents/s35685/Blaenavon%20WHS%20Management%20Plan%20FINAL%20SEPTEMBER%202018.pdf


Appendix 1

 

Name of the Officer completing the evaluation

Matthew Lewis
Green Infrastructure & Countryside Manager

Phone no: 01633 644855
E-mail: matthewlewis@monmouthshire .gov.uk

Please give a brief description of the aims of the proposal

Blaenavon Industrial Landscape World Heritage Site Management Plan 
(2018-2023).

Name of Service

Tourism, Leisure, Culture & Youth

Date Future Generations Evaluation form completed

1 March 2019

1. Does your proposal deliver any of the well-being goals below?  Please explain the impact (positive and negative) you expect, 
together with suggestions of how to mitigate negative impacts or better contribute to the goal.

Well Being Goal 

How does the proposal contribute to this 
goal? (positive and negative)

What actions have been/will be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts?

A prosperous Wales
Efficient use of resources, skilled, 
educated people, generates wealth, 
provides jobs

The new Management Plan will represent a holistic 
regeneration strategy for the WHS including the 
the communites within the WHS which have 
suffered protracted economic, social and 
environmental decline over a long period of time. 

- Maximise positive opportunities by continuing to 
work with partners within the WHS Partnership as 
well as other key organisations including RSL’s, the 
local community and local businesses.  

A resilient Wales
Maintain and enhance biodiversity and 
ecosystems that support resilience and 
can adapt to change (e.g. climate 
change)

The new Management Plan will promote and 
support the sustainable management of the rich 
and varied cultural landscape of the WHS. Policies 
and actions will enhance and maintain biodiversity 
locally and help contribute to a resilient Wales.

Future Generations Evaluation 
(includes Equalities and Sustainability Impact Assessments) 

P
age 111



Appendix 1

Well Being Goal 

How does the proposal contribute to this 
goal? (positive and negative)

What actions have been/will be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts?

A healthier Wales
People’s physical and mental wellbeing 
is maximized and health impacts are 
understood

The new Management Plan will set out policies 
and actions for the management of the cultural 
landscape exploring opportunities for the further 
promotion of the sites recreational opportunities 
including walking and cycling to help improve 
physical and mental well being.  

Volunteering opportunities will also be further 
encouraged and the hard work of the Blaenavon 
World Heritage Environment Group and Town 
Teams recognised and further promoted as an 
important part of the ongoing management of the 
WHS. 

- Working with the local community to promote the 
area in a positive fashion in partnership with the 
existing community highlighting its potential.

-Working with existing volunteers within the 
landscape to support their work in the ongoing 
management of the cultural landscape.

A Wales of cohesive communities
Communities are attractive, viable, safe 
and well connected

The new Management Plan will holitically address 
the present and future needs of the communities 
within the WHS by setting out clear policies and 
actions that address the economic, social and 
environmental issues facing the area. 

- Maximise opportunities for engagement with a 
range of key stakeholders.

A globally responsible Wales
Taking account of impact on global 
well-being when considering local 
social, economic and environmental 
wellbeing

UNESCO’s World Heritage Convention (1972) 
acknowledges that cultural and natural World 
Heritage Sites are among the World’s most 
priceless and irreplaceable assets, not only of each 
nation, but of humanity as a whole. What makes 
the concept of World Heritage exceptional is its 
universal application. World Heritage Sites belong 
to all the peoples of the World, irrespective of the 
territory on which they are located.

The preparation of a new Management Plan for the 
WHS will ensure that the Outstanding Universal 
Value of the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape World 
Heritage Site is protected, conserved and presented 
ensuring the transmission of this globally significant 
cultural heritage to future generations as set out in 
the 1972 United Nations World Heritage Convention.

A Wales of vibrant culture and 
thriving Welsh language
Culture, heritage and Welsh language 
are promoted and protected.  People 
are encouraged to do sport, art and 

The Plan reflects and integrates the history of the 
welsh language as well as the important cultural 
aspects of the WHS and wider area into the Plans 
policies and actions. 

As a cultural WHS, there are significant 

Maximise the opportunities promote the areas 
cultural heritage to local and wider audiences.

- Maximise opportunities for engaging the local 
community in the significance of their own cultural 

P
age 112



Appendix 1

Well Being Goal 

How does the proposal contribute to this 
goal? (positive and negative)

What actions have been/will be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts?

recreation opportunites to sensitively exploit the areas 
industrial and wider cultural heritage to the local 
community and wider national and international 
audiences. The Plan will adddress and promote 
these opportunities enagaing with key cultural 
organisations during the Plan period to ensure full 
integration and maximisation of all cultural 
opportunities.

heritage working with WHS partners and other key 
stakeholdrs to support and promote participation in 
cultural activities. 

- Maximise volunteering opportunities as they relate 
to ongoing management of the industrial landscape 
and Scheduled Ancient Monuments.

A more equal Wales
People can fulfil their potential no 
matter what their background or 
circumstances

Preparation and development of the Plan has 
included full up front community, partner and 
stakeholder engagement.

- Maximise opportunities for engaging the local 
community, partners and stakeholders in delivery of 
the Plan. 

2. How has your proposal embedded and prioritised the sustainable governance principles in its development?

Sustainable Development 
Principle 

How does your proposal demonstrate you have met 
this principle?

What has been done to better to meet this 
principle?

Balancing 
short term 
need with long 
term and 
planning for 

the future

The Plan will establish long-term planning and management 
arrangements to ensure that outcomes are sustainable in the 
future.  The primary aim of the Partnership is to maintain 
momentum and build upon the successes achieved to date 
in heritage-led regeneration. This aim will be pursued in line 
with the partnerships long term vision for the Site:                
“…The Blaenavon Industrial Landscape is cared for and 
presented so that future generations may understand the 
outstanding universal contribution South Wales made to the 
Industrial Revolution through exploring, enjoying and 
learning, thereby contributing to the economic, social, 
environmental and cultural well-being and prosperity of its 
communities. 

The revised Management Plan present policies and actions 
to protect, conserve, present and transmit its Outstanding 
Universal Value to future generations whilst also enabling 
the sustainable regeneration of the town and wider 
landscape to meet current community needs and 
aspirations. The Plan recognises that the long-term 
challenges of social, economic and environmental 
regeneration within the Blaenavon community and the 
wider WHS require long-term strategies.

P
age 113



Appendix 1
Sustainable Development 

Principle 
How does your proposal demonstrate you have met 

this principle?
What has been done to better to meet this 

principle?

Working 
together with 
other 
partners to 
deliver 

objectives 

The management of the WHS is undertaken by the 
Blaenavon WHS Partnership comprised of the following 
organisations: 

 Torfaen CBC (Lead)
 Monmouthshire CC
 Blaenau Gwent CBC
 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
 Blaenavon Town Council
 Cadw
 Royal Commission Ancient & Hostoric Monuments 

Wales
 Museums Wales
 National Resources Wales
 Visit Wales
 Canals & Rivers Trust

Each partner organisation provides a unique contribution to 
the management approach of the WHS which is focused on 
the economic, social ,environmental and cultural 
regeneration of the WHS. 

The new Management Plan has been prepared in 
collaboration with each partner organisation, the local 
community and other key stakeholders iincluding the 
Councils Strategic Engagement Group, the WHS Steering 
Group, WHS Partnership Board, WHS Working Groups 
and members of Blaenavon Town Council. 2 public 
consultation events early in the process highlighted 
relevant issues. Utilising information captured from these 
events, the revised Management Plan has been subject to 
further public consultation ensuring that the views of the 
community and key stakeholders are taken into account in 
the final Plan

Involving 
those with an 
interest and 
seeking their 
views

As discussed above, the collaborative approach pursued 
during the preparation of the Plan has ensured that the local 
community as key community stakeholders have been fully 
involved in preparing and delivering the key objectives, 
policies and actions of the Plan.  Going forward, community 
involvement in the process is essential to the successful 
delivery of the Plan.

P
age 114



Appendix 1
Sustainable Development 

Principle 
How does your proposal demonstrate you have met 

this principle?
What has been done to better to meet this 

principle?

Putting 
resources into 
preventing 
problems 
occurring or 

getting worse

Blaenavon’s past industrial heritage resulted in the 
establishment and growth of the town. Its subsequent rapid 
decline during the 20th Century however, coupled with a lack 
of replacement investment, had a devastating effect the 
economic, environmental and social legacy of which 
continues to challenge the WHS today. WHS status provided 
an impetus to reverse this decline and since inscription, the 
economic, social and environmental regeneration of the town 
and wider landscape has formed a key part of the strategy 
embedded in both Management Plans implemented to date. 
This strategy has been focussed on the sensitive exploitation 
of Blaenavon’s cultural heritage and using this as a catalyst 
for the holistic and sustainable regeneration of the whole of 
the WHS. 

Since 2000, significant progress has been made in this 
regard. Going forward, the new Management Plan will 
maintain this momentum by assessing current issues and 
opportunities as they relate to social, economic, cultural 
and environmental vulnerabilities within the community and 
putting in place policies and actions that continue to deliver 
the sustainable regeneration of the WHS for the benefit of 
present and future generations.

Positively 
impacting on 
people, 
economy and 
environment 

and trying to benefit all three

The primary focus of both World Heritage Site (WHS) 
Management Plans implemented since inscription as a WHS 
in 2000 has been on protecting and conserving the key 
heritage assets within the WHS and using Blaenavon’s 
globally significant heritage to create a cultural tourism 
destination; using this as a catalyst to deliver economic, 
social and environmental regeneration outcomes to the 
town and surrounding area. Going forward, the new 
Management Plan will maintain this momentum by 
assessing current issues and opportunities as they relate to 
social, economic, cultural and environmental 
vulnerabilities within the community. 

Aligned to the WBFG (Wales) Act; on an international level, 
UNESCO has also recognised the importance of sustainable 
development to the well-being of communities and have 
announced their intention to integrate the United Nations 
Sustainable Development agenda “Transforming Our World: 
The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development” into the 
processes of the World Heritage Convention. 

The new Management Plan integrates these goals into its 
strategy and action plan and sets out how, through an 
integrated approach, applying the 5 ways of working, the 
assets of the WHS will be utilised to ensure their 
contribution to all 7 of the national well-being goals.

P
age 115



Appendix 1
3. Are your proposals going to affect any people or groups of people with protected characteristics?  Please explain the impact, the 

evidence you have used and any action you are taking below. 

Protected Characteristics 
Describe any positive impacts your 

proposal has on the protected 
characteristic

Describe any negative 
impacts your proposal has 

on the protected 
characteristic

What has been/will be done 
to mitigate any negative 

impacts or better contribute 
to positive impacts?

Age Positive through improved physical and 
intellectual access, volunteering and activity

None

Disability Positive through improved physical and 
intellectual access

None

Gender reassignment None None

Marriage or civil partnership None None

Race None None

Religion or Belief None None

Sex None None

Sexual Orientation None None

Welsh Language Positive through supporting further interpretation 
and information provision

None

4. Council has agreed the need to consider the impact its decisions has on the following important responsibilities: Social Justice, 
Corporate Parenting and Safeguarding.  Are your proposals going to affect any of these responsibilities?  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has 

What will you do/ have you done 
to mitigate any negative impacts 
or better contribute to positive 
impacts?

Social Justice Positive through improved physical and 
intellectual access, volunteering and activity 
for all

None

P
age 116



Appendix 1
Safeguarding None None

Corporate Parenting None None

5. What evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal?

Well Being Assessment Template Blaenavon Industrial Landscape World Heritage Site Management Plan – Torfaen CBC Sept 2018

6. SUMMARY:  As a result of completing this form, what are the main positive and negative impacts of your proposal, how have 
they informed/changed the development of the proposal so far and what will you be doing in future?

 The Plan will maintain long-term planning and management arrangements to ensure that outcomes are sustainable in the future. It will support continued 
efforts to create a cultural tourism destination; using this as a catalyst to deliver economic, social and environmental regeneration outcomes to the World 
Heritage Site and to provide improved physical and intellectual access, volunteering opportunities and activity.

7. Actions. As a result of completing this form are there any further actions you will be undertaking? Please detail them below, if 
applicable. 

What are you going to do When are you going to do it? Who is responsible Progress 
In

8. Monitoring: The impacts of this proposal will need to be monitored and reviewed. Please specify the date at which you will 
evaluate the impact, and where you will report the results of the review. 

The impacts of this proposal will be evaluated on: Impacts will be re-evaluated as the Management Plan is implemented and 
through management plan monitoring reported to the Blaenavon ILWHS Steering 
Group 

P
age 117



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Blaenavon Industrial Landscape
World Heritage Site Management Plan

2018-2023

delivering well-being benefits through heritage
management and heritage-led regeneration

July 2018

Page 119



Page 120



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Blaenavon World Heritage Site Partnership

Blaenavon Industrial Landscape
World Heritage Site Management Plan

2018-2023

Approved

Position

Date

Revision

Dominic Watkins

Director

17th July 2018

Final

Page 121



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

CONTENTS

SUMMARY

1.0 SETTING THE SCENE
1.1 World Heritage Sites
1.2 The Blaenavon World Heritage Site
1.3 The Management Plan
1.4 Strategic Policy Context

2.0 OUTSTANDING UNIVERSAL VALUE OF THE WORLD HERITAGE SITE
2.1 Introduction
2.2 Statement of Outstanding Universal Value
2.3 Attributes of the World Heritage Site

3.0 VISION AND MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
3.1 Introduction
3.2 Vision and Overarching Principles
3.3 Management Objectives

4.0 GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT OF THE WORLD HERITAGE SITE
4.1 Introduction
4.2 The Partnership’s Governance Structure
4.3 Risk Management. Emergency Preparedness and Monitoring
4.4 Contribution to Well-Being

5.0 CARING FOR THE BLAENAVON INDUSTRIAL LANDSCAPE
5.1 Introduction
5.2 Protecting the Site and its Setting
5.3 Managing the Relict Industrial Landscape and the Uplands
5.4 Enhancing the Blaenavon Townscape
5.5 Conserving the Industrial Buildings and Infrastructure
5.6 Contribution to Well-Being

6.0 EXPLORING AND ENJOYING THE BLAENAVON INDUSTRIAL LANDSCAPE
6.1 Introduction
6.2 Developing the Market for the World Heritage Site
6.3 Developing the Visitor Offer within the World Heritage Site
6.4 Marketing and Promoting the World Heritage Site
6.5 Contribution to Well-Being

7.0 LEARNING AND COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT IN WORLD HERITAGE
7.1 Introduction
7.2 Increasing Community Engagement and Involvement in World Heritage
7.3 Blaenavon’s Learning Offer
7.4 Contribution to Well-Being

Page 122



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

8.0 2018-2023 ACTION PLANS
8.1 Introduction
8.2 Governance and Management of the World Heritage Site – Action Plan
8.3 Caring for the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape – Action Plan
8.4 Exploring and Enjoying the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape – Action Plan
8.5 Learning and Community Engagement in World Heritage – Action Plan
8.6 Monitoring Actions

BIBLIOGRAPHY AND FURTHER READING

FIGURES

1. National Context
2. Regional Context
3. The Blaenavon Industrial Landscape World Heritage Site
4. Attributes & Components of the Site’s Outstanding Universal Value
5. Historic Environment Assets
6. Natural Heritage Assets
7. The Forgotten Landscapes Partnership Area
8. Main Visitor Attractions
9. Key Access & Recreation Facilities

APPENDICES

A. Review of the BILWHS Management Plan 2011-2016
B. Stakeholder and Public Consultation Record
C. Summary of Related Plans, Strategies and Studies (2011 onwards)
D. Torfaen and Monmouthshire Well-being Assessments – Key Findings
E. Attributes of the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape World Heritage Site
F. BILWHS Tourism Data
G. Revised BILWHS Partnership Management Structure

Page 123



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 6 -

SUMMARY

The Blaenavon Industrial Landscape was inscribed by the United Nations Educational, Scientific and 

Cultural Organisation (UNESCO) as a World Heritage Site in December 2000. World Heritage Sites 

are inscribed because of their ‘Outstanding Universal Value’. For the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape, 

UNESCO recognises that1:

‘The area around Blaenavon bears eloquent and exceptional testimony to the pre-eminence of South 

Wales as the world’s major producer of iron and coal in the nineteenth century. It is a remarkably 

complete example of a nineteenth century landscape”.

Management of the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape World Heritage Site is co-ordinated by the Blaenavon 

World Heritage Site Partnership, which comprises the following organisations:

• Torfaen County Borough Council (Lead Authority)

• Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council

• Blaenavon Town Council

• Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

• Cadw

• Canal & River Trust

• Monmouthshire County Council

• Amgueddfa Cymru National Museum Wales

• Natural Resources Wales

• Royal Commission on the Ancient & Historical Monuments of Wales

• Visit Wales

The Partnership’s long-term vision for the Blaenavon World Heritage Site is as follows:

The Blaenavon Industrial Landscape is cared for and presented so that future generations may 

understand the outstanding universal contribution South Wales made to the Industrial Revolution 

through exploring, enjoying and learning, thereby contributing to the economic, social, environmental 

and cultural well-being and prosperity of its communities.

1Extract from ICOMOS Report to the World Heritage Committee (November 2000)

Page 124



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 7 -

World Heritage Sites must have an appropriate Management Plan in place to sustain their Outstanding 

Universal Value, integrity and authenticity by providing a consensus-based strategy and framework 

for decision-making and action. To this end, the Blaenavon World Heritage Site Partnership prepared 

Management Plans covering the period 2000-2010 and 2011-2016. A new Management Plan has been 

prepared for the period 2018-2023.

The new Plan seeks to continue to build upon the success that has already been achieved through the 

implementation of the previous two Management Plans over the last 16 years. There has been notable 

success in implementing the previous Management Plan 2011-2016 with the majority of its projects and 

initiatives having been achieved. Over the years, the management of the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape 

World Heritage Site has become widely recognised as a model of the potential for WHS heritage-led 

regeneration in the UK.

The Management Plan identifies an overall vision and key principles for the management of the World 

Heritage Site, together with short-, medium- and long-term objectives. These are supported by a suite of 

policies for the continued effective protection, conservation, presentation and transmission of the Site’s 

Outstanding Universal Value over the plan period (2018-2023) identified under the following four themes:

1. Governance and Management of the World Heritage Site

2. Caring for the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape

3. Exploring and Enjoying the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape

4. Learning and Community Engagement in World Heritage

Specific actions for projects and activities to be explored and delivered by all partners over the Plan 

period are identified for each theme, together with likely phasing and possible sources of funding.

Overall, the Plan aims to ensure that the policies and actions for management of the Site’s heritage 

contribute to economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being and sustainable development goals. 

It demonstrates that heritage protection and heritage-led regeneration are complementary in helping to 

create a thriving, balanced and sustainable future for Blaenavon.

The new Management Plan has been the subject of partner, stakeholder and public consultation and will 

be kept under review by the Partnership.

This Management Plan was prepared by Chris Blandford Associates on behalf of the Blaenavon World 

Heritage Site Partnership.

Page 125



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 8 -

1.0 SETTING THE SCENE

1.1 World Heritage Sites

Box 1.1 – What are World Heritage Sites? 

World Heritage Sites are places of Outstanding Universal Value to the whole of humanity. 

This means that their cultural and/or natural significance is so exceptional as to transcend 

national boundaries and to be of common importance for present and future generations 

of all humanity. (UNESCO World Heritage Committee)

1.1.1 World Heritage Sites are inscribed on a list of international sites under the World Heritage 

Convention by the World Heritage Committee of UNESCO (United Nations Educational, 

Scientific and Cultural Organization) because of their Outstanding Universal Value (see Box 

1.1). UNESCO’s World Heritage mission is to encourage State Parties to protect, conserve and 

present the Outstanding Universal Values of their natural and cultural World Heritage Sites and 

to transmit this to future generations.

1.1.2 Although responsibility for heritage has been devolved to the Welsh Government, it is the UK 

Government that has ratified the World Heritage Convention. The Department for Culture, 

Media & Sport (DCMS) acts as the State Party to the Convention on behalf of the UK Government 

and is ultimately responsible for compliance with the terms of the Convention.

1.1.3 The Welsh Government’s Historic Environment Service (Cadw) is responsible for national heritage 

policy in Wales. Cadw guidance2 recognises that there is no higher recognition of heritage value 

than World Heritage Site status. It requires local planning authorities to protect World Heritage 

Sites and their settings from inappropriate development, and states that World Heritage Site 

status is a material consideration when determining planning applications. Importantly, the 

guidance emphasises that World Heritage Sites can provide economic, environmental and 

social benefits to local communities through learning, tourism and regeneration (see Box 1.2).

Box 1.2 – World Heritage Sites in Wales 

Our World Heritage Sites are places to cherish and celebrate forever. We want to foster 

better understanding of their history and what makes them internationally significant so 

that people care about them and unlock the opportunities they offer through improved 

tourism, regeneration and lifelong learning. Together, these benefits will help create the 

Wales we want in the future by meeting the well-being goals set out in the Well-being of 

Future Generations (Wales) Act. The protection and conservation of World Heritage Sites 

is fundamental to achieving these ambitions.3

2Managing Change in World Heritage Sites in Wales (Welsh Government, 2017)
3Managing Change in World Heritage Sites in Wales (Welsh Government, 2017)

Page 126



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 9 -

1.2 The Blaenavon World Heritage Site

1.2.1 The Blaenavon Industrial Landscape World Heritage Site (BILWHS) in South East Wales was 

inscribed onto the UNESCO World Heritage List in 2000. It is currently one of 31 World 

Heritage Sites in the UK and is one of three in Wales - the other two being the Castles and Town 

Walls of King Edward in Gwynedd (inscribed 1986) and Pontcysyllte Aqueduct and Canal 

(inscribed 2009) as indicated on Figure 1.

1.2.2 The BILWHS lies between the industrial South Wales Valleys and the rural uplands of the 

Brecon Beacons. It is located on the north-eastern rim of the South Wales Coalfield some 40km 

north-east of Cardiff, the capital city of Wales (see Figure 2). The Site takes its name from the 

town of Blaenavon, the main settlement within the BILWHS.

1.2.3 The BILWHS covers a large area extending to approximately 33km2 (3,290ha). As shown on 

Figure 3, the southern part of the WHS lies within the County Borough of Torfaen and includes 

the town of Blaenavon, and the northern part lies within the County of Monmouthshire and the 

Brecon Beacons National Park. Blaenau Gwent County Borough lies immediately to the west 

of the WHS.

1.2.4 The BILWHS is a cultural landscape in which exceptional evidence of past activities survives, 

demonstrating extensive coal mining and iron making during the Industrial Revolution. The 

Blaenavon Industrial Landscape is one of the best places in the World where the early formative 

years of the Industrial Revolution can be studied and understood. The town of Blaenavon 

and its surviving streets of workers’ housing, chapels, churches, schools and the Workmen’s 

Hall powerfully reflect the distinctive culture that developed in iron making and coal mining 

communities during the late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries.

1.2.5 Since 2000, management of the BILWHS has been facilitated and coordinated by the Blaenavon 

World Heritage Site Partnership, comprising local and national authorities led by Torfaen 

County Borough Council. The primary focus of the Partnership has been on protecting and 

conserving the key heritage assets within the BILWHS, and using and presenting Blaenavon’s 

globally significant heritage to create a cultural tourism destination; using this as a catalyst to 

deliver the economic, social and environmental regeneration of the town and surrounding 

area.

Page 127



BLAENAVON INDUSTRIAL LANDSCAPE 
WORLD HERITAGE SITE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2017-2022

BLAENAVON WORLD HERITAGE SITE PARTNERSHIP
July 2018
11125801-MP-Fg-F-07-18.indd

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2017 

FIGURE 1
NATIONAL CONTEXT

BLAENAVON INDUSTRIAL 
LANDSCAPE WHS

Cardiff London

Belfast

Dublin

Edinburgh

THE CASTLES & TOWN 
WALLS OF KING EDWARD 
IN GWYNEDD WHS

PONTCYSYLLTE 
AQUEDUCT & 
CANAL WHS

Page 128



BLAENAVON INDUSTRIAL LANDSCAPE 
WORLD HERITAGE SITE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2017-2022

BLAENAVON WORLD HERITAGE SITE PARTNERSHIP
July 2018
11125801-MP-Fg-F-07-18.indd

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2017

FIGURE 2
REGIONAL CONTEXT

BLAENAVON

Pontypool

Cwmbran

Caerphilly

Cardiff

Newport

Chepstow

Abergavenny
Monmouth

Brecon

Ross-on-Wye

Bristol

Weston-Super-Mare

Bath

Gloucester

Hereford

ENGLANDWALES

KEY
Blaenavon Industrial 
Landscape World Heritage Site

Brecon Beacons National Park

Motorways

Key A Roads

Railways

N

0 6 Kilometres3

0 10 205 Kilometers

England/Wales Border

M4

M48

M4

A470

A465

A4042
A449

A40

A40

A479

A465

Page 129



BLAENAVON INDUSTRIAL LANDSCAPE 
WORLD HERITAGE SITE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2017-2022

BLAENAVON WORLD HERITAGE SITE PARTNERSHIP
July 2018
11125801-MP-Fg-F-07-18.indd

Based upon the Ordnance Survey Map with the permission of the controller of H.M Stationery Office. © Crown Copyright Licence number :- 100017241 | Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2017

FIGURE 3
THE BLAENAVON INDUSTRIAL LANDSCAPE 

WORLD HERITAGE SITE

0 1.5 30.75 Kilometers

KEY
Blaenavon Industrial 
Landscape World Heritage Site

Brecon Beacons National Park

Local Authority Boundary

Monmouthshire and Brecon 
Canal

MONMOUTHSHIRE 
COUNTY

TORFAEN COUNTY 
BOROUGH

BLAENAU GWENT
COUNTY BOROUGH

POWYS
COUNTY

N

0 1 Kilometre0.5

Page 130



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 10 -

1.3 The Management Plan

1.3.1 The Partnership has prepared Management Plans covering the period 2000-2010 and 2011-

2016. The BILWHS Management Plan 2011-2016 is highlighted by the Welsh Government as 

an exemplar of best practice4 (see Box 1.3).

Box 1.3 – BILWHS Management Plan 2011-2016 

The Blaenavon Industrial Landscape World Heritage Site management plan demonstrates 

best practice because:

•  The Blaenavon World Heritage Site Partnership successfully brings together all responsible 

parties to collaborate on the management plan.

•  There is an overarching vision for the site that responds to local needs as well as 

protecting the site’s Outstanding Universal Value.

•  It sets out the significance of the site and how it can be protected and enhanced.

•  It sets out the management roles and responsibilities of the partnership, the steering 

group and working groups, which are flexible enough to respond to meet changing 

circumstances.

•  It sets out management objectives focused on the key issues and proposals for specific 

projects and activities, including likely phasing and possible sources of funding.

•  Wide public and partner consultation has ensured that the plan is robust.

•  The success of the plan has demonstrated that heritage protection and heritage-led 

regeneration are complementary.

•  The plan is kept under review

1.3.2 In December 2016, Torfaen County Borough Council appointed a team led by heritage, 

landscape and environment consultants Chris Blandford Associates (CBA) to prepare an 

updated Management Plan for the BILWHS to cover the period 2018-2023. The CBA team 

included The Tourism Company and Peter Wakelin (industrial heritage specialist).

1.3.3 The new Plan was developed in accordance with UNESCO’s Operational Guidelines for the 

Implementation of the World Heritage Convention5 and its associated resource manuals, and 

also takes into account guidance on the preparation of WHS management plans in Wales 

issued by the Welsh Government (see Box 1.4).

1.3.4 The main purpose of the Management Plan is to sustain the OUV of the BILWHS as an ‘outstanding 

and remarkably complete example of a 19th century industrial landscape’ by ensuring the 

effective protection, conservation and presentation of the WHS and its transmission to future 

generations. As the OUV of the Site makes it important in global terms for all humanity, this is 

therefore the main focus of and reason for the Management Plan.

4Managing Change in World Heritage Sites in Wales (Welsh Government, 2017)
5Operational Guidelines for the Implementation of the World Heritage Convention (UNESCO, 2017)

Page 131



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 11 -

Box 1.4 – Guidance on Preparation of WHS Management Plans in Wales6 

To remain on the World Heritage List, States Parties must ensure that the Outstanding 

Universal Value of the sites for which they are responsible is maintained, sustained and 

communicated. UNESCO advocates the production of management plans for each World 

Heritage Site to bring together all responsible parties and enable a coordinated approach 

to the management of the site. The management plan is also the way in which UNESCO 

can be certain that there are adequate management mechanisms in place to support the 

conservation of the World Heritage Site.

The Welsh Government expects the lead body for each WHS in Wales to follow the UNESCO 

guidelines7 that each WHS should have a management plan with an overall vision for the 

site and short-, medium- and long-term objectives to protect, conserve and present the site.

Plans should be tailored to the specific characteristics and needs of the site. They should set 

out clearly the attributes which express Outstanding Universal Value and provide policies 

for their preservation. Management plans serve as framework documents designed to sustain 

Outstanding Universal Value, integrity and authenticity. They should establish a framework 

for decision-making and provide information on threats and opportunities for the site so 

that it can be managed in a sustainable way. Management plans should be reviewed at least 

every five years.

Plans should be based on consensus and subject to public consultation. Relevant policies in 

the management plan need to be taken into account in local development plans, National 

Park authority and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty management plans, and when 

determining planning permission. It is good practice to adopt all or part of the management 

plan as supplementary planning guidance.

1.3.5 To achieve the primary aim of protecting the BILWHS through the maintenance of its OUV, 

this Plan provides an integrated approach to its management that recognises the social and 

economic needs of Blaenavon’s community. The Management Plan sets the framework for 

other various strategies, plans and programmes to be taken forward, guided by the Management 

Plan’s vision, objectives and policies to help ensure a sustainable balance is achieved between 

heritage protection and heritage-led regeneration.

1.3.6 Preparation of the new Management Plan involved an iterative process using knowledge gained 

from evaluating the previous Plans to inform future policies and priorities for action. A review 

of the achievements and lessons learnt from the previous Management Plan over the period 

2011-2016 as set out in Appendix A. The new Plan was also informed by feedback from the 

direct involvement of a range of individuals, groups and organisations through a programme of 

stakeholder and public consultation as outlined in Appendix B.

6Section 2.4 of Managing Change in World Heritage Sites in Wales (Welsh Government, 2017)
7Operational Guidelines for the Implementation of the World Heritage Convention (UNESCO, 8th July 2015)

Page 132



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 12 -

1.3.7 This new Management Plan develops the previous Plan by reviewing the strategic policy context 

influencing the World Heritage sector at the international and national level (see Section 1.4), 

and gathering evidence on needs and opportunities for the Site from relevant plans, strategies 

and studies as summarised in Appendix C.

1.3.8 Section 2.0 identifies the attributes which express the OUV of the Blaenavon Industrial 

Landscape (the reason for which the Site was inscribed) based on the Statement of OUV for the 

Site approved by the UNESCO World Heritage Committee. The overall vision, key principles 

and objectives for the management of the WHS are set out in Section 3.0. Aims, policies and 

actions for the continued effective protection, conservation, presentation and transmission of 

the Site’s Outstanding Universal Value over the plan period (2018-2023) are identified under 

four themes (see Box 1.5) in Sections 4.0, 5.0, 6.0 and 7.0.

Box 1.5 – Management Plan Themes

• Theme 1: Governance and Management of the World Heritage Site

• Theme 2: Caring for the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape

• Theme 3: Exploring and Enjoying the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape

• Theme 4: Learning and Community Engagement in World Heritage

1.3.9 Each of the four management themes includes consideration of the needs of residents and 

businesses within Blaenavon, and its surrounding rural communities in the WHS, in relation to 

achieving the goals of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (see Section 1.4). 

Actions for specific projects and activities to be explored and delivered by partners over the 

plan period are identified for each theme. These are supported by detailed Action Plans set out 

in Section 8.0, which identify responsibilities for delivery, likely phasing and possible sources 

of funding.

Page 133



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 13 -

1.4 Strategic Policy Context

 International Context

 UNESCO Agenda for Sustainable Development

1.4.1 UNESCO’s 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development8, agreed at the General Assembly of 

the State Parties to the World Heritage Convention in November 2015, sets out UNESCO’s 

policy for how World Heritage Sites can contribute towards sustainable development. It 

recognises that in the current context of changing demographics and climate change, growing 

inequalities, diminishing resources, and growing threats to heritage, conservation objectives 

(including those promoted by the World Heritage Convention) should be considered within a 

broader range of economic, social and environmental values and needs encompassed by the 

sustainable development concept.

1.4.2 The policy seeks to ensure that State Parties (the UK Government in the case of BILWHS) 

recognise that World Heritage conservation and management strategies should incorporate 

a sustainable development perspective that embraces not only the protection of OUV, but 

also the well-being of present and future generations. By identifying, protecting, conserving, 

presenting and transmitting to present and future generation’s irreplaceable cultural and natural 

heritage properties of OUV, the World Heritage Convention, in itself, contributes significantly 

to sustainable development and the well-being of people. At the same time, strengthening 

the three dimensions of sustainable development (environmental sustainability, inclusive 

social development and inclusive economic development), as well as the fostering of peace 

and security, benefits may be brought to World Heritage properties that support their OUV, if 

carefully integrated within their conservation and management systems.

1.4.3 UNESCO’s policy is supported by 17 Sustainable Development Goals that represent a universal 

and ambitious sustainable development agenda to end poverty, protect the planet and ensure 

prosperity for all9 . As highlighted in Table 1.1, implementation of the policies and actions under 

the Management Plan’s four themes set out in Sections 4.0, 5.0, 6.0 and 7.0 will contribute to 

the delivery of many of UNESCO’s Sustainable Development Goals.

8Transforming Our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development (UNESCO, 2015)
9http://en.unesco.org/sdgs

Page 134



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 14 -

 Table 1.1 – Contribution of Management Plan to UNESCO Sustainable Development Goals

UNESCO SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS MANAGEMENT PLAN THEMES

1. End poverty in all its forms everywhere
2. End hunger, achieve food security and 

improved nutrition and promote sustainable 
agriculture

3. Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being 
for all at all ages

4. Ensure inclusive and equitable quality 
education and promote lifelong learning 
opportunities for all

5. Achieve gender quality and empower all 
women and girls

6. Ensure availability and sustainable 
management of water and sanitation for all 

7. Ensure access to affordable, reliable, 
sustainable and modern energy for all

8. Promote sustained, inclusive and sustainable 
economic growth, full and productive 
employment and decent work for all 

9. Build resilient infrastructure, promote 
inclusive and sustainable industrialisation and 
foster innovation 

10. Reduce inequality within and among 
countries

11. Make cities and human settlements inclusive, 
safe, resilient and sustainable 

12. Ensure sustainable consumption and 
production patterns

13. Take urgent action to combat climate change 
and its impacts

14. Conserve and sustainably use the oceans, 
seas and marine resources for sustainable 
development 

15. Protect, restore and promote sustainable 
use of terrestrial ecosystems, sustainably 
manage forests, combat desertification, and 
halt and reverse land degradation and halt 
biodiversity loss

16. Promote peaceful and inclusive societies for 
sustainable development, provide access to 
justice for all and build effective, accountable 
and inclusive institutions at all levels

17. Strengthen the means of implementation 
and revitalise the global partnership for 
sustainable development

• Theme 1: Governance and 
Management of the World 
Heritage Site

• Theme 2: Caring for the 
Blaenavon Industrial Landscape

• Theme 3: Exploring and Enjoying 
the Blaenavon Industrial 
Landscape 

• Theme 4: Learning and 
Community Engagement in World 
Heritage

Page 135



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 15 -

 Operational Guidelines for the World Heritage Convention

1.4.4 UNESCO’s Operational Guidelines for the World Heritage Convention10 facilitate 

implementation of the World Heritage Convention. The 2015 Operational Guidelines explain 

the criteria under which OUV is assessed and describe the procedures required for the 

protection, conservation and management of World Heritage Sites, which include:

• The production of a management plan for each World Heritage Site to bring together all 

responsible parties and ensure a coordinated approach to its management.

• Legislative and regulatory measures at national and local levels that assure the survival of 

the Site and its protection against development and change that might negatively impact its 

Outstanding Universal Value, or the integrity, or the authenticity of the Site.

• Where necessary, the provision of an adequate buffer zone for the proper protection of the 

inscribed Site.

• Submission of periodic reports by States Parties to UNESCO, which record their 

implementation of the World Heritage Convention and the state of conservation of the 

World Heritage Sites in their territories.

 National Context

 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015

1.4.5 Allied to the international recognition of the importance of sustainable development to the 

well-being of communities within World Heritage Sites, the Well-being of Future Generations 

(Wales) Act 2015 places a statutory duty on public bodies to ‘improve the economic, social, 

environmental and cultural well-being of Wales in accordance with the sustainable development 

principle that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future 

generations to meet their own needs’.

1.4.6 The Partnership’s strategy for the management of the Site set out in this Management Plan 

reflects the five ways of working stipulated in the Well-being of Future Generations Act. The 

Management Plan promotes an integrated and joined up approach to communities and people, 

the economy, the environment and culture; promotes long-term thinking by aiming to balance 

current and long-term needs; encourages taking action now to prevent problems in the future; 

promotes collaborative working with a range of stakeholders to meet its aims and objectives; 

and involves people affected by the delivery of its projects.

10Operational Guidelines for the Implementation of the World Heritage Convention (UNESCO, 2017)

Page 136



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 16 -

1.4.7 The Plan also aims to contribute to the Act’s seven Well-Being Goals, which provide a shared 

purpose for public bodies in improving well-being and delivering sustainable development at 

the national and local level. As highlighted in Table 1.2, implementation of the Management 

Plan will contribute to the delivery of many of the Well-Being Goals that the public sector in 

Wales should aim for in delivering sustainable development.

1.4.8 For each of the four management themes set out in Sections 4.0, 5.0, 6.0 and 7.0, their 

contribution to helping deliver the Well-being Goals for Wales is identified, taking into account 

the relevant Well-being Objectives and Plans for Torfaen11 and Monmouthshire12.

 Table 1.2 – Contribution of Management Plan to Well-being Goals for Wales

UNESCO SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS MANAGEMENT PLAN THEMES

Goal 1: A Prosperous Wales – An innovative, 
productive and low carbon society which 
recognises the limits of the global environment 
and therefore uses resources efficiently and 
proportionately (including acting on climate 
change); and which develops a skilled and well-
educated population in an economy which 
generates wealth and provides employment 
opportunities, allowing people to take advantage 
of the wealth generated through securing decent 
work.

• Theme 2: Caring for the 
Blaenavon Industrial Landscape

• Theme 3: Exploring and Enjoying 
the Blaenavon Industrial 
Landscape 

• Theme 4: Learning and 
Community Engagement in World 
Heritage

Goal 2: A Resilient Wales – a nation which 
maintains and enhances a biodiverse natural 
environment with healthy functioning ecosystems 
that support social, economic and ecological 
resilience and the capacity to adapt to change (for 
example climate change).

• Theme 2: Caring for the Blaenav-
on Industrial Landscape

Goal 3: A Healthier Wales – a society in which 
peoples physical and mental well-being is 
maximised and in which choices and behaviours 
that benefit future health are understood.

• Theme 2: Caring for the 
Blaenavon Industrial Landscape

• Theme 3: Exploring and Enjoying 
the Blaenavon Industrial 
Landscape 

• Theme 4: Learning and 
Community Engagement in World 
Heritage

Goal 4: A More Equal Wales – a society that 
enables people to fulfil their potential no 
matter what their background or circumstances 
(including their socio-economic background and 
circumstances).

• Theme 4: Learning and 
Community Engagement in World 
Heritage

11Torfaen Well-being Statement (Torfaen County Borough Council, March 2017); Well-being Plan for Torfaen (Torfaen PSB, 2018)
12 Monmouthshire Well-being Objectives and Statement 2017 (Monmouthshire County Council, March 2017); Monmouthshire Public Service 

Board Well-being Plan (Monmouthshire PSB, 2018)

Page 137



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 17 -

UNESCO SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS MANAGEMENT PLAN THEMES

Goal 5: A Wales of Cohesive Communities 
– Attractive, viable, safe and well-connected 
communities.

• Theme 4: Learning and 
Community Engagement in World 
Heritage

Goal 6: A Wales of Vibrant Culture and Thriving 
Welsh Language – A society that promotes and 
protects culture, heritage and the Welsh language, 
and which encourages people to participate in the 
arts, and sports and recreation

• Theme 1: Governance and 
Management of the World 
Heritage Site

• Theme 2: Caring for the 
Blaenavon Industrial Landscape

• Theme 3: Exploring and Enjoying 
the Blaenavon Industrial 
Landscape 

• Theme 4: Learning and 
Community Engagement in World 
Heritage

Goal 7: A Globally Responsive Wales – A nation 
which, when doing anything to improve the 
economic, social, environmental and cultural 
well-being of Wales, takes account of whether 
doing such a thing may make a positive 
contribution to global well-being.

• Theme 1: Governance and 
Management of the World 
Heritage Site

• Theme 4: Learning and 
Community Engagement in World 
Heritage

 Planning (Wales) Act 2015

1.4.9 The Planning (Wales) Act 2015 puts in place delivery structures, processes and procedures 

to enable the planning system to support the delivery of national, local and community 

aspirations by creating sustainable places where citizens have improved access to quality 

homes, jobs and built and natural environments, and to support use of the Welsh language. 

The Act requires local planning authorities to have regard to Local Well-being Plans published 

by Public Service Boards, and ensure greater development engagement at the pre-application 

stage to ensure local communities are able to engage early on in the planning process to 

influence development proposals. The Act also makes provision for the preparation of Strategic 

Development Plans in areas with matters of greater than local significance where development 

is of a strategic nature.

Page 138



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 18 -

 Historic Environment (Wales) Act 2016

1.4.10 The Historic Environment (Wales) Act 2016 provides the legislative framework for improvement 

of existing systems for the protection and sustainable management of the historic environment. 

The Act provides for more effective protection to Listed Buildings and Scheduled Monuments, 

enhances mechanisms for sustainable management of the historic environment, and introduces 

greater transparency and accountability for decision making. It also places an emphasis 

on local heritage and the opportunity to negotiate partnership agreements with consenting 

authorities. The Historic Environment (Wales) Act 2016 amended the Ancient Monuments and 

Archaeological Areas Act 1979 and the Planning Act 1990.

 Historic Environment Policy

1.4.11 As part of measures to support the Historic Environment (Wales) Act 2016, the Welsh 

Government has issued updated policy on the protection and management of the historic 

environment.

1.4.12 Chapter 6 of Planning Policy Wales (PPW)13 sets out the Welsh Government’s objectives for 

how a well-protected and accessible historic environment can contribute to the goals set out in 

the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 through the planning system. It reflects 

Cadw’s Conservation Principles with regard to the sustainable management of the historic 

environment, and includes an objective to protect the OUV of the nation’s World Heritage 

Sites through consistent local development plan planning policies supported by supplementary 

planning guidance where appropriate and consultation with Cadw on applications likely to 

impact on OUV. A draft of the revised PPW (Edition 10) was published by the Welsh Government 

for public consultation in March 2018 until May 2018. The proposed changes to planning 

policy suggest that the Welsh Government are unlikely to support applications for opencast 

coal mining in light of the policy commitment towards cleaner sources of energy.

1.4.13 To support Chapter 6 of Planning Policy Wales, Cadw’s Technical Advice Note on the Historic 

Environment was approved by Welsh Government in May 2017. TAN24 provides detailed 

planning guidance for considering how changes affecting the historic environment (including 

World Heritage Sites in Wales) are managed through the planning system to support PPW’s 

objective for a well-protected and accessible historic environment that contributes to quality 

of life and place.

13Planning Policy Wales (Welsh Government, Edition 9, November 2016)

Page 139



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 19 -

1.4.14 To supplement Chapter 6 of Planning Policy Wales and TAN 24, the Welsh Government’s 

best-practice guide on Managing Change in World Heritage Sites in Wales14 sets out general 

principles for managing WHS in Wales and guidance for their protection through the planning 

system. The guide is aimed at decision makers, including national and local planning authorities, 

statutory undertakers and prospective developers, to raise the profile and significance of World 

Heritage Sites in Wales and to help them manage change without adverse impact on their 

Outstanding Universal Value. The Welsh Government requires the guidance to be taken into 

account by decision-making authorities when developing strategic plans and when considering 

proposals that might impact on the Outstanding Universal Value of a World Heritage Site (such 

as applications for planning permission and listed building, conservation area and scheduled 

monument consent, including pre-application discussions).

1.4.15 In addition to the Managing Change in World Heritage Sites in Wales guidance, the Welsh 

Government has also published guidance on Managing the Setting of Historic Assets in 

Wales15.

 Heritage Services Review

1.4.16 The Historic Wales - Cadw Workstream: Business Case for Change16 sets out the business case 

for the future of Cadw, the Welsh Government’s historic environment service. The business case 

follows a request from the Welsh Government’s Cabinet to develop a robust options appraisal 

for the future of Cadw to consider whether it would be more appropriately constituted as 

an executive agency or in another form such as a Welsh Government Sponsored Body. The 

business case recommends that Cadw stays within the Welsh Government but with a series of 

business improvements.

14Managing Change in World Heritage Sites in Wales (Welsh Government, 2017)
15Managing the Setting of Historic Assets in Wales (Welsh Government, 2017)
16Historic Wales - Cadw Workstream: Business Case for Change (Cadw, October 2017)

Page 140



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 20 -

 Environment (Wales) Act 2016

1.4.17 The Environment (Wales) Act 2016 provides the legislative framework for managing Wales’ 

natural resources for the benefit of future generations. Section 4 of the Act sets out principles 

for the sustainable management of natural resources that promote a joined-up approach to 

maintaining and enhancing natural resources and ecosystem services. Section 6 of the Act 

places a duty on public bodies in Wales to contribute to Biodiversity and Ecosystem Resilience 

when exercising their functions. Public authorities are required to prepare a forward plan 

demonstrating how they intend to deliver that duty in collaboration with other partners, taking 

into consideration the objectives of the Nature Recovery Plan for Wales and the goals of the 

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. Forward plans are informed by evidence 

from Area Statements prepared by Natural Resources Wales.

 Partnership for Growth, Welsh Government Strategy for Tourism 2013 – 2020

1.4.18 The Strategy17 sets out the Welsh Government’s vision for working in partnership with the 

tourism industry to grow tourism in a sustainable way and make an increasing contribution 

to the economic, social and environmental well-being of Wales. It recognises tourism as a 

key sector that has the potential to influence other sectors including skills and employment, 

planning, regeneration, heritage and culture. Most significantly, the Strategy recognises World 

Heritage Sites as “Iconic Tourism Products” in Wales and seeks to develop and implement 

iconic product-led brand strategies as part of how Wales promotes itself as a fresh and exciting 

tourism destination. The Strategy aims to increase visitor spend in Wales by 10% or more by 

2020 by promoting a product-led approach to developing and marketing tourism.

 Pan-Wales Interpretation Plan

1.4.19 The Pan-Wales Interpretation Plan provides a Wales-wide interpretation framework through a 

national overarching narrative interpreting the nation’s unique stories to inspire both visitors 

and people in Wales. The First Industrial Nation strand of the plan18 outlines proposals for 

interpreting the complex factors which created and propelled the Industrial Revolution in 

Wales. The First Industrial Nation theme focuses on the role of people, the story of motivation, 

innovation, entrepreneurial spirit and commercial success against the wider geographical, 

historical, industrial and social context.

17Partnership for Growth, Welsh Government Strategy for Tourism 2013 – 2020 (Welsh Government, 2013)
18 Pan-Wales Interpretation Plan: The First Industrial Nation (Touchstone Heritage Management Consultants, 

Red Kite Environment and Letha Consultancy for Cadw, October 2011)

Page 141



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 21 -

 Local Context

1.4.20 The BILWHS spans two local authority areas and the Brecon Beacons National Park. Each 

has their own local development plans, economic development and destination management 

plans, which highlight the crucial role that the historic environment and cultural heritage can 

play in strengthening local economies and how they can contribute to tourism and regeneration 

opportunities. The plans, strategies and studies that provide the current local context for the 

management of the BILWHS are summarised in Appendix C.

1.4.21 The protection of World Heritage Sites in Wales is effected by Welsh Government planning 

guidance, local development plan policies and supplementary planning guidance issued by 

local planning authorities to guide developers and owners of properties within World Heritage 

Sites and their settings. Local Development Plan policies HE2 (Torfaen), LC2 (Monmouthshire) 

and SP3 (Brecon Beacons National Park) seek to protect the OUV of the BILWHS and its setting 

from inappropriate development. Such is the national importance of the World Heritage Sites, 

that large parts of these Sites are typically also protected by scheduling, listing or conservation 

area status. Development or changes made to land and properties within World Heritage Sites 

will normally require planning consent, and may also require scheduled monument or listed 

building consent.

 Regeneration of Blaenavon Town

1.4.22 Since receiving World Heritage Status in 2000, the town of Blaenavon has enjoyed a successful 

period of heritage-led urban and environmental regeneration. Blaenavon has benefitted from 

significant capital investment over the past 16 years linked to the development of the WHS as a 

cultural tourism destination, with over £50 million of invested by the BILWHS Partnership across 

the Site. This investment has not only delivered substantial improvements and encouraged new 

businesses to locate to the town, but has also resulted in significant heritage benefits for the 

BILWHS.

1.4.23 However, there remains a number of key challenges for the future well-being and sustainability 

of the Blaenavon community. These include:

• Global, national and local economic trends pose difficult challenges for local businesses 

and the confidence of private investors; further investment in the town is essential if it is to 

realise its full potential.

• Declining town centre footfall, a poor diversity of businesses and services, and the town 

lacking the vibrancy in terms of trade that regular footfall provides.

Page 142



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 22 -

• Employment opportunities remain limited with transport links compounding opportunities.

• Registered Social Landlords continue to experience difficulties in encouraging take up of 

their properties in the town, citing poor perceptions of the town, its services, facilities and 

accessibility as key constraints.

• Poor condition of key properties and some areas of the public realm that detract from the 

historic and architectural character of the Blaenavon townscape.

• Finding sustainable uses for vacant historic buildings at risk (such as Ty Mawr19).

 Torfaen and Monmouthshire Well-Being Assessments

1.4.24 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires Public Services Boards 

(PSBs) to undertake an integrated assessment of social, economic, environmental and cultural 

well-being for communities in their areas. PSBs must use the well-being assessment to plan 

how they will maximise their contribution to the seven well-being goals. The Torfaen and 

Monmouthshire PSBs have undertaken Well-Being Assessments of the strengths and assets 

of communities within the BILWHS, which identify opportunities for improving well-being 

alongside consideration of the long-term challenges and risks facing these communities (see 

Appendix D for details).

1.4.25 A clear message from the surveys undertaken to inform the 2017 Torfaen Well-being Assessment 

is that the people of Blaenavon want to live in communities that are prosperous with well 

supported local businesses; they want their area to be clean and tidy so that they can feel proud 

to live there; and they want their children to grow up in a safe environment with low crime 

rates. Responses from the Our Monmouthshire engagement process undertaken to inform the 

2017 Monmouthshire Well-being Assessment demonstrate the importance of the landscape 

and countryside within the northern part of the WHS to people’s lifestyles, along with the area 

having a strong sense of community - including a vibrant and varied voluntary sector working 

in the environmental and sustainability field.

19Ty Mawr is a former ironmasters mansion also known as Blaenavon House. Currently derelict, the building’s most recent use was as a nursing 

home called the Beeches

Page 143



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 23 -

 Management of the Landscape

1.4.26 Management of the Site’s upland landscape remains a key challenge for the future. There has 

been deterioration in the condition of some elements of the relict landscape and scheduled/

listed features that are not in the ownership or control of the local authorities. For example, 

this includes the powder house, erosion on the dyne steel incline due to anti-social behaviour 

and lack of effective surface water management in the upland landscape, and inappropriate 

vegetation encroachment

1.4.27 The Forgotten Landscapes Project was a landscape-scale initiative funded by the Heritage Lottery 

Fund and Welsh Government, which delivered landscape (natural and built environment), 

education, access and training benefits for management of common land in upland areas 

within and around the BILWHS between 2010 and 2015 (see Figure 7). There is a requirement 

to sustain project benefits over a further 5-year period to 2020, and a legacy study20 was 

commissioned to explore options for creating a commons based legacy enterprise as part of a 

wider mix of income generation opportunities.

 City Deal for the Cardiff Capital Region

1.4.28 The UK Government has recently agreed a £1.2 billion City Deal for the Cardiff Capital Region 

in partnership with the Welsh Government and ten local authorities across South East Wales. 

The vision for the Cardiff Capital Region is to ‘Work together to improve the lives of people in 

all our communities. We will maximise opportunity for all and ensure we secure sustainable 

economic growth for future generations’.

1.4.29 The City Deal presents a unique opportunity for the ten local authority areas to come together 

to develop and deliver a strategic approach to housing, regeneration and economic growth 

which will create an accessible, liveable, ‘work life integrated’ and highly connected Capital 

Region. Within this context, the Capital Region will work to ensure that relevant business 

support and promotional activities are delivered at the Capital Region level. Local resources 

will be aligned to create an Integrated Delivery Unit, which will deliver regionally significant 

aspects of economic development (including business development, marketing, tourism and 

inward investment). Opportunities therefore exist to maximise the position of the BILWHS as a 

cultural tourism destination within the context of the Cardiff Capital Region.

20Beyond Forgotten Landscapes – a Legacy Study (Commons Vision Ltd and University of Gloucestershire for Torfaen County Borough Council 

on behalf of the Forgotten Landscape Project, Consultation Draft, November 2013)

Page 144



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 24 -

2.0 OUTSTANDING UNIVERSAL VALUE OF THE WORLD HERITAGE SITE

2.1 Introduction

2.1.1 This section presents the OUV of the BILWHS - the reason for which the Blaenavon Industrial 

Landscape has been inscribed as a WHS - and identifies the attributes and components of 

the Site’s OUV that need to be protected for future generations. Policies for the protection, 

conservation, presentation and transmission of the tangible and intangible components of the 

attributes which express the Site’s OUV are identified under the four themes in Sections 4.0, 

5.0, 6.0 and 7.0.

2.1.2 To sustain the OUV of the BILWHS, it is necessary to protect and conserve all the attributes of 

OUV which contribute towards it. Additionally, there are a number of other values and qualities 

of the Site (such as nature conservation and amenity values) which need to be managed and/

or enhanced as described in the 2011-2016 Management Plan. In the context of this Plan, 

‘conservation’ includes not only ensuring the physical survival of the industrial archaeology 

and buildings, and/or the improvement of their condition, but also enhancing their landscape 

setting, increasing biodiversity and improving the interpretation and understanding of the 

Blaenavon Industrial Landscape as an ‘outstanding and remarkably complete example of a 

19th century industrial landscape’.

2.1.3 A detailed description of the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape and its historical development 

can be found in the 2011-2016 Management Plan. This should be read in conjunction this 

Management Plan to gain a full understanding of the history of the Site.

2.1.4 Blaenavon is increasingly becoming an important place to study the industrial revolution 

for historians, archaeologists and town planners. A bibliography listing the key archives and 

repositories, reports, essays, books and studies about the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape can 

be found on the Visit Blaenavon website21. Continued research into all aspects of the WHS will 

be fundamental to increasing our understanding, informing appropriate future management 

and enhancing its interpretation.

21-http://www.visitblaenavon.co.uk/en/Publications/Blaenavon-Story/Bibliography-and-Further-Reading.pdf

Page 145



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 25 -

2.2 Statement of Outstanding Universal Value

2.2.1 Every World Heritage Site has a Statement of Outstanding Universal Value approved by 

UNESCO. In 2013, the UNESCO World Heritage Committee retrospectively approved a 

Statement of Outstanding Universal Value for the BILWHS22. The Statement of Outstanding 

Universal Value (Box 2.1) provides a clear understanding of the reasons why the Blaenavon 

Industrial Landscape has been inscribed as a WHS and what needs to be protected and 

managed to sustain its OUV, integrity and authenticity for the long term.

Box 2.1 - Statement of Outstanding Universal Value for BILWHS

‘The area around Blaenavon is evidence of the pre-eminence of South Wales as the world’s 

major producer of iron and coal in the 19th century. All the necessary elements can still be 

seen - coal and ore mines, quarries, a primitive railway system, furnaces, workers’ homes, 

and the social infrastructure of their community.

Brief synthesis

The landscape of Blaenavon, at the upper end of the Afon Llwyd valley in South Wales, 

provides exceptional testimony to the area’s international importance in iron making and 

coal mining in the late 18th and the early 19th century. The parallel development of these 

industries was one of the principal dynamic forces of the Industrial Revolution.

The major preserved sites of Blaenavon Ironworks and Big Pit, together with the outstanding 

relict landscape of mineral exploitation, manufacturing, transport, and settlement which 

surrounds them, provide an extraordinarily comprehensive picture of all the crucial elements 

of the industrialisation process: coal and ore mines, quarries, a primitive railway system 

and canal, furnaces, workers’ homes, and the social infrastructure of the early industrial 

community. The area reflects the pre-eminence of South Wales in the production of iron, 

steel and coal in the 19th century.

The Blaenavon Ironworks (circa 1789) provided the main impetus for mineral workings and 

settlement. The remains of the late 18th century furnaces, together with later 19th century 

furnaces, are the best preserved of its period in the United Kingdom. Beside the furnaces, 

two of the original casting houses can still be seen. Above the furnaces is a range of ruined 

kilns in which iron ore was calcined or roasted. The remains of the original workers’ housing 

provided on site can still be seen around the original base of the massive chimney to the 

blowing engine house, and the cast-iron pillars and brackets which carried blast pipes to the 

furnaces still survive. The iconic water balance tower of 1839 is an excellent example of lift 

technology using water to counter-balance loads.

The Big Pit was the last deep coal mine to work in the Blaenavon area, and the surface 

buildings, including the winding gear, remain almost exactly as they were when coal 

production ceased in 1980. The underground workings are still in excellent condition and 

can be seen on guided tours.

22http://whc.unesco.org/en/list/984

Page 146



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 26 -

The Blaenavon landscape reflects ways in which all the raw materials necessary for making 

iron were obtained. The landscape includes coal, iron ore, fireclay and limestone workings 

and transport systems including a primitive iron-railed railway, leading to the canal and later 

steam railway tracks which were used for the import and export of materials.

The landscape also reflects the development of early industrial society. Close to the 

Ironworks and Big Pit is the town of Blaenavon, the best preserved iron town of its period 

in the United Kingdom. Here can be seen the terraced housing of the workers. Overall the 

town reflects powerfully the distinctive culture that had developed in ironworking and coal-

mining areas of the South Wales Valleys and provides a complete picture of patronage and 

the social structure of the community. Notable buildings include St. Peter’s Church, built 

by the ironmasters in 1804; the Blaenavon Workmen’s Hall, built by workers’ subscriptions 

in 1894; and St. Peter’s School, built by the ironmaster’s sister, Sarah Hopkins, in 1816. 

The school has been restored as the United Kingdom’s first dedicated World Heritage 

Interpretation Centre.

Taking all these elements together, the property provides one of the prime areas in the world 

where the full social, economic and technological process of industrialisation through iron 

and coal production can be studied and understood.

Criterion (iii): The Blaenavon Landscape constitutes an exceptional illustration in material 

form of the social and economic structure of 19th century industry.

Criterion (iv): The components of the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape together make up 

an outstanding and remarkably complete example of a 19th century industrial landscape.

Integrity

The boundary of the World Heritage property encompasses the major monuments, the 

mining settlement as well as the surrounding valley landscape with its extensive remains 

of coal and ore mining, quarrying, primitive iron railways, and canals and thus includes all 

the key attributes of this early industrial period during the formative years of the Industrial 

Revolution. Many of the attributes were vulnerable as a result due to the lack of conservation 

at the time of inscription. Extensive conservation work has since been undertaken at 

the Ironworks, Big Pit, the settlement of Blaenavon and in the landscape. All work has 

been undertaken with the benefit of research and in the context of conservation plans. A 

programme of continuing conservation of the wider landscape is now being undertaken.

The landscape includes new settlements surrounding the mining town and this is highly 

visible from higher ground surrounding the town. Therefore any further new development 

needs to be controlled so as to ensure that the essential values and the important views of 

the property are not diminished. There is no buffer zone and the setting could be vulnerable 

to the re-use of spoil heaps, open-cast mining proposals, wind farms and other interventions. 

However, to date, such proposals have been successfully resisted in accordance with agreed 

planning policy.

Authenticity

The key attributes are clearly visible. The relationship between the main monuments (the 

Blaenavon Ironworks and Big Pit), the historic transportation infrastructure, the settlement 

Page 147



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 27 -

pattern and the extensive derelict mineral workings can be appreciated, studied and 

understood. The main heritage features remain in a remarkably complete condition. These 

substantial and interrelated remains provide opportunities to comprehend the complex 

process of industrialisation through iron and coal production and the development of 

industrial society during the early formative years of the Industrial Revolution. Nevertheless 

the overall ensemble is vulnerable to development that might intrude upon its readability.

To ensure the effective after use and sustainable future for monuments and buildings and to 

make the presentation and interpretation of the property effective it has been necessary in 

some situations to provide additional structures or to make minor adaptation to the historic 

fabric. In such cases the work has been carried out in accordance with agreed conservation 

plans and the changes and additions can be clearly identified.

Protection and Management Requirements

A comprehensive system of statutory control operates under the provisions of the Town and 

Country Planning Act (1980) and the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas 

Act, 1990). A network of strategic policies is also in place to protect the property in the Local 

Development Plans of the Torfaen County Borough Council, the Brecon Beacons National 

Park Authority and the Monmouthshire County Council. These are the local authorities with 

statutory planning responsibility for their respective areas within the property.’

There are 24 Scheduled Ancient Monuments (SAM) and 82 buildings or structures on the 

national List of Buildings of Special Architectural or Historic Interest (Listed Buildings). There 

are two conservation areas within the property, the Blaenavon Town Centre and Cwmavon, 

and a further conservation area is currently proposed for Forgeside and Glantorfaen. These 

provide local protection. The main monuments and buildings in the site are within public 

ownership.

Property management is guided by a Management Plan. The original Plan has been 

completed (in terms of projects) and has been superseded by a periodically revised Plan. 

This plan contains the programme of continuing conservation and protection, including a 

proposed buffer zone which is expected to be considered within the plan period.

There is a need to promote the wider understanding of the scope and extent of the property, 

and its inter-related attributes. A World Heritage Centre was opened in 2008 which enables 

visitors to access and understand the World Heritage property both intellectually and 

physically.

Tourism and visitor management is directed by the Management Plan. This plan contains 

key management objectives for the promotion, appropriate access and visitor management.

Overall management responsibility for the Property and for delivering the Plan is through the 

Blaenavon Partnership which brings together a number of local authorities, Welsh Assembly 

Government Agencies and other bodies under the leadership of Torfaen County Borough Council.

The partnership engages with the wider community, maintaining regular contact with 

Blaenavon Town Council, voluntary groups, business leaders, residents and the local tourist 

association. To ensure effective stakeholder participation within the open landscape, a 

Commons Forum has been established.

Page 148



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 28 -

There is a need to ensure continuing effective development control within the property 

and its setting in order that any development does not impact adversely on the relationship 

between attributes and the surrounding landscape in terms of the integrity of the property 

and its ability, as a cultural landscape, to convey its Outstanding Universal Value.’

2.3 Attributes of the World Heritage Site

2.3.1 The attributes and components which express the OUV of the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape 

(the reason for which the Site was inscribed) have been identified based on the approved 

SoOUV. These are illustrated on Figure 4 and the attributes are described in Appendix E.

2.3.2 Many of the tangible components of the attributes which express the OUV of the Blaenavon 

Industrial Landscape are designated as Scheduled Monuments, Listed Buildings and 

Conservation Areas. These are shown on Figure 5.

2.3.3 Policies for the protection, conservation, presentation and transmission of the tangible and 

intangible components of the attributes which express the Site’s OUV are identified under the 

four themes in Sections 4.0, 5.0, 6.0 and 7.0.

Page 149



July 2018
11125801-MP-Fg-F-07-18.indd

BLAENAVON INDUSTRIAL LANDSCAPE 
WORLD HERITAGE SITE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2017-2022

BLAENAVON WORLD HERITAGE SITE PARTNERSHIP

FIGURE 4
ATTRIBUTES & COMPONENTS OF THE SITE’S 

OUTSTANDING UNIVERSAL VALUE

 

UNESCO Criteria for Inscription 

 

The area around Blaenavon bears eloquent and exceptional 
testimony to the pre-eminence of South Wales as the world’s 
major producer of iron and coal in the 19th century. All the 
necessary elements can be seen in situ – coal and ore mines, 
quarries, a primitive railway system, furnaces, the homes of 

the workers, and the social infrastructure of their 
community 

 
UNESCO – Blaenavon Industrial Landscape – A Cultural Landscape 

 

iii) To bear a unique or at least exceptional 
testimony to a cultural tradition or to a 
civilization which is living or which has 

disappeared 
 

 The Blaenavon Landscape constitutes an 
exceptional illustration in material form of the 
social and economic structure of 19th century 

industry 

 
 

(iv) To be an outstanding example of a type of 
building, architectural or technological ensemble 

or landscape which illustrates (a) significant 
stage(s) in human history 

 

1. Evidence of tangible and 
intangible heritage of the 

development of early  
industrial society 

 

2. Outstanding relict 
landscape - combined 
efforts of nature and 

man 
 

3. Evidence of the area’s 
international 

importance in iron 
making and coal mining 

in the late 18th and 
early 19th century. 

 

4. Development of 
transport systems 
in the late 18th and 

19th centuries 
 

TANGIBLE HERITAGE 
 

St. Peter’s Church 
 

St. Peter’s School (BWHC) 
 

The Company Shop 
 

Ty Mawr 
 

BlaenavonWorkmen’s Hall 
 

Bethlehem, Moriah, Horeb, 
Bethel, 

Zion Baptist, Wesleyan 
Methodist and  

Zion Chapel (Band Hall) 
 

Blaenavon Town Centre 
 

Workers’ Housing 
 

King Street 
 

Commercial Properties (15-19 
Broad St) 

 
 
 

INTANGIBLE HERITAGE 
 

Patronage, Philanthropy and 
Social Control in early 

Industrial Society 
 

Welsh Religious Non-
conformism in the 

Nineteenth Century 
 

Self-Improvement and 
Working Class Culture in 
Industrial Communities 

 
Political Radicalism 

 
Trade Unionism 

 
Male Voice Choirs 

 
Town Bands 

 
The Decline of the Welsh 

Language in the Nineteenth 
Century 

 
 

Pen-Ffordd-Goch 
Scouring 

 
Landscape North of 

Blaenavon Ironworks 
 

Pwll Du Limestone 
Quarry 

 
Tyla Limestone 

Quarry 
 

Big Pit National Coal 
Museum 

 
Blaenavon Ironworks 

 
Blaenavon Town 

 
Engine Pit 

 
Hill’s Tram Road 

 
Coity Tip 

 

Pen-Fford Goch Scouring 
 

Landscape North of 
Blaenavon Ironworks 

 
Pwll Du Limestone Quarry 

 
Fireclay  

 
Tyla Limestone Quarry 

 
Big Pit National Coal 

Museum 
 

Engine Pit 
 

Hill Pits 
 

Aaron Brute’s Level 
 

River Arch Level 
Blaenavon Ironworks 

 
Garn Ddyrys Forge (site 

of) 
 

Cwmavon Forge (site of) 
 

Water Management 
 

 

Hill’s Tram Road 
 
Pwll Du Tunnel 
 
Blorenge Tunnel 
 
Llanfoist Incline 
 
Llanfoist Wharf 
 
Govilon Wharf 
 
Monmouthshire & 
Brecon Canal 
 
Dyne-Steel Incline 
 
Iron Bridge near  
Aaron Brute’s Level 
 
Various remains of 
primitive railways 
 
Original Steam 
Railway 1856 

 

The components of the Blaenavon Landscape 
together make up an outstanding and 

remarkably complete example of a 19th 
century industrial landscape 

 

Blaenavon WHS Attributes and Components 
 

O
 U

 V 
Attributes 

Com
ponents 

P
age 150



BLAENAVON INDUSTRIAL LANDSCAPE 
WORLD HERITAGE SITE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2017-2022

BLAENAVON WORLD HERITAGE SITE PARTNERSHIP
July 2018
11125801-MP-Fg-F-07-18.indd

Based upon the Ordnance Survey Map with the permission of the controller of H.M Stationery Office. © Crown Copyright Licence number :- 100017241 | Contains public sector information licensed under the Open Government Licence v2.0

FIGURE 5
HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT ASSETS

0 1 20.5 Kilometers

Iron and coal patching at 
Pen-ffordd-goch, Blaenafon

Limekiln and Quarries at 
Craig-yr-Hafod

Blaenavon Upper 
Brick Yard

Carn-y-Defaid Round Cairns

Pwll Du Tramroad Tunnel 
Southern Approach

Brake Engine on 
Hill Pits Tramroad 
Incline

Coal and Iron Ore Workings 
West of Abergavenny Road, 
Blaenavon

Dyne Steel Incline

Pwll Du Limestone Quarry 
& Water Balance Lift

Pwll Du Tramroad Tunnel Northern 
Entrances & Site of Lower Rank

Garnddyrys Ironworks (Site 
of) and adjacent Tramway

Blaenavon 
Ironworks

Coity Sandstone 
Quarry and Incline

Engine Pit, 
Blaenavon

Ironstone Quarries at 
Carreg Maen Taro

Cairn on the Blorenge

Capel Newydd, 
Blaenavon (site of)

Old Coal Pits, 
Blaenavon

Hill’s Tramroad 
Inclines, Llanfoist

Aaron Brute’s Level 
and Iron Bridge

Blorenge Quarries Tramroad

Blorenge Tunnel, 
Hill’s Tramroad

See Inset

##
##

##########
####

####

##

####
#### ##

##

##

############
## ##

##

##

0 0.1 0.20.05 Kilometers

Listed Buildings  
in Blaenavon Town Centre (Grade):
1. Chain Store (II)
2. Calcining Kilns (II)
3. Blast Furnaces (I)]
4. Storage Shed and Attached Chimney (II)
5. Pay Office (II)
6. Gilchrist Memorial (II)
7. The Beeches Nursing Home (Ty Mawr) (II)
8. Workmen’s Hall and Institute (II)
9. Former St. Peter’s Boys’ School (II)
10. Former St. Peter’s Infant School (II)
11. Former St. Peter’s School (II*)
12. St. Peter’s Church (II*)
13. Group of Five Tombs in the Churchyard 
to south of St Peter’s Church (II)
14. Post Office (II)

15. Balance Tower (I)
16. Cast House and Foundry (I)
17. Stack Square (II)
18. Council Offices (Municipal Offices) (II)
19. Bethlehem Congregational Church (II)
20. Former School-room to rear of chapel (II)
21. Blaenavon Evangelical Church (Moriah 
Chapel) (II)
22. War Memorial (II)
23. 15-19, Broad Street (II)
24. Horeb Baptist Church (II)

1
2

3
4

5

6

7

8
9

10
11

12
13

14
24

21
22

23

18
19

20

15

16

17

KEY

Scheduled Ancient Monument

Listed Building

Conservation Area

Blaenavon Registered 
Landscape of Outstanding 
Historic Interest

Clydach Gorge Registered 
Landscape of Special Historic 
Interest

Blaenavon Industrial Landscape 
World Heritage Site

N

0 600 Metres300

Page 151



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 29 -

3.0 VISION AND MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

3.1 Introduction

3.1.1 This section of the Plan presents the overall vision for the BILWHS, together with overarching 

principles for guiding the long-term management of the Site. It also sets out short-, medium- 

and long-term objectives for protecting, conserving and presenting the tangible and intangible 

attributes which express the OUV of the BILWHS as described in Section 2.0. The management 

objectives reflect the key threats and risks to the OUV, integrity and authenticity of the Site. 

One of the most important priorities is protecting the WHS from inappropriate development.

3.2 Vision and Overarching Principles

 Vision for the BILWHS

3.2.1 Since receiving World Heritage Site Status in 2000, Blaenavon has enjoyed a successful 

period of urban and environmental regeneration. The area has benefitted from significant 

capital investment over the past 16 years linked to the development of the WHS as a cultural 

tourism destination, with over £50 million of invested by the Partnership across the Site. This 

investment has delivered substantial improvements and encouraged new businesses to locate 

in the BILWHS. However, current global, national and local economic trends pose difficult 

challenges for local businesses and the confidence of private investors. Further investment in, 

and sustainable management of, both the town and rural communities within the BILWHS is 

essential if the area is to realise its full potential.

3.2.2 Looking to the future, the primary aim of the Blaenavon World Heritage Site Partnership is to 

maintain momentum and build upon the success achieved to date in heritage-led regeneration. 

This aim will be pursued in line with the Partnership’s long-term vision for the BILWHS 

(see Box 3.1).

Box 3.1 – Vision for the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape World Heritage Site

The Blaenavon Industrial Landscape is cared for and presented so that future generations 

may understand the outstanding universal contribution South Wales made to the Industrial 

Revolution through exploring, enjoying and learning, thereby contributing to the economic, 

social, environmental and cultural well-being and prosperity of its communities.

Page 152



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 30 -

 Overarching Principles for the Management of the BILWHS

3.2.3 Reflecting national guidance23 and the strategic policy context for World Heritage Sites in Wales, 

the Partnership will adopt the overarching principles for guiding the long-term management of 

the BILWHS set out in Box 3.2.

Box 3.2 – Overarching Principles for Management of the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape

•  Active conservation - The Partnership’s overriding aim and purpose is to protect and 

conserve the tangible and intangible heritage of the BILWHS that is of outstanding 

universal value for current and future generations.

•  Ways of working - The Partnership will employ the five ways of working set out by 

the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act (long-term, prevention, integration, 

collaboration and involvement), ensuring, as far as practicable, that our policies are 

evidence-based.

•  Representation - The Partnership will ensure it is representative of the people who live 

in, work in or have a role to play in managing the BILWHS.

•  Community engagement and learning - The Partnership will aim to involve all parts of 

the local and wider community at every level of activity, using that activity to promote 

the acquisition of skills, knowledge, experience and confidence.

•  Sustainable planning and management - In taking care of the Site, the Partnership will 

consider the interests of the current population and the natural, built and social heritage, 

but not at the expense of passing on that rich heritage to future generations.

•  Awareness raising - The Partnership will explain what the outstanding universal value 

of the BILWHS is to local people, visitors and decision makers in order that they fully 

understand those values and have the confidence to explain it to others.

•  Creation and use of the appropriate legislative framework and guidance - The 

Partnership will develop and use legislation, regulations and guidance to ensure the 

Site is protected for future generations, while doing its best to ensure local people enjoy 

safe, prosperous and healthy lives within a thriving landscape.

•  Sustainable tourism and destination management - The Partnership will aim to bring 

appreciation and enjoyment of the BILWHS to as wide an audience as practicable, 

encouraging visitors to visit the Site, but not at the expense of local communities or the 

long-term conservation of the natural, built or social heritage.

•  Economic regeneration - The Partnership appreciates that economic prosperity 

underpins the sustainability of the local community, and its ability to maintain and 

conserve the natural, built and social heritage assets of the BILWS. However, economic 

prosperity will be achieved through, and not at the expense of, the heritage assets that 

the Partnership seeks to conserve.

23Managing Change in World Heritage Sites in Wales (Welsh Government, 2017)

Page 153



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 31 -

3.3 Management Objectives

 Short-Term Objectives

3.3.1 In the short-term (over the next 1-2 years), the priorities for management of the BILWHS are to:

 Governance and Management of the World Heritage Site

• Align the Torfaen and Monmouthshire Well-Being Plans (due to be published by the 

respective PSB’s in 2018) with the Management Plan’s vision and policies for the BILWHS.

• Implement the actions in the Action Plan, monitor progress and review the Action Plan as 

necessary.

• Monitor and manage risks to the tangible and intangible heritage components of the Site’s 

OUV.

 Caring for the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape

• Improve the condition of key properties and the public realm that detract from the historic 

and architectural character of the Blaenavon townscape.

• Secure a sustainable future for the derelict Ty Mawr building by finding funding for its 

restoration or a commercial/social entrepreneur to provide investment to bring it back into 

an economically viable new use.

• Implement recommendations of The Forgotten Landscapes Project Legacy Study24 to 

sustain the landscape (natural and built environment) and training benefits of common land 

management within the BILWHS, including harnessing of local renewable energy.

• Align the Biodiversity and Ecosystem Resilience Forward Plans for Torfaen and Monmouthshire 

and NRW Area Statements with the Management Plan’s vision and policies for the BILWHS.

• Consider options for a proposed Buffer Zone for the BILWHS or other defined setting for the 

Site to ensure that potential threats from inappropriate development in the setting of the Site 

to its OUV are adequately controlled by effective Local Development Plan Policies.

• Influence Welsh Government’s current ‘Future Landscapes Wales’ consultation on potential 

new sustainable land management schemes to also apply to World Heritage Sites in Wales.

24 Beyond Forgotten Landscapes – a Legacy Study (Commons Vision Ltd and University of Gloucestershire for Torfaen County Borough Council 
on behalf of the Forgotten Landscape Project, Consultation Draft, November 2013)

Page 154



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 32 -

 Exploring and Enjoying the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape

• Undertake visitor research to understand the profiles and attitudes of users and non-users of 

the Site to inform future marketing activity.

• Deliver the BILWHS Marketing/Destination Management Plan.

• Improve the condition of key properties and some areas of the public realm to further 

improve the visitor experience and perceptions of Blaenavon.

• Implement recommendations of The Forgotten Landscapes Project Legacy Study to sustain 

the access and recreation benefits of common land management within the BILWHS.

 Learning and Community Engagement in World Heritage

• Implement recommendations of The Forgotten Landscapes Project Legacy Study to sustain 

the learning and training benefits of common land management within the BILWHS.

• Engage young people in the BILWHS through the World Heritage Youth Ambassadors 

programme.

 Medium-Term Objectives

3.3.2 In the medium-term (over the next 5 years), the priorities for management of the Site are to:

 Governance and Management of the World Heritage Site

• Implement the Action Plan, monitor progress and review the Action Plan as necessary.

• Monitor and manage risks to the tangible and intangible heritage components of the Site’s 

OUV.

• In 2022, review the current Management Plan and prepare an updated Plan for 2023-2028.

Caring for the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape

• Maintain the historic and architectural character of the Blaenavon townscape by encouraging 

greater take up of vacant properties to ensure sustainable uses of buildings.

• Implement recommendations of The Forgotten Landscapes Project Legacy Study to sustain 

the landscape (natural and built environment) and training benefits of common land 

management within the BILWHS.

• Implement post-Brexit sustainable land management schemes to help farmers/commoners 

sustain viable land management regimes.

Page 155



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 33 -

Exploring and Enjoying the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape

• Undertake marketing activity to target specific audiences and increase footfall across the 

Site, providing benefits for the local tourism economy.

• Deliver the BILWHS Marketing/Destination Management Plan.

• Further enhance the visitor experience at key heritage attractions and improve outdoor 

activity facilities/infrastructure within BILWHS.

• Work with local businesses (and potential businesses) across the Site to reinforce the 

attractiveness of the BILWHS as a destination, thereby helping realise the full potential of 

the town as the primary gateway to the Site’s industrial heritage and outdoor activities for 

visitors from the Cardiff City Region, the Brecon Beacons National Park and beyond

• Increase town centre footfall, improve the diversity of businesses/services (including visitor 

accommodation) and create a more vibrant town centre in terms of trade.

 Learning and Community Engagement in World Heritage

• Engage young people in the BILWHS through the World Heritage Youth Ambassadors 

programme.

• Support the work of the Blaenavon World Heritage Environment Group.

• Support the many chapels and churches whose congregations are dwindling but whose 

buildings are part of OUV.

 Long-Term Objectives

3.3.3 In the longer-term, the Partnership’s aspiration is to continue improving the environmental, 

cultural, social and economic well-being of the BILWHS by:

 Governance and Management of the World Heritage Site

• In line with the Welsh Government’s Partnership for Growth Strategy, ensuring that further 

investment in the town and connectivity infrastructure is secured through the City Deal 

for the Cardiff Capital Region to encourage new businesses to locate in Blaenavon and 

maximise the position of the BILWHS as a cultural tourism destination.

• Monitoring and managing risks of climate change such as the effects of changing weather 

patterns on tangible heritage assets (e.g. risks to the structural integrity of the Monmouthshire 

& Brecon Canal and tips; reducing water loss; upland landscape and commons management 

changes; and maintaining habitat integrity).

Page 156



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 34 -

 Caring for the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape

• Supporting a thriving and viable local heritage management sector for the conservation of 

historic buildings, structures and landscapes in the BILWHS through training in management 

and maintenance skills.

• Achieving more sustainable management of common land within the BILWHS as a legacy 

from The Forgotten Landscapes Project.

 Exploring and Enjoying the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape

• Continuing to promote the BILWHS as a unique destination for exploring and enjoying the 

area’s outstanding industrial heritage and outdoor activities.

 Learning and Community Engagement in World Heritage

• Encouraging greater community engagement through growing and sustaining volunteering 

activity related to the care and enjoyment of the BILWHS.

• Increasing the number of local residents and businesses who can explain what the OUV of 

the BILWHS is to visitors and decision-makers.

Page 157



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 35 -

4.0 GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT OF THE WORLD HERITAGE SITE

4.1 Introduction

4.1.1 A key aim of the Partnership is to work collaboratively to ensure effective governance and 

management arrangements are in place to protect, conserve, present and transmit the 

Outstanding Universal Value of the BILWHS for the benefit of current and future generations. 

In pursuing this aim, the Partnership will adopt the principles for governance and management 

of the BILWHS set out in Box 4.1.

Box 4.1 – Principles for Governance and Management of the World Heritage Site

The Partnership will work collaboratively to:

• Fulfil the obligations of the World Heritage Convention to protect, conserve and 

present the OUV of the BILWHS and its transmission to future generations in line 

with UNESCO’s policy and goals for how World Heritage Sites can contribute towards 

sustainable development.

• Fulfil the obligations of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 to 

improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of the BILWHS in 

accordance with the Act’s five ways of working, seven goals and sustainable development 

principle.

• Maintain an effective management framework for the BILWHS through the collaborative 

production, adoption and implementation, and regular review, of a consensus-based 

Management Plan involving all key stakeholders.

• Maintain effective governance arrangements for the management of the BILWHS to 

include stakeholder representation from key partners, major land owners, managers and 

communities, supported by a dedicated WHS Co-ordinator.

4.1.2 The main issues around the governance and management theme are:

• The Partnership’s Governance Structure

• Risk Management and Emergency Preparedness

• Information Management and Monitoring

4.1.3 The needs and opportunities related to governance and management of the BILWHS are 

identified below. Policies for the overall protection, conservation, presentation and transmission 

of the Site’s OUV through effective governance and management of the WHS are also identified 

for each issue.

Page 158



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 36 -

4.1.4 The policies are supported by a list of related actions for projects and activities to be explored 

and delivered by partners over the plan period (details of lead partners, likely phasing, possible 

sources of funding and outcomes/indicators can be found in the Action Plan in Section 8.0).

4.2 The Partnership’s Governance Structure

 Needs

4.2.1 The current governance and management of the BILWHS continues to follow the successful 

model approved on inscription of the Site in 2000 - comprising of a Board, a Steering Group 

and working groups. The original management structure approved in 2000 comprised of 3 

working groups. As part of the 2011 review and update, this was updated to the present 6 

working groups.

4.2.2 The World Heritage Site Partnership currently comprises a Board, a Steering Group and six 

working groups:

1. Education and Interpretation Working Group

2. Marketing and Promotion Working Group

3. The Landscape and Access Working Group

4. The Historic Environment Working Group

5. The Natural Environment Working Group

6. Town Centre Working Group.

4.2.3 Direct responsibility for managing the main heritage assets lies in the hands of certain 

organisations - such as Cadw (Blaenavon Ironworks), Amgueddfa Cymru-National Museum 

Wales (Big Pit National Coal Museum), the Canal & River Trust (Monmouthshire & Brecon 

Canal), Torfaen County Borough Council (Blaenavon World Heritage Centre, the Workmen’s 

Hall and elsewhere). Further to this, Cadw and Torfaen County Borough Council have roles in 

regulating certain assets.

4.2.4 The Board gives crucial oversight and commitment at the highest level of the partner 

organisations, while the Steering Group considers strategic issues in greater detail and the 

six working groups deal with management issues thematically. The partnership also receives 

support through its relationships with ICOMOS UK, World Heritage UK and other World 

Heritage sites. The 2013 UNESCO Periodic Review identified that coordination between the 

parties involved in managing the Site was excellent.

Page 159



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 37 -

4.2.5 The six working groups under the Board and Steering Group have operated successfully but 

given declining public sector resources it has been increasingly challenging to sustain meetings 

and associated commitments. There is therefore a need to consider ways of streamlining the 

activities of the working groups so as to maintain effectiveness

4.2.6 There is a concern that the local community is insufficiently engaged or represented in the 

Partnership. This can be perceived locally as a lack of transparency, and potentially result in 

the loss of opportunities for better site management and community well-being. The perceived 

lack of communication and engagement with the commoners is of particular concern given 

that they are the main long-term managers of the upland landscape.

4.2.7 There is also a need to maintain effective contacts with ICOMOS UK, World Heritage UK and 

other World Heritage Sites both in Wales and elsewhere.

 Opportunities

4.2.8 While the management structure as a whole has generally been fit for purpose, there are 

opportunities to further enhance the effectiveness of the Partnership’s governance arrangements. 

The revised BILWHS Partnership Management Structure agreed by the Steering Group is set out 

in Appendix G.

4.2.9 The legacy of the Forgotten Landscapes Project, the success of the Community Museum and the 

Blaenavon World Heritage Environment Group, and the establishment of the Youth Ambassadors 

have created opportunities to engage the community more directly in the management of the 

WHS.

 Policies and Actions

Policy 1.1: Maintain a management structure for the Partnership that is effective in 

protecting the OUV of the BILWHS and engages the local community in decision-making.

Actions:

1.1.1 Implement streamlining of the Working Groups structure.

1.1.2  Maintain effective contacts with ICOMOS UK, World Heritage UK and other 

World Heritage sites.

Page 160



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 38 -

4.3 Risk Management. Emergency Preparedness and Monitoring

 Needs

4.3.1 The separate owners of the principal heritage assets operate site-specific risk registers, means 

of managing risks and planning for disasters, while the overall risk of loss of WHS status is 

reviewed by Torfaen County Borough Council as the lead authority. However, risk management 

is not carried out for the landscape and its diverse assets. There is a need for the Steering Group 

to consider periodically the high-level risks to the assets of BILWHS and how they may be 

mitigated. Action is therefore needed to improve the coordination of condition reporting and 

of risk management.

4.3.2 While the 2013 UNESCO Periodic Review concluded that the OUV of the BILWHS has been 

maintained by the Partnership and that its condition is intact, the review highlighted a number 

of risk factors affecting the OUV of the Site that will require monitoring and management over 

the plan period (see Table 4.1)

Table 4.1: Summary of Risk Factors affecting the BILWHS (as at 2013)

Factor Spatial Scale Temporal 
Scale

Impact Management 
Response

Trend

Renewable 
Energy Facilities 
(wind turbines)

Restricted
(less than 
10% of site)

One off or 
rare

Minor High 
Capacity

Increasing

Water 
(erosion damage 
caused by 
surface water 
run off)

Restricted
(less than 
10% of site)

On going Minor Medium 
capacity

Increasing

Illegal activities 
(vehicle off-
roading in the 
landscape)

Extensive
(51 – 90% of 
site

Frequent Significant Medium 
capacity

Decreasing

Deliberate 
Destruction of 
Heritage 
(fire caused by 
arson)

Localised 
(11 – 50% of 
site)

Intermittent 
or sporadic

Minor Medium 
capacity

Static

Hyper-Abundant 
Species 
(bracken in the 
landscape)

Localised 
(11–50% of 
site)

On going Minor Medium 
capacity

Increasing

Page 161



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 39 -

4.3.3 Effective monitoring is carried out on the state of conservation of the principal assets within 

the BILWHS by their respective owners. In addition, Cadw field monument wardens undertake 

monitoring of Scheduled Monuments within the WHS on a regular cycle and a broad overview 

of the condition of Listed Buildings is provided through the Cadw 5-year Buildings at Risk 

survey programme. There is a need to ensure that all components and landscape areas are 

assessed (including those in private ownership); key performance indicators established for 

monitoring the Site as a whole; and for information to be brought together systematically in 

such a way as to inform effective monitoring by the Partnership.

 Opportunities

4.3.4 In order to improve the coordination of condition reporting and of risk management, a 

combined condition report should be created to identify the state of conservation of heritage 

assets against which changes can be monitored and measured, based on existing condition 

reporting methodologies within the site and models at other World Heritage Sites. Additionally, 

a combined register of high-level risks focused on OUV should be maintained to act as an 

additional tool in site-wide coordination and ensure that all key assets are subject to risk 

management and disaster planning. Both the risk register and condition monitoring should 

draw upon information already collected by partner organisations for their own heritage assets.

4.3.5 The Partnership is in an ideal position to coordinate the existing mechanisms by which partners 

separately monitor the condition of the Site’s tangible and intangible heritage as identified 

on Figure 4. The current scheme involving volunteers undertaking active recording work to 

monitor the condition of historic assets provides considerable opportunities that could be used 

to drive initiatives over the lifetime of this Plan. With appropriate support, this programme of 

monitoring has considerable potential as a very direct way of involving local communities and 

people in the long-term management of the WHS.

4.3.6 The Partnership will use the key indicators set out in Table 4.3 for monitoring the performance 

of the Management Plan in achieving the continued effective protection, conservation, 

presentation and transmission of the Site’s OUV over the plan period (2018-2023).

Page 162



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 40 -

 Table 4.3 – Key Monitoring Indicators

INDICATOR RESPONSIBILITIES/ACTIVITIES  

Governance and Management of the World Heritage Site

Annual review of action plan by the BILWHS 
Partnership’s Steering Group.

Completion of actions recorded; creation of new 
actions to achieve objectives/policies.

Caring for the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape 

Number and condition of Scheduled Monuments 
in the BILWHS, including number of monuments 
at risk.

Cadw annual and quinquennial inspections.

Number and condition of Listed Buildings in the 
BILWHS, including number of buildings at risk. 

Annual review undertaken by Cadw in conjunction 
with local planning authorities.

Number of scheduled monument consent 
applications within the BILWHS, and outcomes.

Cadw.

Number and type of planning applications 
within the BILWHS where impact on its OUV has 
been identified as a material consideration, and 
outcomes.

Data collated by local planning authorities. 

Number and type of planning applications within 
the setting of the BILWHS where visual impact 
on its OUV has been identified as a material 
consideration, and outcomes.  

Data collated by local planning authorities. 

Expenditure on conservation and refurbishment of 
the BILWHS Components per annum.

Annual review of partner’s financial plans. 

Number, type and value of grants attracted to the 
BILWHS per annum. 

Collated from various sources (e.g. Cadw, local au-
thorities, Welsh Government).

Exploring and Enjoying the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape

Number of visits to each of the main attractions 
within the BILWHS per annum.

Recorded by partners for each attraction.

Overall number of visits to the BILWHS per 
annum.

Based on total number of visits recorded by partners 
for each attraction.

Annual visitor satisfaction and awareness surveys 
at each of the main attractions within the BILWHS.

Undertaken by partners for each attraction.

Number of publications/published articles about 
the BILWHS produced per annum.

Recorded by partners.

Learning and Community Engagement in World Heritage

Number and types of formal education events 
held in the BILWHS per annum.

Recorded by partners. 

Feedback from attendees/organisers of formal 
education events held in the BILWHS.

Recorded by partners.

Number of volunteers engaged in community 
activities within the BILWHS, including recording 
work to monitor condition of historic assets.

Recorded by partners.

Number and type of community events that 
promote intangible heritage and cultural traditions 
held within the BILWHS per annum.

Recorded by partners.

4.3.7 The monitoring will be undertaken on an annual basis. The results of monitoring will be 

published online on the WHS section of the VisitBlaenavon website and via social media 

channels, alongside annual updates of the Action Plans.

Page 163



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 41 -

Policies and Actions

Policy 1.2: Ensure effective condition monitoring, risk management and disaster planning 

for the site and its assets and areas.

Actions:

1.2.1   Maintain a combined condition report and register of high-level risks focused on 

OUV across the site and ensure that all key assets are subject to risk management 

and disaster planning.

1.2.2   Implement the emerging system for monitoring the condition of the BILWHS 

currently under development and being actively tested between partners 

(TCBC, BBNPA and Cadw), including the volunteer monitoring arrangements.

4.4 Contribution to Well-Being

4.4.1 The contribution of the governance and management theme to the Well-being Goals for Wales 

is summarised in Table 4.1.

 Table 4.1 – Contribution of Management Plan Theme to Well-being Goals for Wales

WELL-BEING GOALS FOR WALES CONTRIBUTION TO GOAL

Goal 6: A Wales of Vibrant Culture and 
Thriving Welsh Language – A society that 
promotes and protects culture, heritage and 
the Welsh language, and which encourages 
people to participate in the arts, and sports 
and recreation.

Effective governance and management in line 
with the principles set out in Box 4.1 will assist 
the Partnership in contributing to these well-
being goals by protecting and promoting Welsh 
culture, heritage and language represented by 
the OUV of the BILWHS.

Goal 7: A Globally Responsive Wales – A 
nation which, when doing anything to 
improve the economic, social, environmental 
and cultural well-being of Wales, takes 
account of whether doing such a thing may 
make a positive contribution to global well-
being.

4.4.2 This theme also makes a contribution to the relevant local Well-being Objectives for Torfaen 

and Monmouthshire as summarised in Table 4.2.

Page 164



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 42 -

 Table 4.2 – Contribution of Management Plan Theme to Local Well-being Objectives

 Governance & Management

LOCAL WELL-BEING OBJECTIVES CONTRIBUTION TO OBJECTIVE
Effective governance and management of 
the BILWHS in line with the principles set 
out in Box 4.1 will assist the Partnership in 
contributing to this well-being objective by:

Torfaen Public Service Board25

1. Develop a functional, connected 
network of natural areas that support the 
current and future well-being needs of 
local populations.

Protecting, conserving and enhancing the nat-
ural environment of upland landscapes within 
the Torfaen part of the BILWHS.

2 Develop adaptation and mitigation 
responses to the impacts of climate change.

All partners will work together to share ex-
pertise and knowledge to develop and deliver 
mitigation responses to the impacts of climate 
change on the BILWHS.

3. Provide children and young people with 
the best possible start in life.

Providing opportunities for positive childhood 
experiences and increasing healthy 
behaviours for residents of Torfaen in relation 
to Welsh culture, heritage and language 
represented by the OUV of the BILWHS.

4. Support healthy lifestyles and enable 
people to age well.

Promoting opportunities for exploring and 
enjoying the cultural landscape; supporting 
people to live healthy and active lives where 
they can achieve their educational potential 
and become part of a healthy workforce 
contributing to wider economic wellbeing. 

5. Tackle the inter-generational patterns of 
poverty and develop economic resilience.

Providing life-long learning and engagement 
opportunities in relation to Welsh culture, 
heritage and language represented by 
the OUV of the BILWHS improving life 
opportunities for all people, allowing them to 
fulfil their potential.

6. Improve local skills through work-force 
planning, training, apprenticeships and 
volunteering opportunities. 

Provide local opportunities for volunteering, 
supporting people to learn, develop new skills 
and access employment.

7. Create safe, confident communities and 
promote community cohesion.

Provide opportunities for engagement and 
inclusion that enables equality of opportunity 
as well as promoting good relations within the 
community.

Page 165



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 43 -

LOCAL WELL-BEING OBJECTIVES CONTRIBUTION TO OBJECTIVE
Effective governance and management of 
the BILWHS in line with the principles set 
out in Box 4.1 will assist the Partnership in 
contributing to this well-being objective by:

Monmouthshire Public Service Board26

1. Provide children and young people with 
the best possible start in life. 

Providing opportunities for positive childhood 
experiences and increasing healthy 
behaviours for residents of Monmouthshire 
in relation to Welsh culture, heritage and 
language represented by the OUV of the 
BILWHS.

2. Respond to the challenges associated 
with demographic change.

Provide a long term vision and strategy 
for sustainable management of OUV for 
communities within the WHS. 

3. Protect and enhance the resilience of 
our natural environment whilst mitigating 
and adapting to the impact of climate 
change.

Protecting, conserving and enhancing 
the natural environment within the 
Monmouthshire part of the WHS. All partners 
will work together to share knowledge and 
expertise to develop and deliver mitigation 
responses to the impacts of climate change 
within the WHS.

4. Develop opportunities for communities 
and businesses to be part of an 
economically thriving and well-connected 
county. 

Promoting sustainable economic development 
opportunities for rural communities and 
businesses within the Monmouthshire part of 
the WHS.

25Well-being Plan for Torfaen 2018 – 2023
26 Monmouthshire Public Service Board Well-being Plan 2018

Page 166



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 44 -

5.0 CARING FOR THE BLAENAVON INDUSTRIAL LANDSCAPE

5.1 Introduction

5.1.1 A key aim of the Partnership is to safeguard and manage the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape 

to protect and conserve its Outstanding Universal Value, and improve the future economic, 

social, environmental and cultural well-being and sustainability of the area. In pursuing this 

aim, the Partnership will adopt the principles for caring for the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape 

set out in Box 5.1.

Box 5.1 – Principles for Caring for the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape

The Partnership will work collaboratively to:

• Fulfil the obligations of the World Heritage Convention to protect and conserve the 
OUV of the BILWHS and its transmission to future generations through sustainable 
planning and management of the Site’s historic landscape and built environment, 
including development of appropriate heritage management skills.

• Increase awareness and understanding of the reasons why the Blaenavon Industrial 
Landscape needs to be protected and managed to sustain its OUV by promoting the 
Statement of OUV to decision-makers (including national and local planning authorities 
and statutory undertakers), developers, land owners and the local community.

• Protect the OUV, integrity and authenticity of the BILWHS and its setting from 
inappropriate development by effective use of the spatial planning system to reflect 
the status of the WHS as a material consideration in the determination of planning 
applications, and inclusion of appropriate policies in Local Development Plans.

• Apply the BILWHS Design Guide27 and Cadw’s Conservation Principles28 to inform 
all development proposals and planning applications throughout the WHS in order to 
ensure good quality design and appropriate maintenance, and to assist applicants in 
demonstrating how their proposals have minimised impact on the OUV of the Site or its 
setting, including on key views from and to the Site.

• Ensure that Heritage Impact Assessments are undertaken in accordance with Cadw 
guidance29 to identify impacts of proposed developments on the Site’s OUV, integrity and 
authenticity, inform appropriate mitigation measures and to demonstrate consideration of 
alternatives.

• Protect the OUV, integrity and authenticity of the BILWHS by keeping the statutory 
designation of specific historic components within the Site under review (Listed 
Buildings, Scheduled Monuments and Conservation Areas).

• Maintain and enhance the Site’s natural resources and ecosystem services for the benefit 
of future generations by contributing to Biodiversity and Ecosystem Resilience in line 

with the duty on public bodies under Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

27BILWHS Design Guide Supplementary Planning Guidance (TCBC, April 2011)
28 Conservation Principles for the Sustainable Management of the Historic Environment in Wales (Cadw, March 2011)
29 Heritage Impact Assessment in Wales (Welsh Government, Cadw, May 2017)

Page 167



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 45 -

5.1.2 The main issues around the caring for the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape theme are:

• Protecting the Site and its Setting

• Managing the Upland Landscapes

• Enhancing the Blaenavon Townscape

• Conserving the Industrial Buildings and Infrastructure

5.1.3 The needs and opportunities related to caring for the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape are 

identified below, taking into account the needs of residents and businesses within Blaenavon, 

and its surrounding rural communities in the WHS, in relation to achieving the goals of the 

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

5.1.4 Policies for the protection and conservation of the Site’s OUV through caring for the Blaenavon 

Industrial Landscape are also identified for each issue. The policies are supported by a list of 

related actions for projects and activities to be explored and delivered by partners over the 

plan period (details of lead partners, likely phasing, possible sources of funding and outcomes/

indicators can be found in the Action Plan in Section 8.0).

5.1.5 Historic environment assets within the BILWHS are shown on Figure 5. Natural heritage assets 

within the BILWHS are shown on Figure 6. The Forgotten Landscapes Partnership Area is shown 

on Figure 7.

5.2 Protecting the Site and its Setting

 Needs

5.2.1 The WHS and its setting are afforded a high level of protection through the Town and Country 

Planning Act and the Local Development Plans of the four local planning authorities. Local 

Development Plan policies HE2 (Torfaen), LC2 (Monmouthshire) and SP3 (Brecon Beacons 

National Park) seek to protect the OUV of the BILWHS and its setting from inappropriate 

development. Specific historic assets and areas that are attributes of the Site’s OUV are 

afforded protection through statutory designation as Scheduled Monuments, Listed Buildings 

or Conservation Areas. In addition to requiring planning consent, development or changes 

made to land and properties within the BILWHS may also require Scheduled Monument, Listed 

Building or Conservation Area consent.

Page 168



BLAENAVON INDUSTRIAL LANDSCAPE 
WORLD HERITAGE SITE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2017-2022

BLAENAVON WORLD HERITAGE SITE PARTNERSHIP
July 2018
11125801-MP-Fg-F-07-18.indd

Based upon the Ordnance Survey Map with the permission of the controller of H.M Stationery Office. © Crown Copyright Licence number :- 100017241 | Contains Natural Resources Wales information © Natural Resources Wales and Database Right. All rights Reserved. Contains Ordnance Survey 
Data. Ordnance Survey Licence number 100019741. Crown Copyright and Database Right. 

FIGURE 6
NATURAL HERITAGE ASSETS

0 1 20.5 Kilometers

KEY

Special Area of Conservation

Site of Special Scientific Interest

National Nature Reserve

Local Nature Reserve

Sites of Nature Conservation Interest

Ancient Woodland

Special Landscape Areas (Torfaen)

Blaenavon Industrial Landscape 
World Heritage Site

0 600 Metres300

N

Page 169



BLAENAVON INDUSTRIAL LANDSCAPE 
WORLD HERITAGE SITE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2017-2022

BLAENAVON WORLD HERITAGE SITE PARTNERSHIP
July 2018
11125801-MP-Fg-F-07-18.indd

Based upon the Ordnance Survey Map with the permission of the controller of H.M Stationery Office. © Crown Copyright Licence number :- 100017241 | Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2017

FIGURE 7
THE FORGOTTEN LANDSCAPES 

PARTNERSHIP AREA

0 1.5 30.75 Kilometers

KEY
Blaenavon Industrial 
Landscape World Heritage Site

Forgotten Landscapes 
Partnership Boundary

Registered Common Land & 
Urban Commons

Local Authority Boundary
N

0 1 Kilometre0.5

MONMOUTHSHIRE 
COUNTY

TORFAEN COUNTY 
BOROUGH

BLAENAU GWENT
COUNTY BOROUGH

POWYS
COUNTY

Page 170



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 46 -

5.2.2 Since the time of the first Management Plan in 2000, it has become apparent that development 

outside but visible from the BILWHS could threaten its OUV, through the re-working of spoil 

heaps, open-cast mining, wind farms and other visually prominent landscape changes and 

installations. To date, such proposals have largely been successfully resisted in accordance 

with adopted Local Development Plan policies.

5.2.3 There is a need to ensure that all respective Local Development Plans contain appropriate 

policies to protect both the OUV of the BILWHS and its setting from inappropriate development. 

In support of Local Development Plan policies protecting the Site and its setting, there is a 

need to prepare a common Supplementary Planning Guidance document which provides 

parameters for development and general design guidance for the full extent of the BILWHS and 

its setting. Reference should be made to the Welsh Government’s guidance on Managing the 

Setting of Historic Assets in Wales30.

 Opportunities

5.2.4 The wider area of common land managed by the Ironmasters for both mineral extraction and 

grouse shooting is an important aspect of the setting and integrity of the Site. The consideration 

of a “Buffer Zone” around the WHS as a mechanism to help address potential threats to OUV 

was proposed in the Management Plan 2011- 2016. Opportunity therefore exists to consider 

further research and dialogue within the Partnership to determine the case for a formal Buffer 

Zone, or an alternative approach of adopting a formal setting for the Site to ensure management 

of potential threats from inappropriate development in the setting of the Site to its OUV. The 

extent of such a Buffer Zone or other defined setting should be considered and emerging LDP 

policies and Supplementary Planning Guidance implemented to control threats to OUV inside 

and outside the boundaries of the Site.

 Policies and Actions

Policy 2.1: Ensure that the Site and its setting are effectively protected from development 

that could threaten its OUV.

Actions:

2.1.1   Ensure that planning measures and guidance relevant to the Site are understood 

and potential threats to the Site or its setting are controlled by LDP policies 

and joint Supplementary Planning Guidance where appropriate that may be 

adopted by all partners.

2.1.2  Consider implementing a Buffer Zone or other defined settings for the Site.

2.1.3 Expand existing BILWHS Design Guide SPG to include entire WHS.

30Managing the Setting of Historic Assets in Wales (Welsh Government, 2017)

Page 171



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 47 -

5.3 Managing the Relict Industrial Landscape and the Uplands

 Needs

5.3.1 The relict industrial landscape is a substantial contributor to the Site’s OUV, setting the built 

heritage assets in their context. It has great potential to attract visitors and inspire learning. 

The entire upland area of open moorland is considered to be of considerable nature and 

geological conservation interest, large parts of which are designated as the Blorenge Site of 

Special Scientific Interest. The Site contains a diverse flora and fauna owing to its great variety 

of habitats, from moorland to dense deciduous woodland, areas of open water and mines, 

caves and quarries. The importance of the natural environment in complementing the cultural 

landscape is increasingly recognised as a legacy of the Forgotten Landscapes Project (see Box 

5.2).

5.3.2 However, some challenges in managing the landscape have intensified in recent years, in 

particular those associated with ‘landscape crime’ such as littering, erosion partly due to lack of 

surface water management, fly-tipping and arson, which are damaging archaeological remains 

and harming wildlife, and driving away visitors and affecting commoners. Landscape crime is 

an on-going risk to the landscape and its enjoyment by the public and there is a need to tackle 

these anti-social behaviour challenges effectively.

5.3.3 Based on recent monitoring of Scheduled Monuments by Cadw, incidences of damage caused 

by off-road vehicles is a particular current concern requiring active intervention. Consideration 

may be needed to specifically target such illegal activities directly affecting Scheduled 

Monuments, which are themselves key attributes of the WHS including designated spoil tips.

Box 5.2 – The Forgotten Landscapes Project

The Forgotten Landscapes Project was a landscape-scale initiative funded by the Heritage 

Lottery Fund and Welsh Government, which delivered landscape (natural and built 

environment), education, access and training benefits for management of common land in 

upland areas within and around the BILWHS between 2010 and 2015. The area chosen for 

the Forgotten Landscapes Scheme was centred on the BILWHS (see Figure 7), and extended 

beyond the Site to include the surrounding moors and commons and the nearby Clydach 

Gorge. Roughly half of the Scheme area fell within the Brecon Beacons National Park 

with the remainder falling within Torfaen County Borough, Monmouthshire County and 

Blaenau Gwent County Borough. The total Scheme area was 71km2, compared with the 

33km2 covered by the BILWHS. There is a requirement to sustain project benefits over a 

further 5-year period to 2020, and a legacy study31 was commissioned to explore options 

for creating a commons based legacy enterprise as part of a wider mix of income generation 

opportunities.

31Beyond Forgotten Landscapes – a Legacy Study (Commons Vision Ltd and University of Gloucestershire for Torfaen County Borough Council 

on behalf of the Forgotten Landscape Project, Consultation Draft, November 2013)

Page 172



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 48 -

5.3.4 There are also concerns about the effects of vegetation growth on the appearance of the relict 

landscape and the visibility of its features, particularly with regard to the spread of bracken and 

trees and scrub.

5.3.5 The natural and cultural environment needs to be managed holistically, for example understanding 

where and how scrub and tree colonisation may be acceptable without compromising historic 

landscape character, controlling bracken on historic features while protecting other flora and 

fauna, and geological features, and clearing vegetation from footpaths and cycle tracks. Failures 

to coordinate heritage considerations with other priorities have occurred in some place (for 

example, the partial demolition, presumably on safety grounds, of a WWII resistance ‘zero 

station’ on the Blorenge).

5.3.6 The key challenge facing commoners on the upland landscapes within the BILWHS is the 

necessity to sustain viable land management regimes. The uncertainties around post-Brexit 

funding for agri-environmental schemes are a key risk to land management in the Site.

Opportunities

5.3.7 There is an opportunity to build on experience developed during recent police initiatives and 

the Forgotten Landscapes Project to deter landscape crime, with benefits in protecting assets 

and supporting visitors, volunteers and legitimate land users.

5.3.8 The contribution of volunteers to the Site offers great potential, as represented by the Blaenavon 

World Heritage Environment Group and volunteers supported by the National Park (see Box 

5.3), Torfaen County Borough Council, the Wildlife Trust, Canal & River Trust and Cadw, for 

example repairing drystone walls, clearing vegetation and monitoring condition. There is an 

opportunity to develop this and at the same time to better support and communicate with 

the Commoners, who can contribute to the management of the site by monitoring change, 

notifying of problems and giving advice.

Page 173



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 49 -

Box 5.3 – ‘Skills in Action’ Conservation Traineeships

The Heritage Lottery Fund awarded funding to the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

to provide 12 year-long, salaried, conservation traineeships per year for three years from 

2014-2017. The ‘Skills for the Future’ grant was for the ‘Skills in Action’ Partnership which 

includes the Brecon Beacons and Pembrokeshire Coast National Park Authorities, Torfaen 

County Borough Council and the Canal & River Trust. It provides individuals with hands-

on work based experience in conservation and estate management. This combines the 

attainment of a Level 2 City and Guilds qualification in conservation management with the 

opportunity to learn new skills and acquire knowledge by working as part of the estate and 

conservation management teams. The traineeship is aimed at those interested in pursuing a 

career in practical conservation and estate management or similar work. The project recruits 

primarily from local populations and the placements are awarded to those who seem most 

likely to benefit from the opportunity. Skills in Action trainees are working alongside wardens 

undertaking a range of practical conservation management work throughout the year.

5.3.9 The potential to support and enhance the roles of volunteers can be best achieved by 

having a coordinator across existing programmes. Professional leadership can support skills 

development in conservation and land management that increases satisfaction for volunteers 

and employability for job-seekers.

5.3.10 As a legacy from the Forgotten Landscapes Project, there is an opportunity to develop a Tree 

Management Strategy that identifies a detailed ten year programme of action for vegetation 

removal works from historic landscape structures on a systematic basis. It is important that 

natural heritage and biodiversity issues are considered alongside cultural heritage in determining 

holistic approaches to tree management in the BILWHS.

5.3.11 There is also an opportunity, subject to resources, to implement the existing Bracken 

Management Plan.

5.3.12 In the short-term, there is an opportunity to influence the Welsh Government’s current ‘Future 

Landscapes Wales’ programme on potential new sustainable land management schemes for 

replacing existing agri-environmental schemes in protected landscapes (National Parks and 

AONBs). There is a case for the replacement scheme to also apply across World Heritage Sites 

in Wales, subject to what the UK Government decides to fund.

Page 174



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 50 -

 Policies and Actions

Policy 2.2: Improve the care and management of the relict upland landscape, particularly 

with regard to landscape crime, vegetation growth and climate change adaptation.

Actions:

2.2.1   Build on recent experience to develop and resource a programme to deter and 

mitigate landscape crime, including littering, fly-tipping, arson and off-roading.

2.2.2   Develop strategies for the holistic management of the natural and cultural 

environment (including a Tree Management Strategy) and seek resources to 

implement the Bracken Management Plan.

2.2.3   Enhance support and coordination for voluntary environmental work in the 

BILWHS.

2.2.4   Adopt the toolkit previously developed for undertaking work on common land.

2.2.5  Make the case to Welsh Government for potential post-Brexit sustainable land 

management schemes to apply to World Heritage Sites.

2.2.6  Develop a Heritage Ambassadors scheme for the BILWHS that supports young 

people in developing heritage management skills.

5.4 Enhancing the Blaenavon Townscape

 Needs

5.4.1 The overarching need is to protect the Blaenavon townscape and its individual buildings that 

are identified as attributes of the Site’s OUV. As shown on Figure 5, the Blaenavon townscape 

is afforded statutory protection through designation as a Conservation Area and many of its 

buildings are designated as Listed Buildings of special architectural or historic interest.

5.4.2 The town of Blaenavon is at the heart of the World Heritage site and there are strong synergies 

between conservation of the historic fabric and the economic, physical and cultural regeneration 

of the town. Considerable improvements have been made to the character and appearance 

of the Blaenavon townscape since 2000. However, a number of buildings around the town 

remain derelict, including key elements in the townscape. Appropriate action should be taken 

to address those assets identified at greatest risk of loss in order to protect and conserve the 

OUV of the Site.

5.4.3 The single most significant need is to seek a viable and sustainable end use for Ty Mawr to 

avoid it falling beyond repair. There is also a need to enhance the appearance of properties 

such as the Workmen’s Hall and shops in Broad Street.

5.4.4 An updated Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan has been prepared for 

Page 175



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 51 -

the Blaenavon Town Centre Conservation Area (2017 – 2022) which contains within its 

boundaries a number of the key components of the WHS. The Plan identifies key assets, issues 

and opportunities within the Conservation Area and outlines recommendations for future 

management and enhancement of the areas architectural and historic character. There is a 

need to ensure that the Plan is coordinated with other initiatives which supports the ongoing 

management of the Conservation Areas character and the key Components of OUV that are 

located within its boundaries.

5.4.5 The lack of maintenance of a number of key properties within the town centre is becoming a 

concern and it is recommended that these be monitored and that the partnership works with 

the owners of these buildings to enable them to achieve a higher standard of maintenance 

in future. To support this a Management & Maintenance Plan has been prepared for the 

Conservation Area detailing how in exercising its duties, Torfaen Council and its partners will 

pay due regard to preserving and enhancing the character of the Conservation Area. The Plan 

contains a costed 10 year Action Plan (2018-2028) detailing delivery responsibilities, costs and 

timescales for delivering management and maintenance objectives.

5.4.6 Regular monitoring of the condition, character and use of the Conservation Area is vital to 

ensure that it is being sufficiently protected, conserved and enhanced. There is a real risk that the 

special characteristics contributing to the Conservation Area could be eroded by incremental 

changes and so a combination of regular monitoring and enforcement actions is required. The 

monitoring that the Council proposes to undertake, with significant voluntary participation 

included, is presented within the Management and Maintenance Plan. These measures will 

be used to monitor and provide an analysis of the impact of Torfaen Council’s approach to 

managing the special character and appearance of Blaenavon Town Centre Conservation Area.

 Opportunities

5.4.7 A critical opportunity is to conserve and achieve a new sustainable reuse for Ty Mawr 

through a secure business plan, energetic fund raising, full support from the local authority 

and creativity and skill from the local community. The solution might consist of mixed use to 

support regeneration and heritage objectives (such as hostel accommodation and/or an outdoor 

pursuits/field studies centre and/or catering with rooms displayed as a visitor attraction).

Page 176



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 52 -

5.4.8 The funding secured from the Heritage Lottery Fund in 2018 for delivery of the Blaenavon 

Townscape Heritage Programme presents an opportunity to support local businesses and 

residents by creating a more attractive, vibrant and viable town, encouraging new business 

development and employment, as well as encouraging local people and visitors to learn about, 

use and support the town. In addition to supporting the strategic aim of Blaenavon becoming 

a cultural tourism destination, the funding has the potential to boost footfall and trade in the 

town, which not only would have a powerful effect on local pride but also on local economic 

prosperity in Blaenavon. The Townscape Heritage Programme aims to:

• Tackle the poor condition of key properties within the town’s main commercial area in 

Broad Street by offering grant support to businesses and residents for conservation-based 

property improvement works.

• Support opportunities for the community to find out more about their townscape heritage 

and give local people the chance to learn new skills.

• Provide a variety of local volunteering opportunities and community events that explore the 

social history associated with the development of the town.

5.4.9 Empty shop windows could be used as additional display space for the community museum, 

improving the attractiveness of the town and making greater use of reserve collections.

5.4.10 Vegetation in St Peter’s cemetery and around Bethlehem Chapel could be managed to enhance 

natural habitats, conserve an important facet of the town’s social history and provide an 

additional amenity resource adjacent to the Blaenavon World Heritage Centre.

 Policies and Actions

Policy 2.3: Continue to enhance the heritage value and public amenity of the Blaenavon 

townscape.

Actions:

2.3.1   Develop and seek to implement a plan for the conservation and sustainable use 
of Ty Mawr.

2.3.2   Promote the sensitive repair, reuse and reinstatement of lost heritage features 
to key buildings in the townscape, particularly in and around Broad Street with 
support from the HLF Townscape Heritage Initiative.

2.3.3   Improve paths, open space and signage around the townscape, including 
managing the vegetation in St Peter’s cemetery.

2.3.4   Consider opportunities to furnish empty shop windows with suitable reserve 
collection items from the Community Museum or other community groups.

2.3.5   Continue to support maintenance and improvements of the Workmen’s Hall.

2.3.6  Implement recommendations of the Blaenavon Town Centre Conservation 
Area Appraisal & Management Plan (2017 – 2022) including its associated 

Management and Maintenance Plan.

Page 177



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 53 -

5.5 Conserving the Industrial Buildings and Infrastructure

 Needs

5.5.1 The overarching need is to protect all the industrial buildings and infrastructure that are identified 

as attributes of the Site’s OUV. As shown on Figure 5, many of these industrial buildings and 

infrastructure features within the BILWHS are afforded statutory protection through designation 

as Scheduled Monuments of national importance, as Listed Buildings of special architectural 

or historic interest or inclusion within the Blaenavon Town or Cwmavon Conservation Areas.

5.5.2 The achievements in conserving the industrial buildings and infrastructure features since the 

Site was inscribed have been remarkable, and overall these are in better condition than ever 

before. They include conservation of the Ironworks and Big Pit, restoration of the iron bridge, 

consolidation of canal embankments and the extension of the railway. These assets need to be 

maintained, and some further assets still have conservation needs. A coordinated approach 

to condition monitoring will help the Partnership take a consistent approach to prioritising 

conservation works.

5.5.3 Although there have been considerable achievements in conserving industrial buildings and 

infrastructure in recent years, there is also ongoing deterioration of some features for which 

active conservation continues to be necessary to tackle the slow incremental damage caused 

by vegetation encroachment, footpath erosion, damage by off-road vehicles, vandalism, 

crumbling of masonry and the impacts of water erosion. Several historic assets require active 

conservation such as the Powder House, the electrical power house at Foregside and features 

at the Ironworks.

5.5.4 There is a need to draw together information on condition and risk to heritage assets for the Site 

as a whole, and to take appropriate action to protect and conserve the OUV of the Site.

5.5.5 Continued recruitment and training is needed to provide the specialist skills in conservation 

and industrial heritage required at Big Pit National Coal Museum,

5.5.6 Major works continue to be carried out to ensure the integrity of the canal embankments 

and reduce water loss. These works are particularly important given the actual and predicted 

impact of climate change. A ten year programme of repair works would allow the development 

of appropriate skills to care for the pre 1919 structures.

Page 178



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 54 -

5.5.7 There is an increasing awareness of the need to collect artefacts and oral testimony related to 

the industrial history of the area while this is still possible, which is a key component of the 

Site’s intangible heritage as identified on Figure 4.

 Opportunities

5.5.8 It is important to maintain the ongoing programme of conservation works at the Ironworks 

including consolidation of fragile remains; consideration may also be given to converting 

North Row and Engine Row to sympathetic uses and providing animation at the Balance Lift.

5.5.9 There is an opportunity through the new apprenticeships at Big Pit National Coal Museum 

to recruit and train miner-guides in visitor engagement and underground maintenance skills. 

There is also an opportunity to build on this, and the Canal & River Trust’s apprentice scheme, 

to develop a BILWHS Heritage Ambassadors scheme that supports young people in developing 

heritage management skills to replace key skills lost as older people leave the sector.

5.5.10 There are opportunities for the museums to work in partnership to secure the intangible 

heritage of Blaenavon as identified on Figure 4; secure objects related to the industrial history 

of Blaenavon’s community; and carry out oral history projects to capture memories.

5.5.11 There may also be opportunities for further extension of the railway and restoration of the 

Monmouthshire & Brecon Canal from Pontymoile to Newport and Risca.

 Policies and Actions

Policy 2.4: Continue to conserve the industrial building and infrastructure of Blaenavon.

Actions:

2.4.1   Maintain the Ironworks in a stable condition through implementation of a 

programme of conservation to consolidate fragile remains.

2.4.2  Develop a BILWHS Heritage Ambassadors scheme that supports skills-based 

heritage management apprenticeships for young people.

2.4.3   Undertake programme of maintenance works to ensure that operation of the 

canal is not threatened by failure of embankments or changes in water supply.

2.4.4   Continue to collect artefacts and oral testimony to enhance the understanding 

of the industrial history of the area.

2.4.5   Promote the conservation of heritage assets at risk, such as the Powder Store and Forgeside 

electrical power house.

Page 179



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 55 -

5.6 Contribution to Well-Being

5.6.1 The contribution of the caring for the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape theme to the Well-being 

Goals for Wales is summarised in Table 5.1.

 Table 5.1 – Contribution of Management Plan Theme to Well-being Goals for Wales

WELL-BEING GOALS FOR WALES CONTRIBUTION TO GOAL

Goal 1: A Prosperous Wales – An 
innovative, productive and low carbon 
society which recognises the limits of the 
global environment and therefore uses 
resources efficiently and proportionately 
(including acting on climate change); 
and which develops a skilled and well-
educated population in an economy which 
generates wealth and provides employment 
opportunities, allowing people to take 
advantage of the wealth generated through 
securing decent work.

The WHS landscape has been mined 
and farmed for generations, providing 
employment and food for its communities.  
The well-being of the farming community 
is important to the future of the landscape 
and communities of the WHS. The cultural 
landscape attracts visitors thereby also 
making it an important economic asset.  
Together with Torfaen County Borough 
Council and the Pembrokeshire Coast 
National Park Authority, the Brecon Beacons 
National Park Authority successfully secured 
funding from the HLF to provide 12 No. 
year-long salaried conservation traineeships 
for each of the next three years 2014-2017, 
which equate to 36 in total (see Box 5.3).

Goal 2: A Resilient Wales – a nation which 
maintains and enhances a biodiverse 
natural environment with healthy 
functioning ecosystems that support 
social, economic and ecological resilience 
and the capacity to adapt to change (for 
example climate change).

Biodiversity provides numerous benefits 
to the BILWHS. Agriculture relies on 
soil formation, nutrients, water flow and 
pollination. The upland parts of the WHS 
play a significant role in water storage, 
quality and release, providing a natural 
defence against both drought and flood.  So 
long as they remain free from the effects 
of heavy grazing, upland peat bogs store 
carbon and combat atmospheric pollution 
and illegal fires.  They capture atmospheric 
carbon which helps mitigate the effects 
of climate change.  Improved biodiversity 
enhances enjoyment and recreational 
opportunities. All of these services contribute 
to the social and economic well-being 
of the BILWHS.   Investing in education 
and interpretation aimed at preventing 
biodiversity loss not only enriches the visitor 
experience but also improves the knowledge 
of natural processes which increases 
the opportunities to develop innovative 
solutions.

Page 180



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 56 -

WELL-BEING GOALS FOR WALES CONTRIBUTION TO GOAL

Goal 3: A Healthier Wales – a society in 
which peoples physical and mental well-
being is maximised and in which choices 
and behaviours that benefit future health 
are understood.

The Management Plan aims to maintain 
a high quality landscape setting for the 
industrial heritage components that are 
attributes of the Site’s OUV.  Accessing the 
health and well-being benefits of a high 
quality natural environment is considered 
further under Theme 3.

Goal 6: A Wales of Vibrant Culture and 
Thriving Welsh Language – A society that 
promotes and protects culture, heritage 
and the Welsh language, and which 
encourages people to participate in the 
arts, and sports and recreation.

The cultural landscape is a valuable asset 
and the primary reason for inscription of the 
area as a WHS.  The SoOUV (Section 2.0) 
recognises the landscape’s relationship with 
human beings over time.

5.6.2 This theme also makes a contribution to the relevant local Well-being Objectives for Torfaen 

and Monmouthshire as summarised in Table 5.2.

 Table 5.2 – Contribution of Management Plan Theme to Local Well-being Objectives

 Caring for BIL

LOCAL WELL-BEING OBJECTIVES CONTRIBUTION TO OBJECTIVE
Caring for the Blaenavon Industrial
Landscape in line with the principles set out 
in Box 5.1 will assist the Partnership in
contributing to this well-being objective by:

Torfaen Public Service Board32

1. Develop a functional, connected 
network of natural areas that support the 
current and future well-being needs of 
local populations.

Protecting, conserving and enhancing the 
natural environment of upland landscapes 
within the Torfaen part of the WHS.

2 Develop adaptation and mitigation 
responses to the impacts of climate change.

Maintaining and enhancing the WHS’s natural 
environment and ecosystem services for the 
benefit of future generations by contributing 
to biodiversity and ecosystem resilience. 

3. Provide children and young people with 
the best possible start in life.

Providing opportunities for positive childhood 
experiences and increasing healthy 
behaviours for residents of Torfaen in relation 
to Welsh culture, heritage and language 
represented by the OUV of the BILWHS.

4. Support healthy lifestyles and enable 
people to age well.

Managing a high quality built and natural 
environment that enables access to health and 
well-being opportunities.  

Page 181



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 57 -

LOCAL WELL-BEING OBJECTIVES CONTRIBUTION TO OBJECTIVE
Caring for the Blaenavon Industrial
Landscape in line with the principles set out 
in Box 5.1 will assist the Partnership in
contributing to this well-being objective by:

5. Tackle the inter-generational patterns of 
poverty and develop economic resilience.

Providing life-long learning, volunteering 
and engagement opportunities in relation 
to the built and natural heritage of the 
WHS improving life opportunities for all 
people, allowing them to fulfil their potential 
and become part of a healthy workforce 
contributing to wider economic wellbeing.

6. Improve local skills through work-force 
planning, training, apprenticeships and 
volunteering opportunities. 

Providing life-long learning, volunteering and 
engagement opportunities linked to the built 
and natural heritage of the WHS.

7. Create safe, confident communities and 
promote community cohesion.

Provide opportunities for engagement and 
inclusion that enables equality of opportunity 
as well as promoting good relations within the 
community.

Monmouthshire Public Service Board33

1. Provide children and young people with 
the best possible start in life. 

Providing opportunities for positive childhood 
experiences and increasing healthy 
behaviours for residents of Monmouthshire 
in relation to Welsh culture, heritage and 
language represented by the OUV of the 
BILWHS.

2. Respond to the challenges associated 
with demographic change.

Providing life-long learning and engagement 
opportunities in relation to Welsh culture, 
heritage and language represented by the 
OUV of the BILWHS.

3. Protect and enhance the resilience of 
our natural environment whilst mitigating 
and adapting to the impact of climate 
change.

Protecting, conserving and enhancing 
the natural environment within the 
Monmouthshire part of the WHS. All partners 
will work together to share knowledge and 
expertise to develop and deliver mitigation 
responses to the impacts of climate change 
within the WHS.

4. Develop opportunities for communities 
and businesses to be part of an 
economically thriving and well-connected 
county. 

Promoting sustainable economic development 
opportunities for rural communities and 
businesses within the Monmouthshire part of 
the WHS.

32Well-being Plan for Torfaen 2018 – 2023
33 Monmouthshire Public Service Board Well-being Plan 2018

Page 182



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 58 -

6.0 EXPLORING AND ENJOYING THE BLAENAVON INDUSTRIAL LANDSCAPE

6.1 Introduction

6.1.1 A key aim for the Partnership is to promote the BILWHS as a unique cultural tourism destination 

for exploring and enjoying the area’s outstanding industrial heritage, museums and distinctive 

outdoor experience in an attractive landscape, thereby helping to support sustainable 

economic regeneration and well-being by increasing footfall across the Site and encouraging 

new businesses to locate in Blaenavon. This aim is supported by the Welsh Government’s 

Partnership for Growth Strategy for Tourism 2013-2020. In pursuing this aim, the Partnership 

will adopt the principles for exploring and enjoying the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape set out 

in Box 6.1.

Box 6.1 – Principles for Exploring and Enjoying the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape

The Partnership will work collaboratively to:

• Fulfil the obligations of the World Heritage Convention to present the OUV of the 

BILWHS and its transmission to future generations through sustainable tourism and 

visitor management.

• Ensure the exemplary management of visitors to the BILWHS to take full account of 

the economic, social and environmental impacts of tourism in addressing the needs of 

visitors, the industry and host communities in accordance with the goals of the Well-

being of Future Generations (Wales) Act.

• Adopt a destination approach to the planning, development and management of 

sustainable tourism for the BILWHS, as reflected in the local Destination Management 

Plans, and based on stakeholder engagement and community empowerment in line with 

the principles of the UNESCO World Heritage and Sustainable Tourism Programme.

6.1.2 The main issues around the exploring and enjoying the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape theme 

are:

• Developing the market for the WHS

• Developing the visitor offer within the WHS

• Marketing and promoting the WHS

6.1.3 The needs and opportunities related to exploring and enjoying the Blaenavon Industrial 

Landscape theme are identified below, taking into account the needs of residents and businesses 

within Blaenavon, and its surrounding rural communities in the WHS, in relation to achieving 

the goals of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

Page 183



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 59 -

6.1.4 Policies for the presentation and transmission of the Site’s OUV through exploring and enjoying 

the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape are also identified for each issue. The policies are supported 

by a list of related actions for projects and activities to be explored and delivered by partners 

over the plan period (details of lead partners, likely phasing, possible sources of funding and 

outcomes/indicators can be found in the Action Plan in Section 8.0).

6.1.5 The main visitor attractions in the BILWHS are shown on Figure 8. Key access and recreation 

facilities within the BILWHS are shown on Figure 9.

6.1.6 This section should be read in the context of the tourism data for the BILWHS set out in 

Appendix F. This includes the results of the STEAM (Scarborough Tourism Economic Activity 

Monitor) research undertaken for the BILWHS in 2015, and a summary of anecdotal visitor 

information/data gathered from consultations with attractions and accommodation providers 

in 2017.

6.2 Developing the Market for the World Heritage Site

 Needs

6.2.1 There is a large body of documented evidence and data setting out the socio-economic 

challenges faced in Blaenavon. The overriding need is for tourism to contribute to a broad 

economic development initiative within the WHS and the broader objectives on the well-

being agenda. It has a key role to play in changing the perceptions of investors in the BILWHS 

as well as creating employment in its own right. This will involve increasing visitor footfall in 

a sustainable manner in the WHS, seeking to focus visitor interest on Blaenavon in order to 

maximise income, as well as the individual attractions, to help support businesses and jobs in 

the town.

 Opportunities

6.2.2 The Cadw Pan-Wales heritage interpretation plan ‘Wales - The first industrial nation’ identified 

that only 29% of cultural tourists are ‘pure’ cultural tourists who visit for a specific cultural 

activity. 70% of tourists are ‘casual’ or ‘accidental’ cultural tourists who either visit a cultural 

destination out of general interest, or visit and then become interested. In the BILWHS, more 

casual and accidental cultural tourists could be attracted by highlighting the attractive natural 

environment of the area, supplementing the specialist appeal of the industrial heritage.

Page 184



BLAENAVON INDUSTRIAL LANDSCAPE 
WORLD HERITAGE SITE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2017-2022

BLAENAVON WORLD HERITAGE SITE PARTNERSHIP
July 2018
11125801-MP-Fg-F-07-18.indd

Based upon the Ordnance Survey Map with the permission of the controller of H.M Stationery Office. © Crown Copyright Licence number :- 100017241 | Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2017

FIGURE 8
MAIN VISITOR ATTRACTIONS0 1 20.5 Kilometers

1

2 3
4

KEY

Blaenavon Heritage Town

Blaenavon Ironworks

Big Pit National Coal Museum

Blaenavon World Heritage 
Centre

Blaenavon Community 
Museum

Blaenavon Heritage Railway

Monmouthshire and Brecon 
Canal

Govilon Wharf

Llanfoist Wharf

1

2

4

3

Blaenavon Industrial Landscape 
World Heritage Site

0 600 Metres300

N

A

B

A

B

For details of walking routes/trails 
see www.visitblaenavon.co.uk

Page 185



BLAENAVON INDUSTRIAL LANDSCAPE 
WORLD HERITAGE SITE MANAGEMENT PLAN 2017-2022

BLAENAVON WORLD HERITAGE SITE PARTNERSHIP
July 2018
11125801-MP-Fg-F-07-18.indd

Based upon the Ordnance Survey Map with the permission of the controller of H.M Stationery Office. © Crown Copyright Licence number :- 100017241 | Contains Natural Resources Wales information © Natural Resources Wales and Database Right. All rights Reserved. Contains Ordnance Survey 
Data. Ordnance Survey Licence number 100019741. Crown Copyright and Database Right. | Contains public sector information licensed under the Open Government Licence v2.0

FIGURE 9
KEY ACCESS & RECREATION FACILITIES0 1 20.5 Kilometers

KEY

Public Rights of Way

Sustrans National Cycle  
Network Routes

Open Access Land

Monmouthshire and Brecon 
Canal (Usk Valley Walk)

Garn Lakes Local Nature  
Reserve

Keepers Pond

Llanfoist Wharf

Foxhunter Car Park 

Blaenavon Industrial  
Landscape World Heritage Site

0 600 Metres300

N

49

46

492

46

46

For details of walking routes/trails 
see www.visitblaenavon.co.uk

1

2

3

1

2

3

Page 186



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 60 -

6.2.3 The WHS offers a wide variety of landscapes, geological features and flora and fauna, with 

opportunities for formal and informal outdoor activities (walking, cycling and other niche 

activities) with the exceptional added value of exploring industrial heritage of international 

significance while undertaking those activities. The existing brand should not be diluted but its 

brand values can be extended more effectively to reflect all the inherent values of interest to 

potential visitors informed by the proposed market research.

6.2.4 This combination of industrial heritage and attractive landscape is what differentiates the site 

from other attractive natural landscapes within the National Park and elsewhere. By reaching 

out more actively to this much larger market as well as the specialist industrial heritage market, 

the opportunity to drive footfall in the WHS is maximised. This approach also supports the 

health and environmental objectives of the well-being agenda by encouraging more local 

people to take exercise and appreciate the landscape.

6.2.5 In partnership with Visit Wales, the Castles and Town Walls of King Edward in Gwynedd WHS 

and the Pontcysyllte Aqueduct and Canal WHS, a key aim is to attract visitors from national and 

international markets by working together with other UK Sites through organisations such as 

World Heritage UK. In addition, there is an opportunity to more fully promote the BILWHS to 

the large resident and visitor populations in neighbouring areas, working collaboratively with 

partners elsewhere in the City region and the Brecon Beacons National Park. This partnership 

approach is in line with national tourism policy34 and the emerging Destination Management 

Plans in Torfaen and adjoining areas.

6.2.6 The BILWHS Partnership led on the “Valleys that Changed the World” initiative, which is part 

of the European Route of Industrial Heritage. The partnership promoted the BILWHS as the 

gateway to South Wales’ industrial heritage through a series of promotional campaigns, as well 

as developing a web presence and printed promotional material.

34 Partnership for Growth: Strategy for Tourism 2013-2020, Welsh Government, updated 2016. This national strategy focuses on the promotion 

of distinctive destination brands and experiences to meet market needs. It prioritises the domestic holiday market (taking a tightly targeted 

approach in international markets) and highlights the importance of developing heritage and cultural experiences, investing in the visitor 

experience and accommodation provision at landmark heritage sites and attracting new high profile events and developing existing events.

Page 187



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 61 -

Policies and Actions

Policy 3.1: Support, improve and develop the existing tourism attractions and future 

tourism businesses related to the industrial heritage of the WHS in line with market needs.

Actions:

3.1.1   Support the Blaenavon Community Museum in its work relevant to the WHS’s 

outstanding universal value.

3.1.2   Develop the Workmen’s Hall as a major cultural centre for the arts, showcasing 

the area’s living cultural heritage e.g. brass bands, male voice choirs etc through 

a variety of events in conjunction with the Community Museum and Blaenavon 

World Heritage Centre.

3.1.3   Support Big Pit National Coal Museum, the most popular site in the WHS, 

to undertake essential infrastructure works, a new gateway, environmental 

improvements, provide access to the conservation stores and employ new 

apprentice guides.

3.1.4   Improve physical and intellectual access to the heritage of the Blaenavon 

Ironworks and develop the site as the focal point within the industrial landscape.

3.1.5   Support the long-term ambition of the Pontypool & Blaenavon Railway to extend 

the line to the north and south and also offer a longer operating season, allied to 

the provision of related engineering training opportunities.

3.1.6   Support the WHS Heritage Centre’s role as the primary gateway for tourists to 

the BILWHS.

3.1.7   Expedite the short-term proposals for protection, and long-term proposals for 

full restoration, of the Monmouthshire & Brecon canal.

3.1.8  Continue to work in Partnership with key partners including Visit Wales and 

Visit Britain in promoting the WHS to target domestic and overseas markets 

supporting new tourism business development and employment.

3.1.9  Support the implementation of Destination Management Plans for Torfaen, 

Monmouthshire and the Brecon Beacons National Park.

3.1.10  Support the Valleys that Changed the World/ERIH South Wales Regional Route 

initiatives to promote the South Wales region’s industrial heritage as an entity 

involving local communities.

6.3 Developing the Visitor Offer within the World Heritage Site

 Needs

6.3.1 The overriding need under this theme is to enhance the quality of the experience by raising 

standards and capitalising on existing resources. There is a need to support, improve and 

develop the existing tourism attractions and related facilities within the WHS in line with 

market needs and relevant Destination Management Plans.

Page 188



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 62 -

 Opportunities

6.3.2 There are opportunities under this theme to enhance the existing heritage attractions, the town 

and the outdoor activities along with opportunities for improving interpretation of the natural 

and industrial heritage across the WHS and providing accommodation to encourage more 

staying visitors.

6.3.3 In terms of the existing attractions, there is a need to support the Community Museum, Big Pit 

National Coal Museum, the Ironworks and the Blaenavon Railway in their various plans for 

improvement of their visitor offers; and for the Blaenavon World Heritage Centre to continue 

providing an excellent information service for the WHS, the individual sites and various cultural 

and outdoor activities. The town should be enhanced as a destination in its own right with the 

right infrastructure and services.

6.3.4 The emphasis in outdoor activity should be on improving the main walking and cycling offers 

along with providing support, as appropriate, for the wide range of other niche activities 

including natural history, birdwatching, canoeing, mountain biking, boating, caving, hang-

gliding, orienteering etc. Proposals for increasing participation in outdoor recreational activities 

should include adequate conservation measures to ensure protection of the Site’s vulnerable 

upland landscapes and historic assets.

6.3.5 Other key visitor trends which the BILWHS could take advantage of include clean air breaks, 

micro-adventures, transformative travel (fitness breaks related to iron man competitions, 

marathons and wellness breaks for detoxing/relaxation) and links with Visit Wales’ thematic 

years. The successful development and promotion of these attractions and activities will help 

create opportunities for new visitor accommodation.

6.3.6 There is a real opportunity to capitalise upon the important, hidden resource which is the 

local community. Evidence suggests that visitors who engage with local residents are given a 

great welcome and take away a distinctive experience. This means building on the volunteer 

initiatives of BWHEG, the Blaenavon Town Team, the Blaenavon World Heritage Centre 

and Workmen’s Hall Committees and others, providing Ambassador training and organising 

opportunities for engagement with visitors, most notably through guided tours.

 Policies and Actions

Policy 3.2: Present Blaenavon town centre as the community focus in the industrial 

landscape; an attraction in its own right.

Actions:

3.2.1  Enhance public transport access to Blaenavon, notably from Abergavenny.

Page 189



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 63 -

3.2.2  Implement the proposed coach parking plans in Blaenavon.

3.2.3   Review proposals and explore funding opportunities for the restoration of Ty 

Mawr as a key heritage asset in the WHS.

3.2.4   Support other physical improvements to the town centre that supports footfall 

and investment.

3.2.5   Review condition and effectiveness of the promoted pedestrian links between 

the town centre and Big Pit to include route condition and waymarking, current 

maintenance, use and any barriers to use; and develop actions as a result of the 

review to improve pedestrian connectivity and use of promoted routes.

3.2.6   Make the road through the Gilchrist-Thomas estate more attractive for visitors 

(rationalisation of parking, landscaping etc.).

3.2.7   Support and coordinate local volunteers, creating a new team of WHS branded 

Ambassadors to act as ‘meeters & greeters’ within the town and at local events.

3.2.8   Support existing and new business development initiatives, targeting visitor 

related businesses such as cycle hire, local produce shops, catering outlets etc.

3.2.9   Encourage local outlets to collaborate and review their opening hours in the 

light of visitor needs.

Policy 3.3: Improve the outdoor visitor experience, helping to reinforce the WHS as a high 

quality visitor destination set in an attractive landscape.

Actions:

3.3.1   Rationalise the number of walking trails, improving the quality of the Iron 

Mountain Trail as a core product with a range of shorter ancillary routes using 

print and digital format (the Blaenavon Digital passport).

3.3.2   Provide support for, and coordination of, local volunteers (WHS branded 

Ambassadors) to act as walking and heritage guides.

3.3.3   Work with neighbouring authorities to create cross-boundary walking and 

cycling routes e.g. The ‘Loops and Links’ Plan.

3.3.4   Create the proposed multi-use trail for walkers and cyclists based on NCR 492, 

46 and 49, linking Pontypool, Brynmawr and Abergavenny with Blaenavon via 

family friendly cycle loops off the main route.

3.3.5   Improve the canal towpath as a high quality linear route for walking and cycling 

with clear links to connecting routes.

3.3.6   Extend the range of information available on access to the wide range of 

outdoor leisure and educational activities and events available in the WHS 

outdoor activities at the Blaenavon World Heritage Centre with informed staff 

and materials

Page 190



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 64 -

Policy 3.4: Review interpretation of the industrial and natural landscape across the WHS.

Actions:

3.4.1   Review interpretation opportunities across the WHS, reflecting not only the 

industrial heritage in the light of the Cadw pan-Wales Heritage Interpretation 

Plan (2001), the European Route of Industrial Heritage and South Wales Route 

of Industrial Heritage but also the landscape and natural history of the site.

3.4.2   Investigate opportunities for new interpretive experiences within the WHS 

landscape.

3.4.3   Use the arts as an interpretive tool and to enhance ‘sense of place’ within the 

WHS landscape.

Policy 3.5: Support the development of a wide range of visitor accommodation (subject 

to demand assessments) along with eating out and retail opportunities within the WHS to 

help maximise local economic impact.

Actions:

3.5.1  Encourage the addition/refurbishment of rooms at public houses within WHS.

3.5.2   Encourage local residents/landowners to offer B&B and/or self-catering 

accommodation including hostel/bunkhouse/field studies type accommodation 

geared for those involved in outdoor pursuits without adversely impacting upon 

the character of the area or the OUV of the BILWHS

3.5.3  Work with local landowners to identify suitable sites for caravan and camping 

provision within the WHS that benefit from the potential for access from the 

improved A465 and do not adversely impact upon the OUV of the BILWHS.

Page 191



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 65 -

6.4 Marketing and Promoting the World Heritage Site

 Needs

6.4.1 Given the appeal of the indigenous resources already in the WHS (from attractive landscapes 

and industrial heritage, to locally made produce and cultural events), there is a need for greater 

commitment to promotion. A new annual marketing plan for the WHS is needed to maximise 

the potential and attract the necessary resources. There is a need to raise the profile of the WHS 

as somewhere special for exploring industrial heritage, the natural environment and associated 

activities by extending, but not diluting, the core brand values of the WHS to promote the 

outdoor experience offer.

 Opportunities

6.4.2 The opportunities are wide-ranging but the priority is to work with partners and other stakeholders 

for mutual benefit and efficient use of resources. In particular, there is an opportunity to work 

closely with the Brecon Beacons National Park and the Canal & River Trust35 to promote the 

WHS brand, capitalising on the additional appeal of these two brands as an area for outdoor 

activities36 and bolstering the role of the Blaenavon World Heritage Centre as a gateway to the 

National Park (with the National Park visitor centres providing gateways to the BILWHS). There 

is also considerable potential for collaboration between stakeholders, packaging the offer and 

encouraging circulation around the WHS.

6.4.3 Local and national events within BILWHS (e.g. World Heritage Day and the national Velothon 

event on the Blorenge) will remain a principal marketing tool for the WHS along with the 

coordinated promotional activities of the individual attractions, neighbouring local authorities, 

other World Heritage Sites and Visit Wales.

6.4.4 Considerable opportunities exist to maximise the position of the BILWHS as a cultural tourism 

destination within the context of the City Deal for the Cardiff Capital Region. This is in line 

with the Welsh Government’s Partnership for Growth Strategy for Tourism 2013-2020, which 

recognises tourism as a key sector that has the potential to influence other sectors including 

skills and employment, planning, regeneration, heritage and culture. Most significantly, the 

Strategy recognises World Heritage Sites as “Iconic Tourism Products” in Wales and seeks to 

develop and implement iconic product-led brand strategies as part of how Wales promotes 

itself as a fresh and exciting tourism destination.

35The Monmouthshire and Brecon Canal is one of the most popular attractions in the BBNP.
36 Pontcysyllte Aqueduct and Canal have a toolkit which links the WHS/AONB brands and has been bought into by all partners.

Page 192



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 66 -

6.4.5 To help maximise the benefits that being part of the Welsh WHS family can bring, a marketing 

toolkit has been developed by the World Heritage Sites of Wales Marketing Partnership 

(Visit Wales and the three World Heritage Sites in Wales - Blaenavon Industrial landscape, 

The Castles of Edward I and Pontcysyllte Aqueduct and Canal). The toolkit is available on the 

VisitBlaenavon website37 to help all partners and stakeholders in the BILWHS make the overall 

‘offer’ more attractive to visitors. It provides advice on content and key messages for how the 

‘Welsh WHS’ concept can be used to help market the BILWHS across partner websites and on 

social media channels etc.

6.4.6 In line with the recommendations of the Welsh Government recent review of heritage services, 

there may be opportunities for the BILWHS to benefit from joint marketing of national cultural 

tourism campaigns and events, possibly through an ‘Historic Wales’ brand, working within and 

as part of a wider ‘Visit Wales’ brand to build on the success of recent campaigns and cultural 

tourism initiatives. The is also considerable potential to build on the Partnership’s successful 

collaborative partnership model as a demonstration pilot for enhancing and promoting existing 

and potential UNESCO sites in Wales and other heritage tourism hotspots.

 Policies and Actions

Policy 3.6: Raise the profile of the WHS as a unique cultural tourism destination for 

combining exploration and enjoyment of the area’s outstanding industrial heritage with 

opportunities for engaging in outdoor experiences.

Actions:

3.6.1   Continue to promote the WHS’s outstanding universal values to the relevant 

special interest markets, working in particular with other Welsh WHSs.

3.6.2   Seek enhanced representation for the WHS and the Iron Mountain Trail on 

published maps including Ordnance Survey and BBNPA maps.

3.6.3   Capitalise on the powerful brands of the Brecon Beacons, the canal and Big 

Pit National Coal Museum to promote the WHS as an area for outdoor leisure 

and educational activity; and promote Blaenavon World Heritage Centre as a 

gateway to the National Park.

3.6.4   Seek ‘Walkers are Welcome’ status for Blaenavon supported by appropriate 

investment in access infrastructure to prevent environmental impacts from 

increased visitor pressure.

3.6.5   Develop events in the WHS (a principal marketing tool), building on the 

success of existing cultural and community events and supporting new events 

appropriate to the site (including food/drink festivals to promote local produce).

3.6.6   Encourage cooperation amongst WHS tourism stakeholders to create BILWHS 

branded products/itineraries/packages for day and staying visitors, an attractive 

37http://www.visitblaenavon.co.uk/en/Publications/World-Heritage-Sites-of-Wales-Toolkit.pdf.

Page 193



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 67 -

urban heritage experience and opportunities to undertake outdoor activities; 

and encourage better cross marketing between visitor facilities and with external 

partners.

3.6.7   Increase awareness of local residents (and their friends and relatives) to what 

is on offer in the town and the wider WHS (including joint promotions with 

the proposed Metro bus services to draw visitors from the City Region into 

Blaenavon).

3.6.8   Review white on brown tourist signage seeking to incorporate the WHS as a 

destination, including for the A465 (Heads of the Valleys) Highway Improvement 

Works.

3.6.9   Undertake market research on user and non-user profiles/attitudes and socio/

economic impact and monitor the growth of visitors in the WHS.

3.6.10  Provide appropriate investment in access infrastructure to prevent environmental 

impacts from increased visitor pressure in upland areas.

3.6.11  Work closely with the new Historic Wales and Visit Wales in the joint marketing 

of national cultural tourism campaigns and events, and promotion of the 

BILWHS as a pilot for collaborative partnership working in cultural tourism.

3.6.12  Continue to work with key partners including Visit Wales and Visit Britain to raise 

the profile of the WHS as a cultural tourism destination supporting new tourism 

business development and employment.

3.6.13  Capitalise on opportunities afforded by the A465 (Heads of the Valleys) Highway 

Improvement Works for enhancing access to and awareness of the BILWHS.

6.5 Contribution to Well-Being

6.5.1 The contribution of the exploring and enjoying the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape theme to 

the Well-being Goals for Wales is summarised in Table 6.1.

Page 194



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 68 -

 Table 6.1 – Contribution of Management Plan Theme to Well-being Goals for Wales

WELL-BEING GOALS FOR WALES CONTRIBUTION TO GOAL

Goal 1: A Prosperous Wales – An 
innovative, productive and low carbon 
society which recognises the limits of the 
global environment and therefore uses 
resources efficiently and proportionately 
(including acting on climate change); 
and which develops a skilled and well-
educated population in an economy which 
generates wealth and provides employment 
opportunities, allowing people to take 
advantage of the wealth generated through 
securing decent work.

Wales’ World Heritage Sites are iconic 
national tourism assets, generating millions 
in revenue each year.   The BILWHS provides 
a focus nationally and internationally for 
industrial heritage tourism.  Promoting 
the area as a cultural and outdoor activity 
destination presents an opportunity to raise 
the town’s profile and support existing and 
new businesses development, changing 
residents and visitors perceptions of what 
the town and wider landscape has to offer 
and increase footfall, trade and employment.  
Sustainable tourism can be used to create 
a strong sense of place in communities 
and facilitate community development.  
The Management Plan seeks to promote 
locally produced food/drink, generation of 
energy from micro-renewable sources and 
implementation of energy efficient building 
designs.  The visitor economy is well placed 
to support these polices through enhancing 
local production and supply chains and 
building resilience to climate change and 
fossil fuel depletion.  Organisations involved 
in the visitor economy can also play a role in 
developing and marketing sustainable travel 
marketing and Green Travel Plans. 

Page 195



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 69 -

WELL-BEING GOALS FOR WALES CONTRIBUTION TO GOAL

Goal 3: A Healthier Wales – a society in 
which peoples physical and mental well-
being is maximised and in which choices 
and behaviours that benefit future health 
are understood.

The BILWHS provides a setting in which 
activities that promote health and well-being 
can take place.  These include ‘active’ benefits 
such as walking and ‘passive’ benefits such 
as enjoying the tranquillity or inspirational 
scenery of the upland landscapes within 
and around the Site.  Good human health 
depends upon a good quality environment 
made possible by a flourishing and diverse 
ecosystem.  The work of the Partnership offers 
substantial opportunities to improve health 
and well-being, from providing opportunities 
for volunteering to ensuring sustainable 
access to inspirational places of industrial 
heritage interest.
The BILWHS Partnership is working with 
partners to unlock the benefits of the 
countryside to support the health and well-
being of people in Wales and beyond.  As 
described in ‘Our Health Future’, there is a 
move by public health and social care sectors 
in Wales to tackle some of the root causes 
of ill health to deliver health and social care 
beyond the traditional service models. The 
BILWHS has a part to play in the promotion 
of both physical and mental health.   The 
Partnership is working with partners in the 
countryside sections across Monmouthshire 
County Council, Blaenau Gwent County 
Borough Council, Torfaen County Borough 
Council and the Brecon Beacons National 
Park Authority to increase access opportunities 
and linkages and make sure there are good 
linked routes with standardised signage. 

Page 196



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 70 -

WELL-BEING GOALS FOR WALES CONTRIBUTION TO GOAL

Goal 6: A Wales of Vibrant Culture and 
Thriving Welsh Language – A society that 
promotes and protects culture, heritage 
and the Welsh language, and which 
encourages people to participate in the 
arts, and sports and recreation.

The visitor economy can take full advantage
of the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape’s
culture and traditions to promote cultural
heritage as an attraction which supports the
lives and livelihoods of the people who work
here, creating a richer experience for all.
This can be done through developing an
understanding of the value of the intangible
aspects of cultural heritage. Social history
and local culture are ever-changing facets of
this heritage. The WHS Partnership together
with other partner organisations within the
tourism sector can identify where traditions
and culture still play an active and valuable
role in modern life. The aim is to enable
local communities to identify, record and
share local history and culture.

6.5.2 This theme also makes a contribution to the relevant local Well-being Objectives for Torfaen 

and Monmouthshire as summarised in Table 6.2.

 Table 6.2 – Contribution of Management Plan Theme to Local Well-being Objectives

Exploring and Enjoying BIL

LOCAL WELL-BEING OBJECTIVES CONTRIBUTION TO OBJECTIVE
Exploring and enjoying the Blaenavon Indus-
trial Landscape in line with the principles set 
out in Box 6.1 will assist the Partnership in 
contributing to this well-being objective by:

Torfaen Public Service Board38

1. Develop a functional, connected 
network of natural areas that support the 
current and future well-being needs of 
local populations.

Providing opportunities for residents 
and visitors to engage with the natural 
environment of the upland landscapes within 
the Torfaen part of the WHS.

2 Develop adaptation and mitigation 
responses to the impacts of climate change.

Promoting sustainable tourism and visitor 
management to take full account of the long 
term environmental impacts on the WHS. 

3. Provide children and young people with 
the best possible start in life.

Providing opportunities for positive childhood 
experiences and increasing healthy 
behaviours for residents of Torfaen in relation 
to Welsh culture, heritage and language 
represented by the OUV of the BILWHS.

Page 197



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 71 -

LOCAL WELL-BEING OBJECTIVES CONTRIBUTION TO OBJECTIVE
Exploring and enjoying the Blaenavon Indus-
trial Landscape in line with the principles set 
out in Box 6.1 will assist the Partnership in 
contributing to this well-being objective by:

4. Support healthy lifestyles and enable 
people to age well.

Promoting opportunities for exploring and 
enjoying the cultural landscape; supporting 
people to live healthy and active lives.  

5. Tackle the inter-generational patterns of 
poverty and develop economic resilience.

Providing life-long learning, volunteering 
and engagement opportunities improving life 
opportunities for all people allowing them 
to fulfil their potential and become part of 
a healthy workforce contributing to wider 
economic wellbeing.

6. Improve local skills through work-force 
planning, training, apprenticeships and 
volunteering opportunities. 

Providing life-long learning, volunteering and 
engagement opportunities linked to tourism 
and the visitor offer of the WHS.

7. Create safe, confident communities and 
promote community cohesion.

Provide opportunities for engagement and 
inclusion that enables equality of opportunity 
as well as promoting good relations within the 
community.

Monmouthshire Public Service Board39

1. Provide children and young people with 
the best possible start in life. 

Providing opportunities for positive childhood 
experiences and increasing healthy 
behaviours for residents of Monmouthshire 
in relation to Welsh culture, heritage and 
language represented by the OUV of the 
BILWHS.

2. Respond to the challenges associated 
with demographic change.

Providing life-long learning and engagement 
opportunities in relation to Welsh culture, 
heritage and language represented by the 
OUV of the BILWHS.

3. Protect and enhance the resilience of 
our natural environment whilst mitigating 
and adapting to the impact of climate 
change.

Protecting, conserving and enhancing 
the natural environment within the 
Monmouthshire part of the WHS. All partners 
will work together to share knowledge and 
expertise to develop and deliver mitigation 
responses to the impacts of climate change 
within the WHS.

4. Develop opportunities for communities 
and businesses to be part of an 
economically thriving and well-connected 
county. 

Promoting sustainable economic development 
opportunities for rural communities and 
businesses within the Monmouthshire part of 
the WHS.

38Well-being Plan for Torfaen 2018 – 2023
39 Monmouthshire Public Service Board Well-being Plan 2018

Page 198



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 72 -

7.0 LEARNING AND COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT IN WORLD HERITAGE

7.1 Introduction

7.1.1 A key aim for the Partnership is to encourage greater community engagement in the protection, 

conservation, presentation and transmission of the Outstanding Universal Value of the 

BILWHS for the well-being of current and future generations through provision of learning and 

participation opportunities. In pursuing this aim, the Partnership will adopt the principles for 

learning and community engagement in World Heritage set out in Box 7.1.

Box 7.1 – Principles for Learning and Community Engagement in World Heritage

The Partnership will work collaboratively to:

•  Fulfil the obligations of the World Heritage Convention to present the OUV of the 

BILWHS and its transmission to future generations through learning and community 

engagement.

•  Engage all parts of the local community in the work of the WHS Partnership to help 

local communities understand the OUV and attributes which led to the inscription 

of the BILWHS through involvement in its management, creation of artistic and literary 

events and historical research activities, and good communication of the positive 

benefits that the Site provides.

•  Encourage learning at all levels to increase understanding of the BILWHS, its OUV 

and the importance of World Heritage for future generations by optimising the 

learning potential of the Site.

7.1.2 The main issues around the learning and community engagement in World Heritage theme are:

• Increasing community engagement and involvement in World Heritage

• Developing the Learning Offer

7.1.3 The needs and opportunities related to learning and community engagement in World 

Heritage are identified below, taking into account the needs of residents and businesses within 

Blaenavon, and its surrounding rural communities in the WHS, in relation to achieving the 

goals of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

7.1.4 Policies for the presentation and transmission of the Site’s OUV through learning and community 

engagement in World Heritage are also identified for each issue. The policies are supported 

by a list of related actions for projects and activities to be explored and delivered by partners 

over the plan period (details of lead partners, likely phasing, possible sources of funding and 

outcomes/indicators can be found in the Action Plan in Section 8.0).

Page 199



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 73 -

7.1.5 The main visitor attractions offering education and learning provision in the BILWHS are shown 

on Figure 8.

7.2 Increasing Community Engagement and Involvement in World Heritage

 Needs

7.2.1 There is a perceived lack of resources and opportunities for young people in Blaenavon. Seen 

against a backdrop of an increasing elderly (i.e. over 65s) population and a volunteer base with 

a predominantly elderly demographic, fuller engagement with young people is an increasingly 

important issue for the future of the town and the BILWHS.

7.2.2 Ensuring the involvement and participation of young people in the decision making processes 

for the WHS is key to its long term success. This approach has several benefits: it ensures that 

decisions are made to advance the interests of young people; increases the understanding and 

ownership of decisions; improves self-confidence and actively supports future employment 

prospects; and encourages good working relationships between young people and other 

members of the local community.

7.2.3 Since establishing the World Heritage Youth Ambassadors Programme in 2015, youth 

engagement in both the Blaenavon WHS, and interest in World Heritage more broadly, has 

increased. In order to harness the success of this programme, there is a need to more fully embed 

youth participation within the governance and management of the WHS. More specifically, 

there is a need to build upon the accomplishments of the UNESCO World Heritage Youth 

Summit (see Box 7.2) and the World Heritage Youth Ambassador Programme to maintain its 

momentum and ensure its continued success.

Box 7.2 – UNESCO World Heritage Youth Summit

In October 2015, the BILWHS hosted the UNESCO World Heritage Youth Summit under 

the theme “How can we use World Heritage to change the place we live in for the better?” 

The summit saw many of Britain’s World Heritage Sites represented by 134 young people 

aged between 12 and 18 (25 in special education) who came to celebrate and learn about 

World Heritage and how culture can change the world. The aims of the Summit were for 

youth-delegates to:

• Gain knowledge and understanding of their World Heritage Sites;

• Become champions for World Heritage and change for the better;

• Learn new skills to empower young people to have an active voice;

• Identify ways in which young people can use World Heritage to create a society that 

reflects the ambitions of a peaceful society.

During the Summit, young people shared their experience and enthusiasms for their local 

Page 200



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 74 -

World Heritage Sites and their ambitions for the future of the World they live in. There 

was an exciting programme visiting key attractions within the BILWHS such as Big Pit, 

Blaenavon Ironworks the Blaenavon World Heritage Centre and the Industrial Landscape.

7.2.4 In order to embed the role of young people in the governance and management of the WHS, 

there is a need to develop a more formalised role for the Blaenavon Youth Ambassadors (see 

Box 7.3). When asked how they could play a more influential role in conserving and promoting 

the WHS, the Youth Ambassadors expressed their passion and enthusiasm for increasing their 

involvement but stressed that this participation needed a more informal and specially tailored 

approach. The Youth Ambassadors also reported a need for more training opportunities, 

particularly in communication and public speaking, to support this involvement.

Box 7.3 – Blaenavon World Heritage Youth Ambassadors

The Blaenavon World Heritage Youth Ambassadors are a volunteer group dedicated to 

empowering young people to have a voice, learn about World Heritage, and contribute to 

the management of the Blaenavon World Heritage Site. The project was launched in 2015 

after Blaenavon WHS hosted the World Heritage UNESCO Youth Summit, when it was 

identified that young people needed to have a voice in the decisions that affect the heritage 

within their communities. The programme aims to support and develop confidence, self-

esteem, and problem-solving to ensure that young people’s voices are listening to. The Youth 

ambassadors are offered the following opportunities:

• Discovering and exploring the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape;

• Having a voice in the management off a World Heritage Site;

• Making friends from all over the world;

• Managing and participating in events and workshops;

• Helping to conserve ancient monuments;

• Going on fun days out and residential trips to other World Heritage Sites;

• Receiving qualifications and accredited training through ASDAN;

• Attaining volunteering hours awards and certificates.

7.2.5 There is also a need to facilitate greater collaboration and synergy with other community 

volunteer groups in the WHS, such as the Blaenavon World Heritage Environment Group for 

example. It is important that the physical access and engagement needs of disabled people, the 

elderly and dementia sufferers should be considered in all proposals for increasing community 

involvement in World Heritage.

 Opportunities

7.2.6 There is significant opportunity to build on the achievements of the World Heritage Youth 

Page 201



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 75 -

Ambassador programme by developing this as a model for other World Heritage Sites in the UK 

and elsewhere. Investigating and identifying funding sources could support the development of 

such an international engagement scheme. In order to maintain the profile of the programme, 

there is an opportunity to consider hosting the World Heritage Youth Summit in Blaenavon 

again in the future.

7.2.7 In order to ensure a more influential role for young people in the management and governance 

of the site, there is scope to develop a mechanism to give the World Heritage Youth Ambassadors 

a voice within decision-making processes for the WHS. This involvement may not necessarily 

come in the form of a formal role but instead could reflect the Youth Ambassador’s aspirations 

for a specially tailored means of participation.

7.2.8 There are also opportunities to promote collaboration and synergy with older members of the 

community - for example, by World Heritage Youth Ambassadors teaching social and digital 

media literacy skills to older generations to help support their engagement with the WHS and 

World Heritage, and participation in oral history recording projects to capture stories about 

growing up and living in Blaenavon.

 Policies and Actions

Policy 4.1: Actively engage young people in the WHS so that future generations have a 

voice in the decisions that affect the heritage in their communities.

Actions:

4.1.1   Develop a mechanism to give the World Heritage Youth Ambassadors a more 

influential voice within decision-making for the WHS in a way that reflects the 

Youth Ambassadors’ aspirations.

4.1.2   Seek funding to support the development of a national World Heritage Youth 

Engagement scheme, using the Youth Ambassador programme as a model

4.1.3   Endeavour to host the World Heritage Youth Summit in Blaenavon again in 

the future to maintain the profile of the World Heritage Youth Ambassador 

Programme.

4.1.4   Seek opportunities to promote collaboration and synergy with older members 

of the community (i.e. over 65’s).

Policy 4.2: Support volunteering to encourage greater community engagement in the 

WHS.

Actions:

4.2.1   Investigate opportunities to secure funding for a paid Community Volunteer 

Coordinator to support growth in volunteering activity and help promote more 

integrated ways of working between various community groups within the WHS.

Page 202



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 76 -

4.2.2   Conduct a volunteer survey to gain a better understanding of the barriers to 

community engagement, particularly for disabled people, the elderly and 

dementia sufferers, and develop a participation strategy to help increase 

engagement in the World Heritage across all parts of the local community 

building on existing partner information.

4.2.3  Develop a WHS Ambassador training scheme to encourage local businesses 

and residents to convey to visitors why the WHS is important and promote 

opportunities for enjoying and learning about the Site.

4.2.4  Develop training courses in ‘care/repair’ skills related to conservation of the built 

environment such as stone masonry, potentially accredited by the Blaenavon 

World Heritage Centre (an accredited training centre).

4.2.5   Offer volunteers qualification-based training which can help to improve 

confidence and support future employability in the heritage sector.

7.3 Blaenavon’s Learning Offer

 Needs

7.3.1 The current educational offer for schools provided by individual education providers within 

the WHS (see Boxes 7.4 – 7.7) is generally of high quality and well received. While there is a 

strong provision of formal education provision related to the WHS, there would be benefit in 

developing the educational offer to include informal and formal lifelong learning opportunities 

which cater for a wider range of audiences. An overarching education and learning strategy 

for the WHS is needed to set clear priorities in a climate where public sector funding will be 

increasingly under pressure. In light of recent curriculum developments, the Partnership has 

developed four key learning themes around which educational schemes can be structured. 

These include:

• Blaenavon and The World

• Landscape

• Cutting-edge Technology

• People

7.3.2 These learning themes could provide the foundation for an overarching strategy to align all 

individual education providers within the WHS with a unified approach to learning and 

education. To support these activities, there is a need to develop a research agenda in order to 

identify key gaps in knowledge that can contribute to enhancing the understanding of the Site’s 

OUV.

Page 203



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 77 -

7.3.3 While the provision of educational activities for primary education is strong, there is a need 

to diversify the educational offer in order to address a wider range of educational groups and 

themes. This offer needs to be expanded to address secondary and tertiary education as well 

to develop programs for special educational needs. More could also be done to promote an 

understanding of Blaenavon’s global context and World Heritage within the educational offer.

7.3.4 There is a highly developed community volunteer base in Blaenavon, however there is a need 

to promote and support increased levels of volunteering to encourage greater community 

engagement in the WHS. More could be done to increase the attractiveness of volunteering by 

ensuring that a high quality volunteering experience is offered. By fostering and developing 

heritage-related skills and training amongst the volunteer base, the Partnership can help to 

support employment prospects.

 Opportunities

7.3.5 There are a number of opportunities for developing the educational and learning offer related to 

the WHS. A key priority is to support one of Blaenavon’s greatest assets – the highly committed 

volunteer base who play an increasingly key role in the delivery of community services and 

activities, including formal and informal education provision. Conducting a volunteer survey 

could help to gain a better understanding of the needs and motivations of its volunteers as well 

as of the barriers to community engagement. This could be used as a basis for the development 

of a participation strategy which could help to increase engagement in the World Heritage 

across all parts of the local community.

7.3.6 A dedicated Volunteer Coordinator could help support the growth in volunteering activity and 

help promote more integrated ways of working between various community groups within the 

WHS. Opportunities for funding a paid Community Volunteer position could be investigated. 

This Coordinator could work with volunteers to establish a web presence for community 

engagement work in order to increase digital participation (this could include guidelines, 

toolkits, community contacts, shared learning and development etc.).

Box 7.4 – Blaenavon World Heritage Centre: Current Education and Interpretation Provision

The Blaenavon World Heritage Centre was established to provide a focal point to the area’s 

rich industrial legacy, telling the story of the people who have shaped the landscape from the 

earliest days of the Industrial Revolution to the present day using a range of media including 

film, audio, graphics, and interactive displays. The focus of the Centre’s exhibition space 

consists of eight touch-screen stations, each providing opportunities for students to explore 

six topics including living and working conditions during the 19th century, transport, the 

making of iron, geology and World Heritage. Featured within the exhibition space are two 

audio-stations which provide students with an opportunity to listen to first-hand testimonies 

by older residents of Blaenavon on various topics.

Page 204



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 78 -

A new Victorian replica classroom and learning facility has recently been developed to 

pay homage to the World Heritage Centre’s past as the first free workers school in Wales. 

Object handling kits have been developed to allow users to touch and play with real objects 

and compare and contrast the lives of the people of Blaenavon from the 19th to the 20th 

century. Sixteen different boxes have been developed which allow learners to explore 

the differences between poor and rich people, look at domestic and workers objects and 

compare contrasting cultures across the world. The main exhibition area is complemented 

by a small theatre that features films of 5 minute duration. One examines the development 

of Blaenavon’s Industrial Heritage, whilst the other focuses on World Heritage Sites. Both 

films contribute to the Curriculum Cymreig and PSE by helping students to understand the 

factors that have shaped Wales as well as exploring the theme of global citizenship. The 

Blaenavon World Heritage Centre also offers: guided investigate walks around the BILWHS; 

storytelling sessions by costumed interpreters; a facilitated 19th century discovery day based 

on a two-centre visit to the Blaenavon Ironworks and the Blaenavon World Heritage Centre, 

in partnership with Cadw.

7.3.7 In order to support the current volunteer base and encourage further participation in volunteering 

schemes, volunteers could be offered qualification-based training. Courses in ‘care/repair’ 

skills related to the conservation of the built environment, such as stone masonry, would not 

only benefit volunteers but could also support the on-going maintenance and conservation 

of the World Heritage Site. There is also scope to work with partners, such as the BBNPA, 

to develop an environmental conservation learning programme. The continued support and 

development of skills-based heritage apprenticeships such as those recently established for 

the Big Pit National Coal Museum is another means of doing this. There is also opportunity to 

develop a WHS Ambassador scheme to encourage local business and residents to convey the 

importance of the WHS to visitors. As well as increasing engagement in the World Heritage, 

training schemes such as these have the potential to improve confidence and support future 

employability in the heritage sector. As an accredited training centre, the Blaenavon World 

Heritage Centre could potentially accredit such training courses.

Box 7.5 – Big Pit National Coal Museum: Current and Interpretation Provision

Big Pit National Coal Museum is one of the few mining museums were visitors can descend 

in the pit cage and visit the places where generations of coal miners worked. Visitors travel 

300 metres underground and then, escorted by a real miner, they follow a 700 metre route, 

each wearing a helmet and lamp. This is supported by a host of above-ground galleries 

and exhibitions which are housed in the original colliery buildings. A range of educational 

activities based at the museum and led by museum staff is offered for Foundation, Key Stage 

2, 3 and 4 students. A collection of online teaching resources and self-led activities are also 

offered on the museums’ website.

7.3.8 Continued support for the Blaenavon Community Heritage Museum should be facilitated. 

There are opportunities to support the Museum’s genealogy service and family history work 

Page 205



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 79 -

by working with National Museum Wales to identify potential research projects which can aid 

understanding of people’s connections with the WHS, including and Blaenavon’s diaspora, and 

inform a future research agenda. Collaboration with tertiary education institutions to identify 

potential research projects could also help to inform such an agenda and contribute to the 

understanding of the WHS.

7.3.9 In order to gain an understanding of the needs of groups at all levels of education, a survey 

could be conducting of the various different educational groups currently using the WHS. The 

results of this survey could help to inform an overarching strategy to guide the approach of all 

education providers within the WHS. This could be further supported through collaboration 

with other World Heritage Sites in Wales to promote a joined-up approach to World Heritage 

education in Wales.

Box 7.6 – Blaenavon Ironworks: Current Education and Interpretation Provision

Visitors to the Blaenavon Ironworks managed by Cadw can view the extensive remains of 

the blast furnaces, cast houses and iconic water-balance tower. nThe site’s reconstructed 

company ‘tuck shop’, 19th and 20th century worker’s cottages and the Coal House Cottages 

offer an insight into the social history of the Industrial Revolution. On-site interpretation, 

including bilingual audio posts, information panels and as well as interactive models, help 

to bring the story of the Ironworks alive and support education about the iron making 

process, working conditions and the wider Industrial Landscape. An on-site education 

discovery room offers a range of interactive stations and facilitated activity sessions for 

students. Activities and themes include:

•  Delving Box: materials including coal, coke, iron ore, limestone, slag, cast iron, 

wrought iron.

• What’s in the cupboard?: 1840’s food for the rich and poor.

• What’s in my pocket?: 1840’s playthings for poor children.

• Who am I? 1840’s hats for rich and poor men, women and children.

• How do we know about history?

7.3.10 There is considerable potential to create a more diverse educational offer within the WHS. 

For example, the development of resources for secondary school students and children with 

special educational needs, which could be supported by coordinating existing and establishing 

new links with schools. There is also opportunity to work with local land owners and outdoor 

centres to provide outdoor educational facilities and resources. Collaborating with other 

education providers could also promote the development of multi-site educational activities 

within the WHS as well as more coordination of resources.

Page 206



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 80 -

Box 7.7 – Blaenavon Community Heritage Museum: Current and Interpretation Provision

The Blaenavon Community Heritage Museum is a small, sustainable museum that makes 

accessible elements of the tangible and intangible cultural heritage of the BILWHS for the 

enjoyment and benefit of society. The Museum, through its various activities, helps to sustain 

a lively, well-informed and wide-ranging debate on the significance of the BILWHS and 

the community of Blaenavon. The Community Heritage Museum, based in the Blaenavon 

Workmen’s Hall, houses a large and diverse collection of artefacts related to the history 

of the Blaenavon area, including a significant collection about Alexander Cordell. The 

collections consist of artefacts donated or loaned by various sources, typically with local 

connections. The Museum offers a genealogy service in conjunction with Blaenavon Library 

to provide informal educational opportunities for the community.

During 2012 and 2013, seven undergraduate and two postgraduate students from local 

universities, were engaged at the Museum through the ‘Millennium Volunteers’ programme. 

These Millennium Volunteers played an active role in preparing the Museum for accreditation 

status and assisted in producing work for education packages for schools. Most of these 

volunteers have since graduated and have successfully found employment, often in the 

heritage and tourism industries.

In addition, the Museum also engaged a second-year A-Level student from October 2013 

to September 2014 to gain work experience in museum systems, historical research, using 

archives, understanding and transcribing historical documents, delivering customer service, 

using and building databases and carrying out administration.

 Policies and Actions

Policy 4.3: Maximise the educational and learning potential of the WHS to enable local 

communities to fulfil their potential.

Actions:

4.3.1  Conduct a survey of the various different educational groups using the WHS to 

understand the needs of different groups at all levels of education and to inform 

an education strategy for the WHS.

4.3.2   Work with tertiary educational institutions to identify potential research projects 

which can contribute to the understanding of the WHS and inform a research 

agenda.

4.3.3   Coordinate existing and establish new links with schools to create more 

educational resources for secondary students and children with special 

educational needs.

4.3.4   Collaborate with other World Heritage Sites in Wales to promote a joined-up 

approach to World Heritage education.

4.3.5   Collaborate with other education providers to coordinate educational resources 

and encourage multi-site educational activities within the WHS

Page 207



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 81 -

4.3.6   Continue to support and develop skills-based heritage apprenticeships such as 

those recently established for the Big Pit National Museum.

4.3.7   Work with National Museum Wales to support research at the genealogy centre 

and to identify potential research projects that can aid understanding of people’s 

connections with the WHS.

4.3.8  Work with partners, such as the BBNPA, to develop an environmental 

conservation learning programme.

7.4 Contribution to Well-Being

7.4.1 The contribution of this learning and community engagement in World Heritage theme to the 

Well-being Goals for Wales is summarised in Table 7.1.

 Table 7.1 – Contribution of Management Plan Theme to Well-being Goals for Wales

WELL-BEING GOALS FOR WALES CONTRIBUTION TO GOAL

Goal 1: A Prosperous Wales – An 
innovative, productive and low carbon 
society which recognises the limits of the 
global environment and therefore uses 
resources efficiently and proportionately 
(including acting on climate change); 
and which develops a skilled and well-
educated population in an economy which 
generates wealth and provides employment 
opportunities, allowing people to take 
advantage of the wealth generated through 
securing decent work.

All Partners of the WHS work together to 
deliver heritage-based and outdoor learning in 
line with national and alternative curriculum 
policies for all ages.  Providing unique, 
BILWHS-focused learning experiences 
improves the understanding of the factors 
involved in managing the WHS among a 
population who will become future stewards 
of the cultural landscape.  Educating and 
involving adults, children and young people 
is an important aspect of the Partnership’s 
work. There are many organisations within 
and around the BILWHS that offer educational 
and learning opportunities for a wide variety 
of audiences enabling people to fulfil their 
potential (see Boxes 7.4 – 7.7).  
One of the key priorities for UNESCO and 
ICOMOS is to encourage the social benefits 
of World Heritage Sites.  Volunteering is one 
such mechanism which can help to ensure 
that the social benefit of the BILWHS is fully 
realised.  Heritage volunteering provides 
people with opportunities to learn new skills, 
meet people and strengthen communities, 
gain experience for future employment, as 
well as gain confidence and have fun.  The 
arts can also act as a tool for celebrating 
the Site’s OUV and educate people in the 
value and history of the BILWHS, increasing 
local pride in the area, so contributing to the 
regeneration and wellbeing of the community.  
Continuing to support volunteering and

Goal 3: A Healthier Wales – a society in 
which peoples physical and mental well-
being is maximised and in which choices 
and behaviours that benefit future health 
are understood.

Goal 4: A More Equal Wales – a society 
that enables people to fulfil their potential 
no matter what their background or 
circumstances (including their socio-
economic background and circumstances).

Goal 5: A Wales of Cohesive Communities 
– Attractive, viable, safe and well-
connected communities.

Goal 6: A Wales of Vibrant Culture and 
Thriving Welsh Language – A society that 
promotes and protects culture, heritage 
and the Welsh language, and which 
encourages people to participate in the 
arts, and sports and recreation.

Page 208



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 82 -

WELL-BEING GOALS FOR WALES CONTRIBUTION TO GOAL

community participation, through culture, 
heritage and arts, in the BILWHS can ensure 
that a strong community identity continues to 
be a defining feature of life in Blaenavon.  
The 2016 Torfaen Wellbeing Assessment 
noted that 24.3% of Blaenavon residents aged 
25 to 64 have no qualifications. However, the 
World Heritage Site provides opportunities for 
people of all ages, backgrounds and abilities 
to learn and be educated. Through education 
and lifelong learning, future generations 
can be provided with opportunities to 
grow up understanding the BILWHS and its 
OUV, and to want to continue caring for it.  
Moreover, by providing learning schemes 
and qualification-based training, Blaenavon’s 
heritage can support the future employability 
of its communities and thus help to fulfil their 
potential.
Raising community awareness and 
understanding of the BILWHS contributes to 
delivering a vibrant culture and thriving Welsh 
language.  Awareness and understanding 
encourages participation in cultural, sporting 
and recreational activities in the WHS. It 
encourages take up of access opportunities 
outlined in Theme 3, contributing to a 
healthier Wales, while also delivering a Wales 
of more vibrant culture.

7.4.2 This theme also makes a contribution to the relevant local Well-being Objectives for Torfaen 

and Monmouthshire as summarised in Table 7.2.

Page 209



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 83 -

 Table 7.2 – Contribution of Management Plan Theme to Local Well-being Objectives

LOCAL WELL-BEING OBJECTIVES CONTRIBUTION TO OBJECTIVE
Learning and community engagement in 
World Heritage in line with the principles set 
out in Box 7.1 will assist the Partnership in 
contributing to this well-being objective by:

Torfaen Public Service Board40

1. Develop a functional, connected 
network of natural areas that support the 
current and future well-being needs of 
local populations.

Providing opportunities for residents and 
visitors to engage with and learn about the 
natural environment of the upland landscapes 
within the Torfaen part of the WHS.

2 Develop adaptation and mitigation 
responses to the impacts of climate change.

Providing opportunities for sharing expertise 
and knowledge to develop and deliver 
mitigation responses to the impacts of climate 
change on the BILWHS.

3. Provide children and young people with 
the best possible start in life.

Providing opportunities for positive childhood 
experiences and increasing healthy 
behaviours for residents of Torfaen in relation 
to Welsh culture, heritage and language 
represented by the OUV of the BILWHS.

4. Support healthy lifestyles and enable 
people to age well.

Promoting opportunities for learning and 
engaging with the cultural landscape; 
supporting people to live healthy and active 
lives.  

5. Tackle the inter-generational patterns of 
poverty and develop economic resilience.

Providing life-long learning, volunteering 
and engagement opportunities improving life 
opportunities for all people allowing them 
to fulfil their potential and become part of 
a healthy workforce contributing to wider 
economic wellbeing.

6. Improve local skills through work-force 
planning, training, apprenticeships and 
volunteering opportunities. 

Provide local opportunities for volunteering, 
supporting people to learn, develop new skills 
and access employment.

7. Create safe, confident communities and 
promote community cohesion.

Provide opportunities for engagement and 
inclusion that enables equality of opportunity 
as well as promoting good relations within the 
community.

Monmouthshire Public Service Board41

1. Provide children and young people with 
the best possible start in life. 

Providing opportunities for positive childhood 
experiences and increasing healthy 
behaviours for residents of Monmouthshire 
in relation to Welsh culture, heritage and 
language represented by the OUV of the 
BILWHS.

Page 210



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 84 -

LOCAL WELL-BEING OBJECTIVES CONTRIBUTION TO OBJECTIVE
Learning and community engagement in 
World Heritage in line with the principles set 
out in Box 7.1 will assist the Partnership in 
contributing to this well-being objective by:

2. Respond to the challenges associated 
with demographic change.

Providing life-long learning and engagement 
opportunities in relation to Welsh culture, 
heritage and language represented by the 
OUV of the BILWHS.

3. Protect and enhance the resilience of 
our natural environment whilst mitigating 
and adapting to the impact of climate 
change.

Protecting, conserving and enhancing 
the natural environment within the 
Monmouthshire part of the WHS. All partners 
will work together to share knowledge and 
expertise to develop and deliver mitigation 
responses to the impacts of climate change 
within the WHS.

4. Develop opportunities for communities 
and businesses to be part of an 
economically thriving and well-connected 
county. 

Promoting sustainable economic development 
opportunities for rural communities and 
businesses within the Monmouthshire part of 
the WHS.

40Well-being Plan for Torfaen 2018 – 2023
41 Monmouthshire Public Service Board Well-being Plan 2018

Page 211



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 85 -

8.0 2018-2023 ACTION PLANS

8.1 Introduction

8.1.1 The policies for each management theme set out in Sections 4.0-7.0 will be implemented by 

the Partnership over the plan period through the related projects and activities set out in the 

Action Plans below.

8.1.2 The Action Plans identify:

• Aim – the theme’s overall aim that the actions in combination seek to deliver

• Policy – the policy that specific actions apply to

• Actions – a description of the action with a unique reference number

• Lead Partner – the partner responsible for taking the lead in delivery of the action

• Supporting Partner – the partner(s) responsible for supporting delivery of the action

• Priority/Timescale – the ‘Year’ action to be completed, or ‘On-going’ if delivery over the 

period of the Plan (2018-2023) or ‘Long term’ where delivery beyond lifetime of the Plan 

(2023 onwards)

• Related Actions – reference to other actions that are complementary to and/or support 

delivery of the action

• Funding Source – the potential source of funding for delivery of the action described as 

‘Existing’, ‘Grant’ and/or ‘Private’

• Outcomes/Indicators – for monitoring progress in delivery of the action and evaluating its 

impact

 List of Abbreviations

 ACW Arts Council Wales 

BGCBC Blaenau-Gwent County Borough Council 

BCS  Blaenavon Civic Society 

BCHM Blaenavon Community Heritage Museum 

BHR  Blaenavon Heritage Railway 

BTC  Blaenavon Town Council 

BBNPA Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

BWHC Blaenavon World Heritage Centre 

BWHEG Blaenavon World Heritage Environment Group 

Page 212



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 86 -

Cadw Cadw (Welsh Government Heritage Service) 

CRT  Canal & River Trust 

MBACT Monmouthshire, Brecon and Abergavenny Canals Trust 

MCC  Monmouthshire County Council 

MALW Museums Archives and Libraries Wales 

NMW Amgueddfa Cymru National Museum Wales 

NRW Natural Resources Wales 

NCC  Newport City Council 

PBR  Pontypool and Blaenavon Railway 

RCAHMW Royal Commission on the Ancient & Historical Monuments of Wales 

TCBC Torfaen County Borough Council 

VW  Visit Wales 

WG  Welsh Government 

WW  Welsh Water 

WUF Wye & Usk Foundation 

WHYA World Heritage Youth Ambassadors

Page 213



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 87 -

8.2 Governance and Management of the World Heritage Site – Action Plan

Actions Lead 
Partner

Supporting 
Partners

Priority/
Timescale

Related 
Actions

Funding  
Source

Outcomes/
Indicators

Policy 1.1 – Maintain a management structure for the Partnership that is effective in protecting the OUV of the BIL-
WHS and engages the local community in decision-making.

1.1.1 Implement 
streamlining of the 
Working Groups 
structure.

TCBC All 2017 N/A Frequency, attend-
ance and outcomes 
from Working Group 
meetings. 

1.1.2 Maintain effective 
contacts with 
ICOMOS UK, 
World Heritage 
UK and other 
World Heritage 
sites

TCBC Cadw On-going N/A Mutual awareness 
of current issues and 
good practice.

Policy 1.2 – Ensure effective condition monitoring, risk management and disaster planning for the site and its assets 
and areas.

1.2.1 Maintain a 
combined 
condition report 
and register of 
high-level risks 
focused on OUV 
across the site 
and ensure that 
all key assets are 
subject to risk 
management and 
disaster planning.

TCBC All 2018 Existing Risks recorded and 
managed.
Disaster plans in 
place.

1.2.2 Implement the 
emerging system 
for monitoring 
the condition 
of the BILWHS 
currently under 
development and 
being actively 
tested between 
partners (TCBC, 
BBNPA and 
Cadw), including 
the volunteer 
monitoring 
arrangements.

TCBC BBNPA, 
Cadw

On-going Existing, 
Grant

Establishment of 
condition register.
Improved condition 
of assets over time.

Page 214



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 88 -

8.3 Caring for the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape – Action Plan

Actions Lead 
Partner

Supporting 
Partners

Priority/
Timescale

Related 
Actions

Funding  
Source

Outcomes/
Indicators

Policy 2.1 – Ensure that the Site and its setting are effectively protected from development that could threaten its OUV

2.1.1 Ensure that 
planning measures 
and guidance 
relevant to the Site 
are understood 
and potential 
threats to the Site 
or its setting are 
controlled by LDP 
policies and joint 
Supplementary 
Planning Guidance 
where appropriate 
that may be 
adopted by all 
partners.

TCBC Cadw, BG-
CBC, MCC, 
BBNPA

2018 Existing OUV protected by 
effective control of 
inappropriate devel-
opment.

2.1.2 Consider 
implementing a 
Buffer Zone or 
other defined 
settings for the 
Site.

TCBC Cadw, NRW, 
BGCBC, 
MCC, BBNPA

2018 Existing Appropriate control 
of development 
preserves OUV

2.1.3 Expand existing 
BILWHS Design 
Guide SPG to 
include entire 
WHS.

BBNPA TCBC & MCC 2018-2022 Existing OUV of entire WHS 
is protected by 
Design Guidance.

Policy 2.2 – Improve the care and management of the relict upland landscape, particularly with regard to landscape 
crime, vegetation growth and climate change adaptation.

2.2.1 Build on recent 
experience to 
develop and 
resource a 
programme to 
deter and mitigate 
landscape crime, 
including littering, 
fly-tipping, arson 
and off-roading.

TCBC BBNPA, 
NRW, Cadw, 
MCC 

2017 Existing Reduction in the 
effects of landscape 
crime. 

2.2.2 Develop strategies 
for the holistic 
management 
of the natural 
and cultural 
environment 
(including a Tree 
Management 
Strategy) and 
seek resources 
to implement 
the Bracken 
Management Plan. 

TCBC BY, BBNPA, 
Cadw, NRW, 
NMW 

2022 Grant Better managed 
landscape that 
sustains protection 
and presentation 
of key attributes of 
OUV

Page 215



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 89 -

Actions Lead 
Partner

Supporting 
Partners

Priority/
Timescale

Related 
Actions

Funding  
Source

Outcomes/
Indicators

2.2.3 Enhance support 
and coordination 
for voluntary 
environmental 
work in the 
BILWHS.  

TCBC BWHEG, 
Cadw, 
BBNPA, 
MCC, CRT 

2018 Existing Increased capacity 
for voluntary work

2.2.4 Adopt the toolkit 
previously 
developed for 
undertaking work 
on common land.

TCBC BBNPA, 
MCC, BGCBC

2017 Existing Better relations with 
commoners/more 
consistent manage-
ment

2.2.5 Make the 
case to Welsh 
Government for 
potential post-
Brexit sustainable 
land management 
schemes to apply 
to World Heritage 
Sites.

TCBC BBNPA, 
MCC, BGCBC

2017-2018 Existing New schemes 
applies to BILWHS 
and helps farmers/
commoners 
sustain viable 
land management 
regimes

Policy 2.3 – Continue to enhance the heritage value and public amenity of the Blaenavon townscape.

2.3.1 Develop and seek 
to implement 
a plan for the 
conservation and 
sustainable use of 
Ty Mawr.

TCBC BCS, Cadw, 
BTC, 
RCAHMW

2017 Grant, 
Private 

Successful 
conservation of 
building in new use

2.3.2 Promote the 
sensitive repair, 
reuse and 
reinstatement 
of lost heritage 
features to key 
buildings in 
the townscape, 
particularly 
in and around 
Broad Street with 
support from the 
HLF Townscape 
Heritage Initiative.

TCBC BTC, Cadw 2018-2023 Grant, 
Private

Improved condition 
and sustainable use 
of town centre.

2.3.3 Improve paths, 
open space and 
signage around 
the townscape, 
including 
managing the 
vegetation in St 
Peter’s cemetery.

BTC TCBC, Cadw, 
BWHEG

On-going Existing Pedestrian routes 
used by visitors and 
local people.

Page 216



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 90 -

Actions Lead 
Partner

Supporting 
Partners

Priority/
Timescale

Related 
Actions

Funding  
Source

Outcomes/
Indicators

2.3.4 Consider 
opportunities to 
furnish empty 
shop windows 
with suitable 
reserve collection 
items from the 
Community 
Museum and 
other community 
groups.

BCHM TCBC On-going Existing More lively 
appearance of 
properties.

2.3.5 Continue 
to support 
maintenance and 
improvements of 
the Workmen’s 
Hall.

TCBC BTC, BCHM On-going Existing, 
Grant

More visitors to 
Workmen’s Hall and 
greater appreciation 
of its significance.

2.3.6 Implement recom-
mendations of the 
Blaenavon Town 
Centre Conserva-
tion Area Apprais-
al & Management 
Plan (2017 – 2022) 
including its as-
sociated Manage-
ment and Mainte-
nance Plan.

TCBC Blaenavon 
Community 
Museum, 
WHS YAMS, 
Community 
Stakeholders

2018-2023 Existing 
Grant

Improved 
management and 
maintenance of the 
Blaenavon Town 
Centre Conservation 
Area.

Policy 2.4 – Continue to conserve the industrial building and infrastructure of Blaenavon.

2.4.1 Maintain the 
Ironworks in a 
stable condition 
through 
implementation 
of a programme 
of conservation to 
consolidate fragile 
remains.

Cadw TCBC 2018-2022 Existing Improved 
conservation and 
visitor offer at the 
Ironworks.

2.4.2 Develop a 
BILWHS Heritage 
Ambassadors 
scheme that 
supports skills-
based heritage 
management 
apprenticeships 
for young people.

TCBC NMW, CRT, 
BBNPA, MCC

Long-term Existing More apprenticeship 
programmes 
developed. 

Page 217



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 91 -

Actions Lead 
Partner

Supporting 
Partners

Priority/
Timescale

Related 
Actions

Funding  
Source

Outcomes/
Indicators

2.4.3 Undertake 
programme of 
maintenance 
works to ensure 
that operation 
of the canal is 
not threatened 
by failure of 
embankments or 
changes in water 
supply.

CRT NRW, WG, 
WW, WUF, 
MCC, TCBC 

On-going Existing, 
Grant

Continued delivery 
of economic, social 
and environmental 
benefits from 
sustainable use of 
canal.

2.4.4 Continue to 
collect artefacts 
and oral testimony 
to enhance the 
understanding 
of the industrial 
history of the area.

BCHM TCBC, NMW On-going Existing, 
Grant

Enhanced 
collections and oral 
history resources. 

2.4.5 Promote the 
conservation of 
heritage assets 
at risk, such as 
the Powder Store 
and Forgeside 
electrical power 
house.

TCBC Cadw, BBNPA On-going Existing, 
Grant

Improved condition 
of heritage assets. 

8.4 Exploring and Enjoying the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape – Action Plan

Actions Lead 
Partner

Supporting 
Partners

Priority/
Timescale

Related 
Actions

Funding  
Source

Outcomes/
Indicators

Policy 3.1: Support, improve and develop the existing tourism attractions and future tourism businesses related to the 
industrial heritage of the WHS in line with market needs.

3.1.1 Support the 
Blaenavon 
Community 
Museum in its 
work relevant 
to the WHS’s 
outstanding 
universal value. 

BCHM TCBC, BTC, 
MALW. WG

On-going 3.1.2, 
3.1.6, 
3.2.7, 
3.4.1, 
3.6.1, 
3.6.5, 
3.6.6

Grant Maintenance of 
accredited museum 
status.

3.1.2 Develop the 
Workmen’s Hall as 
a major cultural 
centre for the 
arts, showcasing 
the area’s living 
cultural heritage 
e.g. brass bands, 
male voice choirs 
etc through a 
variety of events in 
conjunction with 
the Community 
Museum and 
Blaenavon World 
Heritage Centre.

TCBC BTC, BCHM, 
BWHC

On-going 3.1.1, 
3.6.1, 
3.6.5, 
3.6.6

Existing, 
Grant

Growth in visitor 
numbers

Page 218



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 92 -

Actions Lead 
Partner

Supporting 
Partners

Priority/
Timescale

Related 
Actions

Funding  
Source

Outcomes/
Indicators

3.1.3 Support Big Pit 
National Coal 
Museum, the 
most popular 
site in the WHS, 
to undertake 
essential 
infrastructure 
works, a new 
gateway, 
environmental 
improvements, 
provide access to 
the conservation 
stores and employ 
new apprentice 
guides.

NMW TCBC, VW On-going 3.4.1, 
3.6.1, 
3.6.3, 
3.6.5, 
3.6.6

Existing, 
Grant

Growth in revenue 
in line with NMW 
targets

3.1.4 Improve physical 
and intellectual 
access to the 
heritage of 
the Blaenavon 
Ironworks and 
develop the 
site as the focal 
point within 
the industrial 
landscape. 

Cadw VW, 
RCAHMW

On-going 3.4.1, 
3.6.1, 
3.6.3, 
3.6.5, 
3.6.6

Existing, 
Grant

Growth in visitor 
numbers

3.1.5 Support the long-
term ambition 
of the Pontypool 
& Blaenavon 
Railway to extend 
the line to the 
north and south 
and also offer a 
longer operating 
season, allied 
to the provision 
of related 
engineering 
training 
opportunities. 

PBR TCBC, VW, 
BGCBC

Long-term 3.4.1, 
3.6.1, 
3.6.3, 
3.6.5, 
3.6.6

Grant Growth in visitor 
numbers

3.1.6 Support the 
Blaenavon World 
Heritage Centre’s 
role as the primary 
gateway for 
tourists to the 
BILWHS. 

TCBC BBNPA, VW On-going 3.3.6, 
3.3.2, 
3.1.1, 
3.4.1, 
3.6.5

Existing Growth in visitor 
numbers, Growth in 
no of trade partners

3.1.7 Expedite the short-
term proposals 
for protection, 
and long-term 
proposals for full 
restoration, of the 
Monmouthshire & 
Brecon canal.

MBACT CRT, WG, 
TCBC, MCC, 
NCC

Long-term 3.3.3, 
3.3.4, 
3.3.5

Existing, 
Grant

Maintenance of 
vulnerable embank-
ments and phased 
restoration.

Page 219



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 93 -

Actions Lead 
Partner

Supporting 
Partners

Priority/
Timescale

Related 
Actions

Funding  
Source

Outcomes/
Indicators

3.1.8 Continue to work 
in Partnership 
with key partners 
including Visit 
Wales and 
Visit Britain in 
promoting the 
WHS to target 
domestic and 
overseas markets 
supporting new 
tourism business 
development and 
employment.

TCBC Visit Wales, 
Visit Britain

Long-term 3.6.1 - 
3.6.11

Existing Growth in visitor 
numbers, Growth 
in new tourism 
businesses/ 
employment

3.1.9 Support the 
implementation 
of Destination 
Management 
Plans for Torfaen, 
Monmouthshire 
and the Brecon 
Beacons National 
Park.

TCBC MCC, BBNP Long-term 3.6.1 - 
3.6.11

Existing Growth in visitor 
numbers

3.1.10 Support the Valleys 
that Changed the 
World/ERIH South 
Wales Regional 
Route initiatives to 
promote the South 
Wales region's 
industrial heritage 
as an entity 
involving local 
communities.

TCBC Cadw, 
BGCBC, 
MCC, BBNPA

On-going Existing BILWHS promoted 
as southern gateway 
to South Wales 
region's industrial 
heritage providing 
economic benefits 
for local community

Policy 3.2: Present Blaenavon town centre as the community focus in the industrial landscape; an attraction in its 
own right.

3.2.1 Enhance public 
transport access to 
Blaenavon, notably 
from Abergavenny.

Bus Oper-
ators

TCBC, WG Years 1-3 3.6.6, 
3.6.7

Existing New link to 
Abergavenny

3.2.2 Implement the 
proposed coach 
parking plans in 
Blaenavon. 

TCBC BTC Years 1-2 3.2.7, 
3.2.8

Existing Growth on base of 
coach arrivals

3.2.3 Review 
proposals and 
explore funding 
opportunities for 
the restoration of 
Ty Mawr as a key 
heritage asset in 
the WHS. 

BCS TCBC, BTC, 
VW, Cadw

Years 1-5 3.2.4, 
3.5.2, 
3.5.3

Private, 
Grant

Heritage preserved

Page 220



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 94 -

Actions Lead 
Partner

Supporting 
Partners

Priority/
Timescale

Related 
Actions

Funding  
Source

Outcomes/
Indicators

3.2.4 Support other 
physical 
improvements to 
the town centre 
that supports 
footfall and 
investment.

Property 
owners

TCBC, BTC Years 1-5 3.2.3, 
3.2.5, 
3.2.6

Existing, 
Grant

No of buildings, 
sites enhanced, 
Enhanced 
perception of 
cleanliness.

3.2.5 Review condition 
and effectiveness 
of the promoted 
pedestrian links 
between the town 
centre and Big 
Pit to include 
route condition 
and waymarking, 
current 
maintenance, use 
and any barriers 
to use; and 
develop actions 
as a result of the 
review to improve 
pedestrian 
connectivity and 
use of promoted 
routes.

TCBC NMW Years 1-2 3.1.3, 
3.2.4

Existing Increased usage

3.2.6 Make the road 
through the 
Gilchrist-Thomas 
estate more at-
tractive for visitors 
(rationalisation of 
parking, landscap-
ing etc.).

TCBC NMW Long-term 3.1.3, 
3.2.4

Existing Route improved

3.2.7 Support and 
coordinate local 
volunteers, cre-
ating a new team 
of WHS branded 
Ambassadors to 
act as ‘meeters & 
greeters’ within 
the town and at 
local events.

TCBC VW, BTC, 
BCHM

Years 1-2 3.3.2, 
3.1.1, 
3.4.1, 
3.6.5

Grant No of volunteers, 
No of visitors 
engaged with

3.2.8 Support existing 
and new business 
development ini-
tiatives, targeting 
visitor related 
businesses such as 
cycle hire, local 
produce shops, ca-
tering outlets etc.

TCBC BTC, VW Years 1-5 3.6.1, 
3.6.3, 
3.6.5, 
3.6.6

Existing, 
Grant

No of tourism 
related businesses 
supported

Page 221



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 95 -

Actions Lead 
Partner

Supporting 
Partners

Priority/
Timescale

Related 
Actions

Funding  
Source

Outcomes/
Indicators

3.2.9 Encourage local 
outlets to collab-
orate and review 
their opening 
hours in the light 
of visitor needs.

TCBC BTC Years 1-5 3.6.1, 
3.6.3, 
3.6.5, 
3.6.6

Amended hours of 
operation

Policy 3.3: Improve the outdoor visitor experience, helping to reinforce the WHS as a high quality visitor destination 
set in an attractive landscape.

3.3.1 Rationalise the 
number of walking 
trails, improving 
the quality of the 
Iron Mountain 
Trail as a core 
product with a 
range of shorter 
ancillary routes 
using print and 
digital format (the 
Blaenavon Digital 
passport).

TCBC, 
BBNPA

MCC, NRW, 
VW

Years 1-3 3.3.6, 
3.3.3, 
3.3.4, 
3.3.5

Existing, 
Grant

Creation of single 
set of hierarchical 
trails

3.3.2 Provide support 
for, and 
coordination of, 
local volunteers 
(WHS branded 
Ambassadors) to 
act as walking and 
heritage guides.

TCBC BCHM, BTC, 
VW, BBNPA, 
CRT, MCC

Year 1 3.3.6, 
3.2.7

Grant Growth on base of 
visitors on guided 
walks

3.3.3 Work with 
neighbouring 
authorities to 
create cross-
boundary walking 
and cycling routes 
e.g. The ‘Loops and 
Links’ Plan.

TCBC MCC, 
BGCBC, 
NRW, BBNPA

Years 1-3 3.3.6, 
3.3.4, 
3.3.5

Existing, 
Grant

Creation of single 
set of hierarchical 
trails

Page 222



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 96 -

Actions Lead 
Partner

Supporting 
Partners

Priority/
Timescale

Related 
Actions

Funding  
Source

Outcomes/
Indicators

3.3.4 Create the 
proposed multi-
use trail for 
walkers and 
cyclists based 
on NCR 492, 46 
and 49, linking 
Pontypool, 
Brynmawr and 
Abergavenny with 
Blaenavon via 
family friendly 
cycle loops off the 
main route.

TCBC MCC, 
BGCBC, 
BBNPA, CRT, 
VW, Sustrans

On-going 3.3.1, 
3.3.5

Existing, 
Grant

Growth on base of 
users

3.3.5 Improve the canal 
towpath as a high 
quality linear 
route for walking 
and cycling with 
clear signage and 
links to connecting 
routes.

BBNPA TCBC, MCC, 
NCC, CRT

Years 1-3 3.3.1, 
3.3.3, 
3.3.4, 
3.1.7

Existing, 
Grant

Growth on base 
of users, increased 
public benefits

3.3.6 Extend the range 
of information 
available on access 
to the wide range 
of outdoor leisure 
and educational 
activities and 
events available in 
the WHS outdoor 
activities at the 
Blaenavon World 
Heritage Centre 
with informed staff 
and materials. 

TCBC BBNPA, VW Year 1-2 3.3.2, 
3.6.4

Existing, 
Grant

Growth in visitor 
numbers to the WHS

Policy 3.4: Review interpretation of the industrial and natural landscape across the WHS.

3.4.1 Review 
interpretation 
opportunities 
across the 
WHS, reflecting 
not only the 
industrial heritage 
in the light of 
the Cadw pan-
Wales Heritage 
Interpretation 
Plan (2001), the 
European Route of 
Industrial Heritage 
and South Wales 
Route of Industrial 
Heritage but also 
the landscape and 
natural history of 
the site. 

TCBC All attractions 
VW, MCC

On-going 3.3.6, 
3.1.1, 
3.1.2, 
3.1.3, 
3.1.4, 
3.1.5, 
3.1.6

Grant Enhanced visitor 
satisfaction

Page 223



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 97 -

Actions Lead 
Partner

Supporting 
Partners

Priority/
Timescale

Related 
Actions

Funding  
Source

Outcomes/
Indicators

3.4.2 Investigate 
opportunities for 
new interpretive 
experiences 
within the WHS 
landscape through 
conservation of 
relevant buildings 
e.g. the Powder 
House and sites 
(lime works, 
inclines, tramways 
etc.). 

TCBC Cadw, 
RCAHMW

Long-term 3.3.1, 
3.4.1, 
3.4.3

Grant No of additional 
features

3.4.3 Use the arts as an 
interpretive tool 
and to enhance 
‘sense of place’ 
within the WHS 
landscape.

TCBC ACW On-going 3.3.1, 
3.4.1, 
3.4.2

Grant No of exhibits

Policy 3.5: Support the development of a wide range of visitor accommodation (subject to demand assessments) 
along with eating out and retail opportunities within the WHS to help maximise local economic impact.

3.5.1 Encourage 
the addition/
refurbishment of 
rooms at public 
houses within 
WHS.

Land 
owners

VW, TCBC, 
BBNPA, MCC

On-going 3.6.1, 
3.6.3, 
3.6.6

Private, 
Grant

No of new rooms

3.5.2 Encourage 
local residents/
landowners to 
offer B&B and/
or self-catering 
accommodation 
including hostel/
bunkhouse/
field studies type 
accommodation 
geared for those 
involved in 
outdoor pursuits 
without adversely 
impacting upon 
the character 
of the area or 
the OUV of the 
BILWHS.

Land 
owners

VW, TCBC, 
BBNPA, MCC

On-going 3.6.1, 
3.6.3, 
3.6.6

Private, 
Grant

No of new beds

Page 224



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 98 -

Actions Lead 
Partner

Supporting 
Partners

Priority/
Timescale

Related 
Actions

Funding  
Source

Outcomes/
Indicators

3.5.3 Work with local 
landowners to 
identify suitable 
sites for caravan 
and camping 
provision within 
the WHS that 
benefit from 
the potential 
for access from 
the improved 
A465 and do not 
adversely impact 
upon the OUV of 
the BILWHS.

Land 
owners

VW, TCBC, 
BBNPA, MCC

On-going 3.6.1, 
3.6.3, 
3.6.6

Private, 
Grant

No of new pitches 
pa

Policy 3.6: Raise the profile of the WHS as a unique cultural tourism destination for combining exploration and 
enjoyment of the area’s outstanding industrial heritage with opportunities for engaging in outdoor experiences.

3.6.1 Continue to 
promote the 
WHS’s outstanding 
universal values 
to the relevant 
special interest 
markets, working 
in particular 
with other Welsh 
WHSs.

TCBC BBNPA, CRT, 
VW, MCC, All 
attractions, 
other WHSs

On-going 3.1.1, 
3.1.4, 
3.6.2, 
3.6.3, 
3.6.4, 
3.6.5, 
3.6.6, 
3.6.7, 
3.6.8

Existing Growth in no 
of  visitors whose 
primary interest is 
industrial heritage

3.6.2 Seek enhanced 
representation for 
the WHS and the 
Iron Mountain 
Trail on published 
maps including 
Ordnance Survey 
and BBNPA maps.

TCBC BBNPA, MCC Years 3-4 3.6.1, 
3.6.3

Existing Amendments to key 
maps

3.6.3 Capitalise on 
the powerful 
brands of the 
Brecon Beacons, 
the canal and 
Big Pit National 
Coal Museum to 
promote the WHS 
as an area for 
outdoor leisure 
and educational 
activity; and 
promote 
Blaenavon World 
Heritage Centre as 
a gateway to the 
National Park.

TCBC BBNPA, 
CRT, VW, All 
attractions, 
MCC

On-going 3.3.1, 
3.6.1, 
3.6.2, 
3.6.4, 
3.6.5, 
3.6.6, 
3.6.7, 
3.6.8

Existing Growth in no 
of  visitors whose 
primary interest is 
outdoor activity

3.6.4 Seek ‘Walkers are 
Welcome’ status 
for Blaenavon.

BTC TCBC Years 2-3 3.3.1, 
3.6.3, 
3.6.5, 
3.6.6

Existing, 
Grant

WAW status 
awarded

Page 225



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 99 -

Actions Lead 
Partner

Supporting 
Partners

Priority/
Timescale

Related 
Actions

Funding  
Source

Outcomes/
Indicators

3.6.5 Develop events 
in the WHS 
(a principal 
marketing tool), 
building on the 
success of existing 
cultural and 
community events 
and supporting 
new events 
appropriate to 
the site (including 
food/drink festivals 
to promote local 
produce).

TCBC Attractions, 
BTC, Third 
sector, Third 
parties

On-going 3.6.1, 
3.6.3, 
3.6.4, 
3.6.6

Existing, 
Grant, 
Private

No of events, No 
of participants/ 
spectators

3.6.6 Encourage 
cooperation 
amongst 
WHS’s tourism 
stakeholders to 
create BILWHS 
branded products/ 
itineraries/
packages for 
day and staying 
visitors, an 
attractive 
urban heritage 
experience and 
opportunities to 
undertake outdoor 
activities; and 
encourage better 
cross marketing 
between visitor 
facilities and with 
external partners.  

TCBC All attractions 
VW, MCC, 
BGCBC, 
BBNPA

Years 1-2 3.6.1, 
3.6.3, 
3.6.5, 
3.6.7

Existing Action formally 
endorsed by partner 
organisations. No of 
itineraries created 
and no of associated 
visitors

3.6.7 Increase 
awareness of 
local residents 
(and their friends 
and relatives) to 
what is on offer 
in the town and 
the wider WHS 
(including joint 
promotions with 
the proposed 
Metro bus 
services to draw 
visitors from the 
City Region into 
Blaenavon).

TCBC Attractions On-going 3.6.1, 
3.6.3, 
3.6.5

Existing Growth in local 
visitor numbers to 
the town and WHS

Page 226



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 100 -

Actions Lead 
Partner

Supporting 
Partners

Priority/
Timescale

Related 
Actions

Funding  
Source

Outcomes/
Indicators

3.6.8 Review white on 
brown tourist 
signage seeking 
to incorporate 
the WHS as a 
destination, 
including 
for the A465 
(Heads of the 
Valleys) Highway 
Improvement 
Works.

TCBC WG Years 2-3 3.6.1, 
3.6.3, 
3.6.13

Existing New, improved 
WHS signage

3.6.9 Undertake market 
research on user 
and non-user 
profiles/attitudes 
and socio/
economic impact 
and monitor the 
growth of visitors 
in the WHS.

TCBC All partners Years 1-5 Existing Annual report, 
Visitor surveys

3.6.10 Provide 
appropriate 
investment 
in access 
infrastructure 
to prevent 
environmental 
impacts from 
increased visitor 
pressure in upland 
areas.

BBNPA BWHEG, 
TCBC, MCC

Years 1-5 3.6.4 Existing, 
Grant

Environmental 
impacts from 
increased access 
managed

3.6.11 Work closely with 
the new Historic 
Wales and Visit 
Wales in the joint 
marketing of 
national cultural 
tourism campaigns 
and events, and 
promotion of the 
BILWHS as a pilot 
for collaborative 
partnership 
working in cultural 
tourism.

TCBC All partners Years 1-5 Existing Increased visitor 
spend over the 
plan period and 
investment in 
local businesses 
supporting cultural 
tourism.

Page 227



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 101 -

Actions Lead 
Partner

Supporting 
Partners

Priority/
Timescale

Related 
Actions

Funding  
Source

Outcomes/
Indicators

3.6.12 Continue to work 
with key partners 
including Visit 
Wales and Visit 
Britain to raise 
the profile of 
the WHS as a 
cultural tourism 
destination 
supporting new 
tourism business 
development and 
employment.

TCBC Visit Wales, 
Visit Britain

Long-term 3.6.1 - 
3.6.10

Growth in visitor 
numbers, Growth 
in new tourism 
businesses/ 
employment

3.6.13 Capitalise on 
opportunities 
afforded by the 
A465 (Heads 
of the Valleys) 
Highway 
Improvement 
Works for 
enhancing access 
to and awareness 
of the BILWHS.

TCBC MCC, 
BGCBC, 
BBNPA

Years 1-2 3.6.8 Existing Enhanced access 
to and awareness 
of the BILWHS for 
visitors.

8.5 Learning and Community Engagement in World Heritage – Action Plan

Actions Lead 
Partner

Supporting 
Partners

Priority/
Timescale

Related 
Actions

Funding  
Source

Outcomes/
Indicators

Policy 4.1 – Actively engage young people in the WHS so that future generations have a voice in the decisions that 
affect the heritage in their communities.

4.1.1 Develop a 
mechanism to 
give the World 
Heritage Youth 
Ambassadors a 
more influential 
voice within 
decision-making 
for the WHS 
in a way that 
reflects the Youth 
Ambassadors’ 
aspirations.

TCBC Cadw, WHYA 2018 4.2.1 Existing Formally recognised 
voice for Youth 
Ambassadors in 
WHS Partnership. 

4.1.2 Seek funding 
to support the 
development of 
a national World 
Heritage Youth 
Engagement 
scheme, using the 
Youth Ambassador 
programme as a 
model

TCBC Cadw, NMW Long-term 4.1.1, 
4.1.3

Grant Development 
of International 
World Heritage 
Engagement Scheme 
supported and 
adopted by other 
WHS. 

Page 228



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 102 -

Actions Lead 
Partner

Supporting 
Partners

Priority/
Timescale

Related 
Actions

Funding  
Source

Outcomes/
Indicators

4.1.3 Endeavour to 
host the World 
Heritage Youth 
Summit in 
Blaenavon again 
in the future to 
maintain the 
profile of the 
World Heritage 
Youth Ambassador 
Programme.

TCBC WHYA, BTC, 
Cadw, NMW

2022 4.1.2 Existing, 
Grant

World Heritage 
Youth Summit Held 
in Blaenavon.

4.1.4 Seek opportunities 
to promote 
collaboration and 
synergy with older 
members of the 
community (i.e. 
over 65’s).

TCBC WHYA, BTC, 
MCC, BGCC, 
NMW 

Long-term 4.2.1, 
4.3.7

Existing Collaborative 
activities completed 
and, or planned. 
Possible exhibition 
held to showcase 
outcomes.

Policy 4.2 – Support volunteering to encourage greater community engagement in the WHS.

4.2.1 Investigate 
opportunities to 
secure funding for 
a paid Community 
Volunteer 
Coordinator to 
support growth 
in volunteering 
activity and 
help promote 
more integrated 
ways of working 
between various 
community groups 
within the WHS. 

TCBC BCHM, 
BBNPA, 
Cadw, NMW, 
WHYA

2018 4.1.1, 
4.1.4, 
4.2.7

Existing Project Scoped. 

4.2.2 Conduct a 
volunteer survey 
to gain a better 
understanding 
of the barriers 
to community 
engagement, 
particularly for 
disabled people, 
the elderly and 
dementia sufferers, 
and develop a 
participation 
strategy to 
help increase 
engagement 
in the World 
Heritage across 
all parts of the 
local community 
building on 
existing partner 
information.

TCBC BCHM, 
WHYA, 
BBNPA, 
Cadw, NMW 

2022 4.2.1 Existing Survey conducted, 
Participation Strategy 
delivered. 

Page 229



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 103 -

Actions Lead 
Partner

Supporting 
Partners

Priority/
Timescale

Related 
Actions

Funding  
Source

Outcomes/
Indicators

4.2.3 Develop a WHS 
Ambassador 
training scheme 
to encourage 
local businesses 
and residents to 
convey to visitors 
why the WHS 
is important 
and promote 
opportunities 
for enjoying and 
learning about the 
Site.

BTC TCBC, VW, 
BCHM, 
WHYA

Long-term 4.2.1, 
4.3.2, 
4.5.2

Grant Training schemes 
delivered. 

4.2.4 Develop training 
courses in 
‘care/repair’ 
skills related to 
conservation 
of the built 
environment such 
as stone masonry, 
potentially 
accredited by the 
Blaenavon World 
Heritage Centre 
(an accredited 
training centre).

Cadw RCAHMW, 
BTC, TCBC

Long-term 4.2.5 Grant Training courses 
developed and 
delivered. 

4.2.5 Offer volunteers 
qualification-based 
training which can 
help to improve 
confidence and 
support future 
employability 
in the heritage 
sector. 

Cadw BCHM, 
WHYA, 
Cadw, VW 
BBNPA, 
RCAHMW, 
NMW

Long-term 4.2.4, 
4.1.5, 
4.3.2

Grant Training delivered. 

Policy 4.3 – Maximise the educational and learning potential of the WHS to enable local communities to fulfil their 
potential.

4.3.1 Conduct a 
survey of the 
various different 
educational groups 
using the WHS to 
understand the 
needs of different 
groups at all levels 
of education 
and to inform an 
education strategy 
for the WHS.

TCBC NMW, Cadw, 
BBNPA, 
WHYA, 
BCHM

2019 4.3.2, 
4.3.3

Existing Survey conducted, 
education strategy 
prepared.

Page 230



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 104 -

Actions Lead 
Partner

Supporting 
Partners

Priority/
Timescale

Related 
Actions

Funding  
Source

Outcomes/
Indicators

4.3.2 Work with tertiary 
educational 
institutions to 
identify potential 
research projects 
which can 
contribute to the 
understanding 
of the WHS and 
inform a research 
agenda.

TCBC NMW, Cadw, 
BBNPA, 
RCAHMW, 
BCHM, 
WHYA

Long-term 4.1.4, 
4.2.4, 
4.2.5, 
4.3.7, 
4.1.1

Existing, 
Grant

Research identified, 
Research Agenda 
written.

4.3.3 Coordinate 
existing and 
establish new 
links with schools 
to create more 
educational 
resources for 
secondary students 
and children 
with special 
educational needs.

NMW Cadw, 
TCBC, MCC, 
BGCBC, 
BBNPA, 
BCHM

On-going 4.3.1, 
4.3.2

Existing Development 
of educational 
resources for 
secondary schools 
and children with 
educational needs. 

4.3.4 Collaborate with 
other World 
Heritage Sites in 
Wales to promote 
a joined-up 
approach to 
World Heritage 
education.

Cadw TCBC, NMW On-going 4.3.1, 
4.3.2, 
4.1.4

Existing, 
Grant

Joined-up approach 
to education in 
place

4.3.5 Collaborate with 
other education 
providers to 
coordinate 
educational 
resources and 
encourage multi-
site educational 
activities within 
the WHS.

TCBC BBNPA, 
Cadw, NMW, 
CRT, BTC, 
BCHM

On-going 4.3.1, 
4.3.4, 
4.1.4

Existing Multi-site 
educational 
activities developed

4.3.6 Continue to 
support and 
develop skills-
based heritage 
apprenticeships 
such as those 
recently 
established for the 
Big Pit National 
Museum. 

NMW Cadw, WHYA Long-term 4.2.4, 
4.2.5, 
4.1.3

Grant More apprenticeship 
programmes 
developed. 

Page 231



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

- 105 -

Actions Lead 
Partner

Supporting 
Partners

Priority/
Timescale

Related 
Actions

Funding  
Source

Outcomes/
Indicators

4.3.7 Work with 
National Museum 
Wales to support 
research at the 
genealogy centre 
and to identify 
potential research 
projects that can 
aid understanding 
of people’s 
connections with 
the WHS. 

NMW TCBC, BTC, 
WHYA, Cadw 

2019 4.2.1, 
4.3.1, 
4.3.2, 
4.2.5, 
4.1.1

Grant Research projects 
identified.  Research 
underway. 

4.3.8 Work with 
partners, such 
as the BBNPA, 
to develop an 
environmental 
conservation 
learning 
programme.

TCBC BBNPA, 
Cadw, 
RCAHMW, 
CRT

Long-term 4.3.1, 
4.3.2, 
4.3.3, 
4.3.5

Existing, 
Grant

Learning 
programmes 
developed. 

8.6 Monitoring Actions

8.6.1 The Partnership will monitor implementation of each action against the identified outcomes on 

an annual basis.

8.6.2 The Partnership will also keep the priorities for action under review on an annual basis in 

relation to the Management Plan’s objectives for 2018-2023 identified in Section 3.3. Where 

necessary, the Partnership will update and publish revised Action Plans to reflect the availability 

of resources/funding, changing needs and/or new opportunities as appropriate.

Page 232



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford AssociatesPage 233



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

APPENDICES

Page 234



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

APPENDIX A

Review of the BILWHS Management Plan 2011-2016

During the Plan period, the effective management of the World Heritage Site by the Blaenavon Partnership 

has continued with positive cooperation between members of the Partnership and also effective working 

with community groups.

The existing management Plan has played a central role in how the World Heritage Site has been 

managed. It has been used to inform and guide, landscape management, planning decisions, education 

and interpretation projects, marketing initiatives and project development as well as individual funding 

applications and work programmes. Welsh Government in its Managing Change in World Heritage Sites 

Wales (May 2017) highlights the Plan as an exemplar of best practise recognising that:

• The Blaenavon World Heritage Site Partnership successfully brings together all responsible parties to 

collaborate on the management plan.

• There is an overarching vision for the site that responds to local needs as well as protecting the sites 

Outstanding Universal Value.

• It sets out the significance of the site and how it can be protected and enhanced.

• It sets out the management roles and responsibilities of the partnership, the steering group and working 

groups, which are flexible enough to respond to meet changing circumstances.

• It sets out management objectives focused on the key issues and proposals for specific projects and 

activities, including likely phasing and possible sources of funding.

• Wide public and partner consultation has ensured that the plan is robust.

• The success of the plan has demonstrated that heritage protection and heritage-led regeneration are 

complimentary.

• The plan is kept under review.

Despite a prolonged period of UK Government led austerity measures being implemented within the 

public sector, the Partnership has maintained effective management of the sites Outstanding Universal 

Value. A great deal has been achieved within the World Heritage Site under the overarching framework 

set out by the Plan and the majority of the actions and ambitions set out have been delivered or are 

ongoing. This has been achieved in many cases because of the excellent partnership working in and 

around the World Heritage Site.

Continued support for the Co-ordinators role in managing the Site has ensured an active and focused 

Steering Group who, along with the supporting Working Groups, have ensured that the key components 

of the sites Outstanding Universal Value have been managed and safeguarded for future generations.

The new Management Plan seeks to build upon the success of both Management Plans implemented to 

Page 235



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

date and presents actions that will assist in maintaining the momentum of the heritage led regeneration 

that has been delivered by the Partnership since inscription in 2000 whilst also ensuring the management 

of the Sites Outstanding Universal Value.

Continued austerity measures however has introduced a need to re-consider the governance structure of 

the Partnership. Going forward, there is a need to ensure that partner organisations whose resources are 

all under pressure, are able to continue to effectively engage with and support the Partnership and delivery 

of the new Management Plan.

It is also recognised that there is a growing interest within the local community across all demographic 

age groups to become more actively involved in the management of the Site. Consultation as part of 

the preparation of the new Plan has revealed a perceived lack of communication and engagement 

opportunities within the management of the Site. The emerging new Plan will need to consider these 

issues.

Statement of Outstanding Universal Value

A major achievement has been the development of the Statement of Outstanding Universal Value. In 

2007, the World Heritage Committee requested that Statements of Outstanding Universal Value be drafted 

and approved retrospectively for all World Heritage properties inscribed between 1978 and 2006, prior to 

the launch of the Second Cycle of Periodic Reporting in each region. Final approval of the retrospective 

Statement of Outstanding Universal Value for Blaenavon was granted by the UNESCO World Heritage 

Committee at its meeting on 27th June 2013 following agreement of drafts by ICOMOS UK, English 

Heritage and Cadw.

As part of the process of preparing the Statement of Outstanding Universal Value, four overarching 

Attributes, thereafter broken down into key Components for the Site, were drafted by the Steering Group 

during the early months of 2013 and following extensive discussion were agreed by the Steering Group. 

A diagrammatic expression has been prepared to express the attributes and components of the Sites 

Outstanding Universal Value. This has proved to be very successful in assisting Officers, developers and 

the public in understanding the significance of the Site and its key elements and has been highlighted 

by Welsh Government42 as an excellent illustration of how physical and intangible elements combine to 

present the values of a complex World Heritage Site.

UNESCO Periodic Reporting Exercise

As part of UNESCO’s Periodic Reporting exercise for Europe and North America a Periodic Review for 

the World Heritage Site has been undertaken by the Partnership in consultation with all twelve partners.

The UNESCO Periodic Review provides an assessment of the application of the World Heritage Convention 

(1972) by State Parties. It also facilitates the update of information on the World Heritage property and 

records possible changes in their state of conservation. The purpose of the Periodic Review is to assure the 

World Heritage Committee that the Outstanding Universal Value of the Site is being upheld by the State 

Parties.

42Managing Change in World Heritage Sites in Wales (Welsh Government, 2017)

Page 236



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

The Periodic Review represented a significant piece of work for the Partnership and was the subject of 

extensive consultation with all partners throughout late 2012 and early 2013.

Of 77 factors considered that could negatively affect the World Heritage Site, only 5 were considered 

current risk areas. These are:

• Renewable Energy Facilities – (Wind power facilities)

• Water – (Erosion damage caused by surface water run off)

• Illegal activities – (Vehicle Off-roading in the Landscape)

• Deliberate Destruction of Heritage – (Fire caused by Arson)

• Hyper-Abundant Species – (Bracken on the Landscape)

The Review also assessed current arrangements for the protection, management and monitoring of the 

World Heritage Site. Of 57 areas where these factors were assessed, only 4 management actions have 

been highlighted for attention. These are:

• There is a need for a Buffer Zone to the World Heritage Site.

• The boundaries of the World Heritage Site are not known by local residents/communities/landowners.

• Research in the Site is not planned.

• Key indicators have not been defined.

The Board formally approved the findings of the Review at its meeting on 27th March 2013. ICOMOS 

UK, Cadw and English Heritage were formally consulted during the process prior to final submission to 

UNESCO. The Review concluded that the Outstanding Universal Value of the World Heritage Site has 

been maintained by the Partnership and that its condition is intact. The risk areas and management actions 

highlighted will need to be addressed within the new Management Plan.

Strategic Policy Development

During the Plan period, a number of key legislative and policy developments effecting World Heritage 

Sites have been developed and implemented. These are welcomed by the Partnership as having a direct 

and positive impact upon management of the World Heritage Site. They have been taken into account in 

the preparation of the new Management Plan and include:

• Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015

• The Historic Environment (Wales) Act 2016

• The Environment (Wales) Act 2016

• Planning (Wales) Act 2015

Page 237



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

• Managing Change in World Heritage Sites in Wales, Welsh Government, May 2017

• Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9), Welsh Government, November 2016.

• Technical Advice Note 24: The Historic Environment, Welsh Government, May 2017

• Partnership for Growth, Welsh Government Strategy for Tourism 2013-2020

• City Deal for the Cardiff Capital Region

Landscape Management

The Forgotten Landscapes Partnership (FLP) has been a key project delivered within the Plan period. 

The project evolved in response to the need to continue the conservation and presentation of the World 

Heritage Site. FLP activities have made a major contribution to the work of the Blaenavon Partnership.

The Landscape Partnership Scheme delivered a range of projects across this landscape between October 

2010 and September 2015. The Scheme’s cash budget amounted to £2.375m, of which £1.474m (62%) 

came from the Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF). Cash inputs were complemented by ‘in-kind’ contributions 

(mostly volunteer time), resulting in a total turnover for the Scheme of about £2½m.

During development of the project it became clear that its objectives were closely aligned to those of the 

Blaenavon Partnership. As such, a pragmatic decision was made (with the agreement of the HLF) to embed 

the governance requirements of the FLP project into that of the Blaenavon Partnership and to extend the 

geographical scope (reflecting the larger area covered by FLP) of the World Heritage Site Management 

Plan to include the extent of the FLP boundary for the Plan period. This arrangement seems to have 

worked well and there doesn’t appear to have been any conflict between the Landscape Partnership goals 

and the ambitions of the World Heritage Site43.

The resulting World Heritage Site Management Plan identified the FLP’s programme of work identifying 

a range of additional work that would further enhance the World Heritage Site and its landscape setting 

through:

• The conservation of industrial archaeology in the landscape;

• Habitat management to improve circumstances for the area’s many important species;

• Access and interpretation improvements;

• Effective community engagement,

• Educational programmes; and

• Opportunities for volunteering and training.

43Forgotten Landscape: Evaluation of Forgotten Landscapes Partnership Scheme (May 2015)

Page 238



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Incorporating FLP’s work programmes ensured the effective delivery of the Programme and ensured 

synergies with the Plans overarching vision and objectives. During the Plan period FLP activities made a 

major contribution to the work of the Blaenavon Partnership delivering:

• The conservation of five Scheduled Monuments.

• 250ha of land managed for heathland conservation, including bracken control, heather cutting and 

burning and creating fire breaks.

• Red Grouse Conservation – the population more than doubled during the project delivery period.

• 5000 school children engaged in heritage education. 200 lifelong learners attended heritage courses.

• 50 Volunteers recruited and the Blaenavon World Heritage Environment Group (BWHEG) established.

• Programme of guided walks and establishment of World Heritage Site Walking Festival – led by 

BWHEG.

• 24 miles of new trails, 9 new trail leaflets.

• Installation of new interpretation at the World Heritage Centre including 4 new films and a Victorian 

classroom experience.

• Commoners Associations engaged and Commoners assisting in land management decision making 

and project delivery.

• 25kW micro hydro scheme installed on the Afon Lwyd generating income which supports the 

World Heritage Centre; the BWHEG and their ongoing land management activities; marketing and 

promotional activities; and learning activities.

The FLP Scheme represented a singularly important project within the Plan delivering landscape 

scale management and sustainable conservation of the landscapes cultural and natural heritage. The 

establishment of the Blaenavon World Heritage Environment Group (BWHEG) and their subsequent 

contribution to caring for and maintaining key landscape features and infrastructure is recognised by the 

Partnership who have valued their input and contribution to protecting the sites Outstanding Universal 

Value.

Education & Interpretation

The achievements against the Plans Community Engagement, Education and Training objectives have 

been significant. The Education and Interpretation Group have been proactive and delivered activities that 

fulfil the Plan’s educational objectives.

Over the last six years the Site has become a UK lead in Youth Engagement and World Heritage through 

the delivery of the 2015 Youth Summit and World Heritage Youth Ambassadors Programme. The World 

Heritage Centre is now an ASDAN Accredited Training Centre providing a variety of different vocational 

accreditations including the bespoke World Heritage Youth Ambassadors short course.

Page 239



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

The FLP Programme delivered education packages to over 5000 children and adults and was sustained 

following Programme completion by the development of a bespoke World Heritage education package 

and ongoing joint educational work between key partners as well as the development of online learning.

Community engagement has continued to thrive with volunteers being proactive in the Blaenavon World 

Heritage Environment Group and the Blaenavon Museum amongst others delivering lots of activity to 

manage and promote the site. The Museum was also successfully re-located into the Workmen’s Hall in 

2015 and continues to grow as a consequence, winning the Marsh Award for Museum Learning in 2016.

New interpretation across the Site has also been installed, including a new sound and light exhibition at 

the Ironworks, the King Cole exhibition at Big Pit and a new Victorian School room at the World Heritage 

Centre as well as smaller installations across the landscape including augmented reality.

Ongoing temporary exhibitions have also continued across the site and at all venues exploring the social 

history of the area. New developments have also been developed in adult engagement with Big Pit 

National Coal Museum leading on being “Dementia Friendly”.

The new Management Plan will look to build on these achievements and encourage greater youth 

participation and community engagement moving forward.

Marketing & Promotion of the World Heritage Site

Over the Plan period the Partnership has delivered a wide range of projects all with the ultimate goal of 

increasing awareness of and footfall to the Blaenavon World Heritage Site. A marketing toolkit has been 

developed providing partners with key messages and imagery to promote the site in their own individual 

marketing. This toolkit includes the wider Wales’ World Heritage Sites and how all three can cross-

promote.

A World Heritage Site Marketing Strategy has been prepared which also incorporates the two other Welsh 

World Heritage Sites. Working in partnership with King Edwards Castles and Pontcysyllte Aqueduct World 

Heritage Sites, a joint marketing brochure has been produced to jointly promote all three Welsh World 

Heritage Sites. This product has been used extensively at travel trade events, working with VisitBritain 

and VisitWales to promote Blaenavon and our sister World Heritage Sites to the travel trade across the 

globe. The Partnership has also worked in partnership with Cardiff Airport and Flybe and hosted a group 

of German travel writers to experience the World Heritage Sites Wales has have to offer.

The Blaenavon Digital Passport has been further developed to include the FLP “Treasure Trails”, providing 

a new platform from which visitors can experience these walks. The “Tumble Challenge” has been created 

and promoted, working with local accommodation operators who welcome cyclists, and targeting the 

niche cycling magazines.

The Partnership has led on the “Valleys that Changed the World” initiative which is part of the European 

Route of Industrial Heritage, with a series of promotional campaigns as well as developing a web presence 

and printed promotional material.

The Partnership has embraced innovative new technologies and will shortly embark on a Virtual Reality 

project which will take three attractions back to the 19th Century (Big Pit, World Heritage Centre and 

Page 240



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Blaenavon Heritage Town), utilising Google Cardboard technology.

Such initiatives have begun to have an impact upon the local economy within the World Heritage Site. 

Since 2013 the Partnership has collected economic activity figures for the World Heritage Site through 

the STEAM model. In 2017 expenditure in the tourism sector within the World Heritage Site was valued at 

£21.5m, which is an increase of 28.6% compared to 2013. Footfall figures in 2017 were 540,400, which 

is an increase of 19.98% compared to 2013, and full time equivalent jobs supported through the tourism 

sector was 272 in 2017, an increase of 10.12% compared to 2013.

Blaenavon World Heritage Centre has continued to welcome national and international visitors. Recent 

changes have seen the town’s library re-locate to the Centre which has encouraged local people to visit 

and learn more about their towns World Heritage Site status. The move is commended as an exemplar of 

change, generated by the need to make savings, having a positive impact on service delivery44.

Blaenavon Town Centre

Town centre regeneration efforts linked to the Plans wider strategy of creating a cultural tourism 

destination have continued to tackle economic and social decline and progress has been made in this 

regard. However, there remains “work to be done”. Despite the increase in visitor numbers to the World 

Heritage Site during the Plan period, it is increasingly clear that a considerable number of these visitors 

do not visit the town.

Global, national and local economic trends continue to pose challenges for local businesses and the 

confidence of private investors. Town centre footfall has decreased by 12% since 2014 and it remains a 

challenge to attract both local residents and visitors into the town and footfall remains relatively low.

Inevitably this has presented a challenging trading environment for local businesses who continue to report 

low footfall and trade and the town often lacks the vibrancy that regular footfall and trade brings. Efforts 

have been made to offset the declining trading power of the town with some private sector investment 

in niche shops. A new hotel has opened within the town centre to Visit Wales four star standard. The 

Lion Hotel was previously vacant and semi-derelict. The Hotel is now making a significant contribution 

towards encouraging local people and visitors to the town. Whilst a number of new businesses have been 

established offering more diversity and facilities for the local community and visitors, further investment 

in the town centre is required.

A key partner in delivering the Plans key objectives for the economic and social regeneration of the town 

has been the Blaenavon Town Team. The Team was established in October 2012, following the demise 

of the former Blaenavon Town Traders Association. Blaenavon Town Team represents a broad range of 

interests and its membership is comprised of interested local individuals and those from outside the town, 

traders, local residents, community groups and key public sector partners including the Police, Big Pit 

National Coal Museum, Blaenavon Town Council, Bronafon and Melin Regional Social Landlord’s and 

the Blaenavon Heritage Primary school. The team has 20-30 regular members and meets monthly.

44Welsh Public Library Standards 2014-17, Torfaen CBC Annual Assessment Report 2015-16

Page 241



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

At its inception, the Town Team recognised that a holistic approach to the continued economic and social 

regeneration of the town was required if the town was to successfully and sustainably realise its potential 

as a local service centre and cultural tourism destination. The Teams vision for the Town has been clear45:

Blaenavon will be…

• An energised and successful town and visitor destination that’s open for business is thriving, vibrant 

and economically prosperous.

• A diverse community working together and in collaboration with all partners with a positive outlook, 

sharing a strong sense of civic pride.

• A community harnessing the talents of its people, creativity, entrepreneurship and passion making 

sustainable changes that benefit the whole community

The main aim of the Team during the Plan period in realising this vision has been to work with the 

Partnership to further promote the town and encourage traders and residents to take an interest in the town 

and to promote it. The Team has been embedded within the Partnerships Management Structure for the 

Plan period and this has worked well in realising action plan projects that have sought to increase local 

support for the town.

With the assistance of Torfaen Council, a significant achievement for the Team was successfully securing 

£100k funding through Welsh Governments Town Centre Partnerships fund which delivered a three 

year programme (2014-2017) of significant investment in marketing and promoting the town as well as 

supporting the Team in delivering annual event programmes, regular litter picks of the town, developing 

its own web site - Blaenavon Life and also an App.

Historic Environment

Over the Plan period the Partnership has continued to successfully manage the historic built environment 

within the World Heritage Site. Key actions in this regard have included the delivery of a range of projects 

and actions that have sought to protect, conserve and manage the sites Outstanding Universal Value.

A major opencast scheme at Varteg to the south of the World Heritage Site, which could have destroyed 

or damaged a number of historic assets related to the Outstanding Universal Value of the World Heritage 

Site has been resisted.

Constructive dialog has been maintained with the owners of all major assets, including one which suffered 

a fire in 2012. Whilst an application to demolish this listed building was initially received by Torfaen 

Council this was resisted and the Partnership is now supporting the owners in developing options with the 

community for the restoration and sustainable end use of the building.

One of Blaenavon’s most imposing historic buildings has been given a new lease of life thanks to 

investment by a local business. The former Blaenavon Town Hall in Lion Street, which was until recently 

used as the town’s library and museum, has been empty since the services were relocated to the World 

Heritage Centre in 2015. The building has been purchased by RWA, a Blaenavon-based company that 

offers e-learning solutions, business support and training. The building is now their head office and will 

45Blaenavon Town Team Action Plan 2014-2017

Page 242



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

provide much needed space in the town to help the company’s own growth.

The Blaenavon Town Centre Conservation Area Appraisal & Management Plan has been reviewed and 

updated. This Plan will assist the Torfaen Council in ensuring the continued preservation and enhancement 

of the character of the Blaenavon Town Centre Conservation Area. As part of the review, the existing 

boundary of the Blaenavon Town Centre Conservation Area has been extended to the south east and south 

west.

Also emerging from the Conservation Area Appraisal & Management Plan is the recommendation to 

implement an Article 4(2) Direction within the core area of the Conservation Area. Following consultation, 

an Article 4 (2) direction was approved and implemented by Torfaen Council early in 2018. The Direction 

offers increased protection especially where there is threat from small unsympathetic works and also offers 

the potential to continue the emphasis on the heritage led regeneration of Broad Street strengthening the 

quality and position of the town centre as a visitor destination.

The restoration of Aaron Brutes Bridge has been achieved. The Scheduled Monument was near collapse 

and following restoration it is now once again open for public use. The restoration itself won an award 

from the Institute of Civil Engineers in Wales for the innovative quality of design which allowed the 

historic appearance to be maintained whilst incorporating a new structure which meets all relevant 21st 

century standards.

Some residential development has continued within the town in line with agreed residential land 

allocations. This includes a mixture of both private and social housing. Discussions with Torfaen Councils 

Development Management Team and Conservation Officer have produced designs consistent with the 

approved Blaenavon World Heritage Site Design Guide Supplementary Planning Guidance46 approved in 

2011. The guide aims to both protect the historic character of the World Heritage Site within the Torfaen 

CBC area, to ensure that all development whether alterations, repairs or new development respects the 

significance of the values for which the Site was inscribed.

A key recommendation within the Plan has been the proposal to consider a proposed Buffer Zone for 

the World Heritage Site. The Site was inscribed without a Buffer Zone, however, development pressures 

have emerged particularly on the western boundary of the Site which has necessitated consideration of 

measures to protect the principle Site and its setting.

A study, commissioned by the Partnership, has considered the case for a Buffer Zone and a proposed 

boundary line has been identified. Initial consultation with key partners and stakeholders has taken place. 

Going forward, the new Plan will need to give further consideration to the proposal or other alternative 

measure to protect the setting of the Site.

World Heritage Site Networking

The Partnership recognises the importance of existing partnerships within the Welsh and UK World 

Heritage sectors and has continued to embrace networking opportunities. Given the small scale and 

specialist nature of the sector, such partnerships have provided and facilitated the valuable exchange of 

expertise, knowledge and support to the benefit of the management of the World Heritage Site.

46Blaenavon World Heritage Site Design Guide Supplementary Planning Guidance (2011)

Page 243



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Regular engagement with representatives from the other two World Heritage Sites in Wales has continued 

with regular meetings and liaison on joint projects and consultations.

On a UK level, the emergence of World Heritage: UK as a leading organisation established in 2015 to 

undertake networking, advocacy and promotion on behalf of all of the UK’s 31 World Heritage Sites and 

those which are progressing towards World Heritage Site status has been significant.

The organisation aims to bring together all agencies and interested parties involved in looking after the 

UK’s World Heritage Sites to:

1. Undertake effective advocacy at all levels for the joint benefit of the UK’s World Heritage properties 

and for the World Heritage Convention.

2. Facilitate and encourage networking between organisations and individuals that play a role in the 

management of the UK’s 31 World Heritage Sites.

3. Promote the UK’s World Heritage Sites, in collaboration with key partner agencies, to a national and 

international market so as to allow more people to experience the Sites in ways that are appropriate to 

their different situations and pressures.

World Heritage UK evolved from the Local Authority World Heritage Forum (LAWHF), which was 

established as an interest group over twenty years ago to support local authorities with responsibilities for 

managing World Heritage Sites in the UK. Torfaen County Borough Council held membership of LAWHF 

on behalf of the World Heritage Site Partnership and is now a member of World Heritage: UK on behalf of 

the Partnership. Wales’ three World Heritage Sites are represented at Board level by the Blaenavon World 

Heritage Site Co-ordinator who also holds the position of Vice Chair.

Rebecca Hartley 

Team Leader Economy, Renewal & Culture, Torfaen County Borough Council 

BILWHS Co-ordinator

Page 244



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

APPENDIX B

Stakeholder and Public Consultation Record

A record of engagement with partners, other key stakeholders and the community undertaken during 

January and February 2017 to inform the identification of needs and opportunities for the updated 

Management Plan is set out below. Feedback from these consultations was captured in an interim report 

to the BILWHS Steering Group in February 2017.

Meeting with TCBC Strategic Engagement Group 

Date:   01 February 2017 

Location:  TCBC, Civic Centre, Pontypool

Meeting with Blaenavon Town Council  

Date:   01 February 2017 

Location:  The Workmen’s Hall, Blaenavon 

Participants:

Name

Cllr Mayor Alan Jones

Cllr Stuart Evans

Cllr Rod Denley-Jones

Cllr Nick Horler

Cllr Lewis Evans

Cllr Janet Jones

Workshop with BILWHS Partnership Steering Group  

Date:   02 February 2017 

Location:  The Workmen’s Hall, Blaenavon 

Participants:

Name Title/Organisation

Jacob Birch Natural Resource Manager, Natural Resources Wales

Mathew Lewis Green Infrastructure & Countryside Manager, Monmouthshire County Council

Ruth Coulthard Funding Development Officer, Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Nathan Matthews Museum Coordinator, Blaenavon Community Museum

Kate Roberts Senior Inspector of Ancient Monuments, Cadw

Cllr Lewis Evans Blaenavon Town Council 

Steve Williams Senior Ecologist, TCBC

Ashleigh Taylor Community Heritage Development Officer, TCBC

Kate Blewitt Team Leader Economy & Heritage Tourism, TCBC

Dawson Evans Group Leader Economy & Enterprise, TCBC

John Rodger MBE ICOMOS UK

Page 245



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Name Title/Organisation

Dai Price Head of Museum, Big Pit National Coal Museum

Stephen Peel Senior Conservation Officer, TCBC

Andrew Stumpf Head of Wales, Canal & River Trust

Rebecca Hartley Team Leader Economy, Renewal & Culture, TCBC/BILWHS Co-ordinator

Workshop with BILWHS Partnership Working Groups 

Date:   02 February 2017 

Location:  The Workmen’s Hall, Blaenavon Town  

Participants:

Name Title/Organisation Working Group

Alvin Nicholas Rural Development Land 

Management/Commons Officer, 

TCBC

Landscape and Access 

Amelia Pannet Field Monument Warden, Cadw Historic Environment 

Amy Longford Heritage Manager, Monmouthshire 

County Council

Andrew Neville Team Leader Environmental Projects 

Team, TCBC

Andrew Osborne Group Leader Economy, Environment 

& Culture, TCBC

Andrew Woodrow Secretary, WBH Environment Group Landscape and Access 

Ashleigh Taylor Community Heritage Development 

Officer, TCBC

Education and Interpretation (Chair)

Carole Jacob Volunteer, Torfaen Friends of the Earth

David Penberthy Head of Interpretation and Learning, 

Cadw

Education and Interpretation

David Viner Coalfields Regeneration Trust Historic Environment 

Janet Jones Trustee, Blaenavon Community 

Museum

Marketing and Promotion 

Joyse Compton Blaenavon World Heritage 

Environment Group

Landscape and Access 

Kate Blewitt Team Leader Economy & Heritage 

Tourism, TCBC  

Marketing and Promotion (Chair)

Kate Fitzgerald Senior Economy & Renewal Officer, 

TCBC

Town Centre

Kennah World Heritage Youth Ambassador

Michael Tomboline Blaenavon World Heritage 

Environment Group

Landscape and Access 

Page 246



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Name Title/Organisation Working Group

Nathan Mathews Secretary, Blaenavon Community 

Museum

Education and Interpretation

Olwen Maidment Natural Resources Wales Historic Environment 

Richard Roynon Trustee, Blaenavon Community 

Museum

Marketing and Promotion 

Robert Murray Principal Planner, TCBC

Ruth Coulthard Funding Development Officer, Brecon 

Beacons NPA

Landscape and Access (Chair)

Samuel Harpur Warden, Brecon Beacons NPA Landscape and Access 

Stephen Peel Conservation Officer, TCBC Historic Environment (Chair)

Steve Williams Senior Ecologist, TCBC Natural Environment (Chair)

Sue Mason Head of Lifelong Learning, Cadw Education and Interpretation

Tim Hill Lifelong Learning and Volunteering 

Manager, Cadw

Education and Interpretation

Verity Ryan Arts Development Manager, TCBC

Veronika Brannovic Living Valleys Manager, Gwent 

Wildlife Trust

Meeting with BILWHS Partnership Board 

Date:   02 February 2017 

Location:  The Workmen’s Hall, Blaenavon 

Participants:

Name Title/Organisation

Alvin Nicholas Rural Development Land Management/Commons Officer, TCBC

Andrew Stumpf Head of Wales, Canal & River Trust

Ashleigh Taylor Community Heritage Development Officer, TCBC

Cath Thomas Head of Economy Enterprise & Environment, TCBC

Cllr Alan Jones Mayor, Blaenavon Town Council/Blaenavon Ward Member, TCBC

Cllr Anthony Hunt Leader of the Council, TCBC

Cllr Bob Wellington Executive Member for Sustainability & Collaboration, TCBC/Blaenavon WHS 

Partnership Chair (to February 2017)

Cllr Stuart Evans Blaenavon Ward Member, TCBC

Duncan Smith Chief Officer Neighbourhood Services, Planning & Public Protection, TCBC

Gareth Davies Chair, Blaenavon World Heritage Day Committee

Gerwyn Evans Head of Policy & Programmes, Visit Wales

Huw Jones Mine Manager, Big Pit National Coal Museum

John Rodger MBE ICOMOS UK

Julian Atkins Director of Countryside & Land Management, BBNPA

Page 247



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Name Title/Organisation

Kate Blewitt Team Leader Economy & Heritage Tourism, TCBC

Kate Roberts Senior Inspector of Ancient Monuments, Cadw

Margaret Underwood Welsh Government Representative, BNPA

Nathan Mathews Secretary, Blaenavon Community Museum

Paul Matthews Chief Executive, MCC

Rebecca Hartley Team Leader Economy, Renewal & Culture, TCBC/BILWHS Co-ordinator

Cllr Rod Denley Jones Blaenavon Town Council/Chair, Blaenavon Town Team

Ron Marchant Chair, Blaenavon World Heritage Environment Group

Ruth Coulthard Funding Development Officer, Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Stephen Peel Conservation Officer, TCBC

Steve Williams Senior Ecologist, TCBC

Terry Evans Trustee, Blaenavon Community Museum

Tom Huish Chair & Trustee, Blaenavon Community Museum

Page 248



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

One-to-one Stakeholder Consultations

Name Position Organisation Consultation 

Method 

Alan Cornish Conservation Officer Cadw Meeting  

Alison Hargeaves Site Manager, Blaenavon 

Ironworks

Cadw Meeting  

Alvin Nicholas Rural Development Land 

Management/Commons 

Officer

TCBC Meeting and 

Email

Andrew Neville Team Leader, Environmental 

Projects Team

TCBC Meeting 

Andrew Osborne Group Leader Economy, 

Environment & Culture

TCBC Meeting and 

Email

Andrew Stumpf Head of Wales Canal & River Trust Meeting and 

Email 

BWHS Visitor Centre 

Staff

Reception Staff BILWHS Visitor Centre Conversation 

Ceri Thompson Senior Curator Big Pit National Coal 

Museum

Meeting

Chris Jones Consultant to TCBC Pontypool 

Regeneration Strategy

Chris Jones 

Regeneration 

Meeting 

Dai Price Head of Museum Big Pit National Coal 

Museum

Meeting and 

Email

Dave Congreve Assistant Chief Executive 

Communities/Strategic 

Director for Health and 

Wellbeing

TCBC Email

Dawson Evans Group Leader Economy & 

Enterprise

TCBC Meeting and 

Email

Frank Olding Heritage Officer Blaenau Gwent Council Conversation 

Gerwyn Evans Head of Policy & Programmes Visit Wales Conversation 

Huw Jones Mine Manager Big Pit National Coal 

Museum

Meeting

John Rodger MBE WHS Advisor ICOMOS UK Email 

John Turton Stationmaster Blaenavon Heritage 

Railway

Conversation

Julian Atkins Director of Countryside and 

Land Management 

BBNPA Conservation and 

Email

Kate Blewitt Team Leader Economy & 

Heritage Tourism

TCBC Meeting

Page 249



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Name Position Organisation Consultation 

Method 

Kate Fitzgerald Senior Economy & Renewal 

Officer

TCBC Email

Kate Roberts Senior Inspector of Ancient 

Monuments

Cadw Meeting

Kim Colebrook Consultant to Torfaen Tourist 

Association

Kim Colebrook 

Consultant

Conversation

Lyndon Puddy Head of Public Services 

Support Unit

TCBC Meeting

Mark Panniers Team Leader, Countryside 

Access

TCBC Meeting 

Matthew Lewis Green Infrastructure & 

Countryside Manager

Monmouthshire County 

Council

Meeting

Nathan Matthews Secretary Blaenavon Community 

Heritage Museum

Email

Neil Howell Head of Housing and Business 

Support

TCBC Email

Peter Cole Destination Management Plan 

Consultant  to BBNPA  and 

MCC

Cole & Shaw Conversation 

Rachel O’Shaughnessy Environment & Sustainability 

Manager

TCBC Meeting

Rebecca Hartley Team Leader Economy, 

Renewal & Culture/BILWHS 

Co-ordinator

TCBC Meeting and 

Email

Richard Tyler Sustainable Tourism Manager BBNPA Conversation

Ron Marchant Chair, Blaenavon World 

Heritage Environment Group

Email

Ruth Taylor-Davies Consultant to Torfaen Tourism 

Association 

Letha Consultancy Ltd Email

Stephen Peel Senior Conservation Officer TCBC Email

Steve Williams Senior Ecologist TCBC Meeting and 

Email

Susan and Gerry 

Woodhouse

Local Business Owners Blaenavon Cheddar Meeting 

Verity Ryan Arts Development Manager TCBC Email

Page 250



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Llanfoist Public Consultation Event

• Date:     6th February 2017

• Location:     Llanfoist Village Hall

• Estimated number of participants:  6

Blaenavon Public Consultation Event

• Date:     7th February 2017

• Location:     The Workmen’s Hall, Blaenavon

• Estimated number of participants:  30

Consultation with Blaenavon World Heritage Youth Ambassadors

• Date:     7th February 2017

• Participants:     World Heritage Youth Ambassadors

Public Consultation on Draft Management Plan

A Consultation Draft of the BILWHS Management Plan was endorsed by the Steering Group in November 

2017.

The Consultation Draft was made available for a 6 week public consultation period between 12th April 

and 24th May 2018.

Comments were invited via Torfaen Council’s on-line consultation system at www.getinvolved.torfaen.

gov.uk

Public consultation events were also held at the Blaenavon World Heritage Centre on Tuesday 24th April 

2018 from 3:30pm – 7pm and Llanfoist Village Hall on Thursday 26th April 2018 from 3:30pm – 7pm.

Paper reference copies of the Consultation Draft were made available at the following locations:

• Torfaen Council’s Ty Blaen Torfaen Office, New Inn, Pontypool

• Blaenavon World Heritage Centre, Blaenavon

• Torfaen Council’s Civic Centre, Pontypool

Ten written responses were received, which were taken into account in the final version of the Management 

Plan as appropriate.

Page 251



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

APPENDIX C

Summary of Related Plans, Strategies and Studies (2011 onwards)

WHS SPECIFIC

Document title Author Date Summary

A Proposed Buffer Zone for 
the Blaenavon Industrial 
Landscape World Heritage 
Site (Consultation Draft)

Heritage Regeneration 
Solutions for Torfaen 
County Borough 
Council

April 2015 •  Study proposes a buffer zone for the World 
Heritage Site, justified against the following 
criteria:
◊  Cultural and heritage links with the BILWHS 

which support and explain the Site’s OUV
◊  Landscape character/visual associations 

with the Site
◊  The land use and connected traditional 

activities 
• The proposed Buffer Zone area includes:

◊  Hill tops south of the Blorenge and Coity 
mountain along both sides of the Afon 
Lwyd to just north of Pontypool (includes 
the remains of several former ironworks, 
tramroads and evidence of mineral 
extraction);

◊  The Clydach Gorge and surrounding hill 
slopes;

◊  The south west of Gilwern and the south of 
Govilon

◊  The Monmouthshire & Brecon Canal and its 
setting.

Beyond Forgotten 
Landscapes – a Legacy 
Study (Consultation Draft)

Commons Vision 
Ltd and University 
of Gloucestershire 
for Torfaen County 
Borough Council on 
behalf of the Forgotten 
Landscape Project

November 
2013

•  The Forgotten Landscape Project was 
a landscape scale initiative, funded by 
the Heritage Lottery Fund and Welsh 
Government, to deliver landscape (natural 
and built environment), education, access 
and training benefits on common land within 
the Blaenavon World Heritage Site between 
2010 and 2015 with a requirement to sustain 
project benefits over a further 5-year period 
to 2020.

•  Study explored options for creating a 
commons based legacy enterprise (utilising 
equipment and skills acquired during the FLP) 
as part of a wider mix of income generation 
opportunities (micro-hydro, an investment 
fund operating on a Paying for Ecosystem 
Services basis, crowd sourced fund raising 
and grant support).

Blaenavon Coach Park 
Proposals Study 

Parsons Brinckerhoff 
on behalf of Torfaen 
County Borough 
Council

February 
2015

•  Purpose is to assist Torfaen CBC in 
determining the best sites for the coach drop-
off and coach park layovers. 

•  Seven potential sites were identified by RCBC 
and each was addressed in turn, from which a 
preferred option will be considered for both. 

•  It was concluded that the preferred option 
was to have High Street as the drop-off for the 
passengers and the Rifleman’s Car Park to be 
the layover for the coach.

Page 252



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Document title Author Date Summary

Blaenavon Community 
Museum & Blaenafon 
Heritage Group Forward 
Plan 2016 - 2021

Blaenavon Community 
Museum & Blaenafon 
Heritage Group

February 
2016 

•  The Plan provides a clear way forward for 
the museum to achieve its objectives, taking 
into consideration the resources currently and 
potentially available. 

•  It provides strategy to guide day-to-day 
decisions and informs members of the 
Blaenavon Community Museum & Blaenafon 
Heritage Group and external agencies of the 
charity’s intentions.

Blaenavon Conservation 
Area Appraisal and 
Management Plan

Torfaen County 
Borough Council

April 2011 •  Aims to assist TCBC to protect and enhance 
the special historic and architectural interest 
of the Blaenavon Conservation Area (a key 
component of the BILWHS), and assist the 
public to recognise benefits of living in a 
conservation area and responsibilities for its 
protection. 

•  Based on an analysis of current conservation 
concerns, positive assets and negative issues, 
it sets out management and enhancement 
proposals including:
◊  Identification of properties suitable for local 

listing; 
◊  Review of ca boundary with 

recommendations for changes; 
◊ Polices for maintenance and repair; 
◊ Policies for new development; 
◊ Opportunities for enhancement; 
◊ Advice using design guidance
◊  Potential for an article 4 (2) direction 

removing permitted development rights 
from the ca; 

◊ Involvement of the community.

Blaenavon Industrial 
Landscape World 
Heritage Site Statement 
of Outstanding Universal 
Value

Torfaen County 
Borough Council 
on behalf of the 
Blaenavon World 
Heritage Site 
Partnership

2013 •  SOUV approved by UNESCO World Heritage 
Centre 2013

•  Prepared for all World Heritage Sites and is a 
key reference for the effective protection and 
management BILWHS.

•  Includes a brief description, statement of 
significance, statement of authenticity, 
statement of integrity and a section describing 
how the WHS is protected and managed.

Blaenavon Ironworks 
Interpretation Plan

Prepared by Letha 
Consultancy Ltd on 
behalf of Cadw

June 2012 •  Plan sets out the vision and objectives for the 
interpretation of the Ironworks site within the 
Blaenavon Industrial Landscape WHS. 

•  Sets out ideas for bringing the site to life 
recapturing the essence of its industrial 
heyday. 

•  It proposes interpretive themes and offer 
interpretation proposals which allow for 
a ‘complete visit’ as well as opportunities 
to link with and explore the wider WHS 
landscape. 

•  Proposes means of evaluating the impact and 
capturing evidence of learning outcomes 
and satisfaction as a consequence of the 
interpretation. 

Page 253



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Document title Author Date Summary

Blaenavon People and 
Places Benchmarking 
Report 

Blaenavon Town Team March 2016 •  The people and places town benchmarking 
system is used to understand, measure, 
evaluate and ultimately improve town centres.  

•  Captures statistical data on 12 KPI’s to 
measure performance, strategic and facilitate 
strategic decision making.

•  KPI’s measured include car parking, town 
users, business confidence, shopper’s origin, 
footfall and retail rent.

Blaenavon Region Wildfire 
Plan 

South Wales Fire 
and Rescue Service 
on behalf of the 
Blaenavon World 
Heritage Site 
Partnership and Gwent 
Police

2014 •  Plan is a collaboration between South Wales 
Fire and Rescue Service, the Blaenavon WHS 
Partnership, Gwent Police and the Forgotten 
Landscapes Scheme. 

•  Wildfires threaten lives and have potential to 
cause lasting damage to historic monuments, 
important landscapes, fragile ecosystems and 
wildlife and tourism.

Blaenavon Town Centre 
Action Plan

Blaenavon Town Team 2014 - 2017 •  Acts as key investment plan setting out the 
principal objectives and activities of the 
Blaenavon Town Team. 

•  Plan provides a comprehensive framework 
for delivering a holistic and co-ordinated 
approach to project delivery between 
partners; identifies initiatives that contribute 
to an enhanced and positive profile of 
Blaenavon Heritage Town as a place to 
visit, live and do business; seeks to change 
perceptions of the town and create a more 
viable, attractive, prosperous and safe town 
centre for local people; and includes a 
sustainable investment plan for supporting 
and delivery key Plan objectives.

Blaenavon Industrial 
Landscape World Heritage 
Site Design Guide 
Supplementary Planning 
Guidance 

Torfaen County 
Borough Council

April 2011 •  Approved as SPG by Torfaen CBC to help 
to ensure the OUV of the WHS is protected 
through the development control process by 
providing design principles for:
◊  New buildings and sites
◊  Repair, reinstatement and improvement to 

buildings of heritage value
◊  Alterations, extension and repairs to C20th 

buildings
◊  Building maintenance
◊  Public realm and streetscape
◊  Energy and environment

Blaenavon World Heritage 
Site Management Plan 
2011-2016

Torfaen County 
Borough Council 
on behalf of the 
Blaenavon World 
Heritage Site 
Partnership

2011 •  Second Management Plan for the BILWHS 
following inscription in 2000. 

•  Sets out the key issues that may affect the 
OUV of the BILWHS during the Plan period. 

•  An overall vision and aims for the WHS is 
identified together with key objectives for the 
effective management of the Site over the next 
5 years to 2016. 

•  Specific proposals/projects to be explored and 
delivered by partners over the Plan period are 
identified, together with likely phasing and 
possible sources of funding, 

•  A review of the first t en years of the WHS 
status is included, which considers successes 
to date and reflects upon lessons learnt. 

Page 254



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Document title Author Date Summary

Periodic Reporting: 
Blaenavon Industrial 
Landscape World Heritage 
Site 

ICOMOS-UK 2013 •  The ICOMOS-UK periodic report provides:
◊  An assessment of the application of the 

World Heritage Convention by the state 
party;

◊  An assessment to whether the World 
Heritage values of the property are being 
maintained;

◊  Up-dated information about the World 
Heritage property to record the changing 
circumstances and state of conservation of 
the properties. 

State of Conservation 
Report: Blaenavon Industrial 
Landscape World Heritage 
Site

Blaenavon Industrial 
Landscape World 
Heritage Site 
Partnership

2013 •  Assessment of the state of conservation of the 
World Heritage Site, determining whether the 
outstanding universal value of the property 
has been maintained.

Ty Mawr, Blaenavon: Initial 
Assessment, Feasibility 
Study and Business Plan

Hyder Consulting Ltd 
on behalf of Torfaen 
County Borough 
Council

November 
2013 

•  Study examines financially viable options for 
the building and its future management. 

•  Identifies current condition, recommends 
improvements to the building to bring it back 
into use and provides outline restoration 
costs. 

•  Recommended preferred option for future 
use of Ty Mawr is a bunkhouse and activity 
centre for which a business plan is provided 
to support funding bids.

The Economic Impact 
of the Heritage Tourism 
Environment for Growth 
(E4G) Project

Welsh Economy 
Research Unit, Cardiff 
Business School for 
Cadw

October 
2014

•  The Environment for Growth (E4G) Project 
comprised six strategic projects related to 
the visitor economy in Wales, including a 
Heritage Tourism Project managed by Cadw 
between November 2009 and August 2014.

•  Evaluation of the economic impact of the 
E4G Heritage Tourism Project showed that 
the 28,055 visitors to Cadw’s Blaenavon 
Ironworks between 2009 and 2010 supported 
around £1.6m GVA with linked tourism 
spending supporting an estimated 73 FTE 
jobs.  

•  On-site spending effects by visitors to 
Blaenavon Ironworks were £0.26m of GVA 
and 14 FTE jobs. Despite visitor numbers 
decreasing to 18,867 in 2013/14, higher 
average visitor spending per visitor meant that 
GVA supported on-site remained relatively 
stable at £0.24m and 13 FTE jobs.

Page 255



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

LOCAL

Document title Author Date Summary

A Management Plan for the 
Brecon Beacons National 
Park 2015 – 2020: ‘Putting 
Well-being at the Heart 
of Managing our National 
Park’

Brecon Beacons 
National Park Authority

Adopted 
2015

•  The Environment Act 1995 requires that all 
National Parks have a Management Plan in 
place, and that these are reviewed every five 
years – the 2015 Plan is first review.

•  The Plan provides a framework for 
coordinated implementation, monitoring and 
evaluation of management activities by wide 
range of partners and stakeholders.

A Strategy and Action Plan 
for Sustainable Tourism in 
the Brecon Beacons 2012-
2016

The Tourism Company 
for the Brecon Beacons 
National Park Authority

November 
2011

•  Sustainable tourism strategy and action plan 
for the National Park

Advice Note on Common 
Land within Torfaen County 
Borough Council Area

Natural Resources 
Wales

March 2016 •  Provides advice on Common Land matters 
covering:
◊  Distribution of Common Land in TCBC area
◊  Ownership of land and commons rights
◊  Management and Governance of Common 

Land 
◊  Access to Common Land for air and 

exercise
◊  Protection and consideration in law
◊  Works on Common Land
◊  Funding and financial support on Commons 
◊  Decision making tool

Blaenau Gwent 
County Borough Local 
Development Plan 2012 - 
2021

Blaenau Gwent County 
Borough Council

Adopted 
November 
2012

•  The Local Development Plan sets out policies 
and proposals to meet the needs for housing, 
jobs and services whilst protecting the County 
Borough’s landscapes and its natural and 
historic environment assets (outside of the 
Brecon Beacons National Park).

•  Policy SP1 ‘Northern Strategy Area – 
Sustainable Growth and Regeneration’ seeks 
to explore opportunities for Brynmawr to 
develop as a gateway for visitors to the nearby 
BILWHS and the Brecon Beacons National 
Park.

Brecon Beacons National 
Park Local Development 
Plan 2007 – 2022

Brecon Beacons 
National Park Authority

Adopted 
December 
2013

•  The Local Development Plan sets out policies 
and proposals to meet the needs for housing, 
jobs and services whilst protecting the Park’s 
high quality environment.

•  The BILWHS lies partly within the National 
Park - Policy SP3 ‘Environmental Protection’ 
requires that all proposals for development 
or change of use of land or buildings in the 
National Park must not have an unacceptable 
impact on/detract from/prevent the enjoyment 
of the BILWHS.

Brecon Beacons Visitor 
Information Plan

The Tourism Company 
for the Brecon Beacons 
National Park Authority

October 
2014

•  Plan sets out actions for delivery of 
information to visitors to the National Park.

Page 256



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Document title Author Date Summary

Brecon Beacons Visitor 
Management Plan

LUC for the Brecon 
Beacons National Park 
Authority

2015 •  This Plan seeks to establish a sustainable 
approach to improving the way visitors to the 
National Park’s countryside (who include local 
residents and people from other areas) enjoy 
its special qualities. 

•  It sets out the short and medium term actions 
to ensure that enjoyment of the National Park 
by existing and new visitors can continue 
hand in hand with the conservation of 
its natural beauty and the needs of local 
communities and businesses.

Cardiff Capital Region - 
State of the City Region

Cardiff University City 
Region Exchange

February 
2017

•  This report brings together and evaluates the 
latest data on the economic health and well-
being of the Cardiff Capital Region to assist in 
meeting the requirements of the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

•  It helps understand how the city region’s 
labour market functions, how businesses are 
connected across the city region, and the 
economic role played by the region’s different 
towns and communities.

Monmouthshire & Brecon 
Beacons Canal Sustainabili-
ty Assessment 

Peter Brett Associates May 2015 •  Sustainability assessment of proposals for the 
restoration of the Monmouthshire & Brecon 
Beacons Canal, the navigable length of which 
is the most popular attraction in the Brecon 
Beacons National Park.

•  Assessment demonstrated the multi-faceted 
benefits that would accrue from enabling 
works and restoration once more linking the 
National Park, BILWHS and Newport by the 
Canal.  

•  The project has recently been endorsed 
by NHS Cymru given its impact on the 
determinants of health at a community wide 
level.

Page 257



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Document title Author Date Summary

Monmouthshire Biodiversity 
and Ecosystem Resilience 
Forward Plan Environment 
(Wales) Act 2016

Monmouthshire 
County Council

March 2017 •  Considers the state of Biodiversity and 
Ecosystem Resilience of Monmouthshire and 
identifies relevant habitats and species of 
principal importance for nature conservation

•  Considers the ways in which the Council 
can influence Biodiversity and Ecosystem 
Resilience when exercising its functions as a 
Public Authority

•  Considers positive work that is already 
underway by the Council and other relevant 
organisations and identifies opportunities for 
collaborative delivery

•  Considers the governance of this delivery 
for biodiversity and ecological resilience in 
Monmouthshire

•  Outlines the Council’s commitments to 
meeting requirements of the legislation. 

•  Identifies objectives for the Council’s 
compliance with the Biodiversity & Ecosystem 
Resilience duty.

•  Highlights the importance of the Green 
Infrastructure Approach to delivery 
including Green Infrastructure Policy and 
Supplementary Planning Guidance

•  Maximises the Council’s contributions across 
the Well-being goals

Monmouthshire County 
Council Local Development 
Plan 2011 – 2021

Monmouthshire 
County Council

Adopted 
February 
2014

•  The Local Development Plan sets out 
policies and proposals to meet the needs for 
housing, jobs and services whilst protecting 
the County’s landscapes and its natural and 
historic environment assets (outside of the 
Brecon Beacons National Park). 

•  A small part of the BILWHS lies within the 
Monmouthshire LDP area to the southwest of 
Llanfoist - Policy LC2 ‘Blaenavon Industrial 
Landscape World Heritage Site’ seeks to 
protect the OUV of the WHS and its setting 
from inappropriate development in order to 
maintain its OUV as set out in the BILWHS 
Management Plan. 

Monmouthshire Destination 
Management Plan 2012- 
2015

TEAM Consulting 
on behalf of 
Monmouthshire 
County Borough 
Council

2012 •  DMP sets out proposals based on seven 
tourism product development priorities for 
Monmouthshire:
◊  Tourist accommodation development 
◊  Town and village visitor experience 

development 
◊  Walking product development 
◊  Food tourism product development 
◊  Festivals development 
◊  Visitors information 
◊  Tourism skills and business support 

Page 258



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Document title Author Date Summary

Monmouthshire Well-being 
Assessment

Monmouthshire Public 
Service Board 

2017 •  In line with the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015, provides an 
integrated assessment of social, economic, 
environmental and cultural well-being needs 
for communities in Monmouthshire.  

•  Draws on a wide range of data, research 
and studies to develop an evidence base 
for understanding well-being needs in 
Monmouthshire.

•  Provides evidence base for development of 
a Well-being Plan in 2018 to set out how 
services delivered by the Monmouthshire PSB 
can contribute to the Act’s seven well-being 
goals.

Monmouthshire Well-being 
Objectives and Statement 
2017

Monmouthshire 
County Council

March 2017 •  Provides well-being objectives for how 
public services will be delivered by the 
Monmouthshire PSB under the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act.

Monmouthshire Public 
Service Board Well-being 
Plan

Monmouthshire Public 
Service Board

February 
2018

•  Sets out a plan for how the Monmouthshire 
PSB will respond to the key issues for delivery 
of public services identified in the 2017 
well-being assessment as required under the 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015.

Natural Resources 
Management Plan for 
South-East Wales Uplands

TACP on behalf of 
Torfaen County 
Borough Council

October 
2015

•  A holistic, ten year, fully costed Plan using 
an ecosystems approach for the management 
and utilisation of commons in the South-East 
Wales Uplands, building  on experience from 
the Forgotten Landscapes Project.

•  Plan considers biodiversity, ecosystem 
services, EU Water Framework Directive 
requirements and the need for long term, 
sustainable, economic land management 
through commoning, recreation and tourism. 

•  Study area forms part of the South Wales 
Coalfield encompassing parts of Blaenau 
Gwent, Monmouthshire and Torfaen, and 
part of north-eastern area falls within Brecon 
Beacons National Park and the BILWHS.

Torfaen  Destination 
Management Plan 2017 - 
2021

Letha Consultancy 2017 •  Sets out a visitor-focussed plan for tourism 
development in the area. 

•  Includes a practical Destination Action Plan, 
which sets out practical steps to make a 
positive difference to tourism in Torfaen. 

Torfaen County Borough 
Local Development Plan 
2013 – 2021

Torfaen County 
Borough Council

Adopted 
December 
2013

•  The Local Development Plan sets out policies 
and proposals to meet the needs for housing, 
jobs and services whilst protecting the County 
Borough’s landscapes and its natural and 
historic environment assets (outside of the 
Brecon Beacons National Park).

•  The main part of the BILWHS lies within 
the Torfaen LDP area, including the town of 
Blaenavon - Policy HE2 ‘Blaenavon Industrial 
Landscape World Heritage Site’ seeks to 
protect the OUV of the WHS and its setting 
from inappropriate development in order to 
maintain its OUV as set out in the BILWHS 
Management Plan.

Page 259



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Document title Author Date Summary

Torfaen Economy and 
Enterprise Strategy

Torfaen County 
Borough Council

2013 – 2020 •  Aims to co-ordinate activities of the public, 
private and voluntary sector, joining 
economic, social, environmental and 
community outcomes to help bring economic 
benefits for the Citizens of Torfaen.

•  Strategy outlines key economic opportunities 
available to the authority and its partners. Job 
creation remains a priority in all activity that 
is undertaken and this underpins a learning 
and skills agenda, developing our workplace 
and growing business success stories of the 
future. 

Torfaen Local Development 
Strategy 2014 - 2020

Torfaen County 
Borough Council’s 
Local Action Group - 
CreaTe

2015 •  Strategy for delivery of Wales RDP/LEADER 
funded activities for regeneration of Torfaen’s 
rural communities based around the following 
key themes and objectives: 
◊  Enhancing the local environment
◊  Developing local produce
◊  Promoting tourism
◊  Encouraging enterprise
◊  Community action

Torfaen Well-being 
Assessment 

Torfaen Public Services 
Board

March 2017 •  In line with the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015, provides an 
integrated assessment of social, economic, 
environmental and cultural well-being needs 
for communities in Torfaen.  

•  Draws on a wide range of data, research 
and studies to develop an evidence base for 
understanding well-being needs in Torfaen.

•  Provides evidence base for development of 
a Well-being Plan in 2018 to set out how 
services delivered by the Torfaen PSB can 
contribute to the Act’s seven well-being goals. 

Torfaen Well-being 
Statement

Torfaen County 
Borough Council

March 2017 •  Provides well-being objectives for how public 
services will be delivered by the Torfaen PSB 
under the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act.

Well-being Plan for Torfaen 
2018-2023

Torfaen Public Services 
Board

2018 •  Sets out a plan for how the Torfaen PSB 
will respond to the key issues for delivery 
of public services identified in the 2017 
well-being assessment as required under the 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015.

Page 260



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

APPENDIX D

Torfaen and Monmouthshire Well-being Assessments – Key Findings

Torfaen Well-Being Assessment

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires Public Services Boards (PSBs) to undertake 

an integrated assessment of social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being for communities in 

their areas. PSBs must use the well-being assessment to plan how they will maximise their contribution 

to the seven well-being goals.

The 2017 Torfaen Well-Being Assessment47 was prepared by the Torfaen PSB to:

• Provide sound evidence for public services to make better decisions.

• Gain a better understanding of the different strengths and assets in Torfaen’s communities and the 

untapped potential of the people that live there.

• Better involve communities in a process of meaningful co-production in local well-being issues that 

are critical to their communities.

• Identify community risks so that the PSB focusses on the right things, to build strong and resilient 

communities that are fit for the future.

• Understand which partnership activities, both within the public sector and beyond, are required to 

strengthen the resilience of Torfaen’s communities.

• Leave a positive legacy for future generations to build on.

The assessment will be used to inform preparation of an evidence based Well-Being Plan for Torfaen to 

be published by 2018.

As well as looking at Torfaen as a whole, the Torfaen Well-Being Assessment examines the well-being 

of the communities within the area’s three main settlements – Blaenavon, Pontypool and Cwmbran. 

The assessment identifies the strengths and assets of these communities along with opportunities for 

improving well-being. It also considers the long-term challenges and risks facing the communities in these 

settlements.

The assessment is based on a wide range of statistics, information and intelligence about Torfaen and its 

various communities. To gain a deeper understanding of the strengths, challenges and opportunities within 

Blaenavon specifically, a variety of approaches have been used to involve local people and stakeholders, 

including from the private and third sectors. These include:

47Torfaen Well-Being Assessment (Torfaen Public Services Board, 2017); Well-being Plan for Torfaen (Torfaen PSB, 2018)

Page 261



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

• Well-being questionnaire survey to gather qualitative data from residents and businesses in Blaenavon 

to help understand what people believe is good in their community and what they want the future to 

look like.

• Targeted sessions with schools, play schemes and youth groups in Blaenavon, and with the Torfaen 

youth forum.

• ‘Think Spaces’ themed focus group sessions held in Blaenavon (covering the economy; education and 

skills; transport; housing; community safety; health and social services; and the environment).

The key findings from the detailed well-being assessment for Blaenavon are summarised below:

Economic Well-being and Sustainability

The key findings from the detailed well-being assessment for Blaenavon in relation to economic well-

being and sustainability are summarised below:

What is good about economic well-being in Blaenavon

• Higher levels of full-time employed residents.

• Nearly a fifth of working residents are employed in manufacturing.

• 499 people living in Blaenavon also work in Blaenavon.

What is not so good about economic well-being in Blaenavon

• Energy infrastructure is at capacity and would require significant investment for improvement.

• Higher levels of unemployed residents aged 16-24 or long-term unemployed.

• Higher levels of lower socio-economic jobs (lower supervisory and routine occupations).

• Lower educational attainment and 18-19 year olds entering higher education.

• Higher levels of free school meal eligibility.

• Higher levels of residents with no access to a car or van.

• Relatively isolated compared to other Torfaen settlements.

• Dependent on adjacent settlements for range and supply of many goods and services.

• Geographical location and transport networks are often seen as a challenge

What do people living in Blaenavon think about economic well-being

Based on the 2016 Torfaen Well-Being Survey, residents and businesses in Blaenavon said they want to 

Page 262



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

live in communities that are prosperous with well supported local businesses. The key themes from the 

2016 Torfaen Well-Being Business Survey are summarised below:

• What’s good about being a business in Torfaen? Businesses in Blaenavon said that the business rates 

are low, there is good support from members of the local community with a loyal customer base and 

that local traders form good links.

• What’s not so good about being a business in Torfaen? Businesses in Blaenavon said that there is a 

perceived lack of support from public services including limited police presence in the evenings.

• What one thing would you change about the community where your business is based to make it a 

better place? Businesses in Blaenavon would like to see the closure of ‘Boot Lane’ in the evenings as 

there seems to be damage being caused by individuals that has to be cleaned away by traders. Other 

changes that would be beneficial would be to fully staff and equip the local youth centre to keep young 

people occupied.

• How do you see your business developing in the future? Businesses in Blaenavon said that sustaining 

the business in the future will be key, and this may mean sourcing more appropriate locations elsewhere 

within the borough but ultimately growth and expansion is the vision.

Social Well-being and Sustainability

The key findings from the detailed well-being assessment for Blaenavon in relation to social well-being 

and sustainability are summarised below:

What is good about social well-being in Blaenavon

• Three quarters of residents have good or very good health.

• Housing is more affordable.

• Two thirds of households are owned outright or with a mortgage.

What is not so good about social well-being in Blaenavon

• Lower life expectancy.

• Higher proportion of low birth-weight babies.

• Higher proportion of residents with limiting long-term illness.

• All cause death rate significantly higher.

• Anti-social behaviour significantly higher.

• Nearly half of households in poverty.

• A fifth of residents claiming some form of welfare benefit.

Page 263



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

• Over half of households live on lower household income (0k -20k).

• A fifth of residents are income deprived.

• 85% of households are in the lowest council tax bands A and B.

• Over a quarter of households are rented from social landlords.

• A higher proportion of one person households.

• A higher proportion of households are classed as ‘in poverty’, much higher than Torfaen and Wales 

34.5%.

What do people living in Blaenavon think about social well-being

Based on the 2016 Torfaen Well-Being Survey, residents and businesses in Blaenavon said they want their 

area to be clean and tidy so that they can feel proud to live there and they want their children to grow up 

in a safe environment with low crime rates. The key themes from the 2016 Torfaen Well-Being Residents 

Survey are summarised below:

• What’s good about your community? Residents in Blaenavon said that there is a strong sense of 

community spirit with citizens stating that they feel they are very close knit with a sense of belonging 

to the town. Neighbours are very friendly and everyone looks out for each other. There are many social 

activities that take place within the community for older people.

• What’s not so good about your community? The perceptions of residents in Blaenavon is that the 

town has many cars that race through; there is a failure to enforce anti-social behaviour in respect of 

alcohol consumption in public places and that there is a lack of police presence dealing with these 

matters; and there is a lack of social activities for local young people, with older residents feeling that 

there should be more facilities within the area so that young people are not hanging around the streets. 

A lack of resident parking is a common theme with some residents commenting that commercial 

vehicles are parked in residential streets. Maintenance of green spaces, roads, paths and walkways is 

also a common theme with people stating that streets need to be cleared of rubbish and weeds, there 

also seems to be an issue with dog fouling in the area. Comments from residents also include the lack 

of street lighting leaving poorly lit areas in the evenings.

• What one thing would you change about your community to make it a better place? Residents of all 

ages stated that they would like more local leisure facilities. Residents feel that there is also a lack of 

shops in the town that cater for everyone and there should be more facilities available to young people. 

The lack of a bank and other shops is an inconvenience which makes locals have to travel elsewhere. 

Calls have been made for a higher visibility police presence especially in the evenings. There is a 

general consensus that there needs to be more activities in the area tailored for young people.

• What do you want the future of your community to be? Blaenavon residents are passionate about 

their town with many people not wanting things to change much from the way it is now but for it to 

become more prosperous; where businesses are well supported and for the residents to feel proud of 

Page 264



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

where they live – to keep progressing and be proud and to continue with the same community spirit 

where people support each other. They want the future of their community to be clean and tidy and for 

people to take responsibility for their own litter and dog fouling.

Environmental Well-being and Sustainability

The key findings from the detailed well-being assessment for Blaenavon in relation to environmental well-

being and sustainability are summarised below:

What is good about environmental well-being for the Blaenavon area

• Landscape is a significant ecological resource supporting a range of notable species.

• Blaenavon’s peatland is recognised as a Special Landscape Area designation.

• Lower levels of air concentrations and emissions.

• There is potential for energy generation from mine water and hydro.

• The habitats in the north of the borough have an important role in managing the speed and movement 

of water down the valley and ultimately can reduce flood risk – Waun Afon Bog

What is not so good about environmental well-being for the Blaenavon area

• Peat bogs are being degraded.

• Number of active graziers declining.

• Upland fires and illegal off-road activity.

• Parts of Blaenavon in high risk flood zone.

What do people living in Blaenavon think about environmental well-being

Environmental well-being and sustainability was not raised as a specific issue by residents and businesses 

in Blaenavon who responded to the 2016 Torfaen Well-Being Survey.

Cultural Well-being and Sustainability

The key findings from the detailed well-being assessment for Blaenavon in relation to cultural well-being 

and sustainability are summarised below:

What is good about cultural well-being in Blaenavon

• A World Heritage Site attracting nearly half a million visitors a year.

Page 265



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

What is not so good about cultural well-being in Blaenavon

• Lower levels of Welsh speakers.

What do people living in Blaenavon think about cultural well-being

The contribution of the WHS to the cultural well-being of the Blaenavon community was not raised as 

a specific issue by residents and businesses who responded to the 2016 Well-Being Survey. However, 

Blaenavon residents are passionate about their town with many people not wanting things to change 

much from the way it is now but for it to become more prosperous; where businesses are well supported 

and for the residents to feel proud of where they live – to keep progressing and be proud and to continue 

with the same community spirit where people support each other.

Page 266



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Monmouthshire Well-Being Assessment

The Monmouthshire Well-Being Assessment48 was published by the Monmouthshire PSB in January 2017 

for consultation. The assessment is built from an extensive range of sources including census and statistical 

data, future trends and qualitative evidence from a public engagement process called Our Monmouthshire, 

which captures people’s opinions and perceptions, as well as giving context to quantitative data and 

academic research.

As well as looking at Monmouthshire as a whole, the Well-Being Assessment examines the well-being of 

the communities within the area around the market town of Abergavenny, which includes the northern 

part of the BILWHS within the upland landscapes of the Brecon Beacons National Park. The assessment 

identifies the strengths and assets of these communities along with opportunities for improving well-

being. It also considers the long-term challenges and risks facing the communities in this area.

The key findings from the Monmouthshire Well-Being Assessment of relevance to the WHS are summarised 

below:

• The area is heavily used for tourism and walking and cycling.

• Threats to habitats include grazing and recreation pressure on peat uplands, woodland fragmentation, 

tree disease and habitat loss due to development.

• The Abergavenny area has an extremely vibrant and varied voluntary sector working in the environmental 

and sustainability field, which is a great asset.

• Responses from the Our Monmouthshire engagement process demonstrate the importance of the 

landscape and countryside to people’s lifestyle, along with the area having a strong sense of community 

and many festivals and events including cycling and a food festival.

• Abergavenny and the surrounding areas have the highest proportion of residents aged 65 and over 

(26.2%) and aged 85 and over (3.7%) in Monmouthshire.

• The area also has a number of parts that suffer from deprivation; 6 of the 11 top 20% most deprived 

areas in Monmouthshire are in the area; the most significant deprivation factors vary in different areas 

and include community safety, employment and education; access to services is a particular issue for 

some parts of the area.

• The area has the lowest proportion of working age people in Monmouthshire who are economically 

active.

• It has the highest proportion of people in Monmouthshire in receipt of employment related benefits at 

10.3%, however this is still below the Welsh average.

48 Monmouthshire Well-Being Assessment (Monmouthshire Public Services Board, 2017); Monmouthshire Public Service Board Well-being Plan 
(Monmouthshire PSB, 2018)

Page 267



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

The key challenges and opportunities identified in the Monmouthshire Well-Being Assessment of relevance 

to the WHS are summarised below:

• The natural and (historic) built environment needs to be protected and preserved for future generations 

due to risks from development, climate change and pollution.

• There is a need to increase accessibility of arts, culture and heritage and to ensure adequate provision 

of Welsh medium education.

• Monmouthshire has high levels of social capital and volunteering; by taking an asset and place-based 

approach there is an opportunity for improving well-being.

Page 268



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

APPENDIX E

Attributes of the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape World Heritage Site

Attribute Summary Components Supporting Statements 
from Statement of 
OUV (2013)

Criteria

1.      
Evidence of 
tangible and 
intangible 
heritage 
of the 
development 
of early 
industrial 
society

The development of a new society 
was a consequence of the industrial 
development of south Wales and the 
town of Blaenavon bears witness to the 
tangible and intangible heritage of this 
industrial society. Blaenavon illustrates, 
in microcosm, the growth of Heads 
of the Valleys region of south Wales, 
which boasted the world’s greatest 
concentration of ironworks during the 
early nineteenth century. The population 
of the region soared dramatically 
throughout the nineteenth century and 
towns grew accordingly.
Blaenavon is the best preserved iron 
town of its period in the United Kingdom 
and illustrates the development of an 
industrial community. Some of the 
earliest housing developments within the 
boundaries of the World Heritage Site, 
built between the 1780s and 1840s, still 
exist and include Stack Square, Engine 
Row, Forge Row and King Street. Most of 
the town, however, dates from the mid 
to late nineteenth century and provides 
typical examples of the development 
terraced workers’ housing throughout 
the period. Blaenavon’s commercial 
buildings, particularly numbers 15-
19 Broad Street, dating to the mid-
nineteenth century, provide evidence 
of the new services and retail functions 
that were drawn to supply the growing 
population.
The town’s public buildings highlight 
the link between tangible and intangible 
heritage. St. Peter’s Church and St. Peter’s 
School were built by the industrialist 
family in 1804 and 1816 respectively 
and demonstrate how patronage and 
philanthropy were employed by the 
local ironmasters in the formative 
years of the Industrial Revolution. The 
housing of Stack Square and Engine 
Row, constructed by the ironmasters in 
the 1780s/90s, are examples of how the 
employers used good quality housing as 
an incentive attract skilled workers to the 
area.
The company shop in North Street serves 
as a reminder of how the ironmasters 
provided a ‘truck’ system to pay workers 
with tokens or goods from the company 
shop in lieu of monetary payment.

Tangible Components:
• St. Peter’s Church
•  St. Peter’s School 

(BWHC)
• The Company Shop
• Ty Mawr
• Cwmavon House
• Coity House
• Park House
•  Blaenavon Workmen’s 

Hall
• Bethlehem Chapel 
• Moriah Chapel
• Horeb Chapel 
• Bethel Chapel
• Zion Baptist Chapel
•  Wesleyan Methodist 

Chapel
•  Zion Chapel (Band 

Hall)
• Workers’ Housing
•  Blaenavon town, 

including 
•  Commercial Properties 

(15-19 Broad St)
• King Street

‘The landscape 
also reflects the 
development of early 
industrial society. 
Close to the Ironworks 
and Big Pit is the town 
of Blaenavon, the 
best preserved iron 
town of its period in 
the United Kingdom. 
Here can be seen 
the terraced housing 
of the workers. 
Overall the town 
reflects powerfully 
the distinctive culture 
that had developed 
in ironworking and 
coal-mining areas 
of the South Wales 
Valleys and provides 
a complete picture 
of patronage and the 
social structure of the 
community. Notable 
buildings include St. 
Peter’s Church, built 
by the ironmasters in 
1804; the Blaenavon 
Workmen’s Hall, 
built by workers’ 
subscriptions in 
1894; and St. Peter’s 
School, built by the 
ironmaster’s sister, 
Sarah Hopkins, in 
1816. The school has 
been restored as the 
United Kingdom’s 
first dedicated World 
Heritage Interpretation 
Centre.’

III

Page 269



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Attribute Summary Components Supporting Statements 
from Statement of 
OUV (2013)

Criteria

Revolution, due to a shortage of cash 
and coins of the realm, the scheme 
gave the ironmasters a degree of socio-
economic control over the workforce 
through ensuring that the company had a 
monopoly on trade.
The truck system was open to abuse and 
across industrial south Wales companies 
exploited the system to overprice goods, 
let people run up debts, and to control 
the workforce by tying people to their 
jobs. The unpopular truck system was 
one of the causes of tension between 
employer and employee within the 
region and was a contributing factor to 
the Merthyr Riots of 1831. The social, 
cultural and financial gulf that existed 
between worker and master during the 
nineteenth century is also illustrated 
through the grand houses built by the 
industrialists in the area, such as Ty 
Mawr, Park House, Coity House and 
Cwmavon House.
Elements of the region’s working class 
culture can be seen through Blaenavon’s 
surviving nonconformist chapels. Across 
the South Wales Coalfield, during the 
nineteenth century, chapels allowed 
for the expression of the religious 
convictions of many individuals who 
lived and worked in the area. The 
influential work of the chapels extended 
into lifelong learning, leisure and 
politics. Nonconformity could also be an 
expression of ethnic feeling or of political 
consciousness for workers unwilling 
to worship with their employers in the 
Anglican church.
The town’s chapels also serve as 
reminders of the changing position of 
the Welsh language in the community. 
During the early nineteenth century, 
Welsh was the main language of 
Blaenavon but by 1911 just 5% of the 
town’s population could speak the 
native tongue. As the nineteenth century 
progressed, and the Welsh language 
declined due to immigration, English 
speakers broke away from their Welsh-
speaking brethren to establish their 
own chapels and Blaenavon’s surviving 
mix of both former Welsh and English 
chapels provide evidence of the tensions 
that existed between Welsh and English 
speakers during the nineteenth century.

Intangible Components:
•  Patronage, 

Philanthropy and 
Social Control in early 
Industrial Society

•  Welsh Religious 
Nonconformism in the 
Nineteenth Century

•  Self-Improvement 
and Working Class 
Culture in Industrial 
Communities

•  Political Radicalism
•  Trade Unionism
•  Male Voice Choirs
•  Town Bands
•  The Decline of the 

Welsh Language in the 
Nineteenth Century

Page 270



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Attribute Summary Components Supporting Statements 
from Statement of 
OUV (2013)

Criteria

Social, educational, political and 
charitable roles were also assumed by 
self-help organisations, co-operative 
societies, clubs, societies, trade unions 
and workingmen’s institutes. Blaenavon’s 
Workmen’s Hall and Institute is the most 
imposing building in the town and is a 
tangible example of this working class 
culture. Designed by E A Lansdowne of 
Newport and opened in January 1895, it 
cost £10,000 to build, which was raised 
by a halfpenny per week levy on the 
wages of miners and ironworkers, who 
reduced the cost of construction further 
by contributing voluntary labour.
The Hall provided a range of cultural 
opportunities. It served as a venue for 
social gatherings, concerts and self-
betterment. It included a comprehensive 
library, a reading room, a billiards room, 
refreshments, committee rooms and a 
fine auditorium where plays and concerts 
could be enjoyed. Historian Lewis 
Browning, writing in 1906, noted that 
the Workmen’s Hall had ‘been a great 
acquisition to the town, and is largely 
used for concerts, eisteddfods, tea parties, 
bazaars, political gatherings and other 
purposes’.
Choirs, bands and sports clubs were also 
established in the town and reflected 
working class identity. This intangible 
heritage remains in the town’s present 
day Male Voice Choir, Town Bands and 
sports teams, many of which have their 
origins in the nineteenth century.

‘The landscape 
also reflects the 
development of early 
industrial society. 
Close to the Ironworks 
and Big Pit is the town 
of Blaenavon, the 
best preserved iron 
town of its period in 
the United Kingdom. 
Here can be seen 
the terraced housing 
of the workers. 
Overall the town 
reflects powerfully 
the distinctive culture 
that had developed 
in ironworking and 
coal-mining areas 
of the South Wales 
Valleys and provides 
a complete picture 
of patronage and the 
social structure of the 
community. Notable 
buildings include St. 
Peter’s Church, built 
by the ironmasters in 
1804; the Blaenavon 
Workmen’s Hall, 
built by workers’ 
subscriptions in 
1894; and St. Peter’s 
School, built by the 
ironmaster’s sister, 
Sarah Hopkins, in 
1816. The school has 
been restored as the 
United Kingdom’s 
first dedicated World 
Heritage Interpretation 
Centre.’

Page 271



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Attribute Summary Components Supporting Statements 
from Statement of 
OUV (2013)

Criteria

2. 
Outstanding 
relict 
landscape 
– combined 
efforts of 
nature and 
man.

The geology of the Blaenavon area, 
with its abundance of coal, iron-ore and 
limestone provided the impetus to the 
development of the Blaenavon area. The 
landscape, with its extensive industrial 
remains, was created through human at-
tempts to exploit its rich natural resourc-
es. It is therefore a cultural landscape 
shaped by the combined efforts of nature 
and man.
The development of Blaenavon town in 
a sparsely populated agricultural area 
emerged as a direct consequence of the 
success of the iron industry. The culture 
which accompanied this development 
arose from the socio-economic conse-
quences of the iron, steel and coal indus-
tries within the Blaenavon landscape.

•  Pen-ffordd-goch 
Scouring and 
landscape north of 
Blaenavon Ironworks 

•  Pwll Du Limestone 
Quarry

•  Tyla Limestone Quarry
•  Big Pit National Coal 

Museum
•  Blaenavon Ironworks
•  Blaenavon Town
•  Engine Pit
•  Hill’s Tram Road
•  Coity Tip

‘The Blaenavon 
landscape reflects 
ways in which all 
the raw materials 
necessary for making 
iron were obtained… 
The landscape 
also reflects the 
development of early 
industrial society.’

III, IV

3.     
Evidence of 
the area’s 
international 
importance 
in iron 
making and 
coal mining 
in the late 
18th and 
early 19th 
century.

Evidence of Iron Production during the 
Industrial Revolution
The establishment of Blaenavon 
Ironworks in 1789 provided the main 
stimulus for the industrialisation and 
urban development of Blaenavon in the 
late eighteenth and early nineteenth 
centuries. The completeness of the 
blast furnaces at Blaenavon Ironworks 
provide a greater illustration of late 
eighteenth and early nineteenth century 
iron-making technology than any other 
group in the United Kingdom. The intact 
cast house of furnace two demonstrates 
the characteristic arched form of the 
structure to provide shelter and allow 
for the necessary ventilation. The base of 
the blowing engine chimney stack still 
remains, as do the cast-iron pillars and 
brackets which carried the blast pipes to 
the furnaces. 
Some evidence exists of the associated 
forges at Cwmavon (c.1804) and Garn 
Ddyrys (1817). At Garn Ddyrys solid 
ironworking waste, parts of a water 
power system (such as the reservoir at 
Pen-fford-goch – Keeper’s Pond) and the 
ruins of a manager’s house and workers’ 
cottages can still be seen. Whilst at 
Cwmavon, the remnants of the forge’s 
water supply still exist.
The remains of brickmaking 
establishments on the hillside above 
Blaenavon serve as reminders of the 
making of firebricks, which were 
essential for the successful operation 
of the blast furnaces at Blaenavon 
Ironworks.

•  Blaenavon Ironworks
•  Garn Ddyrys Forge 

(site of)
•  Cwmavon Forge (site 

of)
•  Pen-fford-goch Pond
•  Upper Brickyard
•  Pen-fford-goch 

Scouring
•  Landscape North of 

Blaenavon Ironworks
•  Pwll Du Limestone 

Quarry
•  Tyla Limestone Quarry
•  Big Pit National Coal 

Museum
•  Engine Pit
•  Hill Pits
•  Aaron Brute’s Level
•  River Arch Level

‘The Blaenavon 
Ironworks (c.1789) 
provided the main 
impetus for mineral 
workings and 
settlement. The 
remains of the late 
18th century furnaces, 
together with later 
nineteenth century 
furnaces, are the 
best preserved of its 
period in the United 
Kingdom.  Beside the 
furnaces, two of the 
original casting houses 
can still be seen. 
Above the furnaces is 
a range of ruined kilns 
in which iron ore was 
calcined or roasted. 
The remains of the 
original workers’ 
housing provided on 
site can still be seen 
around the original 
base of the massive 
chimney to the 
blowing engine house, 
and the cast-iron 
pillars and brackets 
which carried blast 
pipes to the furnaces 
still survive. The 
iconic water balance 
tower of 1839 is an 
excellent example of 
lift technology using 
water to counter-
balance loads.’

IV

Page 272



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Attribute Summary Components Supporting Statements 
from Statement of 
OUV (2013)

Criteria

Evidence of coal, iron ore and limestone 
extraction during the Industrial 
Revolution
The relict landscape around Blaenavon 
exhibits comprehensive evidence of the 
extraction of the raw materials needed 
to make iron. The substantial and 
well-preserved coal workings at Pen-
fford-goch cover some 40 hectares and 
include significant evidence of ‘hushing’ 
or ‘scouring’, the method of holding 
water with dams and then discharging 
it to reveal coal veins by eradicating 
overburden or to wash piles of iron ore 
extracted from adits. 
South of Pen-ffordd-goch are numerous 
bell pits, the most primitive form of 
shaft mine. The remnants of hushing 
ponds, leats which supplied them with 
water, crow’s foot-shaped tips of waste 
materials, the collapsed entrances to adit 
mines, the abandoned earthworks of 
primitive railways, subsidence indicating 
the presence of pillar-and-stall mining 
systems beneath, and the site of a 
weighing machine can also be observed 
in the area.
The remains of Engine Pit, Blaenavon’s 
earliest shaft mine, sunk in about 1806, 
can still be seen and Hill Pits, coal and 
iron ore mines at Garn-yr-Erw, sunk 
between 1839 and 1844, also remain in 
a substantial form. Big Pit, sunk in 1860 
but linked to much earlier iron ore and 
coal workings, provides evidence of a 
later period in deep coal mining. 
The underground workings remain in 
excellent condition and the surface 
buildings, including a haulage engine 
house, a welding and fitting shop, a 
smithy, a stable block, an electrician’s 
workshop, a sawmill, offices, a powder 
house, the pit head baths and canteen, 
remain as they were when the mine 
ceased production in 1980 and date 
between the late nineteenth century and 
the 1970s. 
Evidence of the acquisition of limestone, 
a key ingredient in the iron-making 
process, can be found at the well-
preserved early nineteenth century 
limestone quarries such as Pwll Du and 
Tyla.

‘The Blaenavon 
landscape reflects 
ways in which all 
the raw materials 
necessary for making 
iron were obtained. 
The landscape 
includes coal, iron ore, 
fireclay and limestone 
workings ….’

Page 273



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Attribute Summary Components Supporting Statements 
from Statement of 
OUV (2013)

Criteria

The water resources which were used 
to support the mining and extraction 
industries can also be seen. Small 
reservoirs, which provided for water 
balance and steam engine supply, remain 
near mineshafts. Similarly, a reservoir to 
supply the Pwll Du quarry balance lift 
still survives.

4. 
Development 
of transport 
systems in 
the late 18th 
and 19th 
centuries

The development of transportation 
systems during the Industrial Revolution 
was crucial to the fortunes of the iron 
and coal industries. The Blaenavon 
landscape contains significant evidence 
of the complex transport infrastructure 
that supplied the ironworks with raw 
materials and conveyed its products to 
the coast for export.
Blaenavon Ironworks, from its creation 
in the late 1780s, was aided by an 
extensive network of primitive railroads. 
The remains of Thomas Hill’s tramroad, 
built in c.1817, are evident within the 
Blaenavon landscape. The stone blocks 
on which the rails were attached remain 
in situ along most surviving stretches. 
The network of tramroads connected 
Blaenavon Ironworks to Pwll Du, and 
Garn Ddyrys Forge, via the 2.4KM Pwll 
Du tunnel, the longest ever underground 
horse-drawn railroad to be constructed in 
Great Britain. Most of the tunnel survives 
intact.  The Blorenge Tunnel, constructed 
c.1818, which served the tram road, also 
survives and the remains of a series of 
counterbalanced inclines, that took the 
tramroad down the Blorenge mountain to 
the Monmouthshire and Brecon Canal in 
Llanfoist, can still be seen.
At Llanfoist Wharf, the terminus of Hill’s 
Tramroad, there remains a substantial 
warehouse for storing iron products prior 
to loading on the canal boats. The wharf 
leased by Thomas Hill nearby at Govilon 
also survives.
Other remnants of primitive railways 
can be found within the Blaenavon 
landscape. Stone blocks, cast-iron 
sleepers, wrought and cast iron rails are 
visible on track beds and waste tips. 
Among these remains is evidence of the 
steam hauled double incline built in 
about 1850 by the company engineer 
Thomas Dyne Steel, which replaced 
the Pwll Du tunnel as the method of 
connecting Blaenavon Ironworks to Pwll 
Du and Garn Ddyrys.

•  Hill’s Tramroad
•  Pwll Du Tunnel
•  Blorenge Tunnel
•  Llanfoist Incline
•  Llanfoist Wharf
•  Govilon  Wharf
•  Section of the 

Monmouthshire and 
Brecon Canal

•  Dyne-Steel Incline
•  Iron Bridge, nr Aaron 

Brute’s Level
•  Ashwell’s Water 

Balance Tower
•  Remains of various 

other primitive 
railways within the 
Blaenavon Industrial 
Landscape

‘The landscape 
includes … transport 
systems including a 
primitive iron-railed 
railway, leading to the 
canal and later steam 
railway tracks which 
were used for the 
import and export of 
materials.’

IV

Page 274



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Attribute Summary Components Supporting Statements 
from Statement of 
OUV (2013)

Criteria

Also of significance is James Ashwell’s 
Water Balance tower, erected at 
Blaenavon Ironworks in 1839, which is 
an excellent example of lift technology 
using water to counter-balance loads. The 
system allowed for trams to be conveyed 
between the lower and upper yards of the 
ironworks, providing access to the wider 
tram road network and the export route.

Criteria for Inscription

(iii) The Blaenavon Landscape constitutes an exceptional illustration in material form of the social and economic structure of 19th century industry.

(iv) The components of the Blaenavon Landscape together make up an outstanding and remarkably complete example of a 19th century industrial landscape.

Page 275



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

APPENDIX F

BILWHS Tourism Data

Torfaen County Borough Council participates in the annual STEAM (Scarborough Tourism Economic 

Activity Monitor) research.  In 2015, a special analysis was done for the WHS.  The results are given below.

Tourist Days (Thousands)

Serviced Accomodation
Non-Serviced Accomodation
SFR
Day Visitors

2015 2014 % change

8.5
0.7

21.2
475.0

8.0
0.7

21.2
432.0

6
3
0

10

TOTAL 505.5 461.9 9

Tourist Numbers (Thousands)

Serviced Accomodation
Non-Serviced Accomodation
SFR
Day Visitors

2015 2014 % change

4.2
0.1
8.9

475.0

3.9
0.1
8.9

432.0

8
4
0

10

TOTAL 488.2 444.9 10

Analysis by Sector of Expenditure (£ millions)

Accomodation
Food & Drink
Recreation
Shopping
Transport
Total Direct Revenue
Indirect Expenditure
VAT

2015 2014 % change

0.30
3.62
1.26
2.84
2.58
1.61
6.20
2.12

0.28
3.32
1.16
2.60
2.37
9.74
5.89
1.95

6
9
8
9
9
9
9
9

TOTAL 18.93 17.38 9

Revenue by Category of Visitor (£ millions)

Serviced Accomodation
Non-Serviced Accomodation
SFR
Day Visitors

2015 2014 % change

1.18
0.06
1.33

16.33

1.11
0.06
0.33

14.88

6
3
0

10

TOTAL 18.93 17.38 9

Page 276



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Sectors in which Employment is supported (FTE’s)

Direct Employment
Accomodation
Food & Drink
Recreation
Shopping
Transport
Total Direct Employment
Indirect Employment

2015 2014 % change

20
79
23
44
19

184
68

19
69
21
38
17

165
61

1
14
5

15
15
12
13

TOTAL 252 225 12

There have been no comprehensive surveys of visitors to BILWHS in recent years other than those 

undertaken at individual attractions e.g. Big Pit. However, the following anecdotal information/data was 

gathered from consultations with attractions and accommodation providers as part of the preparation of 

the 2018-2023 Management Plan.

Accommodation in the BILWHS

Accommodation Type Units

Lion Hotel Serviced 12 bedrooms

Rifleman PH Serviced 4 bedroooms

Queen Victoria PH Serviced 5 bedrooms

Oakfield B&B Serviced 3 bedrooms

Pwll Du Adventure Centre Group accommodation c24 beds

Ramfield Outdoor Activity Centre Group accommodation c30 beds

Middle Ninfa Bunk House and camp site 6 beds + 6 pitches

The Coach House Self catering 4 beds

Penrose Cottage Self catering 6 beds

Jenny’s Cottage Self catering 6 beds

Attractions in the BILWHS

Attraction Type Charge Visitors (2016)

Blaenavon World Heritage Centre Heritage Centre Free 25-30,000

Big Pit National Coal Museum Museum Free c150,000

Blaenavon Ironworks Museum Free 12,500

Blaenavon Heritage Railway Heritage Railway Charge 10,000+

Blaenavon Community Museum Museum Free <5,000

Blaenavon Cheese Industrial attraction Free N/a

Rhymney Brewery & Visitor Centre Industrial attraction Charge N/a

Monmouthshire & Brecon Canal Canal Free N/a

Workmen’s Hall Entertainment venue Charge N/a

St Peter’s Church Church Free N/a

Keeper’s Pond Natural Free N/a

Garn Lakes Local Nature Reserve Natural Free N/a

Page 277



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

 Activities in the BILWHS

Activity Notes

Walking Large number of promoted trails and other footpaths. Guided walks also.

Cycling NCR route through BILWHS. Informal mountain biking.

Hang-gliding Blorenge hang-gliding site is owned by local club. Popular area with training 
on the Coity.

Caving Extensive network of caves, controlled access via caving clubs.

Riding Informal use

Orienteering Informal club use

Bird watching Informal use.

Canoeing/boating On Monmouthshire & Brecon Canal

Events in the BILWHS

Activity Notes

Event Notes

Velothon National cycling event

Blaenavon World Heritage Day Town centre event celebrating World Heritage Site Status. Includes Heritage 
Costume parade, street entertainment, craft market and Victorian characters

Blaenfest Music and arts festival

Blaenavon Walking Festival Three day event as part of Valleys Festival

Blaenavon Heritage Railway events Various e.g. Railway Children

Ironworks events Various e.g. WWI at Blaenavon

Big Pit, Blaenavon World Heritage 
Centre

Various ad hoc events

Blaenavon Flea and craft market Monthly event

Bleanavon Winter Wonderland Town Centre event includes various children's activities and working with 
Traders to promote offers/discounts.

Spring and Autumn Festivals Includes local producer market, local food and drink;  beer tasting at the 
Rhymney Brewery, cookery demonstrations with the Chef School, historic 
walks and retail offer 

Page 278



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

APPENDIX G

Revised BILWHS Partnership Management Structure

Partnership Board

Terms of reference remain as existing.

Partners Boards

Terms of reference remain as existing.

UNESCO/DCMS/CADW/ICOMOS WH-UK

Liaison as existing.

Extended Steering Group

Terms of reference as existing with the addition of invites to 6 additional organisations. These include:

• Blaenavon Community Museum

• Blaenavon World Heritage Environment Group (BWHEG)

• Blaenavon Workman’s Hall

• Pontypool & Blaenavon Railway

• Blaenavon Town Team

• Chair of the Commons Management Group

This extended membership of the Steering Group responds to the stakeholder and public consultation 

undertaken in the preparation of the updated Plan. Reflecting on comments received, it is considered that 

these organisations play an essential role in managing and presenting various component parts of OUV.

All other management arrangements for the Steering Group remain as existing.

Working Groups

The Management Plan presents management actions based on four themes:

1. Governance & Management of the World Heritage Site

2. Caring for the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape

Page 279



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

3. Exploring & Enjoying the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape

4. Community Engagement in World Heritage & Learning

Taking these four themes into account, the Working Group structure has been amended to reflect the 

themes and their associated Action Plans and the number of Working Groups reduced from six to three.

The new Working Groups are:

1. Caring for the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape

2. Exploring & Enjoying the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape

3. Learning & Community Engagement

The fourth theme, Governance & Management of the WHS represents the management responsibilities 

and actions of the WHS Co-ordination Team, Steering Group and Board and will be delivered by these 

existing structures.

The terms of reference for each of the three new groups will reflect and deliver the aims, policies and 

action plans of each theme ensuring that each group has ownership of and understands its management 

actions and responsibilities for the Plan period.

Working Groups will continue to meet on a quarterly basis and quarterly reports will be presented by 

the Chair of each Group to the Steering Group. Groups will review their Action Plans on an annual 

basis together with a review of any monitoring outcomes. To assist integration between the Groups, the 

Chairs will meet on an annual basis to jointly discuss their Group’s forward action plans and to identify 

the potential for joint working opportunities. The minutes of all Working Groups Minutes will also be 

disseminated between groups to ensure synergistic management of the WHS.

Caring for the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape Working Group

This Working Group merges the previous Historic Environment, Natural Environment and Landscape & 

Access Working Groups. There are clear synergies between all three. The Blaenavon WHS Commons 

Management Group will become a sub-group of this Working Group and will be invited to meetings of 

the main Working Group to assist liaison if required. Minutes of the Caring for the BIL Working Group will 

also be disseminated to the Commons Management Group.

Terms of Reference:

This group will focus on the management, protection, conservation and monitoring of both the historic 

and the natural environment ensuring the holistic management of the cultural landscape.

Page 280



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Within this context, the group will focus on

• Protecting the WHS and its setting

• Managing the upland landscape

• Enhancing the Blaenavon townscape

• Conserving the industrial buildings and infrastructure

To achieve these goals, the Group will work collaboratively to:

• Deliver and monitor the Caring for BIL Policies and Action Plan of the WHS Management Plan 2018-

2023.

• Consider, review and advise on plans for the management, protection, conservation, presentation and 

monitoring of the historic and natural features of the site including:

 i. Scheduled Monuments

 ii. Listed Buildings

 iii. Conservation Areas

 iv. Heritage Assets at Risk

 v. Significant but undesignated historic assets of national importance

 vi. SSSI’s

 vii. LNR’s

• Consider significant planning applications both within the WHS and its setting; taking into account the 

impact on OUV, integrity and authenticity of the WHS in advising the WHS Co-ordinator in preparing 

and submitting any formal comment on proposed development.

• Review and advise on plans/proposals for:

 i. Land management (including landscape and heritage crime)

 ii. Habitat and species conservation.

 iii. Access and recreational opportunities.

 iv. Major proposals within the industrial landscape

 v. Major developments within the Conservation Areas

Page 281



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

 vi. Major developments to Listed Buildings.

• Consider the proposal to create a Buffer Zone for the WHS.

• Share best practice and work inclusively to ensure engagement with all groups or individuals interested 

in the historic and natural environment of the WHS.

This group will comprise Officers from partner organisations, specifically those responsible for management 

of the historic and natural environment. Open access will be permitted allowing groups or individuals 

with an interest in the historic and natural environment within the WHS to participate. The establishment 

of task and finish/sub groups may be required from time to time to deliver or respond to specific projects 

or issues within the WHS.

Core Members of the Group will include:

• Torfaen County Borough Council

• Monmouthshire County Council

• Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

• Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council

• Royal Commission for Ancient & Historic Monuments Wales

• Canal & River Trust

• Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

• Cadw

• Natural Resources Wales

• Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological Trust

The group will meet on a quarterly basis, providing updates to the Steering Group on progress/outcomes 

in delivering the Group’s Action Plan. The Group will elect a Chair annually who will represent the Group 

at Steering Group level, reporting progress on a quarterly basis.

Exploring & Enjoying the Blaenavon Industrial Landscape Working Group

This theme was previously delivered via the Marketing and Promotions Group. The function of this group 

will remain as existing with the addition of some interpretation elements from the former Education and 

Interpretation Working Group (both groups will of course undertake some interpretation work)

Page 282



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Terms of Reference

This group will continue to have responsibility for promoting the WHS as a key visitor destination within 

the Cardiff Capital Region and wider domestic and overseas markets. The group will work collaboratively 

to deliver both the Welsh Government’s Partnership for Growth Strategy for Tourism 2013–2020 and the 

Torfaen Destination Management Plan as it relates to the WHS; maximising all opportunities to raise the 

profile of the WHS as a cultural tourism destination.

Within this context, the Group will focus on:

• Developing the market for the WHS.

• Developing the visitor offer within the WHS.

• Marketing and promoting the WHS.

To achieve these goals, the Group will work collaboratively to:

• Be responsible for the delivery and monitoring of the Marketing & Promotions Policies and Action Plan 

of the WHS Management Plan 2018-2023.

• Deliver the Key Actions of the Torfaen, Monmouthshire and Brecon Beacons Destination Management 

Plans as they relate to the WHS; working with the wider Torfaen Destination Management Partnership 

to maximise opportunities for promoting and supporting the development of the WHS as a cultural 

tourism destination.

• Deliver Welsh Governments Strategy for Tourism - Partnership for Growth 2013- 2020; by further 

developing, presenting and promoting an Iconic Welsh World Heritage Site product to domestic and 

overseas market.

• Ensure the exemplary management of visitors to the WHS to take full account of the economic, social 

and environmental impacts of tourism in addressing the needs of visitors, the tourism industry and the 

local community.

• Raise the profile of the WHS as a cultural tourism destination to key domestic and overseas markets to 

realise increased visitor numbers and spend.

• Support and develop existing tourism attractions and future tourism businesses within the WHS 

maximising opportunities for sustainable economic regeneration of the town and wider industrial 

landscape.

• Adopt a destination approach to planning, development and management of sustainable tourism for 

the WHS taking into account the setting and functional links into/from the WHS.

• Promote the WHS brand ensuring it is correctly and consistently applied to all marketing and 

Page 283



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

interpretation activity.

• Maximise project development and external funding opportunities to support ongoing promotion of 

the WHS as a cultural tourism destination.

• Share best practice and work inclusively to ensure engagement with all groups or individuals interested 

in marketing, promoting and interpreting the WHS.

• Review and provide advice/expertise on marketing and interpretative projects within the WHS liaising 

when necessary with the Learning & Community Engagement Working Group to ensure a co-ordinated 

approach is adopted.

This group will comprise Officers from partner organisations specifically those responsible for Tourism 

and Marketing. Open access will be permitted allowing groups, tourism businesses/organisations or 

individuals with an interest in cultural tourism, marketing and interpretation within the WHS to participate.

Core Members of the Group will include:

• Torfaen County Borough Council

• Monmouthshire County Council

• Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

• Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council

• Canal & River Trust

• Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

• Cadw

• Visit Wales

The group will meet on a quarterly basis, providing updates to the Steering Group on progress/outcomes 

in delivering the Groups Action Plan. The Group will elect a Chair annually who will represent the Group 

at Steering Group level, reporting progress on a quarterly basis.

Learning & Community Engagement Working Group

This Group will primarily focus on education and learning outcomes; and wider community engagement. 

It will replace the former Education & Interpretation Working Group.

Page 284



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Terms of Reference

The Group will work to encourage greater general community engagement in the WHS; support and 

promote learning opportunities to raise awareness and understanding of the Blaenavon Industrial 

Landscape; and support volunteer and community participation in the WHS. UNESCO recognises 

education and interpretation as having a vital role in promoting understanding between diverse cultures 

and communities. The WHS presents a wide range of educational and interpretative opportunities for all 

ages of learners and visitors.

Within this context, the Group will focus on:

• Increasing community engagement and involvement within the WHS; and

• Developing the learning offer.

To achieve these goals, the Group will work collaboratively to:

• Be responsible for delivery and monitoring of the Learning & Community Engagement Policies and 

Action Plan of the WHS Management Plan 2018-2023.

• Engage all parts of the local community in the work of the Partnership to help local communities 

understand OUV and the reasons for inscription as a WHS.

• Encourage learning at all levels to increase understanding of the WHS and its OUV.

• Support existing volunteer groups and facilitate greater collaboration and synergy with all community 

volunteer groups within the WHS.

• Embed youth participation within the management of the WHS.

• Maximise project development and external funding opportunities to support ongoing learning 

opportunities and community engagement in the WHS.

• Share best practice and work inclusively to ensure engagement with all groups or individuals interested 

in interpreting or learning about the WHS have the opportunity to do so.

• Review and provide advice/expertise on educational and interpretative projects within the WHS liaising 

when necessary with the Exploring & Enjoying Working Group to ensure a co-ordinated approach is 

adopted.

This group will comprise Officers from partner organisations specifically those responsible for learning 

and community engagement. Open access will be permitted allowing educational institutions, Schools, 

Universities, community groups, voluntary organisations or individuals with an interest in learning and 

community engagement within the WHS to participate.

Page 285



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

Core Members of the Group will include:

• Torfaen County Borough Council

• Monmouthshire County Council

• Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

• Canal & River Trust

• Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales

• Cadw

• Visit Wales

• Blaenavon WHS Youth Ambassadors

• Royal Commission for Ancient & Historic Monuments Wales

• Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological Trust

The group will meet on a quarterly basis, providing updates to the Steering Group on progress in delivering 

the Groups Action Plan. The Group will elect a Chair annually who will represent the Group at Steering 

Group level, reporting progress/outcomes on a quarterly basis.

Community Action Groups

It was agreed at the Steering Group meeting on 4th April 2017 that open access to each of the Working 

Groups would be permitted to enable the local community and established community groups to interact 

with and be a part of the management of the WHS – something that stakeholder and public consultation 

has revealed as an issue within the community.

This tier recognises the valued work and activity that interested individuals and established voluntary 

community groups are already undertaking within the WHS. Many groups exist within the WHS and 

already meet in their own right. Open access to the Working Groups, will enable these groups to actively 

contribute to the management of the WHS by integrating their own work programmes, projects and 

views into the actions of the Working Groups maximising opportunities for synergistic outcomes. These 

outcomes will be reported to the Steering Group via the Chair of the Group reaffirming the link to the 

Steering Group.

The WHS Co-ordination Team is already directly integrated with or working within many of these 

community groups including Blaenavon Town Team, the Blaenavon Community Museum and the 

Workmens Hall Committee providing project management support and wider economic, cultural, 

heritage and environmental support and expertise when it is required.

Page 286



July 2018

11125801-MP_F_2018-07-17

BILWHS Management Plan 2018-2023

Chris Blandford Associates

In opening access to the Working Groups, it will be made clear to all members of the group that they 

are collectively responsible for delivering the outcomes of their Groups Action Plan, with support from 

the Steering Group, and for dealing with any issues or opportunities related to their Working Group as 

they arise within the Plan period. Any other motives or reasons for attendance will be referred for action/

response at the Annual World Heritage Symposium.

Terms of reference remain unchanged.

Annual World Heritage Symposium

The Partnership will convene an Annual World Heritage Symposium providing the local community, and all 

residents across and immediately adjacent to the WHS; and other interested individuals and organisations, 

with the opportunity to engage directly with representatives from each WHS partner organisation. This 

will be an opportunity to showcase the WHS to a wider audience, providing the opportunity to discuss/

present/debate key issues/opportunities within the WHS.

Page 287



Proposed Blaenavon World Heritage Site Partnership Management Structure 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

BILWHS	Partnership	Management	Board	
Members	

Chaired	by	Executive	Member	Business,	
Tourism,	Leisure	&	Culture,	TCBC.	

UNESCO	
DCMS/CADW	

ICOMOS	
WH:	UK	

Extended	Steering	Group	
Chaired	by	the	Chief	Officer	Economy	&	Environment,	TCBC									

	
(Senior	Partnership	Officers	with	responsibility	for	

Managing	Components	of	OUV)	

WHS	Co-ordination	Team	
TCBC	

Caring	for	BIL		
• Historic,	Natural	

Environment	&	Access	
Group	

Working	Groups	

Learning	&	Community	
Engagement	

	

• Education	&	Engagement	
Group	

Exploring	&	Enjoying	BIL	
	

• Marketing	&	Promotions	
Group	
	

	

Community	Action	Groups		

Annual	World	Heritage	Symposium	

• Blaenavon	WHS	Commons	
Management	Group																														

Partner	Boards	
Council’s,	Welsh	Government,	

Trusts	

P
age 288



South East Studio
London Studio
Directors
Senior Consultant

The Old Crown High Street Blackboys Uckfield East Sussex  TN22 5JR T 01825 891071  E mail@cbastudios.com  W www.cbastudios.com
The Print Rooms Studio 511 164/180 Union St Waterloo London SE1 0LH
D Watkins BSc MSc MRTPI FRGS • A Croft BA MA MCIfA
C J Blandford BA DipLD MLA FLI

Chris Blandford Associates is the trading name of Chris Blandford Associates Ltd Registered in England No 3741865. Registered Office: The Old Crown High Street Blackboys East Sussex TN22 5JR

Page 289



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION ORDER, PRICES BRIDGE, WHITELYE, TRELLECH
	2 MONMOUTHSHIRE ADOPTED LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN DRAFT INFILL DEVELOPMENT SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE
	2a. Appendix 1 Draft Infill Development SPG for Consultation
	2b. Appendix 2 Future Generations Evaluation Draft Infill Development SPG

	3 YOUTH SUPPORT GRANT
	4 BLAENAVON INDUSTRIAL LANDSCAPE WORLD HERITAGE SITE MANAGEMENT PLAN (2018 - 2023)
	4a. Appendix 1 Blaenavon ILWHS ICMD Future Generations 010319.docx
	4b. Blaenavon WHS Management Plan FINAL SEPTEMBER 2018




